

Polypharmacy in older adults – prevalence, risk factors, and associations with mortality – and the role of diabetes

Yun-Ting Huang

University College London

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Student declaration

I, Yun-Ting Huang, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Signature:

Date: 9th Aug. 2021

Abstract

Polypharmacy is common in ageing populations, but its impact on older adults' health and the role of diabetes are uncertain. This PhD aimed to better understand the prevalence and risk factors of polypharmacy and its associations with mortality, and to explore the role of diabetes in those relationships. Using data from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (2004–05 to 2012–13), this work comprised four studies.

The first investigated the prevalence and risk factors of undiagnosed diabetes. The prevalence of diagnosed (7.7% and 11.5%) and undiagnosed (2.4% and 3.4%) diabetes increased between 2004 and 2012. However, men aged 50–74 reported a stable prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes and improved awareness.

The second examined the prevalence and risk factors of polypharmacy according to diabetes status (diagnosed and undiagnosed). Older adults with diabetes had a higher prevalence of polypharmacy (41.1% versus 14.8%) and heightened polypharmacy (5.8% versus 1.7%) compared with those without diabetes, even excluding antihyperglycemic drugs. People with diabetes who were men and obese were more likely to show polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy.

The third investigated associations between different levels of polypharmacy and all-cause and cause-specific mortality over six years. Polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy showed dose-response relationships with all-cause (hazard ratio (HR) 1.51, 2.29) and cardiovascular disease (CVD) (subdistribution hazard ratio (SHR) 2.45, 3.67) mortality. Diabetes was a confounder in this relationship and independently related to all-cause mortality.

The fourth explored associations between high-risk medications and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among older adults with polypharmacy. Older adults with

polypharmacy who took mental health drugs, opioids and muscle relaxants were at higher risk of all-cause (HR 1.55) and CVD (SHR 2.11) mortality.

These findings highlight the importance of greater awareness of polypharmacy among older adults in England, especially those on specific high-risk medications, and special care for older people with diabetes.

Impact statement

There are several ways in which the discoveries and insights presented in this thesis might be impactful:

- 1. Clinical practice: this PhD research highlights the importance of greater awareness of polypharmacy (including heightened polypharmacy) among community-dwelling older adults in England, and it provides evidence to improve strategies for polypharmacy management. In addition to heightened polypharmacy and opioids, which are emphasised in the current guidance, older adults with polypharmacy – especially those on mental health medications and muscle relaxants - should also be included in medication reviews, which are regarded as a standard method of medication optimisation. The findings from this PhD can thus contribute to the improvement of current guidelines on polypharmacy management. This work also highlights the importance of diabetes, either in the development of polypharmacy or in adverse outcomes. Older adults with diabetes should therefore be given patient-centred healthcare that takes account of multimorbidity and polypharmacy concurrently. Additionally, the increasing prevalence observed over time of undiagnosed diabetes suggests that adults aged 75 and older may need regular monitoring of blood sugar levels to help early diagnosis, apart from those aged 40-74, who are targeted in NHS Health Checks.
- Dissemination of research findings: three of my studies have been published in peer-reviewed scientific journals. The manuscript of my last study is almost finished and will be submitted to journals shortly. Moreover, I have presented

my research to specialists and non-specialists at four international and multidisciplinary conferences.

- 3. Future research: this PhD work establishes a rigorous definition of polypharmacy as well as a comprehensive adjustment of comorbidities in a population-based observational study of polypharmacy. This is a good reference for future studies. Findings from this work not only fill gaps in the literature but also shine a light on potential future research. Such research may investigate:
 - changes in polypharmacy and high-risk medications, and the role of diabetes in these changes
 - whether persistent polypharmacy (more than one measurement) better predicts mortality
 - trajectories of depressive symptoms and cognitive function, according to polypharmacy and diabetes status

Publications and presentations

This PhD work has resulted in four articles for peer-reviewed journals and four presentations at multidisciplinary international conferences. All the information is listed below.

Publications

Huang YT, Steptoe A, Wei L, Zaninotto P. The impact of high-risk medications on mortality risk among older adults with polypharmacy: evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. BMC Medicine. 2021 19:321. doi: 10.1186/s12916-021-02192-1.

Huang YT, Steptoe A, Wei L, Zaninotto P. Dose-response relationships between polypharmacy and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among older people. Journals of Gerontology: Series A. 2021 Jun 3:glab155. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glab155. Epub ahead of print.

Huang YT, Steptoe A, Wei L, Zaninotto P. Polypharmacy difference between older people with and without diabetes: evidence from the English longitudinal study of ageing. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2021 Apr 30;176:108842. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2021.108842. Epub ahead of print.

Huang YT, Steptoe A, Zaninotto P. Prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes in 2004 and 2012: evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Aging. Journals of Gerontology: Series A, 2021 Apr 30;76(5):922-928. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa179.

Presentations

Huang YT, Steptoe A, Wei L, Zaninotto P. (Sept 2021, oral) 'The impact of high-risk medications on mortality risk among older adults with polypharmacy in England'. Society for Social Medicine Annual Scientific Virtual Meeting, online.

Huang YT, Steptoe A, Wei L, Zaninotto P. (Sept 2020) 'Polypharmacy as a risk factor for all-cause mortality among older people in England'. ISPE 36th International Conference on Pharmacoepidemiology and Therapeutic Risk Management, online.

Huang YT, Steptoe A, Wei L, Zaninotto P. (Sept 2019, oral) 'The prevalence and risk factors of polypharmacy among diabetic people: evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA)'. Society for Social Medicine & Population Health Annual Scientific Meeting, Cork, Ireland.

Huang YT, Steptoe A., Zaninotto P. (Oct 2018) 'Trends in the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes in English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA): 2004 to 2012'. ELSA Wave 8 Report Launch, London, UK.

Acknowledgements

I am deeply indebted to my three supervisors for their support and help during my PhD. Without them, this work would not have been possible. I thank my primary supervisor, Dr Paola Zaninotto, for always being supportive and responsive, and for advising me on advanced statistical techniques. I thank my secondary supervisor, Professor Andrew Steptoe, for giving me the opportunity to work in the Psychobiology Group, and for providing important insights into my work. I am also very grateful to my tertiary supervisor, Professor Li Wei, for providing guidance on pharmaco-epidemiological research and additional support over this period.

I thank all my friends in the UK and overseas for their support, encouragement and companionship during my PhD: in the UK, Skye, Anitha, Carlos, Wei, Karen, Mingyue, Wentian, Feifei, Charlie, and Dorina; overseas, Wanrung, Tracy, Dengma, Katherine, Jacy, Zac, Biling, Yimeng, Shichen, Orianne, Simon, and Maria.

I especially thank my master's supervisor and his wife, Professor Ih-Sheng Chen and Mrs Hsiu-Hui Wu. They treat me like a daughter and always encourage me, no matter where I am.

Finally, I owe a debt of gratitude to my beloved mother and aunts for their unconditional love and support throughout the years. I also thank my cousin Meredith for her encouragement whenever I feel down. I am so blessed to have you as my family. This PhD would not have been possible without you. This PhD thesis is for three families who have passed away: my grandparents and my youngest auntie.

Table of contents

Chapter 1.	Literature review on polypharmacy	24
1.1 Intr	roduction	24
1.1.1	Ageing population	24
1.1.2	Multimorbidity	27
1.2 De	finitions of polypharmacy	28
1.3 Pol	lypharmacy research	34
1.3.1	Prevalence and risk factors	46
1.3.2	Health outcomes	50
1.3.3	Medication-related issues	55
1.3.4	Interventions	60
1.4 The	e role of diabetes in polypharmacy	63
1.4.1	Diabetes in older adults	64
1.4.2	Diabetes management in older adults	66
1.4.3	Polypharmacy and diabetes in older adults	67
1.5 Ga	ps in current research	69
1.6 Ain	ns and objectives	70
Chapter 2.	Data source: ELSA	73
2.1 Intr	roduction to ELSA	73
2.2 Me	dication information in ELSA	75
2.3 Stu	Idy populations	76

Chapter 3.	Undiagnosed diabetes in ELSA Wave 6: prevalence change	(2004 to
2012) and	risk factors	79
3.1 Ba	ckground	
3.2 Me	ethodology	
3.2.1	Study population	
3.2.2	Outcome variables	
3.2.3	Risk factors	
3.2.4	Statistical analysis	
3.3 Re	esults	
3.3.1	Prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes in 2004 and 2012	
3.3.2	Risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes	92
3.3.3	Sensitivity analysis	94
3.4 Dis	scussion	
3.4.1	Summary	95
3.4.2	Comparison with existing literature	96
3.4.3	Undiagnosed diabetes based on HbA1c	
3.4.4	Strengths and limitations	
3.5 Co	nclusion	100
Chapter 4.	Polypharmacy in ELSA Wave 6: prevalence and risk factors	101
4.1 Ba	ckground	102
4.2 Me	ethodology	107

4.2.1	Study population 1	07
4.2.2	Polypharmacy1	07
4.2.3	Risk factors1	11
4.2.4	Statistical analysis1	16
4.3 Re	sults1	18
4.3.1	Description of medications and the association with diabetes 1	20
4.3.2	Prevalence of polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy1	24
4.3.3	Risk factors for polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy1	25
4.4 Dis	scussion1	30
4.4.1	Summary 1	30
4.4.2	Comparison with existing literature1	31
4.4.3	Strengths and limitations1	34
4.5 Co	nclusion1	35
Chapter 5.	Polypharmacy and mortality1	36
5.1 Ba	ckground1	37
5.2 Me	ethodology1	42
5.2.1	Study population 1	42
5.2.2	Polypharmacy1	43
5.2.3	Mortality data1	43
5.2.4	Potential confounders1	44
5.2.5	Statistical analysis1	45

5.3	Re	sults1	48
5.4	Dis	cussion1	57
5.4	4.1	Summary1	57
5.4	4.2	Comparison with existing literature1	58
5.4	4.3	Strengths and limitations1	60
5.5	Co	nclusion1	61
Chapte	er 6.	Patterns of medication use and mortality1	63
6.1	Bad	ckground1	64
6.2	Me	thodology1	69
6.2	2.1	Study population1	69
6.2	2.2	High-risk medications1	70
6.2	2.3	Mortality data1	72
6.2	2.4	Potential confounders1	73
6.2	2.5	Statistical analysis1	73
6.3	Re	sults 1	78
6.4	Dis	cussion1	89
6.4	4.1	Summary1	89
6.4	4.2	Comparison with existing literature1	91
6.4	4.3	Strengths and limitations1	92
6.5	Со	nclusion1	94
Chapte	er 7.	Discussion1	95

7.1	Summary of main findings	196
7.2	Strengths and limitations	199
7.3	Clinical implications	202
7.4	Research implications	209
7.5	Future plans	210
7.6	Final conclusion	211
Refere	nces	213
Appendices		

List of tables

Table 1.1 Summary of previous studies on polypharmacy in older adults
Table 2.1 Response rates to nurse interviews by wave
Table 3.1 Cohort characteristics in ELSA 2004 and 2012
Table 3.2 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes in England in 2004 and
2012
Table 3.3 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes by age and gender in
England in 2004 and 201291
Table 3.4 Risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes in England in 2012
Table 4.1 Medication categories in long-term use, ELSA 2012
Table 4.2 Distinguishable combination drugs, ELSA 2012
Table 4.3 Crude and verified diagnoses, ELSA 2012 (N = 7729) 114
Table 4.4 Cohort characteristics in ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes
Table 4.5 Number of long-term medications and conditions in ELSA 2012, stratified by
diabetes121
Table 4.6 Prevalence of long-term medications in ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes
Table 4.7 Risk factors for polypharmacy in people without diabetes (N = 5372), ELSA
2012
Table 4.8 Risk factors for polypharmacy in people with diabetes (N = 783), ELSA 2012
Table 5.1 List of drug-disease interactions, ELSA 2012
Table 5.2 Baseline characteristics [†] according to number of concurrent drugs, ELSA
2012

Table 5.3 Mortality [†] according to number of concurrent drugs, ELSA 2018 150
Table 5.4 Associations between number of concurrent drugs and all-cause mortality
in England in 2012–18 152
Table 6.1 Fourteen high-risk medication categories, ELSA 2012 171
Table 6.2 Prevalence of 14 high-risk medication categories in people with
polypharmacy (N = 1356), ELSA 2012 178
Table 6.3 Baseline characteristics [†] of people with polypharmacy (N = 1356) by cluster,
ELSA 2012
Table 6.4 Mortality [†] in people with polypharmacy (N = 1356) by cluster, ELSA 2018

List of figures

Figure 1.1 Flow chart showing the literature review process for polypharmacy in older
adults
Figure 2.1 Graphical summary of ELSA74
Figure 2.2 Flow chart of study populations at Wave 678
Figure 3.1 Flow chart of literature review process for undiagnosed diabetes in older
adults
Figure 4.1 Flow chart of literature review process for risk factors for polypharmacy
Figure 4.2 Number of drugs and long-term drugs, ELSA 2012 120
Figure 4.3 Number of long-term medications in ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes 121
Figure 4.4 Number of long-term conditions in ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes 122
Figure 4.5 Prevalence of polypharmacy in ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes 125
Figure 5.1 Flow chart of literature review process for polypharmacy/medications and
mortality139
Figure 5.2 Associations [#] between number of concurrent drugs and all-cause and
cause-specific mortality in England in 2012-18154
Figure 5.3 Cumulative hazard function of all-cause mortality and CIF of CVD and
cancer mortality for different numbers of concurrent drugs in England in 2012-18 155
Figure 6.1 Dendrogram of cluster analysis in people with polypharmacy 175
Figure 6.2 Flow chart of samples for cluster and survival analyses
Figure 6.3 Prevalence of 14 high-risk medication categories across clusters, ELSA
2012

Figure 6.4 Associations [#] between medication patterns [*] and mortality in people with
polypharmacy in England in 2012–18 186
Figure 6.5 Cumulative hazard function of all-cause mortality and CIF of CVD mortality
for five medication patterns [*] in people with polypharmacy in England in 2012-18.187
Figure 7.1 NICE interactive flow chart for multimorbidity
Figure 7.2 NICE interactive flow chart for delivering an approach to care that takes
account of multimorbidity206
Figure 7.3 NICE pathway on medicines optimisation
Figure 7.4 NICE interactive flow chart for medication review

List of appendices

Appendix A Chapter 1 Supplementary tables

Appendix A-1 Diabetes medications and relevant clinical effects [*]
Appendix B Chapter 3 Supplementary tables
Appendix B-1 Diabetes medications recorded in ELSA274
Appendix B-2 Undiagnosed diabetes before and after the medication verification
in ELSA 2012
Appendix B-3 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes with fasting
glucose in England in 2004 and 2012276
Appendix B-4 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes with fasting
glucose by age and gender in England in 2004 and 2012
Appendix B-5 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes with HbA1c of
7% in England in 2004 and 2012278
Appendix B-6 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes with HbA1c of
7% by age and gender in England in 2004 and 2012
Appendix B-7 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes in the same
individuals in England in 2004 and 2012280
Appendix B-8 Longitudinal prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes in
the same individuals by age and gender in England in 2004 and 2012
Appendix B-9 Cohort characteristics in people without diabetes based on HbA1c
availability in ELSA 2012282
Appendix B-10 Prevalence of diagnosed diabetes between 2003 and 2012 from
the Health Survey for England [*]

Appendix C Chapter 4 Supplementary tables

	Appendix C-1 Prevalence of medications presumably not in long-term use in
	ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes
	Appendix C-2 Prevalence of polypharmacy in ELSA 2012
	Appendix C-3 Risk factors for polypharmacy in people without diabetes ($N = 5372$)
	with an adjustment for specific conditions, ELSA 2012
	Appendix C-4 Risk factors for polypharmacy in people with diabetes (N = 783)
	with an adjustment for specific conditions, ELSA 2012
	Appendix C-5 Prevalence of long-term conditions, according to polypharmacy and
	diabetes status
Ар	pendix D Chapter 5 Supplementary tables and figures
	Appendix D-1 Questions in assessments of ADLs, IADLs and mobility
	Appendix D-2 Significant factors associated with all-cause mortality from the fully
	adjusted model in England 2012-18291
	Appendix D-3 Sensitivity analyses of the associations between number of
	concurrent drugs and all-cause mortality in England 2012-18
	Appendix D-4 The sixth sensitivity analysis: associations [#] between number of
	concurrent drugs and all-cause and cause-specific mortality with 1-4 drugs as the
	reference in England in 2012-18293
Ар	pendix E Chapter 6 Supplementary tables
	Appendix E-1 Additional baseline characteristics † of people with polypharmacy (N
	= 1356) by cluster, ELSA 2012
	Appendix E-2 Sensitivity analyses of the associations between medication
	patterns [*] and mortality in people with polypharmacy in England in 2012–18 295

List of abbreviations

- A & E: Accident and emergency
- ACEI: Angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor
- ADA: American Diabetes Association
- ADLs: Activities of daily living
- ARB: Angiotensin II receptor blocker
- BMI: Body mass index
- **BNF: British National Formulary**
- **BZD: Benzodiazepine**
- CCB: Calcium channel blocker
- CES-D: Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale
- CHD: Coronary heart disease
- CI: Confidence interval
- CIF: Cumulative incidence function
- CNS: Central nervous system
- COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
- CVD: Cardiovascular disease
- DBP: Diastolic blood pressure
- DPP-4: Dipeptidyl peptidase-4
- ELSA: English Longitudinal Study of Ageing
- GLP-1: Glucagon-like peptide-1
- GP: General practitioner
- HbA1c: Glycated haemoglobin
- HR: Hazard ratio

IADLs: Instrumental activities of daily living

IQR: Interquartile range

MUR: Medicines use review

NHS: National Health Service

NICE: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

NSAID: Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug

NS-SEC: National statistics socio-economic classification

OR: Odds ratio

OTC: Over-the-counter

PIM: Potentially inappropriate medication

PIP: Potentially inappropriate prescription

RAAS: Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

RRR: Relative risk ratio

SBP: Systolic blood pressure

SD: Standard deviation

SGLT-2: Sodium-glucose cotransporter-2

SHR: Subdistribution hazard ratio

SNRI: Serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor

SSRI: Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor

START: Screening tool to alert to right treatment

STOPP: Screening tool of older people's prescriptions

SU: Sulphonylurea

TCA: Tricyclic antidepressant

TILDA: Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing

TZD: Thiazolidinedione

WHO: World Health Organisation

Chapter 1. Literature review on polypharmacy

This chapter will start with a brief introduction to the issues of ageing and multimorbidity and then focus on polypharmacy. First I will review the definitions of polypharmacy, then I will move on to polypharmacy research, and lastly I will discuss the role of diabetes in polypharmacy. The gaps in current research and the aims of this PhD research are reported at the end of this chapter.

1.1 Introduction

'Polypharmacy' is a term widely used to describe the concomitant use of multiple medications. Such use is a legitimate response to the presence of multimorbidity that requires multiple drugs or regimens based on guideline recommendations. Older adults inevitably have reduced physical function and activity and therefore are more likely to develop multimorbidity and polypharmacy. Since both ageing and multimorbidity play a fundamental role in the development of polypharmacy, they will be discussed before I begin the literature review on polypharmacy.

1.1.1 Ageing population

With the progress of technology and medical science in the 21st century, human life expectancy is higher than ever before. In 2016, the average life expectancy at birth among the global population was 72 years; in the UK, the average life expectancy at birth for males and females was 80 and 83 years respectively (World Health Organisation (WHO) 2021). Longer life expectancy inevitably results in an increasing proportion of older people worldwide. According to the WHO, it is estimated that the

proportion of people aged 60 and over will nearly double globally from 12% in 2015 to 22% in 2050 (WHO 2018). The population in the UK is also getting older. In 2016, 18% of the UK population were aged 65 and over, and 2.4% were aged 85 and over; the percentage of people aged 65 and over is projected to reach 24.7% in 2046 (Randall 2017).

Vulnerability in ageing populations

Older adults appear to be vulnerable in terms of physical function, social support, and treatment complexity. Older people's unique characteristics contribute to difficulties in disease management, and therefore they need to be treated differently from the younger population. First, physical function in older people is different from that of younger adults, including body composition and hepatic and renal functions. Older people have an increasing ratio between fat and lean body mass, which accompanies the ageing process (Prentice and Jebb 2001), and this would lead to age-related changes in drug distribution. Drug distribution is highly related to the lipid solubility of each medication. The change in body composition therefore affects drug distribution and subsequently influences drug efficacy and drug elimination. Older adults also show declines in hepatic and renal function, which are the main pathways to metabolise and eliminate drugs from the human body (Wojtczak, Kasznicki, and Drzewoski 2017). Alterations in body composition and hepatic and renal function lead to changed pharmacokinetics, resulting in the unpredictable elimination half-life of medications. Thus, older adults may be exposed to high risks of adverse effects, such as the risk of falls with antihypertensives, or the risk of delirium with opioids (Davies and O'Mahony 2015). Second, older people are rarely followed up in pharmaceutical

clinical trials for new medications, because older people with multimorbidity are usually excluded from randomised controlled trials (Wojtczak, Kasznicki, and Drzewoski 2017). Accordingly, information on the efficacy and adverse effects of particular drugs among older adults is insufficient in clinical practice. Most clinical treatment guidelines tend to target individuals with a specific disease (e.g. vounger adults) rather than people with complex comorbidities (e.g. older adults), contributing to the difficulty and complexity of disease management for older people. Third, older age is usually accompanied by more symptomatic treatments prescribed by physicians (Wojtczak, Kasznicki, and Drzewoski 2017). Long-term symptoms such as constipation, vertigo, and insomnia are common among older people, and they are probably related to frailty and reduced physical activity over the ageing process. Nevertheless, the detailed diagnoses and investigations that lie behind a specific symptomatic treatment might not be recorded by physicians, which may affect the overall treatment and may harm older adults' health in the long run (Wojtczak, Kasznicki, and Drzewoski 2017). Fourth, multimorbidity in older people results in multiple consultations with different specialists. Different specialists may prescribe duplicate medications or the same ingredient in different formulations, due either to a lack of medication review or to a lack of awareness among patients (Wojtczak, Kasznicki, and Drzewoski 2017). Lastly, a decline in cognition accompanies the normal ageing process, which may influence older adults' attention, memory, executive cognitive function, language, and visuospatial abilities (Murman 2015). Reduced cognitive abilities in older people may contribute to polypharmacy through their unawareness of the types of medication they take, their inability to describe or interpret symptoms, or repeated prescriptions from different specialist clinics. Also, impaired cognitive function may lead to nonadherence to treatments and subsequently damage disease management. To

summarise, features ranging from physiological changes to clinical settings distinguish older adults from the general adult population and complicate disease management for older people.

1.1.2 Multimorbidity

Multimorbidity, defined as the coexistence of two or more chronic conditions by the WHO, has become an urgent issue in terms of patient safety, health inequality, and healthcare expenditure (Geneva: WHO 2016). The prevalence of multimorbidity has been rising over recent decades, depending on the number of conditions included (Xu, Mishra, and Jones 2017; Geneva: WHO 2016). The prevalence of multimorbidity essentially increases with age and is nearly 100% among older people (Xu, Mishra, and Jones 2017). Relevant research on multimorbidity has intensively studied its definitions, patterns, risk factors, and interventions (Prados-Torres et al. 2014; Xu, Mishra, and Jones 2017; Hernández, Reilly, and Kenny 2019). Three groups of multimorbidity patterns - cardiovascular and metabolic diseases, mental health problems, and musculoskeletal disorders - were reported in a systematic review (Prados-Torres et al. 2014) where diabetes was the most prevalent long-term condition, along with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and hypertension. The results indicated that specific long-term conditions played a predominant role in the development of multimorbidity and placed patients at a high risk of polypharmacy in the future.

Polypharmacy has been a crucial issue for older people globally since the identification of its associations with morbidity and mortality in the literature (Hajjar, Cafiero, and Hanlon 2007; Dagli and Sharma 2014). The underlying mechanism has not yet been

confirmed, although the adverse outcomes of polypharmacy may relate to unnecessary medications, adverse drug reactions, drug-drug interactions, drugdisease interactions (treatment conflict), or other unknown factors. As ageing populations are rapidly growing worldwide, the number of older adults with polypharmacy may be greater than has previously been imagined.

The relationship between multimorbidity and polypharmacy has been widely discussed (Wise 2013; Sinnott and Bradley 2015) with the emerging idea of including multimorbidity and polypharmacy in treatment guidelines (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) 2017; Muth et al. 2019). NICE not only proposes guidance for multimorbidity management (NICE 2016) but also addresses polypharmacy issues in people with multimorbidity (NICE 2017). The care of older adults is transitioning from a disease-centred approach to patient-centred management.

1.2 Definitions of polypharmacy

At the most basic level, polypharmacy refers to a patient's taking multiple concurrent medications per day. Despite this intuitive understanding of the term, however, more details need to be clarified to provide a clear definition of polypharmacy. The epidemiological concept of the five Ws – who, what, when, where, and why/how – encompasses the aspects that need to be considered in the assessment of medication use:

- Who: patients, who may be children, younger adults, or older adults.
- What: medications being taken, which may include prescribed medications, over-the-counter (OTC) drugs, or medicinal herbs.

- When: the period of the medication, which may range from a few days (shortterm) to several months (long-term).
- Where: the locations where medications are prescribed by doctors and/or taken by patients, which may be hospital inpatient or outpatient departments, clinics, nursing homes, or the community.
- Why (or how): the appropriate indication corresponding to the prescribed medication.

To date, no consensus on the definition of polypharmacy has been reached, although there is broad agreement on the approach to the assessment of medication use. A WHO report has suggested defining polypharmacy as taking more than four or five medications for long-term conditions simultaneously (Martial, Mantel-Teeuwisse, and Jansen 2013). This definition focuses on the number of medications rather than on the details of medication use. The NICE guidelines do not provide a specific definition of polypharmacy, but they invoke the concepts of appropriate polypharmacy and problematic polypharmacy (NICE 2017). The former means that prescribed medications are optimised with the best evidence; the latter means that the prescription of multiple drugs is inappropriate, or that the benefit of the prescribed medications is not evident (NICE 2017). Polypharmacy is an inevitable consequence of multimorbidity in older adults, and sometimes is justifiable. A thorough evaluation of polypharmacy is essential to ensure that medications are prescribed based on clinical evidence, and also that the benefits of medications outweigh the harms, conditional on the individual's health status.

In addition to these conceptual definitions, one review article summarised different definitions of polypharmacy dating from 2000 to May 2016 (Masnoon et al. 2017). It divided these definitions into three classifications:

- 1. Numerical-only definitions (111/138; 80.4%): only the total number of medications was taken into account, and the most common cut-off was five.
- 2. Numerical definitions that took account of the duration of the therapy or the healthcare setting (15/138; 10.9%): this class of definitions focused on medications in long-term use, ranging from 90 days to 240 days according to the duration of the therapy. Some hospital-based studies defined polypharmacy as a certain number of medications during the hospital stay or at hospital discharge.
- Descriptive definitions (12/138; 8.7%): this class of definitions was about conceptual rather than cut-off values, and could be classified into several subgroups:
 - Some definitions involved the co-prescription of multiple medications; therefore, the total number of medications was not specified.
 - Some definitions relied on the presence of irrational prescription, such as medications without good evidence, potentially inappropriate medications/prescriptions (PIMs/PIPs) (e.g. without indications), medication underuse, and the duplication of medications. For example, appropriate polypharmacy referred to optimised medications for patients with multiple conditions where the medication use agreed with the best evidence.
 - Other definitions included medications obtained from multiple pharmacies, additional medications prescribed for side effects, and inconsistency between the medications recorded and the medications patients were actually taking (dubbed pseudopolypharmacy).

As discussed above, the majority of definitions of polypharmacy found in the literature are numerical only. This may be attributed to the complexity of defining polypharmacy beyond a cut-off, which may involve difficulties in study design, information availability, and proper assessment of the rationale for medications. Apart from the emphases on cut-off values and treatment durations identified in the review article (Masnoon et al. 2017), some issues have not been discussed - for instance, OTC medications and combination drugs. OTC medications refer to drugs sold directly to the consumer, without a prescription from a healthcare professional. They may be extractions from herbs, nutritional supplements, or symptom relievers such as painkillers. If OTC drugs were taken into account, the prevalence of polypharmacy would be higher, and this would therefore not be comparable with polypharmacy defined by prescribed medications. OTC medications have usually been excluded in the literature, with some exceptions in certain studies (Huang et al. 2010; Moriarty, Hardy, et al. 2015). Antihistamine, aspirin, calcium, calcium plus vitamin D, and magnesium have reportedly been included in definitions of polypharmacy (Huang et al. 2010; Moriarty, Hardy, et al. 2015) where they might be used for unknown indications. The availability and regulation of OTC drugs differ across countries, resulting in inconsistencies between the definitions used in current studies. This situation also makes the generalisation of the selection criteria for OTC drugs unfeasible. In addition to the sheer regional differences in OTC medications, another difficulty that may arise is that they are not well documented in medical records, and for some people the taking of OTC drugs is probably arbitrary. Incomplete information on OTC medications and their suspected irregular use may therefore lead to bias in polypharmacy research. Although it appears difficult to accommodate OTC medications within definitions of polypharmacy, the concurrent use of OTC medications cannot be ignored completely. In a nationally representative sample of older Irish adults, the use of supplements was found to increase as the prevalence of polypharmacy increased (Peklar et al. 2017). Moreover, some OTC medications have been proven to interact with prescribed medications: for example, the coadministration of warfarin and aspirin increases the risk of bleeding, and the combination of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs, a kind of antihypertensive) with potassium supplements probably causes life-threatening elevations of potassium in the blood (Barrett, Lucas, and Alexander 2016).

Combination drugs are medications that include two or more active ingredients in a single dosage form. The literature has demonstrated different ways to count combination drugs: either by distinct pharmacological drug (Huang et al. 2010; Strehblow, Smeikal, and Fasching 2014; McAvay et al. 2017) or by pill count (Nobili et al. 2011; Abolhassani et al. 2017). The former counts each distinct pharmacological agent as a medication, regardless of the drug class to which it belongs (Huang et al. 2010; Strehblow, Smeikal, and Fasching 2014; McAvay et al. 2017), while the latter counts fixed-dose combinations as one medication (Nobili et al. 2011; Abolhassani et al. 2017). On the other hand, some studies have counted the number of medications according to drug classes: for instance, three different types of diuretics may be counted as one medication (Yashkin et al. 2018). The features discussed in this section – cut-offs, therapy duration, healthcare settings, OTC medications, and combination drugs – vary across studies and have led to variations in the definition of polypharmacy.

Taking together these key elements in the definition of polypharmacy, this PhD research adopted a rigorous definition that involved the most common/comparable cut-off values of concurrent medications, prescribed medications in long-term use, regularly used OTC drugs, and each active component of a combination drug as a

single medication. More details about the definition of polypharmacy in this PhD research will be elaborated in section 4.2.2.

Specific types of polypharmacy

The term 'polypharmacy' is sometimes employed to denote the concurrent use of multiple medications for a particular long-term condition (e.g. antipsychotic polypharmacy) or with a specific pharmacological mechanism (e.g. central nervous system (CNS)-active polypharmacy). A good deal of research has investigated antipsychotic polypharmacy in terms of prevalence rates, prescribing patterns, and the association with health outcomes among youths, adults, or older people (Aly El-Gabry et al. 2018; Gaudiano et al. 2018; Huang et al. 2018; Ijaz et al. 2018; Kadra et al. 2018; Yang et al. 2018; Hou et al. 2019). Most studies have defined antipsychotic polypharmacy as taking two or more antipsychotics (Aly El-Gabry et al. 2018; Huang et al. 2018; Kadra et al. 2018; Yang et al. 2018; Hou et al. 2019), while some have employed a cut-off of four to define complex polypharmacy (Gaudiano et al. 2018). The potential health outcomes associated with antipsychotic polypharmacy remain unclear, although there is emerging research on this topic (liaz et al. 2018; Kadra et al. 2018). Furthermore, some studies have investigated the prescribing patterns and prevalence of CNS-active polypharmacy (i.e. psychotropic polypharmacy) - defined as exposure to three or more medications acting on the CNS - in older adults (Morin et al. 2019) or elderly dementia patients (Maust et al. 2021). On the other hand, a few studies have explored other types of polypharmacy, such as polypharmacy with oral antidiabetic agents, classified into one, two, and three or more (Willey et al. 2006), and cardiovascular polypharmacy, defined as taking two or more cardiovascular drugs

(Chao et al. 2015). Combination therapy with different pharmacological medications is common for people with mental illnesses, type 2 diabetes, or cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), which may lead to research on specific types of polypharmacy.

Although the complexity of defining polypharmacy has been recognised, and the relevant issues have been discussed, definitions of polypharmacy remain inconsistent and subject to data availability, study designs, study samples, and research questions.

1.3 Polypharmacy research

There is an increase in ageing populations and a concomitant increase in the phenomenon of multimorbidity accompanied by multiple treatments. Therefore, the term 'polypharmacy' has been widely used in research to refer to the concurrent daily use of multiple medications. In order to evaluate existing evidence, I carried out a literature search through the MEDLINE and Embase databases, using the search terms 'polypharmacy', 'aged', 'prevalence', 'risk factors', and 'health outcomes'. The relevant subject headings for each search term were also selected in the search process. The literature review reported here covers all aspects of polypharmacy research to provide a broad picture, and it is organised into four sections: prevalence and risk factors, health outcomes, medication-related issues, and intervention. Given the availability of drug information, this PhD research focuses on polypharmacy rather than medication-related issues (e.g. inappropriate prescribing). Thus, polypharmacy research on prevalence, risk factors, and health outcomes in older adults will be discussed in detail. The process of reviewing the polypharmacy literature on

prevalence, risk factors, and health outcomes is shown in Figure 1.1, and that of polypharmacy in general is summarised in Table 1.1.

Polypharmacy has been widely studied among people with specific conditions, from psychiatric, epilepsy, and inflammatory bowel disease patients in the early stages to HIV and cancer patients in recent years. Dementia patients appear to be another interest in polypharmacy studies because of a growing awareness of deprescribing among this vulnerable population; this research has focused on whether fewer medications are prescribed after a dementia diagnosis (Sarkar et al. 2017; Narayan et al. 2019) and on deprescribing interventions (Bravo-Jose, Saez-Lleo, and Peris-Marti 2019; Kase et al. 2019). Further, polypharmacy has also been explored among older adults with particular long-term conditions such as CVDs (Kennel et al. 2019; Tefera, Alemayehu, and Mekonnen 2020), type 2 diabetes (Papazafiropoulou et al. 2014; Noale et al. 2016), chronic kidney disease (Rifkin and Winkelmayer 2010), COPD (Noteboom et al. 2014), and haemophilia (Mannucci et al. 2018). Research has also been reported on a wide range of healthcare settings, from nursing homes (Schneider et al. 2019) and home care (Komiya et al. 2018) to hospital admission (Momo et al. 2019), hospital discharge (Nguyen et al. 2020), and admission through an acute assessment unit (Yong et al. 2012). This literature review focuses on polypharmacy studies among older adults in general, and does not include studies carried out on older adults with particular long-term conditions. The role of diabetes in polypharmacy is reviewed in section 1.4.

Figure 1.1 Flow chart showing the literature review process for polypharmacy in older adults



[†] Articles that were irrelevant to polypharmacy or not older adult-focused, case reports, and pharmaceutical publications about certain medications were excluded.

⁺⁺ Criteria were the accessibility of the full text in English and the exploration of risk factors and health outcomes of polypharmacy.
	Voar	Study design	Research	Provalence/			Polypharmacy definition		
First author	location			significance [‡]	Age	Ν	Cut-off§	Long-	Drug
	looution		outcome	Significance			out-on	term	criteria
Al-Dahshan	2020	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5+: 75.5%	65+	5639	5	-	\checkmark
А	Qatar	(population-based [∥])							
Badawy NA	2020	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5-8: 58.4%	65+	500	5, 9	-	\checkmark
	Kuwait	(population-based)		9+: 10.2%					
Ishizaki T	2020	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5-9: 45.3%	75+	1094199	5, 10	-	-
	Japan	(population-based)		10+: 18.2%					
Suzuki T	2020	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	6: 15.7%	65+	993	6	-	\checkmark
	Japan	(population-based)							
Carmona-	2018	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5+: 21.9%	65+	26277	5, 10	-	\checkmark
Torres JM	Spain	(population-based [∥])		10+: 0.6%					
Slater N	2018	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5-9: 24.1%	50+	7730	5, 10	-	\checkmark
	UK	(population-based [∥])		10+: 6.4%					
Rieckert A	2018	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	-	75+	3904	7, 10	\checkmark	-
	UK, Italy,	(population-based)							
	Austria,								
	Germany								
Sarwar MR	2018	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5-9: 60.8%	65+	385	5, 10	-	-
	Pakistan	(population-based)		10+: 6.2%					

Table 1.1 Summary of previous studies on polypharmacy in older adults

Table 1.1 (c	ontinued)
--------------	-----------

	Voar	Study design	Research outcome	Prevalence/ significance [‡]			Polypharmacy definition		
First author	location				Age	Ν	Cut-off§	Long-	Drug
	location						Gut-on*	term	criteria
Vicinanza R	2018	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5+: 39%	50+	476	5	_	-
	Italy	(hospital-based)							
Pereira KG	2017	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5+: 32%	60+	1705	5	-	-
	Brazil	(population-based)							
Lim LM	2017	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5+: 45.9%	55+	1256	5	_	\checkmark
	Malaysia	(population-based [∥])							
Castioni J	2017	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5+: 11.8%	40-81	4938	5, 10	\checkmark	\checkmark
	Switzerland	(population-based)							
Ramos LR	2016	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5+: 18.0%	60+	6844	5	-	\checkmark
	Brazil	(population-based [∥])							
Kojima T	2016	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	6+: 67.1%	-	1003	6	-	-
	Japan	(population-based)			(Mean				
					= 86.6)				
Silveira EA	2014	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5+: 28%	60+	418	5	-	-
	Brazil	(population-based)							

	Voor	Study design	Research outcome	Provalonco/			Polypharmacy definition		
First author	location			significance [‡]	Age	Ν	Cut-off§	Long-	Drug
	location			Significance			Gut-on*	term	criteria
Lu J	2014	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	2+: 16.5%	90+	859	2, 5	\checkmark	\checkmark
	China	(population-based)		5+: 3.7%					
Kim HA	2014	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	6+: 86.4%	65+	319185	6, 11,	-	-
	Korea	(population-based [∥])		11+: 44.9%			21		
				21+: 3.0%					
Santos TR	2013	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5+: 26.4%	60+	934	5	_	-
	Brazil	(population-based)							
Neves SJ	2013	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5+: 11%	60+	400	5	-	\checkmark
	Brazil	(population-based)							
Carvalho	2012	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5+: 36%	65+	1115	5	-	-
MFC	Brazil	(population-based)							
Nomura K	2011	Cross-sectional	Risk factors	5+: 71%	65+	453	5	-	\checkmark
	Japan	(population-based)							
Veehof LJG	2000	Cohort	Risk factors	2+: 26.4% →	65+	1544	2, 4, 6	\checkmark	-
	Netherlands	(population-based)		42%					
				6+: 1.6% →					
				4%					
				(start \rightarrow end)					

	Voar		Research outcome	Prevalence/ significance [‡]			Polypharmacy definition		
First author	location	Study design			Age	Ν	Cut-off [§]	Long- term	Drug criteria
Hasan SS	2020 Malaysia	Cross-sectional (population-based)	Frailty	\checkmark	60+	151	5	\checkmark	-
Shmuel S	2019 USA	Cohort (population-based [∥])	Incident frailty	\checkmark	50+	1697	5, 10	-	\checkmark
Gutierrez- Valencia M	2018	Systematic review	Frailty	\checkmark	50 + †	-	-	-	-
Yuki A	2018 Japan	Cohort (population-based)	Frailty	\checkmark	65+	299	6	-	\checkmark
Katsimpris A	2019	Systematic review	Physical function	\checkmark	50 + †	-	-	-	-
Romano- Lieber NS	2019 Brazil	Cohort (population-based [∥])	All-cause mortality	\checkmark	60+	1258	5	-	-
Basnet S	2018 USA	Cohort (population-based)	30-day rehospitalisation	\checkmark	65+	25190	С	\checkmark	-
Gutierrez- Valencia M	2017 Spain	Cohort (hospital-based)	Mortality A & E visits Hospitalisations	- √ √	– (Mean = 88.3)	200	5, 10	-	-

-		Provalanco/			Polypharmacy definition		
Study desig	n Research outcome	significanco [‡]	Age	Ν	Cut-off§	Long-	Drug
		Significance			Cut-on-	term	criteria
7 Systematic revi	iew All-cause mortality	\checkmark	_*	-	_	-	-
and meta-analy	vsis						
6 Cohort	Hospitalisation	\checkmark	65+	429	С	-	_
len (population-bas	ed)						
5 Cohort	Mortality	-	65+	59042	5, 10	\checkmark	\checkmark
an (population-bas	ed) All-cause	\checkmark					
	hospitalisations						
	Fracture-specific	1					
	hospitalisations	·					
5 Cohort	Rehospitalisation	\checkmark	65+	480	8	-	-
y (hospital-base	d) Mortality	-					
3 Cross-section	al Length of hospital	-	65+	329	5	\checkmark	\checkmark
alia (hospital-base	d) stay						
	Hospitalisations	-					
0 Cohort	Fall-related	\checkmark	50+	6220	5, 10	\checkmark	\checkmark
(population-base	ed [∥]) hospitalisations						
	Ir, ionStudy design7Systematic reviand meta-analy6Cohort6Cohortden(population-bas)5Cohortand(population-bas)5Cohortan(population-bas)5Cohort3Cross-sectionalia(hospital-base)20Cohort40Cohort40Cohort41Cohort42Cohort	rr, ionStudy designResearch outcome7Systematic review and meta-analysisAll-cause mortality6CohortHospitalisation6CohortHospitalisation6CohortMortality7SourceMortality6CohortMortality7CohortMortality7CohortMortality5CohortAll-cause6hospitalisationsFracture-specific7Kospital-based)Mortality3Cross-sectional (hospital-based)Length of hospital3Cross-sectional (hospital-based)Length of hospital3CohortFall-related4(population-based)Fall-related6CohortFall-related7K(population-based)	rr, ionStudy designResearch outcomePrevalence/ significance*7Systematic review and meta-analysisAll-cause mortality√6CohortHospitalisation√6CohortHospitalisation√6CohortMortality-7SourceAll-cause√6CohortMortality-7CohortMortality-5CohortMortality-7StatueAll-cause√8(population-based)All-cause√9(population-based)All-cause√5CohortRehospitalisations-5CohortRehospitalisation√9(hospital-based)Mortality-3Cross-sectional aliaLength of hospital stay-20CohortFall-related√40CohortFall-related√	rr, ionStudy designResearch outcomePrevalence/ significance*Age7Systematic review and meta-analysisAll-cause mortality and meta-analysis√-'6CohortHospitalisation (population-based)√65+5CohortMortality All-cause-65+7CohortMortality hospitalisations-65+7CohortMortality hospitalisations-65+7CohortMortality hospitalisations-65+7CohortRehospitalisations Mortality-65+3Cross-sectional (hospital-based)Length of hospital stay Hospitalisations-65+20CohortFall-related hospitalisations-50+20CohortFall-related√50+	rr, ionStudy designResearch outcomePrevalence/ significance*AgeN7Systematic review and meta-analysisAll-cause mortality√-'-6CohortHospitalisation√65+429den (population-based)Mortality-65+590425CohortMortality-65+59042and (population-based)All-cause√√65+4805CohortMortality-65+4805CohortRehospitalisations√65+4805CohortRehospitalisations-65+3295CohortRehospitalisations-65+3293Cross-sectional (hospital-based)Length of hospital-65+329alia(hospital-based)stay Hospitalisations-65+32920CohortFall-related√50+622040Kinospitalisations-420	rr, ion Study design Research outcome Prevalence/ significance ⁺ Age N (Cut-off [§]) 7 Systematic review All-cause mortality √ - - - - and meta-analysis - - - - - 6 Cohort Hospitalisation √ 65+ 429 C den (population-based) 5 Cohort Mortality - 65+ 59042 5, 10 an (population-based) All-cause √ hospitalisations Fracture-specific √ hospitalisations 5 Cohort Rehospitalisation ✓ 65+ 480 8 y (hospital-based) Mortality - 3 Cross-sectional Length of hospital - 65+ 329 5 alia (hospital-based) stay Hospitalisations - 20 Cohort Fall-related √ 50+ 6220 5, 10 K (population-based ^{II}) hospitalisations	rr, ion Study design Research outcome Prevalence/ significance* Age N Cut-off [®] Long- term 7 Systematic review All-cause mortality /

	Year,	Study design	Research outcome	Prevalence/ significance [‡]	Age		Polypharmacy definition		
First author	location					Ν	Cut-off§	Long-	Drug
	location						out on	term	criteria
Zia A	2017	Case-control	Falls	-	65+	202	5	\checkmark	\checkmark
	Malaysia	(hospital-based)							
Laflamme L	2015	Case-control	Fall injuries	\checkmark	65+	64399	C, 10+	-	\checkmark
	Sweden	(population-based [∥])							
Fonad E	2015	Cross-sectional	Falls	\checkmark	75+	1193	4	-	_
	Sweden	(population-based)							
Chiu MH	2015	Case-control	Falls	\checkmark	50+	83	6	-	\checkmark
	Taiwan	(hospital-based)							
Abreu HC	2015	Cohort	Falls	\checkmark	60+	221	7	-	-
	Brazil	(hospital-based)							
Kojima T	2012	Cohort	Falls	\checkmark	65+	172	5	-	_
	Japan	(hospital-based)							
Kojima T	2011	Cross-sectional	Fall risk	\checkmark	65+	262	С	-	_
	Japan	(hospital-based)							
Lai SW	2010	Case-control	Hip fracture	\checkmark	65+	2328	5	-	\checkmark
	Taiwan	(population-based [∥])							

	Voar	Study design	Research outcome	Prevalence/ significance [*]	Age		Polypharmacy definition		
First author	location					Ν	Cut-off [§]	Long- term	Drug criteria
Baranzini F	2009 Italy	Cross-sectional (population-based)	Fall-related injuries	√#	65+	293	7	-	\checkmark
Ziere G	2006 Netherlands	Cross-sectional (population-based)	Falls	√#	55+	6928	4	-	-
Leszek S	2016 Poland	Cross-sectional (hospital-based)	Depressive symptoms	\checkmark	65+	206	С	-	-
Park HY	2017 South Korea	Case-control (population-based [∥])	Dementia	\checkmark	65+	5562	5	-	-
Lai SW	2012 Taiwan	Case-control (population-based [∥])	Dementia	\checkmark	65+	7135	5	-	\checkmark
Niikawa H	2017 Japan	Cross-sectional (population-based)	Cognitive impairment	\checkmark	65+	1152	6	-	\checkmark
Ahmed B	2014 Pakistan	Cohort (hospital-based)	Adverse drug reactions	\checkmark	65+	1000	5	-	\checkmark
Kojima T	2012 Japan	Cross-sectional (hospital-based)	Adverse drug reactions	\checkmark	65+	2412	6	-	-

	Voor	Year, Study design location		Provalanco/	Age	N	Polypharmacy definition			
First author	location		Research outcome	significance [‡]			Cut-off§	Long-	Drug	
	location			Significance			out on	term	criteria	
Wang R	2015	Cohort	Mortality	\checkmark	80+	1562	6, 10	\checkmark	\checkmark	
	China	(hospital-based)	Adverse drug	\checkmark						
			reactions							
			Falls	\checkmark						
			Frailty	\checkmark						
			Disability	\checkmark						
			Cognitive	-						
			impairment							
Fried TR	2014	Systematic review	Hospitalisation	Mixed	_**	-	-	-	-	
			Mortality							
			Adverse drug events							
			Falls							
			Measures of							
			function and							
			cognition							

Table 1.1 (footnotes)

* Symbol '\screw' referred to having significant results; symbol '-' referred to having non-significant results.

[∥] Representative sample employed.

[§] C uses total number of medications rather than polypharmacy cut-offs.

[†] Youngest cut-off was 50, but most studies were 65+.

^{*} Including people aged 16+ (a few studies) or specific populations such as HIV-infected and seizure patients.

^{**} A few studies included people aged 18+; most studies based on community-dwelling older adults.

[#] Fall risk was associated with polypharmacy use, but only when at least one established fall risk-increasing drug was part of the daily regimen.

1.3.1 Prevalence and risk factors

The phenomenon of polypharmacy has been increasing for decades among not only older people but also younger adults (van den Akker et al. 2019). The reported prevalence of polypharmacy (five or more medications) ranges from 11% to 75.5% among older adults (Nomura et al. 2011: Carvalho et al. 2012: Neves et al. 2013: Santos et al. 2013; Silveira, Dalastra, and Pagotto 2014; Ramos et al. 2016; Castioni et al. 2017; Lim et al. 2017; Pereira et al. 2017; Carmona-Torres et al. 2018; Sarwar, Iftikhar, and Sarfraz 2018; Vicinanza et al. 2018; Wastesson et al. 2018; Al-Dahshan et al. 2020; Badawy et al. 2020; Ishizaki et al. 2020); the reported prevalence of excessive polypharmacy (10 or more medications) varies between 0.6% and 18.2% (Carmona-Torres et al. 2018; Sarwar, Iftikhar, and Sarfraz 2018; Wastesson et al. 2018; Ishizaki et al. 2020). Two studies have reported a much lower prevalence of polypharmacy than others: 4% for six or more medications in a Dutch study, where only medications in long-term use (more than 240 days a year) were included (Veehof et al. 2000); 3.7% for five or more medications among adults aged 90 and older living in rural China (Lu et al. 2014). A few studies have been based on older adults with diabetes, where the prevalence of polypharmacy was found to be 57.1% (with a cutoff of five) (Noale et al. 2016), 66% (cut-off of five) (Ribeiro Da Silva et al. 2016), 79% (cut-off of six) (Papazafiropoulou et al. 2014), and 84% (cut-off of four) (Gadsby et al. 2012). These findings indicate that older diabetes patients tend to have polypharmacy. The huge variation in the prevalence of polypharmacy in the literature may be shaped by different study designs (e.g. age ranges), locations (e.g. healthcare systems), study populations (e.g. representative samples), or even non-numerical definitions of polypharmacy, such as therapy duration and inclusion criteria for medications. Although a few studies have used representative samples, the variation in the

prevalence of polypharmacy (five or more) is still noticeable, ranging from 18.0% to 75.5% (Ramos et al. 2016; Lim et al. 2017; Carmona-Torres et al. 2018; Slater et al. 2018; Al-Dahshan et al. 2020). Only two of these studies reported the prevalence of heightened polypharmacy (10 or more): 6.4% in the UK (Slater et al. 2018) and 0.6% in Spain (Carmona-Torres et al. 2018). Further, a nationally representative Korean study (Kim et al. 2014) reported that among the population, 86.4% took six medications or more, 44.9% took 11 or more, and 3.0% took 21 or more; these figures were much higher than those found in other studies. There is thus little agreement on the prevalence of polypharmacy, even among studies with representative samples.

A wide range of factors associated with polypharmacy (including higher levels of polypharmacy) has been reported, from socio-demographics to health-related factors and health service utilisation. Older age is generally thought to contribute to polypharmacy (Veehof et al. 2000; Carvalho et al. 2012; Santos et al. 2013; Ramos et al. 2016; Castioni et al. 2017; Lim et al. 2017; Pereira et al. 2017; Carmona-Torres et al. 2018; Slater et al. 2018; Vicinanza et al. 2018; Ishizaki et al. 2020), although people aged 80 years, 85 years, or more have been reported to have a lower risk of polypharmacy (Kim et al. 2014; Silveira, Dalastra, and Pagotto 2014; Rieckert et al. 2018). Females have been shown to be likely to develop polypharmacy in most studies (Nomura et al. 2011; Carvalho et al. 2012; Santos et al. 2013; Silveira, Dalastra, and Pagotto 2014; Pereira et al. 2017; Carmona-Torres et al. 2018; Al-Dahshan et al. 2020; Badawy et al. 2020), whereas males have been found to have a higher risk in a few studies (Kim et al. 2014; Lim et al. 2017; Ishizaki et al. 2020). Several studies have found an association between polypharmacy and a lower level or lack of education among older adults (Neves et al. 2013; Lu et al. 2014; Castioni et al. 2017; Carmona-Torres et al. 2018; Sarwar, Iftikhar, and Sarfraz 2018; Badawy et al. 2020). Rare

studies have reported on other characteristics, such as ethnicity (Lim et al. 2017), working status (Carvalho et al. 2012), marital status (separated/divorced/widowed) (Santos et al. 2013; Carmona-Torres et al. 2018), and income/wealth (with mixed findings) (Carvalho et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2014; Slater et al. 2018). However, gender and education were not related to polypharmacy in a study exploring the risk factors for excessive polypharmacy among older people with polypharmacy (Rieckert et al. 2018). This study only included people with polypharmacy, and thus differed from the comparisons between polypharmacy and non-polypharmacy made in other studies.

In addition, polypharmacy's health-related characteristics have been extensively identified. The literature suggests that a greater number of comorbidities plays a key role in the development of polypharmacy (Nomura et al. 2011; Neves et al. 2013; Kim et al. 2014; Silveira, Dalastra, and Pagotto 2014; Kojima et al. 2016; Lim et al. 2017; Rieckert et al. 2018; Al-Dahshan et al. 2020; Badawy et al. 2020). Particular long-term conditions have been found to make a significant contribution to polypharmacy, such as CVDs, diabetes, and dyslipidaemia (Veehof et al. 2000; Carvalho et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2014; Lu et al. 2014; Ramos et al. 2016; Lim et al. 2017; Vicinanza et al. 2018; Al-Dahshan et al. 2020). A higher body mass index (BMI) (with a cut-off of 30 in some research) has been shown to be an important risk factor for polypharmacy (Silveira, Dalastra, and Pagotto 2014; Castioni et al. 2017; Carmona-Torres et al. 2018; Rieckert et al. 2018; Slater et al. 2018; Al-Dahshan et al. 2020), along with poor self-rated health (Carvalho et al. 2012; Neves et al. 2013; Santos et al. 2013; Silveira, Dalastra, and Pagotto 2014; Ramos et al. 2016; Pereira et al. 2017; Slater et al. 2018). By contrast, there seems to be a lack of agreement regarding other health factors that have been reported in only a few studies, including frailty (Rieckert et al. 2018), cognitive impairment (Lu et al. 2014), poor physical and mental health (Rieckert et al. 2018),

smoking (being a former or current smoker) (Castioni et al. 2017), alcohol consumption (showing an inverse effect) (Slater et al. 2018), medium to low adherence to the Mediterranean diet (Vicinanza et al. 2018), eutrophic nutritional status (Silveira, Dalastra, and Pagotto 2014), and bedridden status (Carmona-Torres et al. 2018). Some drug-related factors have also been reported to be related to polypharmacy: the number of medications at the baseline (Veehof et al. 2000), medications without a clear indication (Veehof et al. 2000), self-medication (Carmona-Torres et al. 2018), and the use of analgesics, diuretics, or antidiabetics (Ishizaki et al. 2020). Furthermore, health service utilisation behaviours have been found to contribute to polypharmacy in some ways. Older people who consult more medical institutions (Kojima et al. 2016; Badawy et al. 2020; Ishizaki et al. 2020; Suzuki et al. 2020), have more medical appointments (Neves et al. 2013; Richardson, Kenny, and Bennett 2014; Pereira et al. 2017), are admitted to hospital more frequently (Ramos et al. 2016; Badawy et al. 2020; Ishizaki et al. 2020), use physician home visits (Ishizaki et al. 2020), or have free healthcare (an Irish study) (Richardson, Kenny, and Bennett 2014) are reportedly more likely to show polypharmacy. Conversely, older adults who utilise only the public health system (Carvalho et al. 2012) and residents with higher care need levels in long-term care facilities (Kojima et al. 2016) are reportedly less likely to show polypharmacy. Lastly, physician factors have been related to less polypharmacy and inappropriate prescribing, in terms of their considering the number of medications and the relevant benefits or risks, and their utilisation of the Beers criteria (le et al. 2017).

The risk factors identified in different studies vary and may depend on the study designs and populations (including sample sizes), healthcare systems, definitions of polypharmacy, and data availability. The inconsistent adjustment to potential confounders across the studies may have contributed to the lack of agreement on factors associated with polypharmacy, except for the higher number of comorbidities. Also, social determinants were less likely to be considered comprehensively in the literature, probably because of data availability or study design. Thus, more studies with a representative sample of older adults and comprehensive information on sociodemographics and health determinants are warranted to understand which characteristics of older people are related to a high risk of polypharmacy.

1.3.2 Health outcomes

A broad spectrum of health outcomes has been studied in relation to polypharmacy among older adults, from physical health (e.g. frailty) to psychological well-being (e.g. depression). Although these studies have investigated the potential consequences of polypharmacy, differences in study design (e.g. age ranges), definitions of polypharmacy, and measurements of health lead to difficulties in making direct comparisons among studies. Relevant studies of associations between polypharmacy and health outcomes in older adults are summarised in Table 1.1. Most of the literature suggests that older adults with polypharmacy are prone to be frail, be hospitalised frequently, die early, or report falls, as polypharmacy itself is regarded as a geriatric symptom. In addition to these main outcomes, polypharmacy has been found to be related to dementia (Lai et al. 2012; Park et al. 2017), cognitive impairment (Niikawa et al. 2017), significant depressive symptoms (Leszek, Jadwiga, and Agnieszka 2016), disability (Wang et al. 2015), and adverse drug reactions (Kojima, Akishita, Kameyama, et al. 2012; Ahmed et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2015). Some studies based on older adults with polypharmacy have shown that taking more medications is associated with poorer health-related quality of life in this population (Montiel-Luque et al. 2017; Tegegn et al. 2019). On the other hand, the influence of polypharmacy on older people's nutritional status is also a concern but remains unclear according to the present evidence (Jyrkka et al. 2012; Zadak et al. 2013). In the following paragraphs, the main outcomes of polypharmacy – frailty and physical function, falls, and hospitalisation and mortality – will be discussed.

Frailty and physical function

A systematic review on frailty (Gutierrez-Valencia et al. 2018) has suggested that polypharmacy may contribute to the development of frailty, although the causality is uncertain and may be bidirectional. Among the studies included in this review, around one third were longitudinal studies, and the rest were cross-sectional. A positive correlation between polypharmacy and frailty was also found in three cohort studies (Wang et al. 2015; Yuki et al. 2018; Shmuel et al. 2019) and one cross-sectional study (Hasan et al. 2020). Moreover, one systematic review (Katsimpris et al. 2019) indicated a strong bidirectional relationship between polypharmacy and physical function in older people. This review only included observational studies, and some limitations should be acknowledged. Variations in the definitions of polypharmacy and the measurements of physical function made direct comparisons challenging, and the constant status of polypharmacy and physical function rather than time-varying conditions may have led to research biases.

Falls

The relationship between polypharmacy and falls has been widely identified in the literature (Kojima, Akishita, Nakamura, et al. 2012; Abreu et al. 2015; Chiu et al. 2015;

Fonad, Robins Wahlin, and Rydholm Hedman 2015; Laflamme et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2015), although a Malaysian study found that the use of two or more fall risk-increasing drugs (e.g. antidepressants) was a risk factor for falls instead of polypharmacy (Zia, Kamaruzzaman, and Tan 2017). Three other studies (Ziere et al. 2006; Baranzini et al. 2009; Richardson, Bennett, and Kenny 2014) somewhat agreed with the findings regarding fall risk-increasing drugs and reported that falls were related to polypharmacy only when at least one fall risk-increasing drug was part of the daily regimen. Further, the fall risk index (Kojima et al. 2011), hip fractures (Lai et al. 2010), fracture-specific hospital admissions (Lu et al. 2015), and fall-related hospital admissions (Zaninotto et al. 2020) were also found to be significantly related to polypharmacy. I was involved in Zaninotto et al.'s study, to which I contributed by analysing the data on medications and refining the definitions of polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy – the same definitions were also adopted in this PhD work. The risk of hospitalisation due to a fall increased with polypharmacy status, even when underlying health conditions and fall risk-increasing drugs were taken into account.

Hospitalisation and mortality

Older adults with polypharmacy have been found to have a high risk of hospitalisation (Lu et al. 2015; Hallgren et al. 2016; Gutierrez-Valencia et al. 2017), rehospitalisation (Sganga et al. 2015; Basnet et al. 2018), and visits to accident and emergency (A & E) departments (Gutierrez-Valencia et al. 2017), but the association between polypharmacy and mortality is less consistent. Some studies have shown no relationship between polypharmacy and all-cause mortality (Lu et al. 2015; Sganga et al. 2015; Gutierrez-Valencia et al. 2017), whereas others have shown a positive

correlation (Wang et al. 2015; Romano-Lieber et al. 2019). One meta-analysis (Leelakanok et al. 2017) suggested that polypharmacy was associated with an increased risk of all-cause mortality, but this analysis involved a wide range of populations such as young adults aged 16 and over, HIV-infected people, and seizure patients, which may hamper the generalisation of the results to community-dwelling older adults. Meanwhile, a cross-sectional study (Best et al. 2013) failed to find an association between polypharmacy and hospital admission or length of hospital stay; however, the study design makes the results less persuasive. The current evidence suggests that the effect of polypharmacy on all-cause mortality in older adults remains controversial. There has been no relevant research on cause-specific mortality.

A systematic review investigating a range of outcomes in community-dwelling older adults (Fried et al. 2014) provided mixed evidence on the associations between polypharmacy and falls, adverse drug events, hospitalisation, mortality, and measures of function and cognition. Different adjustments to comorbidities across studies would influence the quality of the analyses, probably resulting in mixed findings. On the other hand, intensive drug therapy (equivalent to polypharmacy) – defined as the concurrent use of five or more distinct drug categories of antidiabetic or antihypertensive medications – appears to be beneficial for older people with diabetes and hypertension (Yashkin et al. 2018). Intensive drug therapy was associated with a lower risk of allcause mortality but a higher risk of macrovascular outcomes such as congestive heart failure and myocardial infarction. This study also suggested that adherence to the screening recommendations of the American Diabetes Association (ADA) could significantly reduce mortality and macrovascular events in older diabetes patients (Yashkin et al. 2018). Thus, intensive drug therapy was regarded as protective, and its benefits were likely to outweigh the harms to which polypharmacy might give rise among high-risk older adults.

Apart from the direct link between polypharmacy and potential consequences, some medications have been reported to impose negative impacts on older people on medication. Anticholinergic drugs have been found to increase the risk of short-term (six-month) cognitive decline (Wu et al. 2017), injurious falls (Richardson et al. 2015), and mortality (Sarbacker et al. 2017). Older adults who take psychotropic drugs (primarily antidepressants and benzodiazepines (BZDs)), diuretics, and opioids are prone to experience falls (Chiu et al. 2015; Du, Wolf, and Knopf 2017; Marron et al. 2019; Donoghue et al. 2020). Psychotropics have also been linked to orthostatic hypotension (Press, Punchik, and Freud 2016), cerebrovascular events (Franchi et al. 2013), and all-cause hospitalisations (Makris et al. 2015). Moreover, other medications are reported to be associated with adverse outcomes: α blockers and calcium channel blockers (CCBs) with orthostatic hypotension (Press, Punchik, and Freud 2016), opioids with all-cause hospitalisations, skeletal muscle relaxants with A & E visits and all-cause mortality, and antihistamines with A & E visits (Makris et al. 2015). The evidence regarding the relationships among polypharmacy, specific medications, and health outcomes is scarce and currently lacks agreement. As there is a rising trend in the concomitant use of analgesics and psychotropics among home-dwelling older people (Hartikainen et al. 2005), the effect of particular medications on older adults' health needs more research and evidence.

In summary, polypharmacy in older adults appears to have negative health effects in different ways but may benefit people with particular long-term conditions (e.g. diabetes and hypertension). The mixed findings from the literature imply that polypharmacy's effects on older people are controversial and uncertain. Also, the role of diabetes in the association between polypharmacy and health outcomes remains unclear. In addition to polypharmacy status, specific medications may pose a risk of adverse outcomes for older people, but very little is known so far. As a result, more evidence is warranted to better understand how polypharmacy influences older adults' health and the role of diabetes and specific medications.

1.3.3 Medication-related issues

Medication-related problems have drawn public attention as polypharmacy has become prevalent among older adults. A higher number of concurrent medications is likely to prompt medication-related problems that may undermine the benefits of the medications. Four main issues are discussed below.

PIMs/PIPs

Among the medication-related problems that may arise from polypharmacy, PIMs/PIPs are the most commonly researched topics. PIMs studies have been done on older adults who live in care homes or nursing homes (Chen et al. 2012; Nascimento et al. 2014; Storms et al. 2017; Chun, Appel, and Simmons 2018; Ivanova et al. 2018), are admitted to hospital (Liu et al. 2012; McMahon et al. 2014; Formiga et al. 2016; Marques et al. 2018; Alhawassi, Alatawi, and Alwhaibi 2019; Bo et al. 2019), or are recorded in community or primary care database (Galvin et al. 2014; Moriarty, Hardy, et al. 2015; Heider et al. 2018; Masumoto et al. 2018; Huang et al. 2019; Hucteau et al. 2019; Martinez, Abner, and Moga 2019; Achterhof et al. 2020; de Araujo et al. 2020; Lopez-Rodriguez et al. 2020). Three common tools for defining PIMs are the Beers criteria of the American Geriatrics Society (versions 2015, 2019)

(By the 2019 American Geriatrics Society Beers Criteria® Update Expert Panel 2019), the Screening Tool of Older People's Prescriptions (known as STOPP) and Screening Tool to Alert to Right Treatment (known as START) criteria (versions 2008, 2014) (O'Mahony et al. 2015), and the Medication Appropriateness Index criteria (Samsa et al. 1994). PIMs have shown an increasing trend over recent years (Moriarty, Bennett, et al. 2015; Moriarty, Hardy, et al. 2015) with a prevalence varying from 14.6% to 93.2% across studies (Chen et al. 2012; Liu et al. 2012; Galvin et al. 2014; McMahon et al. 2014; Nascimento et al. 2014; Moriarty, Hardy, et al. 2015; Formiga et al. 2016; Storms et al. 2017; Chun, Appel, and Simmons 2018; Ivanova et al. 2018; Margues et al. 2018; Masumoto et al. 2018; Alhawassi, Alatawi, and Alwhaibi 2019; Bo et al. 2019; Huang et al. 2019; Hucteau et al. 2019; Martinez, Abner, and Moga 2019; Achterhof et al. 2020; Lopez-Rodriguez et al. 2020). Different study samples, study designs (e.g. age ranges), and assessment tools may have contributed to the variation in the prevalence. Polypharmacy has been found to be associated with PIMs, along with several long-term conditions such as diabetes, heart failure, and anxiety (Formiga et al. 2016; Alhawassi, Alatawi, and Alwhaibi 2019; de Araujo et al. 2020). A link between PIMs and adverse outcomes is still uncertain, although many health outcomes have been studied. PIMs have been found not to be related to falls, mortality, or hospitalisations (Chun, Appel, and Simmons 2018; Ivanova et al. 2018; de Araujo et al. 2020), but to be associated with falls in older people with polypharmacy (Masumoto et al. 2018). It has been found that older adults with PIMs are likely to become dependent (Hucteau et al. 2019) and to have more A & E and general practitioner (GP) visits (Moriarty et al. 2016), but no relationship has been found with cognitive or functional decline (Martinez, Abner, and Moga 2019). Further, the association between PIMs and adverse health outcomes (e.g. A & E and GP visits) has been found to be exclusively present among older adults (65 years and older) (Moriarty et al. 2016) but not middle-aged people (aged 45–64 years) (Moriarty et al. 2017), although PIMs are prevalent in both populations. More importantly, the relationship between PIMs and health consequences can differ substantially when different PIMs assessment tools are used, such as mortality and hospitalisations (Huang et al. 2019), A & E and GP visits, quality of life, and functional decline (Moriarty et al. 2020). Apart from the health outcomes, the use of PIMs has been found to increase healthcare costs (Cahir et al. 2010; Heider et al. 2018), and therefore relevant interventions have also been explored. Several interventions in PIMs – the interdisciplinary co-managed care concept (Gleich et al. 2019), computerised decision support tools (Monteiro et al. 2019), and an electronic clinical decision support system (Rogero-Blanco et al. 2020) – have been found to be helpful in detecting PIMs and subsequently reducing their prescription.

Drug-drug interactions

Drug-drug interactions are an important issue for older people with polypharmacy and seem to be unavoidable. Drug-drug interactions can be classified into three categories according to severity: major, moderate, and minor (Aronson 2007). The research therefore emphasises clinically relevant drug-drug interactions. The literature has established the relationship between polypharmacy and drug-drug interactions in older people (Castilho et al. 2018; Yoon et al. 2018; Dias, Santos, and Reis 2019; Hamada et al. 2019; Iniesta-Navalon et al. 2019). Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) appear to be the most frequent driver of clinically relevant drug-drug interactions.

blockers (ARBs)/ACEIs (Yoon et al. 2018; Iniesta-Navalon et al. 2019; Souty et al. 2020). The importance of drug safety among older adults has been recognised; therefore, it is advisable to examine drug-drug interactions in a medication review and geriatric assessment (Tomita et al. 2019). Some campaigns have also been developed to contain the burden of drug-drug interactions for older people with polypharmacy (Raschi et al. 2015). On the other hand, drug-nutrient interactions are an emerging concern, since a synergistic negative effect of polypharmacy and malnutrition on older adults has been confirmed (Little 2018), but little information on drug-nutrient interactions is currently available.

Adverse drug reactions/medication-related problems

Adverse drug reactions, also known as side effects, are defined as noxious and unintended responses to a drug at normally used doses for therapeutic purposes. The terms 'medication-related problem' and 'medication-related harm' are also commonly used to refer not only to adverse drug reactions but also to harms arising from medication error or from a failure to receive medication owing to non-adherence (Parekh et al. 2018). Relevant research has often been conducted at hospital admission (Ognibene et al. 2018; Kojima et al. 2020) or discharge (Parekh et al. 2018); in these instances, the prevalence of adverse drug reactions has varied from 6.1% to 37%, with a higher incidence among outpatients than inpatients (Undela, Joshi, and Ramesh 2017). Adverse drug reactions have been reported to cause adverse reactions. Diuretics, antithrombotics, and CNS-active drugs were found to be the most common drivers of adverse drug reactions in an Italian study (Ognibene et al. 2018),

while opiates, antibiotics, and BZDs were found to be high-risk in a UK study (Parekh et al. 2018). Overall, polypharmacy is related to adverse drug reactions that prompt hospital admission and consequently lead to severe adverse outcomes (e.g. death and disability) and substantial use of healthcare resources (Ognibene et al. 2018; Parekh et al. 2018; Kojima et al. 2020).

Medication adherence

Polypharmacy has been found to negatively influence medication adherence among older adults (Gellad, Grenard, and Marcum 2011; Vatcharavongvan and Puttawanchai 2017; Vicente-Sanchez et al. 2018). A Thai study found a high prevalence of poor medication adherence (61%) in older people with polypharmacy (Vatcharavongvan and Puttawanchai 2017). Other potential barriers to adherence were also reported in a systematic review, including patient-related factors (e.g. knowledge of diseases, health literacy, and cognitive function), drug-related factors (e.g. adverse effects), the patient-provider relationship, and various logistical barriers to obtaining medications, but no systematic conclusion regarding potential barriers could be drawn (Gellad, Grenard, and Marcum 2011). Diabetes and its treatment seem to be a prognostic factor for poor adherence (Vicente-Sanchez et al. 2018), and therefore many studies have exclusively targeted type 2 diabetes patients. Furthermore, the use of nonprescription (i.e. OTC) medications has been found to contribute to non-adherence to prescribed medications (Anoopkumar-Dukie et al. 2020). To ensure optimal outcomes for older adults with polypharmacy, interventions in medication adherence have been explored. The theoretical domains framework of behaviour has been used to systematically identify the determinants of medication adherence, thereby helping to develop potential interventions (Patton et al. 2018). Effective education on medication adherence has also been confirmed to improve health literacy and consequently improve medication adherence among adults (Tan, Cheng, and Siah 2019).

1.3.4 Interventions

A variety of interventions in polypharmacy for older people have been conducted to date, although an agreed and validated polypharmacy tool is still lacking. Thus, approaches to the definition and assessment of polypharmacy may vary in practice. Increasing evidence has suggested that beyond the number of medications, medication- and patient-related factors are equally important for the assessment of polypharmacy (Masnoon et al. 2019; Masnoon et al. 2020). A systematic review has pointed out that specific drug classes, such as sedatives, anticholinergics, opioids, and systemic corticosteroids, need to be involved in polypharmacy assessments (Masnoon et al. 2019). Given the lack of validated tools of polypharmacy, strategies that incorporate medication- and patient-related factors are warranted to facilitate the rationalisation of polypharmacy (Masnoon et al. 2020).

Medication reviews are regarded as the standard approach to the management of medication optimisation, including polypharmacy issues among older adults, and they are advocated by NICE (NICE 2020), National Health Service (NHS) Scotland (NHS Scotland 2020), and NHS England (NHS England and NHS Improvement 2019). However, the effectiveness of medication reviews seems to be unclear according to the current literature. A meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials showed that medication reviews that included a comprehensive clinical evaluation for disease management reduced hospitalisations in older adults with polypharmacy (Mizokami et al. 2019). By contrast, other systematic reviews have suggested that medication reviews may be useful for the identification and reduction of medication-related problems but that their effect on clinical outcomes remains uncertain (Johansson et al. 2016; Beuscart et al. 2017; Chen et al. 2019). Different patient-perceived barriers to medication reviews have been reported, including a lack of resources for GP-led interventions and a lack of confidence in pharmacists' expertise for pharmacist-led interventions, although patients think that medication reviews are helpful for doublechecking the indications for medicines and potential drug-drug interactions (Uhl et al. 2018). Community-dwelling older people have expressed an interest in being involved in their medication assessments (Holmqvist et al. 2019), but their awareness of their active role in addressing polypharmacy needs to be improved, indicating the necessity to improve older adults' communication skills (Schopf et al. 2018). Furthermore, to popularise and facilitate medication reviews in practice, NHS Scotland has launched a digital app that provides up-to-date and evidence-based guidance for users (Barnett et al. 2020). Although the app has been found to identify 23% fewer drug-related problems than the usual pharmacist care, the benefits of its high accessibility (in all care settings) are acknowledged (Barnett et al. 2020).

Pharmacist services

Pharmacists have been involved in many interventions in polypharmacy for older adults, and most of these interventions have shown promising results. Pharmacist-led interventions have been found to contribute to medication appropriateness and consequently to decrease polypharmacy, drug-related problems, PIPs, and fall rates, regardless of healthcare setting (e.g. nursing home or hospital) (Gutierrez-Valencia et al. 2019; Lee, Mak, and Tang 2019; Hashimoto et al. 2020). Medication counts and concerning drug-drug interactions (i.e. interactions that should be avoided) have been reduced through a collaborative care approach between GPs and clinical pharmacists (Stuhec, Gorenc, and Zelko 2019). Both pharmacist-led and pharmacist-physician medication optimisation interventions for older people with polypharmacy have shown cost savings in randomised controlled trials, indicating that they are cost-effective alternatives to standard care (Lin et al. 2018; Campins et al. 2019). In addition to physicians and pharmacists, the involvement of nurses has been reported to be helpful for identifying, intervening in, and improving medication use (Diggins 2019; Lagerin et al. 2020).

Deprescribing

Deprescribing seems to be a key element in polypharmacy interventions and has been discussed extensively for older people with limited life expectancy (Lundby et al. 2019; Paque et al. 2019). A rule of thumb for deprescribing is that the harm of the medication outweighs the benefits (Potter et al. 2019). GPs have therefore been found to be willing to deprescribe cardiovascular preventive medications in the absence of corresponding indications, but they tend to retain drugs for pain management among people aged 80 and older (Mantelli et al. 2018). Patient involvement and coordination of care have also been identified as key factors in deprescribing (Zechmann et al. 2019). Older adults who are concerned about their number of drugs, who experience adverse effects, who believe that one or more of the medications are redundant, or who take 10 or more medications have shown positive attitudes towards deprescribing (Gillespie, Mullan, and Harrison 2019). Furthermore, adequate training in deprescribing is necessary for medical staff. Educational interventions in outpatient

medication management and a framework for deprescribing have been delivered to internal medicine residents and nurse practitioners and have proved to improve medical workers' knowledge, skills, and attitudes towards deprescribing (Brett and Graham 2018; Mecca et al. 2019). Several approaches to the rationalisation of medication in hospital contexts have been found to be feasible and effective, such as a deprescribing checklist (Pourhadi, Pearson, and Tacey 2020) and a pharmacist-led, physician-supported deprescribing model (Potter et al. 2019). Although the concept of deprescribing is widespread, its impact on clinical outcomes in older adults with polypharmacy may need more evidence.

1.4 The role of diabetes in polypharmacy

As mentioned in section 1.1.2, diabetes is one of the long-term conditions that tend to develop multimorbidity (Prados-Torres et al. 2014). Diabetes was also found to be prone to coexist with other conditions in a systematic review (Xu, Mishra, and Jones 2017). It has been found that people with diabetes are more likely to develop multimorbidity that includes both physical and mental illnesses than people without diabetes (Zghebi et al. 2020), and to develop future functional impairment (Donoghue, Leahy, and Kenny 2021). Diabetes therefore plays an important role in the development of multimorbidity, and it further results in polypharmacy. This section will focus on the issue of diabetes in older adults, from diabetes and diabetes management to polypharmacy and diabetes.

1.4.1 Diabetes in older adults

The average prevalence of diabetes worldwide in adults aged over 18 years rose from 4.7% (108 million) in 1980 to 8.5% (422 million) in 2014 (WHO 2016). The UK has shown a similar trend, with the prevalence rising from 2.4% in 1994 to 6.2% in 2014 and 6.5% in 2017 among adults aged 16 and older. Among this population, older adults reported a higher prevalence of doctor-diagnosed diabetes than younger adults: 8% of those aged 45-64 years and 15% of those aged 65 and over reported doctordiagnosed diabetes in 2017 (NHS Digital 2018). Apart from diagnosed diabetes, undiagnosed diabetes, which primarily refers to type 2 diabetes, is also a concern. The prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes among adults (aged 20-79) varies across different regions globally, with the highest figure at 20.5% (Beagley et al. 2014). However, undiagnosed diabetes among older people is not well understood. Using different definitions of undiagnosed diabetes, the limited evidence shows that its prevalence in older adults varies from 0.9% to 13.2% (Harris and Eastman 2000; Dankner et al. 2009; Pierce et al. 2009; Leahy et al. 2015; Sinnott et al. 2015). Two nationally representative studies, the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA) (Leahy et al. 2015) and the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA) (Pierce et al. 2009), reported the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes as 0.9% and 1.7% respectively. TILDA employed glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) of 48 mmol/mol (6.5%) and higher as a diagnostic criterion for undiagnosed diabetes, while ELSA used eighthour fasting glucose of 7.0 mmol/L or higher. These statistics indicate that diabetes seems to be more prevalent among older adults, but the information about undiagnosed diabetes in this vulnerable group is insufficient.

Exposure to undiagnosed diabetes – that is, where the diabetes is unknown and untreated – is likely to accelerate the progression of diabetic complications, which are

64

defined as injurious effects of hyperglycaemia. The evidence suggests that diabetic complications may progress during the early, undiagnosed phase of diabetes, because such complications are common in people with newly diagnosed diabetes (Harris and Eastman 2000; WHO 2016; Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee et al. 2018). Diabetic complications are a major source of mortality and morbidity for diabetes patients and can be divided into two categories (Fowler 2008). Microvascular complications include diabetic retinopathy, nephropathy, and neuropathy; macrovascular complications refer to coronary artery disease, peripheral arterial disease, and stroke (Fowler 2008). As a result, people with undiagnosed diabetes are at high risk of developing diabetic complications and may develop multimorbidity and polypharmacy in the future.

More importantly, the direct effects of ageing on metabolic regulation aggravate the underlying pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes in ageing populations (LeRoith et al. 2019). The occurrence of type 2 diabetes in older adults is a result of complex interactions among genetic, lifestyle, and ageing effects (Lee and Halter 2017) that influence β -cell insulin secretory capacity and tissue sensitivity to insulin (Chang and Halter 2003; Lee and Halter 2017). Ageing effects also interact with diabetes to accelerate the progression of diabetic complications (LeRoith et al. 2019), as comorbidities and ageing-related functional impairments complicate the occurrence of diabetes in older people (Lee and Halter 2017). Thus, diabetes in older adults shows considerable heterogeneity in its pathophysiology, clinical features, and rate of progression (LeRoith et al. 2019).

65

1.4.2 Diabetes management in older adults

The two world-leading guidelines on the management of diabetes – ADA and NICE (NICE 2015; ADA 2018) – are designed for the general population; there are no specific guidelines for older adults. As a rule of thumb, metformin is recommended as the first-line therapy when lifestyle management fails to reach the treatment goal. Further intensification with dual therapy, triple therapy, or combination injectable therapy is also suggested when monotherapy fails, since combination therapy works more effectively and brings additional benefits to patients compared with monotherapy. Individualised care is promoted in the guidelines for selecting appropriate medications for patients, depending on drug efficacy and potential adverse effects such as hypoglycaemia, weight change, and cardiovascular and renal effects. The medications for type 2 diabetes, called antihyperglycemic or antidiabetic drugs, are summarised in Appendix A-1 according to the pharmacological mechanisms (Bailey and Kodack 2011; Peron, Ogbonna, and Donohoe 2015; ADA 2018; Joint Formulary Committee 2018).

In the latest version of the ADA guidelines, older adults are advised to undergo a detailed assessment in the medical, psychological, functional, and social geriatric domains to determine appropriate targets and therapeutic approaches. For those with multiple long-term conditions, cognitive impairment, or functional dependence, less stringent glycaemic targets (HbA1c < 8.0–8.5%, 64–69 mmol/mol) should be applied (ADA 2018). Screening for diabetic complications, geriatric syndromes, cognitive function, and depression is also recommended for older diabetes patients, helping to individualise diabetes management (ADA 2018). The NICE guidelines on diabetes management target adults aged 18 and older overall. Older adults who may need more assessments or have special considerations in clinical practice are not discussed separately, although individualised care according to the guidelines emphasises multimorbidity and polypharmacy (NICE 2015).

Some antihyperglycemic medications have been reported to be riskier for older adults because of their pharmacological mechanisms or adverse effects (Peron, Odbonna, and Donohoe 2015: Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee et al. 2018). Falls are the most common concern for those taking medications that have a strong effect in reducing blood sugar levels, such as insulin and its analogues, meglitinides, and sulphonylureas (SUs). Other concerns for older people are fractures (with thiazolidinediones (TZDs)), weight loss (with metformin and glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) agonists), weight gain (with insulin and its analogues, meglitinides, SUs, and TZDs), cognitive impairment (with metformin), heart disease (with TZDs), and urinary incontinence (with sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors) (Wedick et al. 2002; Singh, Loke, and Furberg 2007; Moore et al. 2013; Peron, Ogbonna, and Donohoe 2015; Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee et al. 2018). These concerns about antihyperglycemic agents for older people may vary in different persons, emphasising the importance of patientcentred management. To summarise, an individualised approach to diabetes care is crucial for older adults to balance the pros and cons, but so far no concrete strategies have been developed for this vulnerable group of people.

1.4.3 Polypharmacy and diabetes in older adults

Two characteristics of diabetes contribute to a strong link to polypharmacy. First, diabetes tends to coexist with multiple long-term conditions (Xu, Mishra, and Jones 2017; Zghebi et al. 2020) and to lead to diabetic complications, resulting in multimorbidity. The second feature is diabetes treatment itself, where there is a

consensus to intensify the treatment with dual therapy if lifestyle management or monotherapy fails (NICE 2015; ADA 2018). Diabetes patients who have additional risk factors for atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease or who are aged 40 and over are also advised to take statins (lipid-lowering agents) (ADA 2018). These features are likely to bring about polypharmacy in people with diabetes. Diabetes and its complications therefore have been shown to be associated with polypharmacy (Veehof et al. 2000; Nobili et al. 2011; Kim et al. 2014; Strehblow, Smeikal, and Fasching 2014; Dwyer et al. 2016; Noale et al. 2016; Abolhassani et al. 2017; Lim et al. 2017; Vicinanza et al. 2018). However, little is known about how diabetes influences comorbidities and polypharmacy in older people. Only a few studies have investigated polypharmacy specifically in older diabetes patients (Gadsby et al. 2012; Papazafiropoulou et al. 2014; Noale et al. 2016; Ribeiro Da Silva et al. 2016; Yashkin et al. 2018), and none have compared polypharmacy between those with and without diabetes.

Therapies for diabetes and other long-term conditions may interact. For example, β blockers, primarily the non-cardioselective type, tend to mask the clinical symptoms of hypoglycaemia and can consequently lead to severe hypoglycaemia. Moreover, exposure to high doses of statins (Jones et al. 2017) or to atypical antipsychotics (Semenkovich et al. 2015) has been found to increase the risk of diabetes. In addition to treatments for diabetes and comorbidities, some characteristics of older adults may further complicate polypharmacy issues (Peron, Ogbonna, and Donohoe 2015; Health in Aging Foundation 2017). Reduced physical function and altered pharmacokinetics lead to uncertainty about adverse drug reactions and drug-drug interactions, which may perform differently from the general population or become more severe (Prentice and Jebb 2001; Wojtczak, Kasznicki, and Drzewoski 2017). Geriatric syndromes are

also a common issue and place additional burdens of conditions and medications on older people (Health in Aging Foundation 2017). Hence, older diabetes patients need comprehensive and individualised assessments in terms of disease management, polypharmacy issues, estimated life expectancy, and quality of life. To summarise, diabetes shows a close relationship with polypharmacy whereby many concerns may arise, but there is limited understanding of this phenomenon in older adults. Therefore, more studies are warranted to define the role of diabetes in the network of comorbidities, polypharmacy, and health outcomes for older adults.

1.5 Gaps in current research

There has been growing interest in polypharmacy, resulting in an increasing number of relevant studies. The literature review on polypharmacy among older adults presented in the previous section identified several gaps. First, a disparity in the prevalence of and risk factors for polypharmacy among older adults has been noted. Differences in the definitions of polypharmacy and the age ranges of older people result in varying prevalence rates. There have been a few studies based on nationally representative samples of older adults, which have found inconsistent effects of sociodemographic characteristics on polypharmacy. Slater et al. explored polypharmacy in ELSA, but they employed an ambiguous definition of polypharmacy and imprecise adjustments of self-reported long-term health conditions (Slater et al. 2018). The current evidence emphasises the necessity for a nationally representative study with comprehensive information on demographics, social and economic determinants, and physical and mental health factors. Second, diabetes has been regarded as the main contributor to polypharmacy, but only a few studies have targeted older diabetes patients. Also, little is known about whether polypharmacy differs in older people with diabetes from those without diabetes, since no research making direct comparisons has been done. Third, polypharmacy has been linked to several adverse outcomes among older adults, such as frailty and reduced physical function; however, no clear results have been found for mortality. Studies on the effects of polypharmacy on allcause mortality have shown inconsistent associations. Some have shown no association (Lu et al. 2015; Sganga et al. 2015; Gutierrez-Valencia et al. 2017); others have shown increased risk for older people (Wang et al. 2015; Romano-Lieber et al. 2019); some have shown decreased risk for older diabetes patients (Yashkin et al. 2018); one review showed mixed findings for community-dwelling older adults (Fried et al. 2014). The numerical-only definitions of polypharmacy widely used in the literature also make the results less persuasive, as do the cross-sectional study designs. Furthermore, no research has explored the relationship between polypharmacy and specific causes of death. Lastly, particular drug classes (e.g. anticholinergics and psychotropics) have been flagged in some studies, but very few studies have been done to investigate how specific combinations of medications influence older adults with polypharmacy. Given the gaps found in the literature, more investigations into polypharmacy-related issues and the role of diabetes among older adults are imperative.

1.6 Aims and objectives

My PhD research aimed to understand the phenomenon of polypharmacy, to study its risk factors, to investigate the health consequences of polypharmacy, and to determine the role of diabetes in polypharmacy among older adults, using a nationally

70

representative sample of older adults from private households in England: participants in ELSA. ELSA collects comprehensive information on social and health aspects, providing the opportunity to explore other risk factors for polypharmacy beyond health conditions, and to establish the relevance of polypharmacy among older adults in relation to a broad range of health issues. Laying emphasis on the role of diabetes in polypharmacy for older people, my research first identified cases of undiagnosed diabetes, which are regarded as at high risk of developing polypharmacy. This PhD research focused on four research objectives, each of which was addressed in a separate study. The objectives were:

- To report the prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes between 2004 (Wave 2) and 2012 (Wave 6) and the risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes.
- 2. To investigate the prevalence of and risk factors for polypharmacy according to diabetes status (diagnosed and undiagnosed).
- 3. To study the association between different levels of polypharmacy and allcause and cause-specific mortality.
- 4. To explore the association between high-risk medications and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among older adults with polypharmacy.

The four objectives were accompanied by four hypotheses:

 It was hypothesised that the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes had decreased over time, concomitant with improved awareness of diabetes resulting from the effort invested in both public information campaigns and screening tests in primary care in the UK over the period between 2004 and 2012.

- 2. It was hypothesised that diabetes contributed to the development of polypharmacy among older people, and that it might influence the potential risk factors for polypharmacy.
- It was hypothesised that a gradient relationship existed between different levels of polypharmacy and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among older adults, independently of health status.
- 4. It was hypothesised that some high-risk medications might further increase the risk of mortality in older adults with polypharmacy.
Chapter 2. Data source: ELSA

2.1 Introduction to ELSA

ELSA is an ongoing panel study of a nationally representative sample of adults in England aged 50 and older living in private households (Steptoe et al. 2013). ELSA began in 2002, and the original sample was drawn from respondents to the Health Survey for England between 1998 and 2001. At Waves 3, 4, 6, 7, and 9, the study was refreshed with new study participants (younger individuals) from the Health Survey for England to maintain the size and representativeness of the panel (aged 50 and older) (Institute for Fiscal Studies 2016; NatCen Social Research 2018). A graphical summary of ELSA is shown in Figure 2.1.

Data collection in ELSA is carried out every two years using computer-assisted personal interviews followed by self-completion questionnaires, and every four years through home visits from a study nurse during which biological samples and anthropometric measurements are taken (Bridges, Hussey, and Blake 2015; Institute for Fiscal Studies 2016). The nurse assessments were carried out on the whole core sample every four years in Waves 1–7, and on half the sample every two years from Wave 8 onwards. The response rates to the nurse interviews are high (greater than 83.8%), summarised in Table 2.1 (NatCen Social Research 2018). Many measures adopted in ELSA are comparable with those used in the US Health Retirement Study and the Survey of Health, Ageing and Retirement in Europe (NatCen Social Research 2018). The Wave 9 data, which is the most recent to date, is available from the UK Data Service. Information on changes in participants' health and economic and social circumstances is comprehensively collected in ELSA, helping researchers to

understand the picture of growing older in the 21st century and the reasons for the variety of patterns observed.

ELSA is administered by a team of researchers based at University College London, NatCen Social Research, the Institute for Fiscal Studies, and the University of Manchester. Other academic collaborators from the universities of Cambridge, Exeter, and East Anglia have provided expert advice on specific modules. Funding is provided by the US National Institute on Aging and by a consortium of British government departments coordinated by the National Institute for Health Research (NatCen Social Research 2018).

Figure 2.1 Graphical summary of ELSA



* Waves 3, 4, 6, 7, and 9 were refreshed with new study participants from the Health Survey for England.

	Eligible participants*	Productive participants [#]	Response rate
Wave 2 (2004–05)	8780	7666	87.3%
Wave 4 (2008–09)	9592	8218	85.7%
Wave 6 (2012–13)	9169	77 30 [†]	84.3%
Wave 8 (2016–17)	3714	3479	93.7%
Wave 9 (2018–19)	3640	3047	83.8%

Table 2.1 Response rates to nurse interviews by wave

* Core members who completed computer-assisted personal interviews.

Core members.

[†]7731 in the document, corrected to 7730 based on the available nurse data from Wave 6.

2.2 Medication information in ELSA

Medication profiles were collected in Wave 6 (2012–13) for the first time, and will be collected during the main interview in future waves. A second set of complete information on medicines is provided by combining Wave 8 (2016–17) and Wave 9 (2018–19), because half of the sample was involved in the nurse visits for each wave. Coded data on medications is available from the Wave 6 nurse data and the Wave 8 and Wave 9 nurse special licence data set (NatCen Social Research 2018). All medications are recorded by the study nurses during home visits, and these medicines, both generic and branded, are transformed into codes based on the British National Formulary (BNF). Drug codes are summarised in the 'Coding prescribed medications' booklet, which includes information on the code frame for the drug-coding data (NatCen Social Research 2018).

During home visits, nurses ask participants whether they are taking or using any medicines, pills, syrups, ointments, puffers, or injections prescribed by a doctor or nurse. Then, participants are asked to show the containers for all the prescribed medicines currently being taken (NatCen Social Research 2018). Although the study

nurses intend to exclusively record prescribed medications, they cannot double-check prescriptions for medicines. Thus, the possibility of their recording OTC medicines cannot be ruled out completely. According to the questionnaire, nurses record OTC statins bought from a pharmacist (without a doctor's prescription) separately from prescribed statins, but 54 participants who had answered that they had bought statins without a prescription have the drug code for statins in the database. This situation may be attributed to not only prescribed medications being recorded, or to two or more statins being taken. The latter seems unlikely, because the concurrent use of two or more statins is not common where combination therapy with other lipid-lowering drugs is highly recommended (NICE 2019). Moreover, some prescribed medications, such as supplements, painkillers (e.g. paracetamol), and gastrointestinal medications (e.g. Fybogel for constipation), can also easily be bought over the counter. As a result, it is plausible to say that all medications, instead of only prescribed medications, are collected during nurse visits.

The analyses conducted for this PhD work were based on Wave 6 (2012–13), since this was the first wave containing medication information. The medications data from Wave 8 (2016–17) could not be used, because it was collected from only half of the original sample; the data from Wave 9 was released in late 2020, and therefore was not included in my PhD. In addition to Wave 6, Wave 2 (2004–05) was also used to explore changes in the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes among older adults.

2.3 Study populations

This section summarises the study populations in each set of analysis carried out in this thesis. At Wave 6 of ELSA, 9169 core members completed personal interviews,

76

and 7730 of them also completed productive nurse visits, as shown in Figure 2.2. This PhD work comprised four studies, each addressing the objectives outlined in section 1.6. The first study aimed to analyse the prevalence of and risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes in a sample of 7729 participants from Wave 6, and compared this with data from 7666 individuals who took part in the Wave 2 nurse assessments and had information on diabetes diagnosis. The second study investigated the prevalence of and risk factors for polypharmacy according to diabetes status, and the sample size was the same as in the first study (7729 individuals from Wave 6). In the third study, the relationship between polypharmacy (measured in Wave 6) and subsequent mortality (up to 2018) was investigated using survival analysis. Participants who had been diagnosed with cancer or malignant blood disorders (N = 480), who had died within one year of follow-up (N = 82), or who had incomplete information regarding the variables in the model (N = 905) were excluded, resulting in 6295 participants included in the analysis. The fourth study further examined the association between medication use and mortality among older adults with polypharmacy, using a combination of cluster analysis and survival analysis. Apart from the exclusion of self-reported cancer and malignant blood disorders, 19 individuals on hormone therapy (primarily for cancers) were also excluded, resulting in 1705 participants with polypharmacy for the cluster analysis. Next, participants who had incomplete information regarding the variables in the model (N = 328) and who had died within one year of follow-up (N = 21) were excluded, so the analytical sample for the survival analysis was 1356 individuals.

Figure 2.2 Flow chart of study populations at Wave 6



^{*} People without information on physical activity and functioning (N = 2) and follow-up time (N = 1).

[#] Including cancer and malignant blood disorders self-reported by participants.

- [†]Referring to hormone therapy that is primarily for cancers.
- § People with polypharmacy only.

Chapter 3. Undiagnosed diabetes in ELSA Wave 6: prevalence change (2004 to 2012) and risk factors

Abstract

Background

In light of recent publicity campaigns to raise awareness of diabetes, we investigated changes in the prevalence of diabetes and undiagnosed diabetes in adults aged 50 and older in England between 2004 and 2012, and explored risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes.

Method

7666 and 7729 individuals were from Wave 2 (2004–2005, mean age 66.6) and Wave 6 (2012–2013, mean age 67.6) of the ELSA. Diagnosed diabetes was defined as either self-reported diabetes or taking diabetic medications. Undiagnosed diabetes was defined as not self-reporting diabetes and not taking diabetic medications, but having a glycated haemoglobin measurement \geq 48 mmol/mol (6.5%).

Results

There were increases in both diagnosed diabetes (7.7% to 11.5%) and undiagnosed diabetes (2.4% to 3.4%) between 2004 and 2012. However, a small decrease in the proportion of people with diabetes who were unaware of this condition (24.5% to 23.1%, p < 0.05) was observed. Only men aged 50–74 showed a stable prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes, with better recognition of diabetes. Age, non-white ethnicity, manual social class, higher diastolic blood pressure and cholesterol level were factors associated with higher risks of undiagnosed diabetes, whereas greater depressive symptoms were related to lower risks.

Conclusion

This study suggests that the greater awareness of diabetes in the population of England has not resulted in a decline in undiagnosed cases between 2004 and 2012. A greater focus on people from lower socioeconomic groups and those with cardiometabolic risk factors may help early diagnosis of diabetes for older adults.

This work was published in the *Journals of Gerontology, Series A: Biological Sciences* and Medical Sciences (Huang, Steptoe, and Zaninotto 2021).

3.1 Background

Diabetes is a common long-term condition among older people worldwide, including in the UK, where the prevalence of doctor-diagnosed diabetes among people aged 65 and over rose from 5.6% in 1994 to 15% in 2017 (NHS Digital 2018). Diabetes is related to higher risks of all-cause and cause-specific mortality (Gregg et al. 2018), while the economic burdens, including healthcare and medical expenditures, are substantial (Dall et al. 2014).

Undiagnosed type 2 diabetes is frequent because of the asymptomatic features of the condition in its initial stage (WHO 2016). Diabetic complications such as retinopathy, neuropathy, and atherosclerotic lesions are common in people with newly diagnosed diabetes, indicating that the complications may have progressed prior to the diagnosis, during an undiagnosed phase of diabetes (Harris and Eastman 2000; WHO 2016; Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee et al. 2018). Clinically, undiagnosed diabetes means that the diabetes is not monitored by health professionals, and blood sugar levels are not controlled properly. This situation will speed up diabetic complications and subsequently lead to comorbidities and polypharmacy (WHO 2016). Therefore, cases of undiagnosed diabetes cannot be ignored and should be regarded as no less important than diagnosed cases. Before an assessment of the relationship between polypharmacy and diabetes is made, it is important to understand the scale of undiagnosed diabetes in the community.

When undiagnosed diabetes develops in older people, their health may be compromised (Taubert et al. 2003; Wild et al. 2005). The change in physical composition and the presence of comorbidities among older adults can make diagnosis difficult (Prentice and Jebb 2001); therefore, early diagnosis of diabetes is important, especially for older people, who may have comorbidities (Kirkman et al. 2012; Corriere, Rooparinesingh, and Kalyani 2013). To address this issue, a range of screening tools and risk assessment protocols have been developed in many countries (Hippisley-Cox et al. 2009; Dong et al. 2011; Li, Williams, and Douglass 2011; Zhang et al. 2014). Public health information about the dangers of diabetes has increased in recent years in various ways, including increased recognition of the links between unhealthy lifestyles and diabetes, campaigns to improve awareness, the introduction of an annual Diabetes Week in the UK, and the implementation of screening tests in primary care (Temelkova-Kurktschiev and Stefanov 2012; NHS 2019; Diabetes UK 2020). The NHS Health Check system, which targets people aged 40-74, was launched in 2009 (NHS 2019), and the system has been shown to detect more cases of diabetes, hypertension, and chronic kidney disease among attendees compared with non-attendees (Robson et al. 2017). One might therefore expect that rates of undiagnosed diabetes in England fell after this system was introduced.

To understand the existing evidence, a literature search was carried out through the MEDLINE database using the search terms 'diabetes mellitus or hyperglycaemia', 'undiagnosed', 'aged', 'prevalence', and 'risk factors'. Studies on the prevalence of or risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes in older people were included, and Figure 3.1 displays the literature review process. Studies of undiagnosed diabetes among older people were scarce and had applied different definitions, with a reported prevalence of between 0.9% and 13.2% (Harris and Eastman 2000: Dankner et al. 2009: Pierce et al. 2009; Leahy et al. 2015; Sinnott et al. 2015). Among these studies, three were based on people aged 50 and over, and they applied different criteria for undiagnosed diabetes (Dankner et al. 2009; Pierce et al. 2009; Leahy et al. 2015). Two of the three studies were based on nationally representative samples, in England (Pierce et al. 2009) and Ireland (Leahy et al. 2015) respectively. Pierce et al. also reported that 18.5% of diabetes cases in the older population were unaware of their condition (Pierce et al. 2009). To date, no consensus on risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes in older people has been reached, although male sex, age, rural locality, a lack of private healthcare insurance in some countries, good self-rated health, a family history of diabetes, the use of antihypertensive medicines, higher BMI, waist circumference (abdominal obesity), systolic blood pressure (SBP), triglyceride and low-density lipoprotein levels, and lower cholesterol levels have been reported to relate to a higher risk of undiagnosed diabetes among older people (Dankner et al. 2009; Pierce et al. 2009; Leahy et al. 2015; Sinnott et al. 2015). Furthermore, factors such as ethnicity, education level, and diastolic blood pressure (DBP) have been associated with undiagnosed diabetes in adults in general, although not specifically among older people (Hariri et al. 2006; Islam et al. 2016; Moody et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2017). The prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes in adult populations also varies from 0.9% to 11.2%, with the proportion of unawareness between 23% and 55% (Hariri et al. 2006; Dall et al. 2014; Tamayo et al. 2014; Fisher-Hoch et al. 2015; Najafipour et al. 2015;

Islam et al. 2016; Meurs et al. 2016; Moody et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2017). Differences in the prevalence and determinants of undiagnosed diabetes may be attributed to race, area, social background, diagnostic criteria for undiagnosed diabetes, and other factors (Harris and Eastman 2000; Hariri et al. 2006; Dankner et al. 2009; Pierce et al. 2009; Dall et al. 2014; Tamayo et al. 2014; Fisher-Hoch et al. 2015; Leahy et al. 2015; Najafipour et al. 2015; Sinnott et al. 2015; Islam et al. 2016; Meurs et al. 2016; Moody et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2017).

The importance of early diagnosis of diabetes for older people is indisputable (Kirkman et al. 2012; Corriere, Rooparinesingh, and Kalyani 2013). To date, many studies have been based on adults across a wide age range (Hariri et al. 2006; Dall et al. 2014; Tamayo et al. 2014; Fisher-Hoch et al. 2015; Najafipour et al. 2015; Islam et al. 2016; Meurs et al. 2016; Moody et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2017), or on non-representative samples (Chapin et al. 1999; Taubert et al. 2003; Mostaedi et al. 2014; Ursini et al. 2016); consequently, the generalisability of the results is limited. Little is known about whether the prevalence of and risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes in older people differ from those in younger adults. Also, the change in the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes among older adults has not been explored over the last decade (Harris and Eastman 2000; Dankner et al. 2009; Pierce et al. 2009; Leahy et al. 2015; Sinnott et al. 2015). Therefore, this study aimed to investigate the prevalence of both diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes between 2004 and 2012 in a nationally representative sample of older adults, and to determine the potential risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes.

Figure 3.1 Flow chart of literature review process for undiagnosed diabetes in older adults



[†] Criteria were irrelevance to undiagnosed diabetes, very small sample size, or case study/report.

⁺⁺ Criteria were accessibility of full text in English and reporting of prevalence or risk factors/predictors for undiagnosed diabetes.

3.2 Methodology

3.2.1 Study population

The data came from Wave 2 (2004–05) and Wave 6 (2012–13) of ELSA. Medication profiles were collected for the first time during the Wave 6 nurse visits, when the study nurses recorded information about all medicines. The analytical samples for this study

consisted of 7666 individuals in Wave 2 and 7730 in Wave 6 who took part in the nurse assessments. Among these, 5816 out of 7666 in Wave 2 and 5813 out of 7730 in Wave 6 had valid HbA1c measurements. One case out of the 7730 in Wave 6 was excluded because there was no information on diabetes diagnosis. Among the participants in Wave 6, 4330 (56.0%) had also participated in Wave 2; the rest were from the new refreshment samples included in Waves 3, 4, and 6.

3.2.2 Outcome variables

The outcome variables used were diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes. Diagnosed diabetes was defined as either self-reported doctor-diagnosed diabetes or the taking of diabetes medications (listed in Appendix B-1). Undiagnosed diabetes was defined as not having self-reported diabetes and any diabetic medications, but having an HbA1c measurement \geq 48 mmol/mol (equivalent to 6.5% for the HbA1c measurement in 2004) (John 2012). The information on medications, which was available for 2012 only, helped to verify the quality of self-reported diabetes in this study.

3.2.3 Risk factors

Socio-demographic characteristics

Age (in years) was analysed as a continuous variable. Education was classified into 'no qualifications' and 'some qualifications' (primary, secondary, and college and above). Ethnicity was coded as white and non-white. Cohabitation was defined as living with a partner. Wealth was used as the measure of economic resources, since it is more consistently associated with health outcomes at older ages than income (Demakakos, Marmot, and Steptoe 2012). Wealth was computed from detailed assessments of housing wealth, savings, investments, and possessions net of debt (Taylor et al. 2007; Crawford 2012). It was modelled as a continuous variable in the main analyses, but quintiles were presented for descriptive purposes. Occupational social class was defined according to current or most recent occupation, coded according to the national statistics socio-economic classification (known as NS-SEC), and further classified as professional-managerial or intermediate class versus manual social class. Education and occupational social class were coded as binary variables in order to make the results comparable with previous research (Pierce et al. 2009).

Health factors

Valid measurements obtained during nurse assessments for BMI. waist circumference, SBP, DBP, triglycerides, and total cholesterol were treated as potential risk factors in the analyses. Adiposity was ascertained from BMI and waist circumference and classified into 'normal BMI and waist circumference', 'high BMI and waist circumference', and 'either high BMI or high waist circumference'. High BMI was defined as BMI 30 and over. The cut-off values for waist circumference were 102 cm in males and 88 cm in females. The cut-offs of obesity for BMI and waist circumference were used because abdominal obesity and higher BMI have been identified as specific risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes in the literature. Self-reported hypertension, CVD, and hyperlipidaemia, considered to be potentially related to diabetes, were included in this study. Smoking status (i.e. whether a current smoker or not) was also investigated. Depression was defined as having four or more depressive symptoms assessed by the eight-item version of the Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) (Zivin et al. 2010). Cognitive function was assessed by immediate and delayed recall memory tests. Participants were administered a list of 10 words orally, and then asked to recall as many words as possible. Recall was repeated after a five-minute delay. The word list comprised four different versions, so that different lists could be administered in different waves of the data collection. Scores derived from memory tests ranged from zero to 20.

3.2.4 Statistical analysis

The percentage of unawareness among people with diabetes was calculated by dividing the proportion of undiagnosed diabetes by the total amount of diabetes (undiagnosed plus diagnosed). Multivariable logistic regression was used to determine the risk factors significantly associated with undiagnosed diabetes. The variables were entered into the model simultaneously and included age (continuous), gender, education, ethnicity, cohabitation, total wealth (continuous), social class, obesity, SBP (continuous), DBP (continuous), triglycerides (continuous), total cholesterol (continuous), smoking status, cognitive function (continuous), self-reported hypertension and CVD, and depression. Statistical analyses were conducted using Stata (version 15.1; StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

Weighting

Inverse probability weighting was applied to adjust for sampling probabilities and differential non-responses in 2004 and 2012. Nurse weight was used for those who received nurse visits, and blood weight was used for those who also provided blood samples (Bridges, Hussey, and Blake 2015). The weighting was designed to render

87

the results representative of English people aged 50 and older living in private households in 2004 and 2012.

Sensitivity analysis

Several sensitivity analyses were carried out. First, fasting glucose \geq 7 mmol/L was applied as the diagnostic criterion instead of HbA1c. Fasting glucose was only available for a subset of participants, so the sample size was reduced. Second, analyses were repeated using a stricter threshold for undiagnosed diabetes (HbA1c \geq 53 mmol/mol (7%)). Third, since 4330 participants in the sample were present at both waves, longitudinal changes in diabetes prevalence among the same individuals were investigated. Lastly, to assess any potential bias due to missing HbA1c data in 2012, the characteristics of participants without diagnosed diabetes who had a nurse assessment and a valid HbA1c measurement (N = 5206) were compared with those who had a nurse assessment but missing HbA1c data (N = 1593).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes in 2004 and 2012

The characteristics of the study samples in 2004 and 2012 are summarised in Table 3.1. The mean age was 66.6 years in 2004 and 67.6 years in 2012, and the gender distribution was similar between the two waves, with 55% female and 45% male. Among the participants in 2004, 37.4% had no educational qualifications, while the proportion was 24.6% in 2012. Participants in 2004 showed increasing proportions from the lowest quintile of wealth to the highest quintile, whereas the proportions were similar across the quintiles in 2012. Also, the proportion of people with manual social

class backgrounds was slightly higher in 2004 than in 2012. Similar distributions were observed in the rest of the variables.

	2004 (N = 7666)	2012 (N = 7729)
	% (N)	% (N)
Age (years) mean ± SD	66.6 ± 9.9	67.6 ± 9.5
Gender		
Men	45.0 (3451)	44.6 (3447)
Women	55.0 (4215)	55.4 (4282)
Education		
No qualifications	37.4 (2862)	24.6 (1893)
Some qualifications	62.6 (4801)	75.4 (5802)
Ethnicity		
White	98.2 (7524)	96.9 (7493)
Non-white	1.8 (139)	3.1 (236)
Living with a partner	68.6 (5257)	67.9 (5250)
Total wealth		
1 (lowest)	16.9 (1276)	20.2 (1464)
2	19.5 (1478)	19.9 (1440)
3	20.5 (1547)	20.1 (1457)
4	21.1 (1596)	20.0 (1449)
5 (highest)	22.0 (1666)	19.7 (1428)
Social class based on occupation		
Professional-managerial or intermediate	56.7 (4282)	61.5 (4699)
Manual	43.3 (3268)	38.5 (2937)
Obesity		
High BMI and waist circumference	27.7 (1969)	28.3 (2188)
Either high BMI or high waist circumference	24.6 (1749)	22.4 (1734)
SBP (mmHg) mean ± SD	135.3 ± 18.9	132.2 ± 17.5
DBP (mmHg) mean ± SD	75.0 ± 11.2	73.5 ± 10.7
Triglyceride (mmol/L) mean ± SD	1.8 ± 1.2	1.5 ± 0.9
Cholesterol (mmol/L) mean \pm SD	5.9 ± 1.2	5.5 ± 1.2
Current smoker	14.5 (1111)	11.5 (892)
Cognitive function mean ± SD	9.96 ± 3.6	10.7 ± 3.6
Hypertension	43.6 (3341)	40.2 (3105)
CVD	25.7 (1972)	24.2 (1870)
Hyperlipidaemia	-	38.8 (2995)
CES-D scores		
Less than 4	85.0 (6451)	86.8 (6639)
4 and above	15.0 (1136)	13.2 (1011)

 Table 3.1 Cohort characteristics in ELSA 2004 and 2012

There were 592 diagnosed and 115 undiagnosed (HbA1c \ge 48 mmol/mol) cases in 2004, when no medications were collected. In 2012, only 890 participants reported having diabetes, but 930 diagnosed and 169 undiagnosed participants were identified after medications were taken into account. The difference in the number of undiagnosed cases before and after the verification of medication use in 2012 is summarised in Appendix B-2.

The overall prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes significantly increased from 2004 to 2012, while awareness of the condition among people with diabetes improved slightly (Table 3.2). However, changes in the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes and diabetes unawareness differed by age and gender (Table 3.3).

 Table 3.2 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes in England in 2004

 and 2012

	2004		2012		Diff.
-	%	95% CI*	%	95% CI*	Р
Diagnosed diabetes#	7.7	7.1, 8.4	11.5	10.7, 12.3	< 0.001
Undiagnosed diabetes	2.4	2.0, 2.9	3.4	2.8, 4.0	< 0.001
Unawareness among diabetic people	24.5	23.5, 25.5	23.1	22.2, 24.0	0.041

* CI = confidence interval.

[#] Weighted by non-response weight.

	Age	50-74	Diff.	Age	75+	Diff.	
-	2004	2012	Р	2004	2012	Р	
Men							
Diagnosed	83	11 1	0 001	11 7	17 3	0 002	
diabetes# %	0.0	11.1	0.001	11.7	17.5	0.002	
95% CI	(7.3, 9.4)	(9.9, 12.4)		(9.5, 14.3)	(14.7, 20.3)		
Case (N)	234	340		84	141		
Undiagnosed	3.0	23	0.063	3.0	7.0	0.001	
diabetes %	5.2	2.0	0.005	5.2	1.5	0.001	
95% CI	(2.5, 4.2)	(1.7, 3.2)		(1.9, 5.4)	(5.5, 11.3)		
Case (N)	57	43		15	33		
Unawareness							
among diabetic	29.2%	17.3%	< 0.001	23.1%	35.9%	< 0.001	
people %							
95% CI	(27.5, 30.9)	(15.9, 18.7)		(20.0, 26.2)	(32.6, 39.2)		
Women							
Diagnosed	5 5	0.2	~ 0 001	07	16.0	~ 0 001	
diabetes# %	0.0	5.2	< 0.001	5.1	10.0	< 0.001	
95% CI	(4.7, 6.4)	(8.1, 10.6)		(8.0, 11.8)	(13.7, 18.5)		
Case (N)	176	285		98	164		
Undiagnosed	15	3.0	< 0.001	2.2	10	0.007	
diabetes %	1.5	5.0	< 0.001	2.2	4.5	0.007	
95% CI	(1.0, 2.2)	(2.2, 4.0)		(1.2, 4.0)	(3.3, 7.4)		
Case (N)	30	64		13	29		
Unawareness							
among diabetic	21.8%	24.9%	0.003	20.1%	25.0%	0.007	
people %							
95% CI	(20.4, 23.2)	(23.4, 26.4)		(17.6, 22.6)	(22.4, 27.6)		

Table 3.3 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes by age and genderin England in 2004 and 2012

[#] Weighted by non-response weight.

The prevalence of diagnosed diabetes showed a noticeable increase from 7.7% in 2004 to 11.5% in 2012 (Table 3.2). More men were diagnosed with diabetes than women in both 2004 and 2012, and also in different age groups, as displayed in Table 3.3. For both men and women, the increase in the prevalence of diagnosed diabetes was greater among people aged 75+ than those aged 50–74.

There was a significant rise in the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes from 2.4% to 3.4% between 2004 and 2012; however, men aged 50–74 revealed an unchanged prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes over time (3.2% versus 2.3%, p=0.063). The prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes was at least two times higher in 2012 than in 2004 among men aged 75+ (7.9% versus 3.2%), women aged 50–74 (3.0% versus 1.5%), and women aged 75+ (4.9% versus 2.2%).

The overall proportion of people with diabetes who were unaware of the condition reduced slightly from 24.5% in 2004 to 23.1% in 2012 (p=0.041); however, this masked important age and gender differences. Men with diabetes aged 50–74 were more aware of the condition in 2012 than 2004 (unawareness proportions: 17.3% versus 29.2%), while other people with diabetes (older men and all women) were less aware of the condition in 2012, with the greatest increase in the proportion of unaware individuals among men aged 75+ (23.1% versus 35.9%).

3.3.2 Risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes

The associations between potential risk factors and undiagnosed diabetes in 2012 are summarised in Table 3.4. After all other factors were accounted for, per one year increase in age, a 5% increase in the risk of undiagnosed diabetes was observed. Also, per each unit increase in DBP (mmHg) and cholesterol level (mmol/L), the risk of undiagnosed diabetes increased by 1.08 and 2.31 times respectively. Non-white

older adults (odds ratio (OR) = 3.40) and those in a manual social class (OR = 1.98) had a higher risk of undiagnosed diabetes. By contrast, greater depressive symptoms were related to a lower risk (OR = 0.36). Gender, education, wealth, obesity, smoking, or cognitive function were not associated with undiagnosed diabetes after adjustments for other variables.

	Undiagnosed diabetes (N = 588)			
	OR [*]	95% CI	Р	
Age (years)#	1.053	1.017, 1.090	0.004	
Female gender	1.385	0.837, 2.291	0.205	
No educational qualifications	1.002	0.577, 1.742	0.994	
Non-white ethnicity	3.397	1.398, 8.254	0.007	
Living with a partner	0.767	0.453, 1.298	0.322	
Total wealth [§]	1.055	0.869, 1.279	0.590	
Manual social class	1.981	1.205, 3.257	0.007	
Obesity				
High BMI and waist circumference	1.085	0.591, 1.992	0.794	
Either high BMI or high waist circumference	0.865	0.444, 1.684	0.670	
SBP (mmHg) [#]	0.985	0.968, 1.003	0.101	
DBP (mmHg) [#]	1.077	1.045, 1.111	< 0.001	
Triglyceride (mmol/L) [#]	0.811	0.649, 1.014	0.067	
Cholesterol (mmol/L)#	2.307	1.818, 2.926	< 0.001	
Current smoker	1.428	0.636, 3.204	0.388	
Cognitive function [#]	0.989	0.920, 1.063	0.763	
Hypertension	0.665	0.409, 1.082	0.100	
CVD	1.625	0.970, 2.721	0.065	
Hyperlipidaemia	0.656	0.411, 1.046	0.077	
CES-D scores 4 and above	0.356	0.170, 0.745	0.006	

Table 3.4 Risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes in England in 2012

* Unweighted odds ratio.

[§] From lowest quintile to richest quintile.

[#] Per one-unit increase.

3.3.3 Sensitivity analysis

A first sensitivity analysis, which involved fasting glucose as the measure of metabolic dysfunction, and a second, which employed a stricter threshold of HbA1c \geq 53 mmol/mol (7%), were carried out to assess the robustness of the primary results. The findings are described in the appendices (Appendix B-3 to Appendix B-6). As shown in Appendices Appendix B-3 and Appendix B-5, the two analyses both found improved awareness among people with diabetes, as in the primary results. However, the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes was relatively stable in the sensitivity analyses. It would appear to be difficult to compare age- and gender-specific changes in diabetes prevalence and the proportions of unawareness in these analyses with the main findings, due to the significant shrinkage of undiagnosed cases in the two sensitivity analyses.

The results of the longitudinal change in diabetes prevalence among the 4330 participants who were present in both waves are shown in Appendices Appendix B-7 and Appendix B-8. This cohort showed an increasing prevalence of diabetes over time, both diagnosed (6.2% in 2004 to 13.8% in 2012) and undiagnosed (1.9% in 2004 to 4.0% in 2012), but the cohort had a fairly stable proportion of people with diabetes who were unaware of the condition (23.8% in 2004 to 23.2% in 2012). The age- and gender-specific changes in diabetes prevalence and the percentages of unawareness were in line with the main findings.

The last sensitivity analysis was done to examine whether HbA1c availability in participants without diagnosed diabetes was related to the explanatory variables in the model assessing risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes. People without available HbA1c values tended to be older, have no educational qualifications, be non-white, live without a partner, be poorer, be in a manual social class, be obese, have lower

DBP and cognitive function, and have hypertension, CVD, and higher depression scores (Appendix B-9). The significant differences between those with and without HbA1c measurements might lead to the underestimation (e.g. age) or overestimation (e.g. DBP) of the risk factors identified in this study.

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Summary

From a nationally representative sample of older men and women in England, it was found that the prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes increased between 2004 and 2012. The prevalence of diagnosed diabetes increased over time among men and women in different age groups. In general, men were more likely than women to have diagnosed diabetes. However, this was not the case for undiagnosed diabetes. Men aged 50–74 had a stable prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes, with a significant decline in the proportion of people with diabetes who were unaware of their condition. On the other hand, men aged 75+ and all women showed an increasing prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes, with the proportion of people who were unaware of the condition growing from 2004 to 2012.

The increase in diabetes prevalence was primarily due to the increase in diagnosed diabetes, and the impact of gender differences in undiagnosed diabetes was relatively small. The rising prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes among men was limited to adults aged 75+, while women had a significant increase in undiagnosed diabetes in both age groups. These findings to some extent confirmed the impact of the NHS Health Check system, which was established in 2009 and targets people aged 40–74. Men aged under 75 had an unchanged prevalence of undiagnosed

diabetes, although there was a rising rate among all women. During this period, the proportion of people with diabetes who were not aware of their condition improved slightly, primarily because of greater awareness among men aged 50–74 years.

The robustness of the findings was largely confirmed in the sensitivity analyses. The only exception was that the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes did not show an increase in the sensitivity analyses when fasting glucose and HbA1c of 7% were used. Due to many missing values for fasting glucose, this analysis had a reduced sample size, which in turn may have influenced its statistical power. For the analysis with a higher HbA1c threshold, it was fair that fewer cases of undiagnosed diabetes were identified. At any rate, it was confirmed that the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes diabetes prevalence in the same cohort suggested that the increasing prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes may have resulted from multiple factors rather than from the ageing of the sample. Also, this cohort did not show a better awareness of diabetes, except for men aged 50–74 years, which was in line with the main findings, supporting the reliability of the results of the longitudinal study.

3.4.2 Comparison with existing literature

Prevalence

The prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes among people aged 50 and over varies widely across studies, from 0.9% in Ireland in 2009–11 to 13.2% in Israel in 2009 (Dankner et al. 2009; Leahy et al. 2015). An earlier analysis of ELSA data from 2004 (Pierce et al. 2009) reported a prevalence of 1.7%, compared with the 2.4% found in this study. The earlier study used a raised fasting glucose level to identify diabetes,

while the results of this study were based on HbA1c. This study was not able to use fasting glucose because of the large number of missing values and a lack of information about the duration of fasting in ELSA 2012. The different criteria for undiagnosed diabetes may have resulted in the varying prevalence levels.

Risk factors

A wide range of risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes among older adults have been reported (Dankner et al. 2009; Pierce et al. 2009; Leahy et al. 2015; Sinnott et al. 2015), but there is little agreement across studies. Male gender, obesity, SBP, triglyceride, and cholesterol (reverse effect) levels were consistently related to undiagnosed diabetes in two studies (Pierce et al. 2009; Sinnott et al. 2015), but these associations were not found in others (Dankner et al. 2009; Leahy et al. 2015). This study's finding of older age as a risk factor for undiagnosed diabetes is confirmed by previous research (Sinnott et al. 2015), whereas the associations with lipids observed in this study are different from those reported in previous studies (Pierce et al. 2009; Sinnott et al. 2015). In this study, higher cholesterol levels were related to undiagnosed diabetes, whereas lower cholesterol levels and higher triglyceride concentrations were identified as risk factors in earlier studies. The use of fasting samples to define diabetes in previous studies may have influenced the triglyceride estimates, since triglyceride levels would be higher in the non-fasting state (Nigam 2011). In addition, the findings regarding non-white ethnicity and higher DBP in this study are in line with literature that focuses on adults in general instead of older people in particular (Islam et al. 2016; Moody et al. 2016).

97

Two previous studies have found undiagnosed diabetes to be more common among men than women (Pierce et al. 2009; Sinnott et al. 2015), but this gender difference has not been observed in other work (Dankner et al. 2009; Leahy et al. 2015) or in this study. Other risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes identified in previous studies did not emerge in this study, including obesity. It should be noted that factors related to diagnosis are not fixed, but will vary according to the vigour with which diabetes detection is pursued. It is possible that the growing recognition of diabetes risk among men, and its relationship with obesity, mean that these variables are no longer risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes. This explanation is endorsed by Table 3.3, since men aged 50–74 showed an improvement in their awareness of diabetes.

Although diagnosed diabetes is known to be associated with lower socioeconomic position (Diabetes UK 2010; Agardh et al. 2011) and depression (Diabetes UK 2010; Li et al. 2016; Olvera et al. 2016), associations with undiagnosed diabetes have not previously been documented. Lower socio-economic position may be related to less awareness of diabetes, while people with depressive symptoms may be more likely to have contact with health professionals, leading to more frequent diagnosis.

3.4.3 Undiagnosed diabetes based on HbA1c

HbA1c is a universal diagnostic tool for diabetes approved by the WHO, and it can avoid the day-to-day variability of plasma glucose levels and the inconvenience of fasting or performing an oral glucose tolerance test (WHO 2011). The convenience of HbA1c-based diagnosis, which was widely applied in the UK in 2011 (John 2012), may have contributed to more confirmed cases of diabetes, resulting in a higher prevalence of diabetes since 2011. Nevertheless, according to published data from the Health Survey for England, there was a steady increase rather than a surge in the prevalence of diagnosed diabetes across 2011 (Appendix B-10) (NHS Digital 2018), which suggests that the adoption of HbA1c did not greatly influence prevalence rates. The data therefore supports the rationale of this study's two time points, 2004 (before 2011) and 2012 (after 2011). Furthermore, the use of HbA1c raises some concerns, since the ageing process involves increasing HbA1c values, which may influence diabetes diagnosis in older people (John 2012; Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee et al. 2018). It has been proven that HbA1c-based diagnosis is modified by ethnicity and gender, and that it can show discrepancies with glucose-based diagnosis (Lipska et al. 2010; Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee et al. 2018). However, the sensitivity analysis with fasting glucose showed similar prevalence levels, thereby helping to justify the use of HbA1c in this study.

3.4.4 Strengths and limitations

The strengths of this study included the use of a nationally representative sample of older people from a population-based longitudinal study, the verification of self-reported health conditions by objective assessments of medications, the inclusion of a comprehensive set of potential risk factors, the comparison of prevalence rates with two different measurements (HbA1c and fasting glucose), the comparison of prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes and proportions of unawareness with two different thresholds of HbA1c (6.5% and 7%), and the longitudinal change in prevalence rates in the same cohort. All analyses showed an increased prevalence of diagnosed diabetes and an improved awareness of diabetes from 2004 to 2012. This suggested that the results of this study were robust.

99

Some limitations to this study should be acknowledged. First, ELSA is a longitudinal ageing study, and participants receive feedback on their blood biomarkers. It is possible that individuals with high blood sugar levels in 2004 contacted their GPs and had diabetes diagnosed. If this was the case, it is likely to have decreased the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes in 2012. Second, the use of a single HbA1c value may have led to imprecision, since at least two tests or symptoms are usually needed to make a diagnosis in clinical practice (WHO 2011; John 2012). Lastly, recall bias cannot be avoided completely, even though self-reported diabetes was verified by the presence of diabetes medications.

3.5 Conclusion

This study confirmed that diabetes rates are increasing in England, but it also suggested that the greater awareness of diabetes in the population has not resulted in a decline in undiagnosed cases. This analysis of risk factors suggested that a greater focus on individuals with lower socio-economic status and on people with other cardiometabolic risk factors might help with the identification of diabetes at an earlier stage. It is hoped that the findings of this study will encourage the identification of undiagnosed diabetes among older adults in clinical practice.

Chapter 4. Polypharmacy in ELSA Wave 6: prevalence and risk factors

Abstract

Aim

To study the association between diabetes and the prevalence of and risk factors for polypharmacy among adults aged 50 and older in England.

Methods

A cross-sectional study (2012–2013) of the ELSA. Polypharmacy was defined as taking 5–9 long-term medications a day and heightened polypharmacy as 10 or more. Diabetes included diagnosed and undiagnosed cases (glycated haemoglobin \geq 6.5% (48 mmol/mol)).

Results

Of 7729 participants, 1100 people had diabetes and showed higher prevalence rates of polypharmacy (41.1% vs 14.8%) and heightened polypharmacy (5.8% vs 1.7%) than those without diabetes, even when antihyperglycemic medications were excluded. Risk factors for polypharmacy also differed according to diabetes status. Among people with diabetes, risk factors for polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy were having more long-term conditions (relative risk ratio (RRR) = 1.86; 3.51) and being obese (RRR = 1.68; 3.68), while females were less likely to show polypharmacy (RRR = 0.51) and heightened polypharmacy (RRR = 0.51) than males. Older age (RRR = 1.04) was only related to polypharmacy among people without diabetes.

Conclusions

Adults with diabetes had higher prevalence rates of polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy than those without diabetes, regardless of including antihyperglycemic drugs. Early detection of polypharmacy among older people with diabetes needs to focus on co-morbidities and obesity.

This work was published in *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* (Huang et al. 2021b).

4.1 Background

Diabetes is a common long-term condition among older adults. In England, 15% of people aged 65 and older reported having diabetes in 2017 (NHS Digital 2018). Diabetes and its complications have been shown to be associated with polypharmacy, which is also common in CVD, dyslipidaemia, gastrointestinal illnesses, and mental illnesses (Veehof et al. 2000; Nobili et al. 2011; Kim et al. 2014; Strehblow, Smeikal, and Fasching 2014; Dwyer et al. 2016; Noale et al. 2016; Abolhassani et al. 2017; Lim et al. 2017; Vicinanza et al. 2018; Tefera, Alemayehu, and Mekonnen 2020). The progression of diabetes and the guidelines for its treatment may link diabetes to the presence of polypharmacy. As diabetes progresses, microvascular and/or macrovascular complications appear. Inevitably, people with diabetes develop multimorbidity, which the WHO defines as the coexistence of two or more chronic conditions (Geneva: WHO 2016). Multimorbidity requires multiple medications or regimens and therefore brings about polypharmacy in this population (Fowler 2008). Moreover, both ADA in the US and NICE in the UK suggest intensification with additional medications when lifestyle management or monotherapy fail to reach an

individual's treatment goals. These treatment guidelines increase the risk of developing polypharmacy among patients with diabetes. More importantly, the direct effects of ageing on metabolic regulation aggravate the underlying pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes in ageing populations (LeRoith et al. 2019). The occurrence of type 2 diabetes in older adults is a result of complex interactions among genetic, lifestyle, and ageing effects (Lee and Halter 2017). Ageing effects may also interact with diabetes to accelerate the progression of diabetes complications (LeRoith et al. 2019). Older adults with diabetes are therefore more likely to show polypharmacy.

Polypharmacy and multimorbidity are both prevalent among older adults (Geneva: WHO 2019, 2016). Polypharmacy intuitively refers to the concurrent use of multiple medications; however, no firm definition has been developed in clinical practice, as discussed in chapter 1, section 1.2. Three main ways to define polypharmacy have been identified in a systematic review (Masnoon et al. 2017), and the classification of polypharmacy into appropriate and problematic has been advocated by NICE (NICE 2017) and NHS England (NHS England and NHS Improvement 2019), beyond numerical definitions. This classification has been adopted in much polypharmacy research investigating PIMs/PIPs. Some tools have therefore been developed to identify PIMs/PIPs, such as the Beers criteria (By the 2019 American Geriatrics Society Beers Criteria® Update Expert Panel 2019) and STOPP criteria (O'Mahony et al. 2015), which can help to evaluate the appropriateness of polypharmacy. Nevertheless, the assessment of polypharmacy must be personalised, and it is often limited by data availability in population-based studies. In summary, the differences in polypharmacy definitions make current studies difficult to compare, so the influence and consequences of polypharmacy among older people are difficult to study.

To understand the existing evidence, a literature search was carried out through the MEDLINE database using the search terms 'polypharmacy', 'risk factors or factors', and 'aged'. Studies on the prevalence of and risk factors for polypharmacy in older people were included, and Figure 4.1 shows a flow chart of the literature review process. The prevalence of polypharmacy varies from 4% to 87.5% among older people when polypharmacy is defined as taking five or more drugs a day (Veehof et al. 2000; Brekke, Hunskaar, and Straand 2006; Nobili et al. 2011; Yong et al. 2012; Papazafiropoulou et al. 2014; Silveira, Dalastra, and Pagotto 2014; Strehblow, Smeikal, and Fasching 2014; Noale et al. 2016; Clague et al. 2017; Lim et al. 2017; Rawle et al. 2018; Slater et al. 2018; Vicinanza et al. 2018). Several factors have been reported to be associated with polypharmacy. These can be divided into two categories: socio-demographic characteristics such as age, gender, wealth, education, and ethnicity; and health factors, including the number of comorbidities, specific long-term conditions, obesity (BMI 30+), cognitive performance, malnutrition, and the use of supplements and oral antihyperglycemic drugs (Veehof et al. 2000; Cross, Wilson, and Binion 2005; Brekke, Hunskaar, and Straand 2006; Nobili et al. 2011; Yong et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2014; Papazafiropoulou et al. 2014; Silveira, Dalastra, and Pagotto 2014; Strehblow, Smeikal, and Fasching 2014; Dwyer et al. 2016; Noale et al. 2016; Abolhassani et al. 2017; Lim et al. 2017; Guaraldi et al. 2018; Komiya et al. 2018; Ong et al. 2018; Rawle et al. 2018; Slater et al. 2018; Vicinanza et al. 2018; Tefera, Alemayehu, and Mekonnen 2020). Factors that have been consistently reported as associated with a high risk of polypharmacy are older age and an increasing number of comorbidities (Veehof et al. 2000; Cross, Wilson, and Binion 2005; Yong et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2014; Papazafiropoulou et al. 2014; Silveira, Dalastra, and Pagotto 2014; Noale et al. 2016; Abolhassani et al. 2017; Lim et al.

2017; Guaraldi et al. 2018; Ong et al. 2018; Rawle et al. 2018; Slater et al. 2018; Vicinanza et al. 2018; Tefera, Alemayehu, and Mekonnen 2020). To date, only a few studies have focused on older adults with diabetes and reported a high prevalence of polypharmacy: 84% (Gadsby et al. 2012) for a cut-off of four; 57.1% (Noale et al. 2016) and 66% (Ribeiro Da Silva et al. 2016) for a cut-off of five: and 79% for a cut-off of six (Papazafiropoulou et al. 2014). Some studies have employed non-representative study samples in terms of specific long-term conditions and particular healthcare settings (Cross, Wilson, and Binion 2005; Nobili et al. 2011; Yong et al. 2012; Strehblow, Smeikal, and Fasching 2014; Dwyer et al. 2016; Clague et al. 2017; Guaraldi et al. 2018; Tefera, Alemayehu, and Mekonnen 2020). Population-based studies have applied various definitions of polypharmacy and different adjustments for long-term illness (Veehof et al. 2000; Brekke, Hunskaar, and Straand 2006; Kim et al. 2014; Silveira, Dalastra, and Pagotto 2014; Abolhassani et al. 2017; Lim et al. 2017; Komiya et al. 2018; Ong et al. 2018; Rawle et al. 2018; Slater et al. 2018; Vicinanza et al. 2018). All these differences among studies make it difficult to compare the results and generalise them to the older population. Also, little is known as to whether polypharmacy in people with diabetes is different from polypharmacy in people without diabetes.

Some polypharmacy is a legitimate response to multimorbidity and patient management according to clinical treatment guidelines. However, the recommendation to deprescribe for people with limited life expectancy (Maddison, Fisher, and Johnston 2011) has been increasingly endorsed. As a result of evidence of the positive and negative consequences of polypharmacy (Huang et al. 2010; Niikawa et al. 2017; Yashkin et al. 2018), there has been increasing debate about the rationale for polypharmacy, especially among older adults. Diabetes is one of the longterm conditions that have been identified as implicated in polypharmacy. However, to date, no studies have evaluated the prevalence of or risk factors for polypharmacy between people with and without diabetes. Therefore, this study aimed to disentangle the role of diabetes in polypharmacy by studying the prevalence of and risk factors for polypharmacy in a nationally representative sample of older adults, according to diabetes status. Diabetes in this study included both diagnosed and undiagnosed cases, which had been identified in the previous study (chapter 3). It was hypothesised that diabetes contributed to the development of polypharmacy among older people and might influence the potential risk factors for polypharmacy.

Figure 4.1 Flow chart of literature review process for risk factors for polypharmacy



[†] Criteria were irrelevance to polypharmacy, very small sample size, case study/report, and pharmaceutical publications about specific medications.

⁺⁺ Criteria were accessibility of full text in English and exploration of risk factors/predictors for polypharmacy.

4.2 Methodology

4.2.1 Study population

In Wave 6 of ELSA, a total of 9169 interviews with core members were conducted. Of these, 7730 participants were visited by a study nurse, who recorded information on all medications. This was the first time that this data had been collected in ELSA. The analytical sample for this study consisted of 7729 individuals who took part in the nurse assessments and had valid information regarding their diabetes diagnosis.

4.2.2 Polypharmacy

There is no consensus on the definition of polypharmacy, as discussed in chapter 1, section 1.2. Nevertheless, some characteristics are essential to polypharmacy and contribute to its rigorous definition. The key characteristics are the appropriate cut-off value of concurrent medications, exclusive long-term use, the inclusion of regularly used OTC drugs, and the calculation of active components in combination drugs. To make the results comparable with the literature, the most common cut-off values – five and 10 – were chosen to distinguish different levels of polypharmacy (Yong et al. 2012; Masnoon et al. 2017). Therefore, polypharmacy was defined as taking between five and nine long-term medications a day; taking 10 or more medications a day was defined as heightened polypharmacy. Long-term medications were either drugs for long-term symptoms, such as sedatives for insomnia and relievers for tremor (Huang et al. 2010; Papazafiropoulou et al. 2014; Masnoon et al. 2017). All the medication categories in long-term use are listed in Table 4.1. The included categories

were oral medicines, injections, inhalers, all forms of nicotine replacement, and nitroglycerine sublingual spray; non-oral medicines, premedication or post-operative drugs, and medications that could not be coded were excluded. Some medications were in short-term use most of the time and thus excluded from the study, including emergency contraceptives, drugs for febrile convulsion, painkillers (paracetamolbased), gastrointestinal medications (except for H₂-receptor blockers, prostaglandin E1 analogue, and proton-pump inhibitors), symptom-relieving drugs (e.g. for constipation, allergy, vertigo, cough, nausea, diarrhoea, and erectile dysfunction), medicines for infection (antibiotics, antifungals, and antivirals), and supplements. Furthermore, OTC drugs used for long-term conditions were also included in this study - for example, calcium supplements taken by older adults with bone disease. Each distinct pharmacological agent was treated as an individual drug, although a few combination drugs are indistinguishable in ELSA: for example, a combination of ARB and CCB has the same code as a single ARB. Distinguishable combination drugs are listed in Table 4.2 and were counted as two or three medications. In addition, polypharmacy excluding antihyperglycemic drugs and heightened polypharmacy excluding antihyperglycemic drugs were also adopted for people with diabetes.
Long-term condition	Medication category
Diabetes	Insulin, SUs, biguanides (metformin), dipeptidyl peptidase-4
	(DPP-4) inhibitors, meglitinides, TZDs, GLP-1 agonists, α -
	glucosidase inhibitor, and SGLT-2 inhibitors
Diabetic neuropathy	Codeine and carbamazepine
CVDs	Digoxin, diuretics (thiazide, loop, potassium-sparing and
	combinations), antiarrhythmics, β blockers, α 2 agonists, α 1
	blockers, CCBs, renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS)
	inhibitors (ACEIs, ARBs, and renin inhibitors), vasodilators,
	and antithrombotics (anticoagulants and anti-platelets)
Hyperlipidaemia	Statins, fibrates, niacin, bile acid sequestrants, omega-3 fatty
	acids, cholesterol absorption inhibitors, and microsomal
	triglyceride transfer protein inhibitors
Hyperuricemia (including	Allopurinol and NSAIDs (for acute attack)
gout)	
Lung disease (including	Steroids (oral and inhaled), $\beta 2$ agonists (including long-acting),
inhalers)	anticholinergics, theophylline, aminophylline, combinations
	(e.g. ipratropium plus salbutamol), mast cell stabilisers, and
	leukotriene receptor antagonists
Bone disease	Bisphosphonates
Psychiatric conditions	Tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), selective serotonin reuptake
	inhibitors (SSRIs), serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake
	inhibitors (SNRIs), typical antipsychotics, atypical
	antipsychotics, antimanic agents, and anxiolytics
Epilepsy (seizure)	Anticonvulsants, BZDs, and phenytoin
Parkinson's disease	Carbidopa-levodopa and anticholinergic (procyclidine)
Dementia (including	Acetylcholinesterase inhibitor (donepezil) and glutamate
Alzheimer's disease)	receptor antagonist (memantine)
Inflammatory bowel	Metronidazole, sulfasalazine, mesalazine, steroids, and
disease	immunosuppressants
Autoimmune disease	Steroids and immunosuppressants
(rheumatic disease,	
myasthenia gravis)	
Cancer	Immunosuppressants, steroids, oral chemotherapy,
	methotrexate, hormones, selective oestrogen receptor
	modulators, aromatase inhibitors, and gonadotropin-releasing
	hormone agonists

Table 4.1 Medication categories in long-term use, ELSA 2012

Long-term symptom	Medication category
Hormone therapy	Thyroxine (levothyroxine), steroids, sex hormones
	(including patches), gonadotropin-releasing hormone
	agonists, and contraceptives (not including emergency
	contraceptives)
Treatment for substance	Including all forms of nicotine replacement therapy
dependence (including alcohol,	
opioids, and smoking)	
Sedative (hypnotic)	BZD and non-BZD derivatives
Tremor	Propranolol
Symptom relief for pain,	NSAIDs (including aspirin)
inflammation, and rheumatic	
disease	
Pain relief	Opioid derivatives, and drugs for trigeminal neuralgia
	and migraine (including headache)
Peptic ulcers and	H ₂ -receptor blockers, prostaglandin E1 analogue, and
gastroesophageal reflux disease	proton-pump inhibitors
Supplements for people with	Calcium products
bone disease	
Attention deficit hyperactivity	Methylphenidate
disorder	
Tourette's syndrome	Sulpiride
Benign prostatic hyperplasia	5α reductase inhibitors and $\alpha 1$ blockers
Urinary incontinence	Anticholinergics (oxybutynin) and antimuscarinics
	(trospium chloride and solifenacin)
Urine alkalinisation, ureteric colic	Sodium bicarbonate and diclofenac
Thyrotoxicosis	Propranolol
Nocturnal cramps	Muscle relaxants (quinine, diazepam, and baclofen)
Dry mouth	Pilocarpine
Sputum viscosity	Carbocisteine

Table 4.1 (continued)

Code	Combination drug
02.02.04	Potassium-sparing diuretic and another type of diuretics
03.01.04	Ipratropium and β2 agonist (inhaler)
07.03.01	Contraceptive, combined type
09.06.04	Calcium and vitamin D3

 Table 4.2 Distinguishable combination drugs, ELSA 2012

4.2.3 Risk factors

Socio-demographic characteristics

Age was modelled as a continuous variable. Binary variables were employed for gender (males and females), ethnicity (white and non-white), education (no qualifications versus some qualifications), occupational social class (intermediate/professional-managerial versus manual), and cohabiting status (living or not with a partner). Wealth was used as the measure of economic resources, since it is more consistently associated with health outcomes at older ages than income (Demakakos, Marmot, and Steptoe 2012). Wealth was computed from detailed assessments of housing wealth, savings, investments, and possessions net of debt. It was presented as quintiles from poorest to richest.

Comorbidity

Long-term conditions in ELSA Wave 6 were either self-reported by participants or determined by specific treatments. The self-reported diagnoses recorded in ELSA were diabetes, hypertension, angina (chest pain), heart attack, congestive heart failure, heart murmur, abnormal heart rhythm, stroke, other heart diseases, high cholesterol, lung disease, asthma, arthritis, osteoporosis, cancer, blood disorder (malignant), Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, dementia (including senility and serious memory impairment), psychiatric conditions, and four eye diseases (glaucoma, diabetic eye disease, macular degeneration, and cataracts). To simplify the cardiovascular conditions, angina and heart attack were combined into 'coronary heart disease (CHD)'; congestive heart failure, heart murmur, abnormal heart rhythm, and other heart diseases were combined into 'other heart problems'. The diagnoses of hypertension and stroke remained independent. A new binary variable of CVD was generated to refer to participants who had reported any diagnosis of stroke, CHD, or other heart problems.

The self-reported long-term conditions were verified by medication profiles wherever possible. To reduce potential misclassification bias and recall bias in this study, both the participants who had self-reported and those who took medications were categorised as having a particular illness, and this was referred to as a verified diagnosis. The crude and verified diagnoses in ELSA 2012 are summarised in Table 4.3. Most of the diagnoses could be verified by the participant's taking specific medication classes, and a broader diagnosis was accordingly established. For example, people with lung disease or asthma usually have similar prescriptions, so the two separate self-reported conditions were verified by medications and combined into 'lung disease and asthma'. The verified diabetes diagnosis included not only diagnosed but also undiagnosed diabetes, building upon previous work (chapter 3). However, some diagnoses could not be verified in the same way, because cardiovascular medications (e.g. β blockers and ARBs) can be used for hypertension, heart failure, or other illnesses. The same situation applied to the use of lipid-lowering agents. Thus, the diagnoses of CVD, hyperlipidaemia, CHD, stroke, and other heart problems remained self-reported instead of verified. Accordingly, 10.2% of people were found to be taking cardiovascular medications or lipid-lowering agents but not self-reporting relevant diagnoses (i.e. hyperlipidaemia, hypertension, or CVD). An indicator of inconsistency between medication use and self-reported conditions was therefore generated to refer to this group of people.

In addition to the self-reported conditions, four diagnoses – hyperuricemia (including gout), epilepsy (seizure), inflammatory bowel disease, and autoimmune disease (including rheumatic disease and myasthenia gravis) – were identified by recognisably specific treatments. The cases and prevalence of the four conditions were 193 (2.5%) for hyperuricemia, 181 (2.3%) for epilepsy, 47 (0.6%) for inflammatory bowel disease, and 158 (2.0%) for autoimmune disease.

The number of long-term conditions was derived from self-reported diagnoses and specific treatments. Sixteen diagnoses were included to generate the number of conditions (from zero to 16): hypertension, stroke, CHD, other heart problems, hyperlipidaemia, lung disease and asthma, arthritis, bone disease (including osteoporosis, Paget's disease, and heterotopic ossification), cancer and malignant blood disorder, Parkinson's disease, dementia (including Alzheimer's disease), psychiatric conditions, any one of four eye diseases, hyperuricemia, epilepsy, and inflammatory bowel disease. Diabetes (both diagnosed and undiagnosed) was excluded from the calculation due to the stratification by diabetes status in the subsequent analyses. Autoimmune disease defined by specific treatments was also excluded, since self-reported arthritis may refer to osteoarthritis or rheumatoid arthritis, which is also a type of autoimmune disease. Moreover, only a small number of people with autoimmune disease (23 out of 158) did not concurrently report arthritis, helping to justify the exclusion of autoimmune disease in this study.

113

Self-reported	NI (0/)	On drug, N /	On drug, N /	Varified diagnosis	NI (9/)	On drug, N /
diagnosis	IN (70)	diagnosis, N (%)	no diagnosis, N (%)	vermed diagnosis	IN (70)	diagnosis, N (%)
Diabetes	890 (11.5)	638/890 (71.7)	44/6839 (0.6)	Diabetes [#]	1100 (14.2)	682/1100 (62.0)
Hyperlipidaemia	2995 (38.8)	2010/2995 (67.1)	641/4734 (13.5)	Taking cardiovascular		
Hypertension	3105 (40.2)	2753/3105 (88.7)		or lipid-lowering	788 (10.2)	
	1870 (24 2)	1550/1870 (82.9)	409/3819 (10.7)	agents without a	700 (10.2)	
CVD	1070 (24.2)	1550/1670 (62.3)		diagnosis		
Stroke	373 (4.8)	-	-			
CHD	785 (10.2)	-	-			
Other heart problems	1210 (15.7)	-	-			
Lung disease [†]	405 (5.2)	270/405 (66.7)	100/6602 (3.0)	Lung disease and	1325 (17 1)	1001/1325 (75 5)
Asthma [†]	877 (11.4)	671/877 (76.5)	199/0002 (3.0)	asthma§	1323 (17.1)	1001/1325 (75.5)
Arthritis [†]	3145 (40.7)	-	-			
Osteoporosis [†]	675 (8.7)	197/675 (29.2)	97/7053 (1.4)	Bone disease [#]	772 (10.0)	294/772 (38.1)
Cancer [†]	431 (5.6)	72/431 (16.7)*		Cancer and malignant		
Blood disorder	58 (0.8)	A/58 (6 9)*	35/7247 (0.5)**	blood disorder**	481 (6.2)	73/481 (15.2)
(malignant) [†]	56 (0.0)	4/30 (0.9)				
Parkinson's disease [†]	47 (0.6)	35/47 (74.5)	28/7681 (0.4)	Parkinson's disease	75 (1.0)	63/75 (84.0)
Alzheimer's disease [†]	12 (0.2)	9/12 (75.0)	4/7660 (0.05)	Dementia (including	72 (0 9)	19/72 (26 4)
Dementia [†]	61 (0.8)	10/61 (16.4)	4/1000 (0.00)	Alzheimer's disease)§	12 (0.3)	10/12 (20.7)

Table 4.3 Crude and verified diagnoses, ELSA 2012 (N = 7729)

Table 4.3 (continued)

Self-reported	NI (0/)	On drug, N /	On drug, N /	Verified diagnosis	NI (9/)	On drug, N /
diagnosis	IN (70)	diagnosis, N (%)	no diagnosis, N (%)	vermed diagnosis	IN (70)	diagnosis, N (%)
Psychiatric conditions [†]	863 (11.2)	401/863 (46.5)	510/6865 (7.4)	Psychiatric conditions	1373 (17.8)	911/1373 (66.4)
Eye: glaucoma ⁺⁺	503 (6.5)	_	_			
Eye: diabetic eye	177 (2.3)	_	_			
disease ^{††}	177 (2.3)			Any 1 of 4 eye	2475 (22.0)	
Eye: macular	245 (45)	_	_	diseases ^{††}	2475 (32.0)	
degeneration ^{††}	345 (4.5)	_	_			
Eye: cataract ^{††}	1940 (25.1)	-	-			

[†]One missing value in self-reported diagnoses.

⁺⁺ Five missing values in glaucoma; four missing values in macular degeneration; three missing values in diabetic eye disease, cataract, and combined diagnosis.

*Not including intravenous chemotherapy.

^{**} Drugs for immunosuppression and cancer shared similar codes that sometimes were indistinguishable; thus, verified diagnosis did not take medications into account.

[#] Diabetes included diagnosed and undiagnosed cases. CVD included stroke, CHD, and other heart problems. Bone disease included osteoporosis, Paget's disease, and heterotopic ossification.

[§] People with a verified diagnosis were fewer than the sum of participants who self-reported and who were on medications but without corresponding diagnoses. This was because a small number of people had two self-reported conditions simultaneously when the verified diagnosis referred to a combination of the two diagnoses.

Other health factors

This study included health factors that had been reported in the literature and about which information was provided in ELSA, such as smoking status, obesity, and cognitive performance. Depressive symptoms, which had never been reported before, are related to diabetes and showed significance in the univariable analysis; therefore, they were included in this study. Smoking status was coded as current smoker or not. Frequency of alcohol consumption was classified as 'daily (five to seven days per week)' and 'less than daily'. Obesity was derived from BMI and waist circumference, and categorised into 'normal BMI and waist circumference', 'high BMI and waist circumference', and 'either high BMI or high waist circumference'. High BMI was defined as BMI 30 and over. The cut-off values for waist circumference were 102 cm in males and 88 cm in females. Depressive symptoms and cognitive function were also included in the study. Depressive symptoms were assessed by the eight-item version of the CES-D (Zivin et al. 2010), and total scores were used (ranging from zero to eight). Cognitive function was assessed using a memory test. Participants were administered a list of 10 words orally, and then asked to recall as many words as possible. Recall was repeated after a five-minute delay. Scores derived from immediate and delayed recall ranged from zero to 20.

4.2.4 Statistical analysis

For the descriptive analyses of long-term medications and conditions, the relationship between the two variables in the original scales was tested using Pearson correlation coefficient. Two-sample t-tests were used to examine the difference in continuous variables between two independent groups, and chi-square tests were employed to

116

explore the associations between categorical variables. The significance level was set to be less than 0.05.

Analyses of polypharmacy prevalence were weighted by inverse probability weighting to adjust for sampling probabilities and differential non-responses to the nurse visit in 2012 (Bridges, Hussey, and Blake 2015). The weighting was designed to render the results representative of adults in England aged 50 and older living in private households in 2012 (Wave 6).

Multinomial logistic regression was used to determine the risk factors associated with polypharmacy, in which zero to four medications was the reference group, and five to nine and 10 or more medications referred to different levels of polypharmacy. Relative risk ratios (RRRs), and corresponding 95% CIs, were reported to indicate the risk of the outcome being present in the comparison group relative to the reference group, conditional on fixed covariates in the model. The variables were entered into the model simultaneously and included age, gender, ethnicity, total wealth, education, social class, cohabitation status, number of conditions (excluding diabetes), smoking status, alcohol consumption, obesity, depressive symptoms, and cognitive function. Interaction terms were identified by likelihood ratio tests, a statistical test of the goodness-of-fit between two models (model being tested versus full model including interaction terms). Statistical analyses were conducted using Stata (version 15.1; StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analyses were performed to check the robustness of results when employing specific long-term conditions plus the number of remaining conditions

117

instead of the sum of all conditions. Hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, and psychiatric conditions were adjusted individually as dichotomous variables, and a continuous variable of CVD referring to the number of CVDs was employed. The remaining conditions were combined into an illness count.

4.3 Results

First, this section introduces the characteristics of the study sample. Then a full description of medications collected in ELSA 2012 and the association between diabetes and medication use and comorbidities is given, followed by the prevalence of polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy, and risk factors for the two levels of polypharmacy.

A total of 7729 participants (1100 with diabetes and 6629 without diabetes) were included in this study, and the characteristics of participants are summarised in Table 4.4. People with diabetes tended to have more long-term conditions, be older, be men, be non-white, be poorer, lack educational qualifications, be in a manual social class, live without a partner, drink less than daily, be obese, have worse cognitive performance, and have greater depressive symptoms.

	No diabetes	Diabetes	
	(N = 6629)	(N = 1100)	Р
	% (N)	% (N)	
Age (years) mean (SD [*])	67.2 (9.5)	70.0 (9.1)	< 0.001
Gender			
Men	43.6 (2889)	50.7 (558)	< 0.001
Women	56.4 (3740)	49.3 (542)	
Ethnicity			
White	97.5 (6464)	93.5 (1029)	< 0.001
Non-white	2.5 (165)	6.5 (71)	
Total wealth			
1 (lowest)	19.0 (1187)	27.5 (277)	< 0.001
2	19.3 (1203)	23.6 (237)	
3	20.0 (1247)	20.9 (210)	
4	20.8 (1294)	15.4 (155)	
5 (highest)	20.9 (1301)	12.6 (127)	
Education			
No qualifications	23.3 (1543)	32.2 (350)	< 0.001
Some qualifications	76.7 (5064)	67.8 (738)	
Social class based on occupation			
Manual	37.0 (2426)	47.3 (511)	< 0.001
Intermediate or professional-managerial	63.0 (4129)	52.7 (570)	
Living with a partner			
Yes	69.0 (4572)	61.6 (678)	< 0.001
No	31.0 (2057)	38.4 (422)	
Number of conditions # median (IQR*)	2 (2)	3 (3)	< 0.001
Current smoker			
Yes	11.4 (753)	12.6 (139)	0.220
No	88.6 (5876)	87.4 (961)	
Alcohol consumption			
Less than daily	78.1 (4715)	86.4 (834)	< 0.001
Daily (5-7 days per week)	21.9 (1319)	13.6 (131)	
Obesity			
High BMI and waist circumference	26.4 (1664)	52.7 (524)	< 0.001
Either high BMI or high waist circumference	23.5 (1480)	25.6 (254)	
Cognitive function mean (SD)	10.9 (3.6)	9.7 (3.8)	< 0.001
Number of depressive symptoms mean (SD)	1.3 (1.8)	1.8 (2.1)	< 0.001

Table 4.4 Cohort characteristics in ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes

[#] Not including diabetes.

* SD = standard deviation; IQR = interquartile range.

4.3.1 Description of medications and the association with diabetes

Before introducing the prevalence of and risk factors for polypharmacy, this subsection summarises the information on medications and comorbidities in ELSA 2012. The maximum number of concurrent medications was 24 in one participant, but this dropped to 19 when exclusively long-term medications were counted, as shown in Figure 4.2. The positive correlation between long-term medications and conditions was also confirmed, with a correlation coefficient of 0.74.



Figure 4.2 Number of drugs and long-term drugs, ELSA 2012

I further examined whether the numbers of long-term medications and conditions differed by diabetes status. People with diabetes showed significantly higher numbers of medications and conditions than those without diabetes, as shown in Table 4.5. Figures Figure 4.3 and Figure 4.4 also show that people with diabetes had consistently higher proportions of four or more concurrent medications and three or more illnesses, compared with those without diabetes.

	No diabetes (N = 6629)	Diabetes (N = 1100)	Р
Number of drugs, median (IQR)	2 (4)	5 (4)	< 0.001
Number of conditions, median (IQR)	2 (2)	3 (3)	< 0.001

Table 4.5 Number of long-term medications and conditions in ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes

Figure 4.3 Number of long-term medications in ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes





Figure 4.4 Number of long-term conditions in ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes

The prevalence of long-term medication categories is summarised in Table 4.6; the prevalence of the remaining medications – which presumably were not in longterm use – is displayed in Appendix C-1, except for three medication groups that had fewer than 10 cases (i.e. orlistat for obesity; drugs for febrile convulsion; and pancrelipase, a kind of enzyme). Older people with diabetes showed significantly higher prevalence rates of both long-term and temporary use of most of the medications than those without diabetes. For example, people with and without diabetes showed a great disparity in medicines for CVD (80.8% versus 42.3%), hyperlipidaemia (70.9% versus 28.2%), and peptic ulcers and gastroesophageal reflux disease (31.9% versus 19.6%).

	No diabetes	Diabetes	Total
Medication category	(N = 6629)	(N = 1100)	(N = 7729)
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Diabetes	_	681 (62.0)	682 (8.8)
Diabetic neuropathy	6 (0.1)	11 (1.0)*	17 (0.2)
CVD	2801 (42.3)	$889~(80.8)^{*}$	3690 (47.7)
Hyperlipidaemia	1872 (28.2)	779 (70.9) [*]	2651 (34.3)
Hyperuricemia (including gout)	143 (2.2)	50 (4.6) [*]	193 (2.5)
Lung disease (including inhalers)	826 (12.5)	175 (15.9) [*]	1001 (13.0)
Bone disease	242 (3.7)	52 (4.7)	294 (3.8)
Psychiatric conditions	724 (10.9)	187 (17.0) [*]	911 (11.8)
Epilepsy (seizure)	151 (2.3)	30 (2.7)	181 (2.3)
Parkinson's disease	60 (0.9)	8 (0.7)	68 (0.9)
Dementia (including Alzheimer's disease)	15 (0.2)	4 (0.4)	19 (0.3)
Inflammatory bowel disease	41 (0.6)	6 (0.6)	47 (0.6)
Autoimmune disease (rheumatic disease,	133 (2.0)	25 (2 3)	158 (2.0)
myasthenia gravis)	155 (2.0)	20 (2.3)	100 (2.0)
Cancer	85 (1.3)	23 (2.1) [*]	108 (1.4)
Hormone therapy	680 (10.3)	134 (12.2)	814 (10.5)
Treatment for substance dependence	17 (0 3)	0	17 (0 2)
(including alcohol, opioid, and smoking)	17 (0.0)	0	17 (0.2)
Sedative (hypnotic)	111 (1.7)	23 (2.1)	134 (1.7)
Tremor	14 (0.2)	6 (0.6)*	20 (0.3)
Symptom relief for pain, inflammation and	433 (6 5)	60 (5 5)	493 (6 4)
rheumatic disease	400 (0.0)	00 (0.0)	433 (0.4)
Pain relief			
Opioid derivatives	287 (4.3)	93 (8.5) [*]	380 (4.9)
Trigeminal neuralgia	31 (0.5)	4 (0.4)	35 (0.5)
Migraine (including headache)	81 (1.2)	9 (0.8)	90 (1.2)
Peptic ulcers and gastroesophageal reflux	1298 (19 6)	351 (31 9)*	1649 (21.3)
disease	1200 (10.0)	001 (01.0)	1010 (21.0)
Supplements for people with bone disease	274 (4.1)	53 (4.8)	327 (4.2)
Others [†]	642 (9.7)	171 (15.6) [*]	813 (10.5)

Table 4.6 Prevalence of long-term medications in ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes

* Significantly higher proportions in people with diabetes.

⁺Others included drugs for attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, Tourette's syndrome, benign prostatic hyperplasia, urinary incontinence, urine alkalinisation, ureteric colic, thyrotoxicosis, nocturnal cramps, dry mouth, and sputum viscosity.

4.3.2 Prevalence of polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy

Among 7729 participants, 2093 (31.1%) did not take any drugs, 3752 (46.5%) took one to four long-term medications a day, 1656 (19.6%) took five to nine medications (polypharmacy), and 228 (2.8%) took 10 or more medications (heightened polypharmacy). As Figure 4.5 shows, significant differences in the prevalence rates emerged when the study samples were divided by diabetes status. Among people with diabetes, only 4.1% did not take long-term medications, while 35.4% of people without diabetes did not. People with diabetes tended to take more medications, with a higher prevalence of polypharmacy (50.2% versus 14.8%) and heightened polypharmacy (10.2% versus 1.7%) than those without diabetes (P < 0.001). The gap in the significant even prevalence between the two groups remained when antihyperglycemic drugs were excluded: for people with diabetes, the prevalence of polypharmacy dropped from 50.2% to 41.1%, and heightened polypharmacy dropped from 10.2% to 5.8% (Figure 4.5). Detailed information on sample sizes, prevalence rates, and 95% CIs for the four categories, both including and excluding antihyperglycemic agents, is additionally summarised in Appendix C-2.



Figure 4.5 Prevalence of polypharmacy in ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes

* Significantly different between people with and without diabetes (P < 0.001). Polypharmacy was defined as five to nine drugs; heightened polypharmacy was defined as 10+ drugs.

4.3.3 Risk factors for polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy

The associations between potential risk factors and polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy in people without diabetes are summarised in Table 4.7. Factors significantly associated with a higher risk of polypharmacy were older age (RRR = 1.04 per each year increase in age, 95% CI = 1.03, 1.05), living with a partner (RRR = 1.40, 95% CI = 1.12, 1.75), having a higher number of conditions (RRR = 2.43, 95% CI = 2.27, 2.60), being a current smoker (RRR = 1.76, 95% CI = 1.28, 2.42), obesity (high BMI and waist circumference) (RRR = 1.70, 95% CI = 1.37, 2.12), and reporting a higher number of depressive symptoms (RRR = 1.07, 95% CI = 1.02, 1.13). Females (RRR = 0.74, 95% CI = 0.61, 0.90), those in the richest wealth group (RRR = 0.64, 95% CI = 0.45, 0.90), and those with better cognitive function (RRR = 0.95, 95% CI =

0.93, 0.98) were less likely to show polypharmacy. Better cognitive function (RRR = 0.90, 95% CI = 0.83, 0.97) was related to a lower risk of heightened polypharmacy, whereas a larger number of long-term conditions (RRR = 3.81, 95% CI = 3.23, 4.49) and a higher number of depressive symptoms (RRR = 1.14, 95% CI = 1.01, 1.29) were associated with increased risk. Other factors assessed in the study were not significantly related to heightened polypharmacy.

Table 4.8 shows the risk factors for polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy among people with diabetes. After all other factors were accounted for, females were less likely to show polypharmacy (RRR = 0.51, 95% CI = 0.35, 0.73) and heightened polypharmacy (RRR = 0.51, 95% CI = 0.25, 1.01) than males. Having a larger number of long-term conditions (RRR = 1.86, 95% CI = 1.63, 2.13; RRR = 3.51, 95% CI = 2.77, 4.45) and being obese with high BMI and waist circumference (RRR = 1.68, 95% CI = 1.10, 2.57; RRR = 3.68, 95% CI = 1.31, 10.35) significantly increased the risk of polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy respectively. A higher number of depressive symptoms (RRR = 1.24, 95% CI = 1.06, 1.46) was related to heightened polypharmacy only.

	Polypharmacy			Heightened polypharmacy		
	(N = 806)			(N = 72)		
-	RRR^*	95% CI	Р	RRR^*	95% CI	Р
Age	1.04	1.03, 1.05	< 0.001	1.02	0.98, 1.05	0.358
Female gender	0.74	0.61, 0.90	0.002	0.66	0.38, 1.16	0.147
Non-white ethnicity	0.75	0.36, 1.60	0.46	2.41	0.59, 9.87	0.221
Total wealth						
2 nd	0.89	0.67, 1.18	0.413	1.24	0.60, 2.56	0.554
3 rd	0.78	0.58, 1.05	0.099	0.87	0.40, 1.91	0.727
4 th	0.98	0.72, 1.33	0.874	1.12	0.46, 2.68	0.806
5 th quintile (richest)	0.64	0.45, 0.90	0.01	0.84	0.32, 2.21	0.724
No educational qualifications	1.09	0.87, 1.36	0.455	1.00	0.55, 1.81	0.996
Manual social class	0.99	0.81, 1.22	0.95	0.88	0.50, 1.56	0.665
Living with a partner	1.40	1.12, 1.75	0.003	1.02	0.58, 1.82	0.934
Number of conditions#	2.43	2.27, 2.60	< 0.001	3.81	3.23, 4.49	< 0.001
Current smoker	1.76	1.28, 2.42	0.001	1.89	0.82, 4.36	0.137
Alcohol consumption: daily (5–7 days per week)	1.14	0.91, 1.42	0.265	0.85	0.43, 1.69	0.642
High BMI and waist circumference	1.70	1.37, 2.12	< 0.001	1.14	0.61, 2.13	0.679
Either high BMI or high waist circumference	1.16	0.92, 1.46	0.201	1.08	0.58, 2.02	0.81
Cognitive function	0.95	0.93, 0.98	0.003	0.90	0.83, 0.97	0.008
Number of depressive symptoms	1.07	1.02, 1.13	0.006	1.14	1.01, 1.29	0.028

Table 4.7 Risk factors for polypharmacy in people without diabetes (N = 5372), ELSA 2012

* Unweighted RRR.

[#] Not including diabetes.

[§] Normal BMI and waist circumference as the reference group.

	Polypharmacy			Heightened polypharmacy			
	(N = 397)			(N = 66)			
	RR R [*]	95% CI	Р	RRR*	95% CI	Р	
Age	1.00	0.98, 1.03	0.707	0.98	0.94, 1.02	0.363	
Female gender	0.51	0.35, 0.73	< 0.001	0.51	0.25, 1.01	0.052 [†]	
Non-white ethnicity	1.02	0.47, 2.22	0.963	1.12	0.26, 4.94	0.877	
Total wealth							
2 nd	0.95	0.57, 1.57	0.831	1.49	0.59, 3.80	0.399	
3 rd	0.74	0.44, 1.24	0.256	1.95	0.75, 5.06	0.171	
4 th	1.21	0.68, 2.16	0.521	1.11	0.31, 4.00	0.868	
5 th quintile (richest)	0.56	0.30, 1.04	0.068	1.21	0.35, 4.21	0.769	
No educational	1.08	0.71. 1.64	0.723	1.04	0.48. 2.22	0.928	
qualifications	1.00	0.7 1, 1.0 1	0.120	1.01	0.10, 2.22	0.020	
Manual social class	1.38	0.95, 2.02	0.091	1.57	0.77, 3.20	0.211	
Living with a partner	0.96	0.65, 1.41	0.83	0.98	0.48, 2.01	0.966	
Number of conditions#	1.86	1.63, 2.13	< 0.001	3.51	2.77, 4.45	< 0.001	
Current smoker	1.30	0.74, 2.29	0.359	1.26	0.45, 3.54	0.662	
Alcohol consumption:	0.96	0.59. 1.54	0.852	0.53	0.18. 1.55	0.245	
daily (5-7 days per week)							
Obesity§							
High BMI and waist	1.68	1.10, 2.57	0.016	3.68	1.31, 10.35	0.013	
circumference		,			-,		
Either high BMI or high	1.14	0.71. 1.83	0.574	1.96	0.62. 6.19	0.253	
waist circumference		- ,			,		
Cognitive function	1.00	0.95, 1.06	0.975	0.97	0.88, 1.07	0.523	
Number of depressive	1.08	0.97, 1.20	0.159	1.24	1.06, 1.46	0.009	
symptoms		, _ 0			·····		

Table 4.8 Risk factors for polypharmacy in people with diabetes (N = 783), ELSA2012

* Unweighted RRR.

[#] Not including diabetes.

[†]Borderline significant.

[§] Normal BMI and waist circumference as the reference group.

Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis using specific conditions – CVD, hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, and psychiatric conditions – and an illness count of the remaining conditions was carried out. The remaining conditions included 10 diagnoses: lung disease and asthma, arthritis, bone disease, cancer and malignant blood disorder, Parkinson's disease, dementia (including Alzheimer's disease), any one of four eye diseases, hyperuricemia, epilepsy, and inflammatory bowel disease. A larger number of CVDs and remaining conditions and the presence of hypertension, hyperlipidaemia, and psychiatric conditions were associated with an increased likelihood of developing polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy. Similar estimates for other factors can be observed in Appendices Appendix C-3 and Appendix C-4, demonstrating the robustness of the results. The contribution of different factors to the final results was also examined. The number of long-term conditions was the main contributor to the lack of association between socio-demographic characteristics and polypharmacy, as well as to the attenuation of associations between health factors and polypharmacy. Age effects disappeared when long-term conditions and health factors were adjusted for simultaneously. In addition, diabetes status interacted with age (p = 0.001 for polypharmacy, p = 0.036 for heightened polypharmacy) and the number of long-term conditions (p < 0.001 for polypharmacy, p = 0.546 for heightened polypharmacy), justifying the stratification by diabetes in this study. It was found that the interaction between diabetes and age groups (50-59, 60-69, 70-79, 80+) was significant for polypharmacy only (p < 0.01). For people without diabetes, the risk of polypharmacy increased with age, while the risk in people with diabetes was similar across age groups. Lastly, the number of antihyperglycemic medications in each age group was further examined, and people aged 80 and older were found to be taking fewer antihyperglycemic drugs compared with younger age groups.

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Summary

A higher prevalence of polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy was observed among people with diabetes compared with those without diabetes. Risk factors for polypharmacy also differed to some extent according to diabetes status. Among people with diabetes, 50.2% and 10.2% showed polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy respectively, in contrast to 14.8% and 1.7% in people without diabetes. When antihyperglycemic drugs were excluded, people with diabetes still showed a substantially higher prevalence of polypharmacy (41.1%) and heightened polypharmacy (5.8%) than non-diabetic participants. These results indicate that the elevated rate of polypharmacy among people with diabetes is not merely due to prescriptions for antihyperglycemic medications, and they imply that people with diabetes aged 50 and older tend to have more comorbidities that need pharmacological treatment.

A greater number of long-term conditions was a risk factor for polypharmacy regardless of diabetes status, while other factors were differentially related to polypharmacy in people with and without diabetes. Male gender and obesity were related to polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy among participants with diabetes, while these relationships were less consistent in those without diabetes. By contrast, a higher number of depressive symptoms and worse cognitive function were consistently associated with polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy in participants without diabetes, but not in those with diabetes. On the other hand, several factors were related to polypharmacy (but not heightened polypharmacy) in people without diabetes, including socio-demographic factors (age, gender, the richest quintile of wealth, and cohabitation) and health factors (smoking status and obesity).

The impact of long-term conditions on polypharmacy is well known; however, this was the first study to demonstrate that the association with the number of long-term conditions was similar in people with and without diabetes. The addition of a single long-term condition doubled the risk of polypharmacy and increased the risk of heightened polypharmacy by more than three times. Furthermore, age was not a risk factor for either polypharmacy or heightened polypharmacy among people with diabetes, in contrast with much of the literature (Veehof et al. 2000; Yong et al. 2012; Papazafiropoulou et al. 2014; Lim et al. 2017; Slater et al. 2018; Vicinanza et al. 2018). This suggests that for people with diabetes, health status – long-term conditions and health factors – plays a more prominent role than socio-demographics such as age. Therefore, the findings of this study provide evidence about the characteristics related to a higher risk of polypharmacy among older adults with diabetes.

4.4.2 Comparison with existing literature

Prevalence of polypharmacy

As noted earlier, the prevalence of polypharmacy in the literature varies substantially according to different definitions and study characteristics. In this nationally representative sample, 19.6% of participants had polypharmacy, a prevalence similar to that found in two previous UK-based studies (Rawle et al. 2018; Slater et al. 2018). However, heightened polypharmacy (2.8%) in this study was slightly lower than was

found in those previous studies, where it was 6.4% (Slater et al. 2018) and 4.7% (Rawle et al. 2018). Slater et al. did not limit the definition to long-term or regularly used medications, while Rawle et al. used nine or more medications as the definition of extreme polypharmacy. These differences may account for the differences in the results.

Among participants with diabetes, 50.2% showed polypharmacy, which was similar to the 57.1% reported in the Italian diabetic population aged 65 and older (Noale et al. 2016). The present study was the first to show the gap in prevalence rates between people with and without diabetes, indicating the clinical importance of diabetes in terms of the coexistence of comorbidities and concurrent use of multiple medications.

Risk factors

Diabetes and its complications are well-established risk factors for polypharmacy (Veehof et al. 2000; Kim et al. 2014; Dwyer et al. 2016; Noale et al. 2016; Abolhassani et al. 2017; Lim et al. 2017; Vicinanza et al. 2018); however, this was the first study to evaluate the risk factors for polypharmacy among older people with diabetes separately from those without diabetes. Direct comparisons with previous studies are difficult to make. Slater et al. (Slater et al. 2018) also analysed polypharmacy in ELSA, and identified different risk factors. This may be a result of the different definitions used for long-term conditions and polypharmacy. Slater et al. employed a dichotomous self-reported long-term health condition variable, whereas this study employed a continuous variable indicating the number of long-term conditions, which were self-reported and verified by medication profiles. Also, only long-term medications were

included in the present study's definition of polypharmacy, while Slater and colleagues did not place any restrictions on types of medication.

Despite variations in definitions, there is a consensus that a larger number of long-term conditions increases the risk of the development of polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy (Yong et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2014; Silveira, Dalastra, and Pagotto 2014; Noale et al. 2016; Lim et al. 2017; Komiya et al. 2018; Ong et al. 2018; Rawle et al. 2018; Tefera, Alemayehu, and Mekonnen 2020). However, other factors vary across diabetes-focused studies. For example, an Italian cross-sectional study of adults aged 65 and older (Noale et al. 2016) reported that females had a 56% increase in the risk of polypharmacy, whereas this study found that women had lower rates of polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy than men. The same Italian study (Noale et al. 2016) also reported better cognitive performance as a risk factor for polypharmacy, but no relation was found in the diabetic group in this study. Although diabetes is believed to contribute to cognitive impairment (Saedi et al. 2016; Zilliox et al. 2016), the association between cognitive function and polypharmacy remains questionable and may be bidirectional. On the other hand, the estimate of obesity in this study was partially in line with the Italian study (Noale et al. 2016), where BMI 30 or more was a risk factor. Older adults with high values of BMI and waist circumference combined tended to have polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy, but this association did not exist for those who had only a high BMI or a high waist circumference.

These findings partially support the concept that ageing is related to the development of polypharmacy (Veehof et al. 2000; Yong et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2014; Papazafiropoulou et al. 2014; Abolhassani et al. 2017; Lim et al. 2017; Slater et al. 2018; Vicinanza et al. 2018; Tefera, Alemayehu, and Mekonnen 2020), but the

association seemed stronger among individuals without diabetes. Some characteristics of diabetes, such as diabetic complications and treatment guidelines, may contribute to polypharmacy at an early age. Also, fewer antihyperglycemic drugs were observed in the oldest age group (80 and older). These factors may account for the disappearing association with age among older adults with diabetes.

People without diabetes who had more depressive symptoms and worse cognitive function showed a higher risk of polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy. Both depression and cognitive impairment are thought to be related to diabetes (Li et al. 2016; Olvera et al. 2016; Saedi et al. 2016; Zilliox et al. 2016), so their association with polypharmacy in people with diabetes may not have appeared in this cross-sectional study.

4.4.3 Strengths and limitations

This study had several strengths. First, the self-reported diagnoses were verified by medication profiles collected by nurses. The verification and collection process helped to reduce misreporting bias. Second, the inclusion of undiagnosed cases decreased misclassification bias. Third, a rigorous definition of polypharmacy was employed that referred to drugs in long-term use, rather than to those in temporary use such as painkillers. Fourth, OTC drugs for long-term conditions were included, since some interactions between OTC and prescribed medications can be life-threatening, such as ACEIs in combination with potassium supplements. Lastly, this study contained comprehensive assessments of multiple factors related to socio-demographic characteristics and health status. ELSA provided the opportunity to investigate associations between these factors and polypharmacy, since previous hospital-based studies have typically not included much information on socio-demographics.

Some limitations of this study should also be acknowledged. Information on drug duration, dose, and frequency was not collected during the nurse visits, so no definite cut-off could be used to define long-term medications, nor could appropriate or problematic polypharmacy be assessed. Despite this limitation, the strong association between diabetes and polypharmacy disclosed in this study can be justified by the burden of comorbidities in people with diabetes regardless of polypharmacy status (Appendix C-5). Also, some combination drugs shared the same code with a single drug that was indistinguishable, so the prevalence of polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy in both the diabetes and non-diabetes groups might have weakened the statistical power to assess multiple risk factors. Finally, this was a cross-sectional study, so causal conclusions could not be drawn, and there may have been underlying unmeasured factors that were responsible for the associations observed.

4.5 Conclusion

Adults with diabetes had a significantly higher prevalence of polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy than those without diabetes, regardless of whether antihyperglycemic drugs were included. The risk factors for polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy in the two groups also differed. People with diabetes who were men and obese were more likely to show polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy. Greater attention to polypharmacy among older people with diabetes would benefit clinical practice, help to detect inappropriate polypharmacy, and potentially help to reduce polypharmacy-associated adverse effects.

Chapter 5. Polypharmacy and mortality

Abstract

Background

Although medicines are prescribed based on clinical guidelines and expected to benefit patients, both positive and negative health outcomes have been reported associated with polypharmacy. Mortality is the main outcome, and information on cause-specific mortality is scarce. Hence, we investigated the association between different levels of polypharmacy and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among older adults.

Methods

The ELSA is a nationally representative study of people aged 50+. From 2012/2013, 6295 individuals were followed up to April 2018 for all-cause and cause-specific mortality. Polypharmacy was defined as taking 5–9 long-term medications daily and heightened polypharmacy as 10+ medications. Cox proportional hazards regression and competing-risks regression were used to examine associations between polypharmacy and all-cause and cause-specific mortality, respectively.

Results

Over a 6-year follow-up period, both polypharmacy (19.3%) and heightened polypharmacy (2.4%) were related to all-cause mortality, with hazard ratios of 1.51 (95% CI 1.05–2.16) and 2.29 (95% CI 1.40–3.75) respectively, compared with no medications, independently of demographic factors, serious illnesses and long-term conditions, cognitive function and depression. Polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy also showed 2.45 (95% CI 1.13–5.29) and 3.67 (95% CI 1.43–9.46)

times higher risk of CVD deaths, respectively. Cancer mortality was only related to heightened polypharmacy.

Conclusion

Structured medication reviews are currently advised for heightened polypharmacy, but our results suggest that greater attention to polypharmacy in general for older people may reduce adverse effects and improve older adults' health.

This work was published in the *Journals of Gerontology, Series A: Biological Sciences* and Medical Sciences (Huang et al. 2021a).

5.1 Background

Medicines are prescribed based on clinical guidelines, and they are expected to benefit patients; however, negative health outcomes have been found to be associated with polypharmacy (Fried et al. 2014; Yashkin et al. 2018). Several adverse health outcomes – falls, adverse drug events, functional decline, cognitive impairment, hospitalisation, and mortality – have been studied widely in community-dwelling older adults (Fried et al. 2014). The different definitions of polypharmacy adopted in different studies make it difficult to draw comparisons, and this has led to a debate about the effects of polypharmacy among older people. In order to understand the existing evidence, a literature search was carried out through the MEDLINE database and Google Scholar using the search terms 'polypharmacy', 'mortality', and 'aged'. The search term 'medication or drug combination' was additionally employed specifically for articles about medication use and mortality. Studies on the association between polypharmacy and mortality in older people were included for the work discussed in

this chapter, and articles on the relationship between medication use and mortality were selected for subsequent analysis in the work discussed in chapter 6. The literature review process is summarised in Figure 5.1.

The literature on polypharmacy and mortality focuses on all-cause mortality, and information on cause-specific mortality is scarce. Most previous findings from population-based observational studies have shown a positive correlation between polypharmacy and all-cause mortality, independently of pre-existing health conditions (Espino et al. 2006; Richardson et al. 2011; Bowling et al. 2013; Shah et al. 2013; Gómez et al. 2015; Martinez-Gomez et al. 2018; Romano-Lieber et al. 2019). All of these studies took account of specific long-term conditions (e.g. CVDs and diabetes), with an additional adjustment for the total number of long-term conditions in a Brazilian study (Romano-Lieber et al. 2019). Nevertheless, there have been a few studies that do not agree with the association between polypharmacy and all-cause mortality (Lu et al. 2015; Schottker et al. 2017; Yashkin et al. 2018). Many studies that have employed small or specific samples, such as older patients with acute venous thromboembolism or on acute geriatric wards (Alarcon et al. 1999; Jaspers Focks et al. 2016; Schlesinger et al. 2016; Faller et al. 2017; Nightingale, Skonecki, and Boparai 2017; Pelavski et al. 2017), have also supported the role of polypharmacy as an independent predictor of all-cause mortality. In addition, two studies employed comorbidity-polypharmacy scores - the sum of the number of medicines and all known comorbidities - to investigate the relationship with death rates (Evans et al. 2012; Justiniano et al. 2015). However, this new score seemed not to perform well, probably because it did not add more information to the original assessment of polypharmacy and comorbidities.

Figure 5.1 Flow chart of literature review process for polypharmacy/medications and mortality



[†] Criteria were irrelevance to polypharmacy, very small sample size, case study/report, and pharmaceutical publications about specific medications.

⁺⁺ Criteria were accessibility of full text in English and exploration of the association between polypharmacy/medications and mortality.

An American study (Yashkin et al. 2018) found that the use of intensive drug therapy delayed death, but not severe macrovascular outcomes, in people aged 65 and older who had been diagnosed with type 2 diabetes and hypertension. Intensive drug therapy was defined as taking five or more distinct medication categories from antihyperglycemic and antihypertensive medicines. Although in line with the cut-off for polypharmacy, this definition was limited to particular drugs, thus making comparisons very difficult. A German study (Schottker et al. 2017) found that the association between polypharmacy and non-cancer mortality disappeared after additional adjustment for a propensity score for polypharmacy. The propensity score assigned each participant a value for their individual propensity to treatment with polypharmacy. The score was computed from an equation containing 39 variables, including sociodemographics, lifestyles, biomarkers, diseases, and disease severity; the coefficients came from a logistic regression model in which polypharmacy was the dependent variable and the 39 variables were independent variables. Although this research involved comprehensive confounders that may have influenced death rates, the rationale of the propensity scores was questionable, and over-adjustment may have been a concern. For example, age was calculated in the propensity scores and also adjusted for in the survival model.

Lastly, a meta-analysis (Leelakanok et al. 2017) showed that polypharmacy was associated with a higher risk of all-cause mortality, regardless of cut-off values for polypharmacy. Among the studies in this meta-analysis, many had short follow-ups; those with follow-ups of five years or more were based on selective non-representative populations (Leelakanok et al. 2017), making it difficult to generalise the results. To date, there have been no observational studies with representative samples exploring whether polypharmacy is associated with cause-specific mortality. Therefore, mixed findings have been reported regarding the effect of polypharmacy on all-cause mortality, and little is known about whether polypharmacy is related to specific causes of death.

In clinical practice, there are different policies on medication interventions to tackle polypharmacy issues in different areas. NICE recommends that a structured medication review should be carried out for people with polypharmacy, but it does not specify the definition of polypharmacy (NICE 2020). Current interventions in medication use published by NHS England target people with heightened polypharmacy rather than those with polypharmacy, or else target patients with high numbers of addictive pain management medications (NHS England and NHS Improvement 2019). Compared with these two approaches, the Scottish government has set up extensive polypharmacy guidance that targets people on high-risk medications (defined by 17 case-finding indicators), regardless of the number of drugs taken (Scottish Government Polypharmacy Model of Care Group 2018). Because of these disparities in the guidelines on polypharmacy management, as well as the insufficient evidence of a link between polypharmacy and mortality, the aim of this study was to investigate the association between different levels of polypharmacy and all-cause and cause-specific mortality in a nationally representative sample of community-dwelling older adults in England. It was hypothesised that a gradient relationship existed between different levels of polypharmacy and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among older adults, independently of health status. The role of diabetes in this relationship was also explored.

This study improved on previous work on polypharmacy and mortality in several ways: first, by using medication data collected by health professionals; second, by

141

adopting a rigorous definition of polypharmacy; third, by studying the issue in a nationally representative sample for which a wide range of health and sociodemographic characteristics (e.g. wealth and cohabitation) were available as well as objective measurements of obesity and cognition; lastly, by adopting an appropriate statistical technique (competing-risks regression) to study cause-specific mortality.

5.2 Methodology

5.2.1 Study population

The data came from ELSA Wave 6 (2012–13), during which a total of 9169 interviews with core members had been conducted. Of these, 7730 participants had been visited by a study nurse who recorded information on all medications. Participants who had been diagnosed with cancer or malignant blood disorders (N = 480), who had died within one year of follow-up (N = 82), and who lacked complete information on all variables (N = 905) were excluded, resulting in an analytical sample of 6295 participants.

The nature of cancer justified the exclusion of cancer patients in terms of survival rates and relevant treatments. People with cancer are likely to have a shorter life expectancy unless the cancer is regarded as cured (in complete remission for five years or more). Moreover, most chemotherapy is intravenous and often done in hospitals so that the medication information cannot be collected during home visits. Chemotherapy generally takes three to six months to complete and may have concerning drug-drug interactions with other medications. In this case, the exclusion of cancer patients would ensure the rationale of this study and avoid the overestimation of the risk of medication patterns on mortality.

5.2.2 Polypharmacy

Polypharmacy was defined as taking five to nine long-term medications daily; taking 10 or more medications was defined as heightened polypharmacy. Long-term medications were either drugs for long-term conditions, such as cardiovascular and antihyperglycemic agents, or drugs for long-term symptoms, such as sedatives for insomnia and opioid derivatives for pain relief. OTC drugs used for long-term conditions were also included in this study – for example, calcium supplements for bone disease. Each distinct pharmacological agent was treated as an individual drug, so distinguishable combination drugs were counted according to the number of active ingredients.

5.2.3 Mortality data

Study participants were linked to the NHS's Central Register, which provides vital status data. The month and year of death were recorded for each deceased participant up to the end of follow-up (April 2018). Data regarding causes of death was provided for broad classifications of disease according to the International Classification of Diseases. These classifications included cancer (codes C00–C97), CVD (codes I00–I99), diseases of the respiratory system (codes J00–J99), and other remaining causes. For participants with no record of an event, the data was censored at the end of May 2018.

5.2.4 Potential confounders

Socio-demographic characteristics

A continuous variable for age was employed. Binary variables were employed for gender (male and female) and cohabiting status (living or not with a partner). Wealth was used as the measure of economic resources, since it is more consistently associated with health outcomes at older ages than income (Demakakos, Marmot, and Steptoe 2012). Wealth was computed from detailed assessments of housing wealth, savings, investments, and possessions net of debt (Taylor et al. 2007; Crawford 2012), and was categorised into quintiles.

Health factors

This study included factors that had been reported in the literature or shown to be significantly related to the outcome in the univariable analysis. Long-term conditions in ELSA Wave 6 were derived from either self-reported diagnoses or specific treatments. The self-reported diagnoses were also verified by medication information where possible. Six long-term conditions – diabetes mellitus, CHD, stroke, lung disease (including asthma), Parkinson's disease, and dementia (including Alzheimer's disease) – were included as individual covariates. The remaining long-term conditions – hypertension, other heart problems, hyperlipidaemia, arthritis, bone disease, psychiatric conditions, eye disease, gout/hyperuricemia, epilepsy, and inflammatory bowel disease – were included in the models as an illness count for adjustment. Functional impairment was defined as self-reported difficulty in either activities of daily living (ADLs) or instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs) (Appendix D-1) (Institute for Fiscal Studies 2014; Torres et al. 2016). Mobility difficulty was defined as having
difficulty in 10 movements of the arms or lower limbs, such as walking 100 yards or picking up a five pence coin from a table (Appendix D-1) (Institute for Fiscal Studies 2014). Obesity was derived from BMI and waist circumference, and was categorised into 'normal BMI and waist circumference', 'high BMI and waist circumference', and 'either high BMI or high waist circumference'. The cut-off value for BMI was 30, and the cut-offs for waist circumference were 102 cm in males and 88 cm in females. Smoking status (i.e. whether a current smoker or not) was also investigated. Sleep duration was categorised as a binary: seven to nine hours sleep, versus less than seven hours or over nine hours (Chaput, Dutil, and Sampasa-Kanyinga 2018; Martinez-Gomez et al. 2018). Low physical activity was defined by self-report as not engaging in vigorous/moderate-intensity activities at least once a week (Demakakos et al. 2010; Institute for Fiscal Studies 2014). Cognitive function was assessed by immediate and delayed recall memory tests, and scores ranged from zero to 20 (Huang, Steptoe, and Zaninotto 2021). People who self-reported scores for four or more items from the eight-item version of the CES-D were classified as having significant depressive symptoms (Zivin et al. 2010).

5.2.5 Statistical analysis

The association between polypharmacy and all-cause mortality was assessed by Cox proportional hazards regression (Collett 2015). Cox proportional hazards regression is an approach to determine which combination of potentially explanatory variables affects the form of the hazard function when account is taken of the explanatory variables that are likely to influence survival time. In particular, the effect that the main exposure (i.e. polypharmacy status) had on the hazard of death could be studied (Collett 2015). Hazard ratios (HRs) with corresponding 95% CIs and cumulative

hazard functions were provided. The HR represented the ratio of the hazard of death at any time for an individual taking different numbers of medications (one to four, five to nine, and 10 or more) relative to an individual taking no medications. The cumulative hazard function is the cumulative risk of an event occurring by time t, or is interpreted as the expected number of events that will occur in the interval from the time origin to t (Collett 2015). First, I estimated the age- and sex-adjusted model, and then I assessed the contribution of each set of factors separately. Lastly, the fully adjusted model was presented. The Cox regression parallel assumption was tested before the data analysis, and it held. A linear trend of polypharmacy on the HRs was tested by the likelihood ratio test, which compared the value of -2 log L[^] for the model that contained polypharmacy treated as a categorical variable with the same value for the model that contained polypharmacy treated as a continuous variable (Collett 2015). The test suggested that the HRs increased linearly across the levels of polypharmacy. Possible interaction terms were tested using likelihood ratio tests.

Competing-risks regression based on Fine and Gray's proportional subhazards model (Fine and Gray 1999) was used to analyse cause-specific mortality, and subdistribution hazard ratios (SHRs) with corresponding 95% CIs and cumulative incidence functions (CIFs) were reported. This method is a useful alternative to the Cox regression in the presence of one or more competing risks, as it takes account of competing events that prevent the event of interest from occurring. For example, participants who die from CVD cannot die from other diseases. Thus, this method allows researchers not to overestimate the risk of the main exposure (Feakins et al. 2018). The SHR refers to the direct effect of each variable on the incidence of different causes of death, in the presence of competing risks of death (Collett 2015). The SHR only provides information on the ordering of CIF curves at different levels of covariates,

146

and it is not equivalent to HR in the conventional framework (Zhang 2017). The CIF, also refers to as the subdistribution function, is the probability of surviving until t where death is from a specific cause, in the presence of all other risks (Collett 2015). The proportionality of hazards and subhazards was tested by using Schoenfeld residuals (Hess 1995; Zhang 2017), and no violation of assumptions was observed. Multiple imputations were not employed due to the fact that Stata has limited multiple imputation functions incorporating competing risk analysis. Statistical analyses were conducted using Stata (version 15.1; StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

Sensitivity analysis

Several sensitivity analyses were performed to test the robustness of the main findings. The first sensitivity analysis (SA1) involved adding specific known problematic drug-disease interactions (Table 5.1) (Lindblad et al. 2006; Wooten 2012) in the main model. The second sensitivity analysis (SA2) included alcohol consumption as a covariate. The sample size for this model was smaller (N = 5805) compared with the primary model (N = 6295) due to the variable alcohol being collected in the self-completion questionnaire. The third sensitivity analysis (SA3) additionally adjusted for an indicator of inconsistency between medication use and self-reported conditions in the main model, as some participants took cardiovascular or lipid-lowering medications but did not report relevant diagnoses. Since health status and death are strongly correlated, analyses with different adjustments of health status were carried out. Multimorbidity, defined as the coexistence of two or more long-term conditions, was used instead of long-term conditions (specific conditions were adjusted

for individually rather than using an illness count in the fifth sensitivity analysis (SA5). Lastly, the sixth sensitivity analysis (SA6) repeated the primary analyses, using one to four medications as the reference instead of no medications.

Table 5.1 List of drug-disease interactions, ELSA 2012

	Drug	Disease
1	Corticosteroids	Diabetes
2	Corticosteroids	Osteoporosis
3	Antipsychotics	Parkinson's disease
4	NSAIDs	Hypertension
5	Anticholinergics/TCAs/BZDs	Dementia

5.3 Results

Of 6295 participants, 1844 (29.3%) did not take long-term medications, 3088 (49.1%) took one to four medications a day, 1214 (19.3%) took five to nine medications (polypharmacy), and 149 (2.4%) took 10 or more medications (heightened polypharmacy). The cohort characteristics are summarised in Table 5.2. People in the polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy categories tended to be older, be poorer, live without a partner, have more long-term conditions (particularly diabetes, CHD, stroke, lung disease, Parkinson's disease, and dementia (including Alzheimer's disease), along with a higher number of the remaining conditions), report functional impairment and mobility difficulty, be obese, smoke currently, sleep inadequately, report low physical activity, have worse cognitive performance, and have significant depressive symptoms. Taking a greater number of drugs was also related to more all-cause and cause-specific deaths (Table 5.3).

	None	1−4 drugs	5−9 drugs [*]	10+ drugs [*]
	(N = 1844)	(N = 3088)	(N = 1214)	(N = 149)
	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)
Age (years) mean (SD)	62.9 (7.9)	67.8 (8.8)	71.9 (8.7)	71.8 (8.5)
Women	52.9 (975)	57.7 (1783)	54.7 (664)	58.4 (87)
Total wealth				
1 (lowest)	15.1 (279)	18.1 (559)	28.2 (343)	33.6 (50)
2	16.1 (296)	20.2 (625)	23.2 (281)	21.5 (32)
3	19.9 (367)	20.4 (630)	19.4 (236)	22.1 (33)
4	23.3 (429)	20.2 (624)	18.2 (221)	12.1 (18)
5 (highest)	25.6 (473)	21.1 (650)	11.0 (133)	10.7 (16)
Living with a partner	75.2 (1387)	71.3 (2201)	63.3 (768)	56.4 (84)
Diabetes mellitus	1.7 (32)	9.8 (302)	33.2 (403)	49.0 (73)
CHD	0.6 (11)	5.1 (156)	26.8 (325)	48.3 (72)
Stroke	0.3 (6)	3.3 (102)	11.9 (144)	14.8 (22)
Lung disease (including asthma)	3.7 (69)	16.5 (510)	28.4 (345)	53.0 (79)
Parkinson's disease	0.0 (0)	0.8 (25)	1.7 (21)	1.3 (2)
Dementia (including Alzheimer's	0.2 (2)	0.5(16)	10(22)	27(4)
disease)	0.2 (3)	0.5 (10)	1.9 (23)	2.7 (4)
Number of conditions [#] median	10(10)	20(20)	20(20)	4.0 (2.0)
(IQR)	1.0 (1.0)	2.0 (2.0)	3.0 (2.0)	4.0 (2.0)
Functional impairment [§]	7.3 (135)	17.0 (524)	38.1 (463)	58.4 (87)
Mobility difficulty ^{§§}	30.6 (564)	50.9 (1571)	77.8 (944)	94.0 (140)
Obesity				
High BMI and waist	20 0 (269)	20 2 (072)	41.0 (500)	53 0 (70)
circumference	20.0 (308)	20.2 (072)	41.9 (309)	55.0 (79)
Either high BMI or high waist	19 9 (246)	26 1 (206)	26.2 (219)	24 9 (27)
circumference	10.0 (340)	20.1 (800)	20.2 (310)	24.0 (37)
Current smoker	11.9 (219)	8.7 (269)	12.3 (149)	18.1 (27)
Sleep duration < 7 or 9+ hours	36.2 (667)	39.4 (1215)	44.7 (543)	54.4 (81)
Low physical activity	8.8 (162)	17.3 (534)	35.8 (434)	63.1 (94)
Cognitive function mean (SD)	11.9 (3.2)	11.0 (3.4)	9.8 (3.5)	8.7 (3.7)
Depressive symptoms 4+	6.8 (126)	10.0 (309)	17.1 (207)	33.6 (50)

Table 5.2 Baseline characteristics[†] according to number of concurrent drugs, ELSA 2012

[†] All characteristics showed significantly different proportions among the four groups.

* Polypharmacy refers to taking five to nine drugs; heightened polypharmacy refers to taking 10 or more drugs.

[#] The other remaining conditions, not including diabetes mellitus, CHD, lung disease, Parkinson's disease, and dementia (including Alzheimer's disease).

[§] Defined as any difficulty in either ADLs or IADLs.

§§ Defined as any difficulty with movement of the arms or lower limbs.

	None	1−4 drugs	5–9 drugs	10+ drugs
	(N = 1844)	(N = 3088)	(N = 1214)	(N = 149)
	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)
All-cause mortality	3.1 (57)	6.6 (205)	16.1 (196)	27.5 (41)
Cause-specific mortality				
CVD	0.7 (13)	1.7 (51)	6.7 (81)	10.7 (16)
Cancer	1.4 (26)	2.4 (74)	4.0 (48)	8.1 (12)
Respiratory disease	0.4 (7)	0.8 (26)	2.4 (29)	5.4 (8)
Other cause	0.6 (11)	1.8 (54)	3.1 (38)	3.4 (5)

Table 5.3 Mortality[†] according to number of concurrent drugs, ELSA 2018

[†] Data was collected before May 2018.

Table 5.4 shows the results of the association between the number of concurrent drugs and all-cause mortality from the Cox proportional hazards regression. Concurrent use of one to four medications was not related to a higher risk of mortality, while polypharmacy (HR = 1.51, 95% CI = 1.05, 2.16) and heightened polypharmacy (HR = 2.29, 95% CI = 1.40, 3.75) showed a higher risk of all-cause mortality compared with not taking medications in the fully adjusted model. The linear trend further supported the dose-response relationship between polypharmacy and all-cause mortality. Statistical adjustment for long-term conditions led to the greatest attenuation of the hazards of polypharmacy (2.10 to 1.49) and heightened polypharmacy (4.22 to 2.51) for all-cause mortality, followed by adjustments for disability (functional impairment and mobility difficulty) and lifestyle factors (obesity, smoking status, sleep duration, and physical activity). The adjustment for diabetes revealed an effect similar to lifestyle factors, albeit slightly weaker. Other factors – wealth and cohabitation, cognitive function, and depressive symptoms – also attenuated the association with polypharmacy, but their impact was relatively small.

In addition to polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy, factors independently associated with a higher risk of all-cause mortality were older age, having diabetes, CHD, or lung disease, being a current smoker, and reporting low physical activity (Appendix D-2). By contrast, several factors were linked to a lower risk of death, including being female, living with a partner, being obese, and showing better cognitive function.

The role of diabetes in the association between polypharmacy status and allcause mortality was examined in two different ways, first as a confounder and second as an effect modifier. In the first instance, the diagnosis of diabetes was adjusted separately to observe its effect on the attenuation of the association between polypharmacy and death. The magnitude of the reduction in HRs for polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy was more than 10% compared with the basic model, indicating that diabetes acted as a confounder. To explore the possibility that diabetes was an effect modifier, interaction terms between diabetes and other covariates were tested, and no significant interactions were identified by likelihood ratio tests. The number of deaths was 499 people out of 6295 participants, which was not large, so there may not have been sufficient statistical power to detect diabetes as an effect modifier. As a result, diabetes was established to be a confounder in the association between polypharmacy and all-cause mortality rather than an effect modifier. The presence of diabetes was also related to a higher risk of all-cause mortality, conditional on the same polypharmacy status.

	None	1−4 drugs		le 1−4 drugs 5−9 drugs [*]		S [*]	10+ drugs [*]		
N = 6295 (499 deaths)	HR	HR [*] (95% Cls)	Р	HR [*] (95% CIs)	Р	HR [*] (95% Cls)	Р	Trend ^{††}	
Age and gender (basic model)	1.00 (Ref)	1.20 (0.89, 1.61)	0.228	2.10 (1.55, 2.84)	< 0.001	4.22 (2.82, 6.33)	< 0.001		
Basic model + wealth, cohabitation	1.00 (Ref)	1.17 (0.86, 1.57)	0.315	1.98 (1.46, 2.69)	< 0.001	3.93 (2.61, 5.91)	< 0.001		
Basic model + diabetes	1.00 (Ref)	1.17 (0.87, 1.57)	0.303	1.94 (1.42, 2.65)	< 0.001	3.79 (2.50, 5.74)	< 0.001		
Basic model + long-term conditions§	1.00 (Ref)	1.05 (0.77, 1.44)	0.753	1.49 (1.04, 2.13)	0.031	2.51 (1.54, 4.09)	< 0.001		
Basic model + disability#	1.00 (Ref)	1.14 (0.85, 1.54)	0.386	1.85 (1.36, 2.51)	< 0.001	3.50 (2.31, 5.30)	< 0.001		
Basic model + lifestyle factors [†]	1.00 (Ref)	1.20 (0.89, 1.62)	0.222	1.95 (1.43, 2.66)	< 0.001	3.58 (2.36, 5.45)	< 0.001		
Basic model + cognitive function	1.00 (Ref)	1.17 (0.87, 1.58)	0.289	2.02 (1.49, 2.73)	< 0.001	3.81 (2.54, 5.72)	< 0.001		
Basic model + depressive symptoms	1.00 (Ref)	1.18 (0.88, 1.59)	0.273	2.02 (1.49, 2.73)	< 0.001	3.97 (2.64, 5.96)	< 0.001		
All covariates (main model)	1.00 (Ref)	1.09 (0.80, 1.48)	0.603	1.51 (1.05, 2.16)	0.026	2.29 (1.40, 3.75)	0.001	Linear	

Table 5.4 Associations between number of concurrent drugs and all-cause mortality in England in 2012–18

* Polypharmacy refers to taking five to nine drugs; heightened polypharmacy refers to taking 10 or more drugs.

[§] Including six long-term conditions (diabetes, CHD, stroke, lung disease (including asthma), Parkinson's disease, and dementia (including Alzheimer's disease)) and an illness count of the remaining conditions.

[#] Including functional impairment and mobility difficulty.

[†] Including obesity and health behaviours (smoking status, sleep duration, and physical activity).

^{††} A likelihood ratio test was used to test the trend of HRs, and P > 0.05 indicated that the trend was linear.

The results for cause-specific mortality obtained from the competing-risks regression are presented in Figure 5.2. Polypharmacy was only related to a higher risk of CVD death (SHR = 2.45, 95% CI = 1.13, 5.29), while heightened polypharmacy was independently associated with CVD mortality (SHR = 3.67, 95% CI = 1.43, 9.46) and cancer mortality (SHR = 3.03, 95% CI = 1.29, 7.13). The 95% CIs of cause-specific mortality were much wider than all-cause mortality due to the smaller sample sizes. The cumulative hazard function of all-cause mortality and the CIF of CVD and cancer mortality are displayed in Figure 5.3. The cumulative hazard function from a Cox proportional hazards regression is the cumulative risk of an event occurring over a time interval, while the CIF from a competing-risks regression denotes estimations of the incidence of the occurrence of an event, taking competing risks into account.

Figure 5.2 Associations[#] between number of concurrent drugs and all-cause and cause-specific mortality in England in 2012–18



[#] Adjusted for age, gender, cohabitation, wealth, six long-term conditions (diabetes, CHD, stroke, lung disease, Parkinson's disease, and dementia), an illness count of the remaining conditions, functional impairment, mobility difficulty, obesity, smoking status, sleep duration, low physical activity, cognitive function, and depressive symptoms.

Figure 5.3 Cumulative hazard function of all-cause mortality and CIF of CVD and cancer mortality for different numbers of concurrent drugs in England in 2012–18



The results of the sensitivity analyses are summarised in Appendix D-3. SA1 took account of known drug-disease interactions (Table 5.1) but showed no important differences from the primary analysis. SA2, which included alcohol consumption, showed a similar dose-response relationship between polypharmacy (HR = 1.57 for polypharmacy, HR = 2.08 for heightened polypharmacy) and all-cause mortality to the primary results (HR = 1.51 for polypharmacy, HR = 2.29 for heightened polypharmacy), although it had a reduced sample size (N = 5805). The variable of alcohol consumption was not included in the primary analysis due to some of its limitations, which might have hampered the results of the study. First, the information on alcohol consumption had been collected by a self-completion questionnaire and had a large number of non-responses. Second, information on the number of days in which the respondent had an alcoholic drink over the previous 12 months was

collected, which is subject to recall bias. Lastly, the frequency of alcohol may not be the best measurement of alcohol consumption (as opposed to the number of units of alcohol). SA3 additionally adjusted for an indicator of inconsistency between medication use and self-reported conditions, because 10.2% of the participants were on particular medications without corresponding diagnoses. The estimates for polypharmacy (HR = 1.60) and heightened polypharmacy (HR = 2.47) were slightly higher than in the primary analysis but remained robust. Furthermore, the adjustment for multimorbidity (defined as two or more long-term conditions) (Geneva: WHO 2016) in SA4 led to an increase in the magnitude of the HRs for polypharmacy (HR = 1.86) and heightened polypharmacy (HR = 3.19) compared with those found in the main analysis (HR = 1.51 for polypharmacy, HR = 2.29 for heightened polypharmacy). However, there was a close relationship between polypharmacy and multimorbidity, where 96.9% and 98.7% of participants in the polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy groups had multimorbidity compared with 21.5% of people who had multimorbidity in the no-drug treatment group. The presence of multimorbidity appeared not to adjust for long-term conditions properly, so the estimates may have been unreliable. Moreover, SA5 modelled all long-term conditions individually instead of combining some conditions into an illness count, and it obtained similar results to the primary analysis. Finally, SA6 employed one to four medications as the reference group instead of no medications. The findings for all-cause and cause-specific mortality were similar to the primary results, confirming the robustness of this study (Appendix D-4).

156

5.4 Discussion

5.4.1 Summary

Over a six-year period, polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy showed a doseresponse relationship with all-cause and CVD mortality among older adults in England. In addition, cancer mortality was associated with heightened polypharmacy, even though people who had cancer at baseline were excluded. The presence of long-term conditions, as expected, played the most important role in the association between polypharmacy and all-cause mortality, but this association remained significant and robust even after pre-existing illnesses and demographic and other factors were taken into account.

The robustness of the main findings was largely confirmed by sensitivity analyses, indicating that polypharmacy was an independent risk factor for all-cause, CVD, and cancer mortality among community-dwelling older adults. The results also suggested that multimorbidity appeared to be an inappropriate assessment of the health condition of older adults and tended to overestimate the risk of death posed by polypharmacy, further suggesting that adjustment for specific long-term conditions and the sum of the remaining conditions would be more appropriate.

The underlying mechanism for the association between polypharmacy and mortality could be explained by long-term conditions and the regular use of medications. In the analysis, an adjustment for long-term illness was performed; however, disease severity could not be taken into account, due to the unavailability of this information in ELSA. Disease severity is rarely collected in observational studies, due to the difficulty of recording or measuring this information. Some studies have adopted the Charlson Comorbidity Index; however, this index only considers disease severity for particular conditions (liver disease, diabetes, and solid tumour) (Sundararajan et al. 2004). Clinically, patients at advanced stages of an illness are likely to take more medications than patients at the initial stage, since combination therapy can increase treatment efficacy. The adjustment of dichotomous long-term conditions only reflects that all patients at different stages are exposed to the condition, but it fails to consider that different stages entail a different severity of the condition. Therefore, the number of medications may to some extent reflect the severity of the disease, resulting in the inference that polypharmacy performs as a predictor of death in older populations.

The association between polypharmacy and death might also be attributed to medications and their potential interactions. Older people may have higher chances of developing problematic polypharmacy because of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic alterations (Delafuente 2008). For example, in older adults some medications become high-risk, and some drug-drug interactions become severe. Although it can be assumed that major drug-drug interactions are avoided by GPs and pharmacists in clinical settings, minor drug-drug interactions may arise or worsen in this population.

5.4.2 Comparison with existing literature

The association between polypharmacy and all-cause mortality observed in this study is supported by previous studies that used survival analysis (Richardson et al. 2011; Bowling et al. 2013; Shah et al. 2013; Martinez-Gomez et al. 2018; Romano-Lieber et al. 2019) as well as one meta-analysis (Leelakanok et al. 2017). The results of this study do not agree with studies that failed to find an association between polypharmacy and mortality based on estimates from logistic regression (Sganga et al. 2015; Schlesinger et al. 2016; Pelavski et al. 2017). The exception is a Chinese study on men aged 80 and older that showed a positive association using logistic regression (Wang et al. 2015). There are also variations in the literature as to which group is used as the reference category for polypharmacy, ranging from between zero and one medications to fewer than 10 medications (Bowling et al. 2013; Shah et al. 2013; Martinez-Gomez et al. 2018; Romano-Lieber et al. 2019). The findings of this study demonstrated that polypharmacy was related to higher risks of all-cause, CVD, and cancer mortality compared with either taking no medications or taking one to four medications was associated with death, but this was not found in this research. Many studies included in this review were based on non-representative populations (e.g. patients with heart failure or schizophrenia), had a hospital-based or institutional-based study design, or had a short-term follow-up. These factors may account for the differences compared with this study.

In addition to long-term conditions, lifestyle factors somewhat attenuated the effect of polypharmacy on all-cause mortality, as was observed in a previous study (Martinez-Gomez et al. 2018). For the first time, disability showed the second greatest attenuation of the association.

Role of diabetes

Different long-term conditions have been identified as independent risk factors for allcause mortality when the Charlson Comorbidity Index is not used to adjust for health status. Differences in study populations, definitions of polypharmacy, lengths of followup, and settings (community, care home, or nursing home) may have contributed to the differences observed across studies (Shah et al. 2013; Pelavski et al. 2017). Diabetes was found to be a confounder in the association between polypharmacy and all-cause mortality in this study. Diabetes, CHD, and lung disease were identified as independent risk factors for death, conditional on the same level of medication use (i.e. polypharmacy). Among these three conditions, the uniqueness of diabetes has been confirmed in previous research. Both diabetes and diabetes in combination with respiratory diseases were found to be linked to higher risks of mortality in a New Zealand study (Teh et al. 2018). Also, the association between diabetes and mortality has been observed in community residents in England and Wales (Shah et al. 2013) and community-based Mexican Americans (Espino et al. 2006). On the other hand, it has been found that people with diabetes are more likely than people without diabetes to develop multimorbidity, including both physical and mental illnesses (Zghebi et al. 2020). To summarise, diabetes shows a strong relationship with high death rates as well as a high probability of multimorbidity, which in turn is likely to lead to polypharmacy. At the same time, comorbidities, polypharmacy, and mortality are connected and mutually influenced. This complicated network may help to make diabetes a crucial condition in explorations of the association between polypharmacy and mortality. Although more evidence is warranted, in the future some long-term conditions such as diabetes may need more attention, in addition to medication use.

5.4.3 Strengths and limitations

This study had several strengths. First, medication profiles were collected by nurses rather than self-reported, and they were used to verify the self-reported diagnoses. This verification and collection process helped to reduce misreporting bias. Second, this study used a rigorous definition of polypharmacy that referred to medications in

long-term use, rather than the temporary use of painkillers. Third, OTC medications for long-term conditions were included, since some interactions between OTC and prescribed medications can be life-threatening, such as ACEIs in combination with potassium supplements (Burnakis and Mioduch 1984). The study employed a nationally representative sample, followed up for six years, for whom comprehensive characteristics were available, from socio-demographic characteristics to health status. A wider range of potential confounders was adjusted for statistically than has been done in previous research, including cognitive function, mobility impairment, lifestyle factors, and depressive symptoms. Also, competing-risks analyses were conducted for different causes of death to provide accurate estimates, accounting for the event of interest and competing events simultaneously. Lastly, the study provided strong evidence of associations between polypharmacy and death, accounting for characteristics not included in previous studies, such as cohabitation and depressive symptoms.

Some limitations of this study should also be acknowledged. Information on medication type but not on duration, dose, and frequency was collected during the nurse visits. Also, some combination medications were indistinguishable from a single medication, so the amount of polypharmacy may have been underestimated in these cases. The assessment was made at a single time point, and medications may have changed over the follow-up period.

5.5 Conclusion

Polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy showed dose-response relationships with all-cause and CVD mortality among older adults in England over a six-year follow-

161

up period. Heightened polypharmacy was also related to a higher risk of cancer mortality. In addition to the structured medication reviews currently advised for heightened polypharmacy, the results of this study emphasised that greater attention to polypharmacy in general for older people might be helpful for reducing adverse effects and improving older adults' health.

Chapter 6. Patterns of medication use and mortality

Abstract

Background

Polypharmacy is common among older people and is associated with an increased mortality risk. However, little is known about whether the mortality risk is related to specific medications among older adults with polypharmacy. This study therefore aimed to investigate associations between high-risk medications and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among older adults with polypharmacy.

Methods

This study included 1356 older adults with polypharmacy (5+ long-term medications a day for conditions or symptoms) from Wave 6 (2012/2013) of the ELSA. First, using the agglomerative hierarchical clustering method, participants were grouped according to the use of 14 high-risk medication categories. Next, the relationship between the high-risk medication patterns and all-cause and cause-specific mortality (followed up to April 2018) was examined. All-cause mortality was assessed by Cox proportional hazards model and competing-risks regression was employed for cause-specific mortality.

Results

Five high-risk medication patterns – a RAAS inhibitors cluster, a mental health drugs cluster, a CNS drugs cluster, a RAAS inhibitors and antithrombotics cluster, and an antithrombotics cluster – were identified. The mental health drugs cluster showed increased risks of all-cause (HR = 1.55, 95%CI = 1.05, 2.28) and CVD (SHR = 2.11, 95%CI = 1.10, 4.05) mortality compared with the CNS drugs cluster over six years,

163

while others showed no differences in mortality. Among these patterns, the mental health drugs cluster showed the highest prevalence of antidepressants (64.1%), benzodiazepines (10.4%), antipsychotics (2.4%), antimanic agents (0.7%), opioids (33.2%) and muscle relaxants (21.5%). The findings suggested that older adults with polypharmacy who took mental health drugs (primarily antidepressants), opioids and muscle relaxants were at higher risk of all-cause and CVD mortality, compared with those who did not take these types of medications.

Conclusions

This study supports the inclusion of opioids in the current guidance on structured medication reviews, but it also suggests that older adults with polypharmacy who take psychotropic medications and muscle relaxants are prone to adverse outcomes and therefore may need more attention. The reinforcement of structured medication reviews would contribute to early intervention in medication use which may consequently reduce medication-related problems and bring clinical benefits to older adults with polypharmacy.

This work was published in BMC Medicine (Huang et al. 2021c).

6.1 Background

Evidence of an association between polypharmacy (including heightened polypharmacy) and all-cause and CVD mortality has been reported in chapter 5. The findings on all-cause mortality were in line with most of the literature (Espino et al. 2006; Richardson et al. 2011; Bowling et al. 2013; Shah et al. 2013; Gómez et al. 2015; Martinez-Gomez et al. 2018; Romano-Lieber et al. 2019). However, little is

known about which medication combinations within polypharmacy further relate to mortality. Since the main focus of this study was medication use within polypharmacy, the search terms for the literature review were very similar to those used for chapter 5, resulting in considerable overlap between the two reviews. The search term 'medication or drug combination' was additionally employed to search for articles about medication use and mortality. Studies on the association between medication use and mortality in older people were included. More details have already been introduced in section 5.1 of chapter 5, and the literature review process for both chapters is combined in Figure 5.1.

There has been plenty of research on the effectiveness of specific medications in treating people with particular illnesses, through both randomised controlled trials and observational studies. To take the common CVDs as an example, the use of statins benefits people without established CVD but with cardiovascular risk factors in terms of all-cause mortality and major cardiovascular events (Brugts et al. 2009). However, this study's focus was the use of high-risk medications within polypharmacy among community-dwelling older adults, rather than specific medications in a specific population. A small number of studies were identified that explored the associations between medication use and all-cause mortality, but they did not involve polypharmacy status, which would have been more relevant to the interest of this study. Four studies defined the anticholinergic burden using various scales and analysed its association with all-cause mortality, but they obtained different results (Ruxton, Woodman, and Mangoni 2015; Sarbacker et al. 2017; Sevilla-Sanchez et al. 2018; Hanlon et al. 2020). Hanlon et al. and Sarbacker et al. found that the use of anticholinergic medications was related to an increased risk of mortality, regardless of which scale of anticholinergic burden was employed, while a meta-analysis only identified the positive

relationship when using the anticholinergic cognitive burden scale but not using other measurements (i.e. the anticholinergic risk scale and anticholinergic components of the Drug Burden Index) (Ruxton, Woodman, and Mangoni 2015). This relationship was also not observed in Sevilla-Sanchez et al.'s research (2018). Another study on older US Army veterans with chronic pain discovered that the use of opioids, antihistamines, and psychotropics was positively correlated with one-year mortality, whereas skeletal muscle relaxants were related to lower risk (Makris et al. 2015). Moreover, another study published in 2001 (Glynn et al. 2001) investigated the associations between the use of 20 common drug classes and one-year mortality among people aged 65-99 years, according to hospitalised status. Several drug classes (e.g. lipid-lowering agents, CCBs, and anxiolytics) were associated with reduced mortality, whereas some medicines showed higher death rates (e.g. loop diuretics, digitalis, and antiarrhythmic agents). Some medications, however, such as ACEIs, showed inconsistent results between hospitalised and non-hospitalised samples. To date, research on medication use among community-dwelling older people with polypharmacy is still lacking. Findings from several studies have failed to reach a consensus on the kinds of medications that might be harmful or beneficial to older adults.

In addition to the medication categories that have been reported to be related to higher or lower mortality, some medications are believed to have a high probability of adverse effects among older adults, such as opioids, BZDs, and antihypertensive drugs (Wooten 2012; Davies and O'Mahony 2015; Makris et al. 2015; Gerlach et al. 2017). The ageing process is normally accompanied by changes in pharmacokinetics (absorption, distribution, metabolism, and elimination) and pharmacodynamics, resulting in a more unpredictable performance of medications in older adults. The high-

risk medications reported in the literature are largely reflected in the polypharmacy guidance published by the Scottish government (Scottish Government Polypharmacy Model of Care Group 2018). In summary, there is broad agreement on the high-risk medications for older adults due to the higher risk of adverse effects. However, no evidence is currently available on medication types in association with mortality, or on medication use within polypharmacy among older people.

There have been different strategies for the management of polypharmacy in clinical practice, advocated by different organisations. The medication review is specifically targeted at polypharmacy in the NICE guidelines (NICE 2020) and at heightened polypharmacy in the NHS England guidelines (NHS England and NHS Improvement 2019). Apart from the concept of polypharmacy, people on high numbers of addictive pain management medications and those on high-risk medications are advised to have a medication review according to NHS England (NHS England and NHS Improvement 2019) and the Scottish government (Scottish Government Polypharmacy Model of Care Group 2018) respectively. Compared with NICE and NHS England, the Scottish government has set up extensive polypharmacy guidance that targets people on high-risk medications, regardless of the number of drugs taken (Scottish Government Polypharmacy Model of Care Group 2018). High-risk medications are defined by 17 case-finding indicators, denoting the use of specific medications is linked to a high risk of specific symptoms or conditions.

To summarise, there has been little research into the types of medication use within polypharmacy in observational studies of nationally representative older adults. Apart from the finding that polypharmacy is an independent risk factor for mortality, little is known about whether high-risk medications (either singly or in combined use) contribute to added risk among older people with polypharmacy. Also, there are disparities in the inclusion of high-risk medications in different guidelines. Thus, this study aimed to explore the effect of high-risk medications on mortality for people with polypharmacy. The role of diabetes as an effect modifier in this association was also studied.

To conduct this study, high-risk medications were identified from the literature (Wooten 2012; Davies and O'Mahony 2015; Makris et al. 2015; Gerlach et al. 2017) and subsequently classified into 14 medication categories (explained in detail in section 6.2 below). Cluster analysis was employed to classify participants into different clusters based on their use of the 14 medication categories. Four reasons justified the selection of cluster analysis for this study. First, no strong evidence supported a link between specific medications and higher/lower mortality, especially for older people with multimorbidity. Thus, no appropriate classification of medications could be referenced. Second, the number of people with polypharmacy was not large (N = 1356), even though polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy had been combined. Entering an additional 14 variables of medication groups into the survival model of mortality would have led to low statistical power and therefore weakened the correlations. Third, previous studies had utilised cluster analysis to group symptoms (Song et al. 2010) or group participants according to conditions (Teh et al. 2018) and analysed the association between clusters and death rates. Cluster analysis in combination with multiple correspondence analysis had also been employed to analyse medication patterns in older adults with multimorbidity (Guisado-Clavero et al. 2019). For example, CVDs frequently coexist with hypertension rather than mental disorders, so CVDs have a closer relationship with hypertension than with mental illness. Accordingly, cluster analysis would group CVDs and hypertension in the same cluster. Similarly, the use of particular medications may strongly relate to other

medicines because some common comorbidities usually coexist. Antithrombotics for CVDs, for instance, would have a stronger correlation with antihypertensive drugs than with mental health medications. Hence, the cluster analysis was expected to group participants according to medication use in the same way as conditions. Lastly, the adoption of cluster analysis allowed the researchers to take concurrent medications into account. The concurrent use of medications is prevalent among older adults and becomes complicated for those with polypharmacy, so this needed to be taken into consideration. The aim of this study was to explore the association between high-risk medications and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among older adults with polypharmacy. It was hypothesised that specific high-risk medications (e.g. anticholinergic agents or opioids) might increase the risk of mortality in older adults with polypharmacy.

6.2 Methodology

6.2.1 Study population

In Wave 6, a total of 9169 interviews with core members were conducted. Of these, 7730 participants were visited by a study nurse who recorded information on all medications. After the exclusion of people who had missing information regarding diabetes diagnosis (N = 1), physical activity and functioning (N = 2), and follow-up time (N = 1), who had been diagnosed with cancer or malignant blood disorders (N = 480), and who took hormone therapy that was primarily for cancers (codes 080302 and 080304) (N = 19), 1705 participants with polypharmacy were involved in the cluster analysis. The groups of people with polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy were combined, referred to here as taking five or more long-term medications per day. After the cluster analysis was carried out, participants who did not have complete information on variables in the model (N = 328) and those who had died within one year of follow-up (N = 21) were further excluded, resulting in an analytical sample of 1356 individuals with polypharmacy for the survival analysis.

6.2.2 High-risk medications

High-risk medications for older people were identified from the literature (Wooten 2012; Davies and O'Mahony 2015; Makris et al. 2015; Gerlach et al. 2017) on the grounds that they had a high probability of adverse effects in the ageing population. These high-risk medications were classified into 14 medication categories according to their pharmacological mechanisms (Table 6.1), and they were subsequently employed in cluster analysis to group participants into a set of clusters. The 14 medication categories were BZDs, antipsychotics, antidepressants, antimanic agents, CCBs, diuretics, RAAS inhibitors, opioids, muscle relaxants, NSAIDs, antithrombotics, steroids, anticholinergics, and other CNS drugs. All medication categories were binary variables that denoted whether the participant was taking the medication or not.

Category	Medication	Code
BZDs	Sedatives: BZD and non-BZD derivatives	04.01.01
	Anxiolytic: lorazepam and diazepam	04.01.02
	Antiepileptic: lorazepam and diazepam	04.08.02
Antipsychotics	Atypical antipsychotics	04.02.01
	Typical antipsychotics	04.02.02
	Tourette's syndrome: sulpiride	04.09.03
Antidepressants	TCAs	04.03.01
	SSRIs	04.03.03
	SNRIs	04.03.04
Antimanic agents	Lithium and carbamazepine	04.02.03
CCBs	Both dihydropyridines and non-dihydropyridines	02.06.02
Diuretics	Thiazide-like diuretics	02.02.01
	Loop diuretics	02.02.02
	Potassium-sparing diuretics	02.02.03
	Combination: potassium-sparing + thiazide/loop	02.02.04
RAAS inhibitors	ACEIs	02.05.51
	ARBs	02.05.52
	Renin inhibitors	02.05.53
Opioids for pain relief	Opioid derivatives	04.07.02
Muscle relaxants	Quinine, diazepam, and baclofen	10.02.02
NSAIDs§	Including aspirin	10.01.01
Antithrombotics	Anticoagulants	02.08.02
	Anti-platelets	02.09.00
Steroids§	Hormone therapy: hydrocortisone	06.03.01
	Hormone therapy: prednisolone	06.03.02
	Pulmonary: prednisolone	03.01.00
	Pulmonary: hydrocortisone	06.03.02
	Inflammatory bowel disease: prednisolone and	01.05.02
	hydrocortisone	
	Rheumatic disease: prednisolone	10.01.02

 Table 6.1 Fourteen high-risk medication categories, ELSA 2012

Table 6.1 (continued)

Category	Medication	Code
Anticholinergics#	Urinary incontinence: oxybutynin, trospium	07.04.02
	chloride, and solifenacin	
	Smoking cessation aid	04.10.02
	Nicotine replacement therapy (all forms)	
	Parkinson's disease: procyclidine	04.09.02
Other CNS drugs	Migraine/headache: analgesics	04.07.04
	Epilepsy: anticonvulsants	04.08.01
	Trigeminal neuralgia: anticonvulsants	04.07.03
	Parkinson's disease: carbidopa-levodopa	04.09.01
	Alzheimer's disease:	04.11.00
	Acetylcholinesterase inhibitor: donepezil	
	Glutamate receptor antagonist: memantine	
	Dry mouth: pilocarpine	12.03.05
	Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder:	04.04.00
	methylphenidate	
	Alcohol dependence	04.10.01

§ Oral form only.

[#] Remaining anticholinergics not included in other medication categories.

6.2.3 Mortality data

As explained in section 5.2 in chapter 5, study participants were linked to the NHS's Central Register. For each deceased participant up to the end of follow-up (April 2018), the month and year of death were recorded. For participants with no record of an event, the data was censored at the end of May 2018. The causes of death were classified based on the International Classification of Diseases and categorised into CVD (codes 100–199) and non-CVD, including cancer (codes C00–C97), diseases of the respiratory system (codes J00–J99), and other remaining causes.

6.2.4 Potential confounders

The same socio-demographic characteristics and health factors were employed in this study as in chapter 5 (see section 5.2). The socio-demographic characteristics were a continuous variable of age (years), binary variables of gender (male and female) and cohabiting status (living or not with a partner), and a categorical variable of total wealth (quintiles). Health factors included six long-term conditions (diabetes mellitus, CHD, stroke, lung disease (including asthma), Parkinson's disease, and dementia (including Alzheimer's disease)), an illness count of the remaining conditions (e.g. hypertension and psychiatric conditions), functional impairment (difficulty in ADLs or IADLs), mobility difficulty, obesity (high BMI and waist circumference, and either high BMI or high waist circumference), smoking status (i.e. whether a current smoker or not), sleep duration (seven to nine hours, versus less than seven or over nine hours), low physical activity, cognitive function (scores of zero to 20), and significant depressive symptoms (four or more symptoms on the CES-D).

6.2.5 Statistical analysis

Cluster analysis

Cluster analysis is a useful statistical method when little is known about whether highrisk medications contribute to an increased risk of mortality among older people with polypharmacy. Cluster analysis is a method to classify a study sample based on the similarity among measured variables within clusters (groups) while maximising the dissimilarity between clusters (groups) (Everitt et al. 2011). An agglomerative hierarchical clustering approach, with Ward's linkage and the simple matching coefficient, was employed to group participants by taking account of similarity among the 14 medication categories. Agglomerative hierarchical methods begin with each observation in its own group; then the two closest (most similar) groups are combined (all the rest of the groups remain single), and this is done repeatedly until the desired number of clusters is reached (Reed College n.d.). Ward's linkage method is also known as the minimum sum of squares, in which the lowest sum of squared distances is chosen to be combined (Everitt et al. 2011). Ward's linkage method distributes participants into clusters equivalently, whereas some methods (e.g. single linkage and complete linkage) do not converge, and other methods (e.g. weighted-average linkage and median linkage) bring about a huge gap in the sizes of clusters. The simple matching coefficient is the most common method when binary data is used in cluster analysis, along with the Jaccard coefficient and the Russell and Rao coefficient (Mooi, Sarstedt, and Mooi-Reci 2018). However, the latter two coefficients did not work well. In light of the study sample size (N = 1705), a maximum of 10 clusters was advisable in order to obtain sufficient statistical power in each cluster. The dendrogram of the 10 clusters is shown in Figure 6.1, where the proximity of clusters is explicitly presented. In cases where the clusters showed any differences in mortality, fewer clusters were chosen in order to allow each cluster to have a large enough sample to ensure a higher statistical power. The results indicated that five clusters (named clusters 1-5) fitted the data the best. The clusters were labelled based on the most prevalent medication within each cluster (80% or more); if this was not applicable, the labelling was based on the medication category with the highest prevalence across the clusters.





Survival analysis

Five clusters (clusters 1-5) with sample sizes of 194, 298, 387, 352, and 125 respectively were employed in the survival analysis (Figure 6.2). The association between the five clusters (medication patterns) and all-cause mortality was assessed by Cox proportional hazards regression. The HRs and corresponding 95% CIs from the Cox regression and the cumulative hazard functions of clusters (medication patterns) were presented. A competing-risks regression based on Fine and Gray's proportional subhazards model (Fine and Gray 1999) was used to analyse causespecific mortality, as it takes account of competing events that prevent the event of interest from occurring. This method prevents the overestimation of the risk of the main exposure (Feakins et al. 2018). The SHRs and corresponding 95% CIs from the competing-risks regression and the CIF denoting estimations of the incidence of the event were reported. The proportionality of hazards and subhazards was tested by using Schoenfeld residuals (Hess 1995; Zhang 2017), and no violation of assumptions was observed. The cluster (medication pattern) with the lowest mortality and/or largest sample size was used as the reference group. Interaction terms were investigated by performing likelihood ratio tests, comparing the model being tested and the full model including interaction terms. Statistical analyses were conducted using Stata (version 15.1; StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

176

Figure 6.2 Flow chart of samples for cluster and survival analyses



Sensitivity analysis

Several sensitivity analyses were performed to ensure the robustness of the main findings. The first sensitivity analysis (SA1) employed four cardiovascular-related diseases (i.e. CHD, stroke, hypertension, and other heart problems) individually rather than combining some of them into an illness count, because causes of death were classified as CVD and non-CVD mortality. The second sensitivity analysis (SA2) separated the diagnosis of psychiatric conditions from the illness count and adjusted it individually. In the third sensitivity analysis (SA3), alcohol consumption was added as a covariate to the main model, with a reduced sample size (N = 1221). The fourth sensitivity analysis (SA4) included an adjustment variable, an indicator of

inconsistency between medication use and self-reported conditions, in the main model to check whether the results were sensitive to the fact that some participants took cardiovascular or lipid-lowering medications but did not report relevant diagnoses. Lastly, the fifth sensitivity analysis (SA5) employed a Cox proportional hazards regression instead of a competing-risks regression to explore the association between medication patterns and cause-specific mortality.

6.3 Results

Prevalence of medication categories

The prevalence of 14 high-risk medication categories is shown in Table 6.2. RAAS inhibitors showed the highest prevalence (62.0%), followed by antithrombotics (56.8%), diuretics (39.3%), CCBs (37.6%), and antidepressants (22.6%). Opioids (12.9%), NSAIDs (11.8%), and other CNS drugs (10.0%) revealed similar prevalence rates among people with polypharmacy. The prevalence of the remaining medication groups was less than 10%.

Medication category	% (N)			
BZDs*	5.6 (76)			
Antipsychotics	1.1 (15)			
Antidepressants	22.6 (307)			
Antimanic agents	0.3 (4)			
CCBs	37.6 (510)			
Diuretics	39.3 (533)			
RAAS inhibitors	62.0 (841)			
Opioids for pain relief	12.9 (175)			

Table	6.2	Prevale	nce	of	14	high-risk	medication	categories	in	people	with
polyp	harn	nacy (N =	= 135	56),	ELS	SA 2012					

Table 6.2 (continued)

Medication category	% (N)
Muscle relaxants	6.1 (82)
NSAIDs§	11.8 (160)
Antithrombotics	56.8 (770)
Steroids [§]	6.0 (81)
Anticholinergics [#]	5.5 (75)
Other CNS drugs	10.0 (136)

* Including sedatives.

§ Oral form only.

[#] Remaining anticholinergics not included in other medication categories.

Medication pattern clusters

Based on the 14 high-risk medication categories, five clusters (medication patterns) were identified among people with polypharmacy. The distribution of medication categories across the five clusters is displayed in Figure 6.3.

- Cluster 1 consisted of 194 participants who were frequent users of RAAS inhibitors (83.5%), diuretics (58.3%), and CCBs (49.0%). Therefore, cluster 1 was labelled 'RAAS inhibitors' according to the labelling method introduced in the section 6.2.
- Cluster 2 comprised 298 individuals, of whom over half took RAAS inhibitors (66.8%), antithrombotics (64.8%), and antidepressants (64.1%). This cluster also had the highest prevalence of BZDs (10.4%), antipsychotics (2.4%), and antimanic medications (0.7%), and it therefore was labelled 'mental health drugs'.
- Cluster 3 consisted of 387 people who did not demonstrate a clear trend in the use of any specific medications. Only four medication categories had a

prevalence of 30% or more: RAAS inhibitors (33.6%), other CNS drugs (32.3%), NSAIDs (30.2%), and antidepressants (30.0%). This cluster was labelled 'CNS drugs' because it had the highest prevalence of other CNS drugs compared with other clusters.

- Cluster 4 comprised 352 individuals who made combined use of RAAS inhibitors and antithrombotics (99.4% and 100.0%). Approximately 40% of these participants were on diuretics and CCBs, while only a few took any of the remaining medication categories. As a result, this cluster was labelled 'RAAS inhibitors and antithrombotics'.
- Cluster 5 consisted of 125 users of antithrombotics (100.0%), of whom 43.2% used CCBs and 40.0% used diuretics. It was therefore labelled 'antithrombotics'.

Among the five clusters, three medication patterns – the RAAS inhibitors cluster, the RAAS inhibitors and antithrombotics cluster, and the antithrombotics cluster – were more cardiovascular-oriented, where four medication categories –CCBs, diuretics, RAAS inhibitors, and antithrombotics – were mainly involved. On the other hand, the mental health drugs cluster and the CNS drugs cluster showed a broad spectrum of medication groups, although some of them had a low prevalence. The mental health drugs cluster showed higher prevalence rates than the CNS drugs cluster in medications for mental illness (e.g. antidepressants, 64.1% versus 30.0%), cardiovascular medications (e.g. RAAS inhibitors, 66.8% versus 33.6%), opioids (33.2% versus 18.6%), and muscle relaxants (21.5% versus 4.4%). In contrast, the CNS drugs cluster had higher proportions of NSAIDs (30.2%), steroids (19.1%), anticholinergics (15.0%), and other CNS drugs (32.3%) than the mental health drugs cluster.


Figure 6.3 Prevalence of 14 high-risk medication categories across clusters, ELSA 2012

* Including sedatives.

§ Oral form only.

[#] Remaining anticholinergics not included in other medication categories.

Sample characteristics across medication patterns

The baseline characteristics of these participants according to the five medication patterns are summarised in Table 6.3. For simplicity, results for four variables that had similar proportions across the five clusters (total wealth and cognitive function) or low prevalence (Parkinson's disease and dementia) are presented in Appendix E-1. The antithrombotics cluster was characterised by people with the highest average age

(mean age 75.2 years), and the CNS drugs cluster had the highest proportion of women (63.6%). Different clusters showed the highest prevalence of different long-term conditions: diabetes (46.9%) in the RAAS inhibitors cluster, CHD (43.5%) in the RAAS inhibitors and antithrombotics cluster, stroke (20.1%) in the mental health drugs cluster, lung disease (43.4%) in the CNS drugs cluster, and the largest number of remaining conditions (median four) in the mental health drugs cluster. Both the mental health drugs cluster and the CNS drugs cluster revealed a higher prevalence of functional impairment (52.0% versus 52.5%), mobility difficulty (88.9% versus 83.5%), current smokers (16.8% versus 16.5%), low physical activity (48.0% versus 42.9%), and significant depressive symptoms (30.2% versus 24.6%) than the other clusters.

The information on all-cause and cause-specific mortality for the five medication patterns is summarised in Table 6.4. The smallest percentage of all-cause (12.9%) and CVD mortality (4.1%) was observed in the CNS drugs cluster, but the lowest non-CVD mortality (8.2%) appeared in the RAAS inhibitors and antithrombotics cluster. By contrast, the highest prevalence of all-cause (24.0%) and non-CVD mortality (16.0%) was detected in the antithrombotics cluster, while the mental health drugs cluster showed the highest CVD mortality (10.4%). The CNS drugs cluster was therefore treated as the reference group, because it had the largest sample size and the lowest all-cause and CVD mortality.

	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster 3	Cluster 4	Cluster 5
	RAAS inhibitors	Mental health	CNS drugs	RAAS inhibitors +	Antithrombotics
		drugs		antithrombotics	
	(N = 194)	(N = 298)	(N = 387)	(N = 352)	(N = 125)
	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)
Age (years) mean (SD)	70.9 (8.2)	71.3 (9.4)	70.3 (8.5)	73.4 (8.2)	75.2 (8.3)
Women	53.6 (104)	61.1 (182)	63.6 (246)	41.8 (147)	52.8 (66)
Living with a partner	71.1 (138)	56.7 (169)	64.9 (251)	63.9 (225)	52.8 (66)
Diabetes mellitus	46.9 (91)	37.9 (113)	25.1 (97)	37.2 (131)	32.8 (41)
CHD	12.9 (25)	38.3 (114)	14.2 (55)	43.5 (153)	39.2 (49)
Stroke	4.1 (8)	20.1 (60)	7.0 (27)	14.8 (52)	15.2 (19)
Lung disease (including asthma)	33.5 (65)	28.2 (84)	43.4 (168)	20.7 (73)	26.4 (33)
Number of conditions [#] median (IQR)	3 (2)	4 (2)	3 (2)	3 (2)	3 (2)
Functional impairment§	26.8 (52)	52.0 (155)	52.5 (203)	28.7 (101)	29.6 (37)
Mobility difficulty*	68.6 (133)	88.9 (265)	83.5 (323)	71.6 (252)	84.0 (105)
Obesity					
High BMI and waist circumference	50.5 (98)	49.3 (147)	40.1 (155)	38.4 (135)	40.0 (50)
Either high BMI or high waist	26.8 (52)	25.2 (75)	24.0 (93)	27.3 (96)	28.0 (35)
circumference					
Current smoker	11.3 (22)	16.8 (50)	16.5 (64)	9.4 (33)	5.6 (7)
Sleep < 7 or > 9 hours	38.7 (75)	46.6 (139)	53.8 (208)	39.2 (138)	49.6 (62)
Low physical activity	29.4 (57)	48.0 (143)	42.9 (166)	31.8 (112)	38.4 (48)
Depressive symptoms 4+	7.7 (15)	30.2 (90)	24.6 (95)	11.9 (42)	11.2 (14)

Table 6.3 Baseline characteristics[†] of people with polypharmacy (N = 1356) by cluster, ELSA 2012

Table 6.3 (footnotes)

[†] All characteristics showed significantly different proportions among the five clusters. Two variables (total wealth and cognitive function) with similar distributions across the five clusters and two conditions (Parkinson's disease and dementia (including Alzheimer's disease)) with low prevalence rates are shown in Appendix E-1.

[#] The remaining other conditions, not including diabetes mellitus, CHD, lung disease, Parkinson's disease, and dementia (including Alzheimer's disease).

[§] Defined as any difficulty in either ADLs or IADLs.

^{*} Defined as any difficulty in the movement of the arms or lower limbs.

Table 6.4 Mortality[†] in people with polypharmacy (N = 1356) by cluster, ELSA 2018

	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster 3	Cluster 4	Cluster 5
	RAAS inhibitors	Mental health	CNS drugs	RAAS inhibitors +	Antithrombotics
		drugs		antithrombotics	
	(N = 194)	(N = 298)	(N = 387)	(N = 352)	(N = 125)
	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)
All-cause mortality	15.5 (30)	22.2 (66)	12.9 (50)	16.8 (59)	24.0 (30)
CVD mortality	4.6 (9)	10.4 (31)	4.1 (16)	8.5 (30)	8.0 (10)
Non-CVD mortality	10.8 (21)	11.7 (35)	8.8 (34)	8.2 (29)	16.0 (20)

[†] Data was collected before May 2018.

The impact of medication patterns on mortality

Figure 6.4 shows the results of the association between medication patterns (at baseline in 2012) and mortality (up to 2018). All-cause mortality was analysed by Cox proportional hazards regressions with corresponding HRs and 95% CI, and causespecific mortality was assessed using a competing-risks regression that reported SHR and 95% CI. Over the six-year follow-up, only the mental health drugs cluster (cluster 2) showed a raised risk of all-cause mortality (HR = 1.55, 95% CI = 1.05, 2.28, p = 0.028) and CVD mortality (SHR = 2.11, 95% CI = 1.10, 4.05, p = 0.024) compared with the CNS drugs cluster (cluster 3). Neither the RAAS inhibitors cluster (cluster 1), the RAAS inhibitors and antithrombotics cluster (cluster 4), nor the antithrombotics cluster (cluster 5) revealed any differences in all-cause, CVD, or non-CVD mortality. The cumulative hazard function of all-cause mortality and the CIF of CVD mortality for the five medication patterns are presented in Figure 6.5. Diabetes was not an effect modifier in the association between medication patterns and mortality, since no significant interactions between diabetes and other covariates were identified by the likelihood ratio tests. After other factors were accounted for, diabetes was not found to be an independent risk factor for all-cause or cause-specific mortality in this study.



Figure 6.4 Associations[#] between medication patterns^{*} and mortality in people with polypharmacy in England in 2012–18

[#] Adjusted for age, gender, cohabitation, wealth, six long-term conditions (diabetes, CHD, stroke, lung disease, Parkinson's disease, and dementia (including Alzheimer's disease)), an illness count of the remaining conditions, functional impairment, mobility difficulty, obesity, smoking status, sleep duration, low physical activity, cognitive function, and depressive symptoms.

^{*} Cluster 1 = RAAS inhibitors cluster; cluster 2 = mental health drugs cluster; cluster 3 = CNS drugs cluster (reference); cluster 4 = RAAS inhibitors and antithrombotics cluster; cluster 5 = antithrombotics cluster.

Figure 6.5 Cumulative hazard function of all-cause mortality and CIF of CVD mortality for five medication patterns^{*} in people with polypharmacy in England in 2012–18



^{*} Cluster 1 = RAAS inhibitors cluster; cluster 2 = mental health drugs cluster; cluster 3 = CNS drugs cluster (reference); cluster 4 = RAAS inhibitors and antithrombotics cluster; cluster 5 = antithrombotics cluster.

Sensitivity analysis

The results of the sensitivity analyses are summarised in Appendix E-2. The first sensitivity analysis (SA1) individually adjusted for each cardiovascular-related diagnosis – i.e. CHD, stroke, hypertension, and other heart problems – and obtained similar findings to the primary analysis (the mental health drugs cluster: HR = 1.53 versus 1.55 for all-cause mortality, SHR = 2.10 versus 2.11 for CVD mortality). SA2 adjusted for psychiatric conditions separately, and the results remained the same (the

mental health drugs cluster: HR = 1.54 for all-cause mortality, SHR = 2.13 for CVD mortality). SA3 additionally included alcohol consumption, with a reduced sample size (N = 1221). The associations were unchanged, although the estimates of the risk of mortality for the mental health drugs cluster were slightly higher than those found in the primary analysis, with 1.70 versus 1.55 for all-cause mortality, and 3.04 versus 2.11 for CVD mortality. In the fourth sensitivity analysis (SA4), an indicator of inconsistency between medication use and self-reported conditions was added to the main model. This indicator aimed to adjust for long-term conditions as comprehensively as possible by taking account of people on cardiovascular or lipidlowering medications but without relevant diagnoses (9.6%). The findings were similar to the primary analysis after adjustment for the indicator (the mental health drugs cluster: HR = 1.54 versus 1.55 for all-cause mortality, SHR = 2.03 versus 2.11 for CVD mortality). Lastly, SA5 was only done for CVD and non-CVD mortality, and the Cox proportional hazards regression was employed instead of a competing-risks regression. The results were similar between the two statistical methods, although the estimates with the Cox regression were generally greater than those with the competing-risks regression, with 2.16 versus 2.11 for CVD mortality, and 1.35 versus 1.18 for non-CVD mortality. This situation supports the notion that taking competing events into account can avoid the overstatement of risks (Feakins et al. 2018) or inappropriate estimations when there is a greater association between competing causes of death (Collett 2015); consequently, it justified the primary analysis.

6.4 Discussion

6.4.1 Summary

Among people with polypharmacy, five high-risk medication patterns – a RAAS inhibitors cluster, a mental health drugs cluster, a CNS drugs cluster, a RAAS inhibitors and antithrombotics cluster, and an antithrombotics cluster – were identified using an agglomerative hierarchical clustering method. Over the six-year follow-up, the mental health drugs cluster showed increased risks of all-cause mortality (HR = 1.55) and CVD mortality (SHR = 2.11) compared with the CNS drugs cluster, while none of the other medication patterns (single or combined use of RAAS inhibitors and antithrombotics) showed differences in mortality. Apart from medications for mental illness and CVD, the mental health drugs cluster also had a higher prevalence of opioids (33.2% versus 18.6%) and muscle relaxants (21.5% versus 4.4%) than the CNS drugs cluster. These findings suggest that older adults with polypharmacy who take medication for mental disorders (primarily antidepressants), opioids, and muscle relaxants have added risks of all-cause and CVD mortality when their polypharmacy status is positively associated with mortality. The robustness of the main findings was largely confirmed by the sensitivity analyses.

The mechanisms that account for the increased risk of mortality with mental health drugs, opioids, and muscle relaxants among people with polypharmacy may potentially involve drug-drug interactions or comorbidities. Antidepressants that include TCAs, SSRIs, and SNRIs have shown many pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic interactions with other medications, and some of these are of clinical significance (Bleakley 2016). Serotonin syndrome is one of the common consequences of drug-drug interactions and has a wide spectrum of symptoms, from

the mild (diarrhoea or tremor) to the life-threatening (ataxia or convulsions) (Bleakley 2016). For example, antidepressants in combination with fentanyl (long-acting opioids) or lithium (antimanic agents) are likely to promote serotonin syndrome. Older people on antidepressants have also been confirmed to have a higher number of comorbidities; therefore, a higher proportion of people have at least one potential treatment conflict between other conditions (e.g. CVD and arthritis or pain management) and antidepressants (Caughey et al. 2010).

Similarly, major potential drug-drug interactions between opioids and other medications have been reported where opioids are frequently prescribed with antifungal agents, antibiotics, CCBs, antiarrhythmics, SSRIs, or anticonvulsants for chronic pain opioid users (Pergolizzi et al. 2014). In the mental health drugs cluster, 33.2% were opioid users, and such interactions could have had a major clinical influence. Opioid prescription at discharge from hospital has also been found to be related to the greater illness burden (i.e. higher multimorbidity severity) among hospitalised older people (Schear et al. 2019). In addition, a study of breast cancer survivors provided a link between mental disorders and opioid use, implying that this association might be present among older adults as well (Desai et al. 2019).

There are also concerns about drug-drug interactions with muscle relaxants, including quinine, diazepam, and baclofen (Kral and Ustic 2012). However, there has been no systematic discussion of the drug-drug interactions of muscle relaxants because they include diverse drug classes. Both opioids and muscle relaxants are commonly prescribed for pain management, and they both simultaneously showed the highest prevalence in the mental health drugs cluster. To summarise, the use of antidepressants and opioids may lead to clinically important drug-drug interactions and treatment conflicts with conditions. This situation is likely to be more complicated

and unpredictable for older adults with polypharmacy and may account for the increased mortality in the mental health drugs cluster.

6.4.2 Comparison with existing literature

To date and to my knowledge, this was the first study to investigate the association between high-risk medication patterns and mortality among older adults with polypharmacy; thus, direct comparisons with previous studies are difficult to make.

In the literature, only all-cause mortality has been widely explored, rather than cause-specific mortality. The finding concerning the relationship between mental health drugs and mortality is supported by the literature (Gill et al. 2007; Weinmann, Read, and Aderhold 2009; Makris et al. 2015), although some studies have focused on exposure to antipsychotics in schizophrenia patients (Weinmann, Read, and Aderhold 2009) or older adults with dementia (Gill et al. 2007). The finding that opioids are associated with higher mortality is also in line with previous literature (Glynn et al. 2001; Makris et al. 2015; Ray et al. 2016), including samples of people with chronic non-cancer pain (Makris et al. 2015; Ray et al. 2016) or at least one hospitalisation during the study period (Glynn et al. 2001). However, some differences between this study and the previous literature can be observed. The use of muscle relaxants was linked to increased mortality in this study, while previous studies have shown a lower risk (Makris et al. 2015). Also, this study did not find an association between anticholinergics and mortality, whereas the use of anticholinergics has shown a higher risk of mortality in previous studies (Ruxton, Woodman, and Mangoni 2015; Sarbacker et al. 2017; Hanlon et al. 2020). The difference in the medication classifications used may explain the lack of association in this study. This study adopted 14 high-risk their pharmacological mechanisms (e.g. medication categories based on

antidepressants and the remaining anticholinergics), whereas the anticholinergic cognitive burden scale in the literature has included wide-ranging drug classes such as paroxetine (an antidepressant), diazepam (a BZD), warfarin (an antithrombotic agent), fentanyl (an opioid), and nifedipine (a CCB) (Campbell et al. 2013).

Furthermore, the impact of medications on all-cause mortality has usually been analysed in previous literature by using separate models for each drug class and then controlling for potential confounders. In other words, this literature has studied each drug class individually, without taking account of concurrent medications that may affect or interact with each other and subsequently influence mortality. Although this study took 14 high-risk medication categories into account concurrently, it identified the likelihood of death posed by medication patterns (combinations), rather than making causal inferences with regard to specific medications and mortality. The findings of this study emphasise that medication patterns with mental health drugs, opioids, and muscle relaxants may impose an additional risk of all-cause and CVD mortality on community-dwelling older adults with polypharmacy. Thus, this specific group of people may need more attention and prompt intervention.

6.4.3 Strengths and limitations

This study had several strengths. First, the medication profiles were collected by nurses rather than self-reported by participants, and they were used to verify the self-reported health conditions. This verification and collection process helped to reduce misreporting bias. Second, a rigorous definition of polypharmacy was chosen that included medications in long-term use and excluded the temporary use of painkillers. Third, OTC medications for long-term conditions were also included, since some interactions between OTC and prescribed medications might be a concern. Fourth,

the study employed a nationally representative sample followed up for six years, for whom comprehensive characteristics were available ranging from socio-demographic characteristics to health status. Fifth, a wider range of potential confounders was adjusted for statistically than in previous research, including cognitive function, mobility impairment, lifestyle factors, and depressive symptoms. Lastly, this study used advanced statistical techniques – cluster analysis and survival analysis – to investigate the association between high-risk medications and mortality. Given the data-driven nature of the clustering approach, different clusters of participants could be identified using different sets of medication groups or different samples. However, similar medication patterns are likely to be found when the same groups of medications are employed as in this study. Competing-risks analysis was used for cause-specific mortality to take account of the event of interest and competing events simultaneously, and thus the estimates should be more accurate.

Some limitations of this study should also be acknowledged. Information was collected during the nurse visits on medication type but not on duration, dose, or frequency. Also, the medication collection was made at a single time point, and the medicines may have changed over the follow-up period, so immeasurable time bias could not be avoided (Suissa 2008). Lastly, the lack of a significant association between cause-specific mortality and the medication patterns might be due to low statistical power, attributable to the small number of deaths. More research with a large sample is warranted to confirm the lack of association between medication patterns and cause-specific mortality.

193

6.5 Conclusion

The concurrent use of mental health drugs (primarily antidepressants), opioids, and muscle relaxants was found to increase the risk of all-cause and CVD mortality, compared with other medication patterns, among older people with polypharmacy in England. This supports that addictive pain management medications should be included in the structured medication reviews of older adults with polypharmacy, but it also suggests that the prescription of mental health medications and muscle relaxants may need more attention. The reinforcement of structured medication reviews would contribute to early intervention in medication use, and it may help to reduce polypharmacy-related problems and bring clinical benefits to older people.

Chapter 7. Discussion

This PhD research aimed to investigate a broad range of polypharmacy issues in community-dwelling older adults. The four main objectives of this study were:

- To report the prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes between 2004 (Wave 2) and 2012 (Wave 6) and the risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes.
- To investigate the prevalence of and risk factors for polypharmacy according to diabetes status.
- 3. To study the association between different levels of polypharmacy and allcause and cause-specific mortality.
- 4. To explore the association between high-risk medications and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among older adults with polypharmacy.

The four objectives were accompanied by four hypotheses:

- It was hypothesised that the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes had decreased over time, concomitant with improved awareness of diabetes resulting from the effort invested in both public information campaigns and screening tests in primary care in the UK over the period between 2004 and 2012.
- It was hypothesised that diabetes contributed to the development of polypharmacy among older people, and that it might influence the potential risk factors for polypharmacy.
- It was hypothesised that a gradient relationship existed between different levels of polypharmacy and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among older adults, independently of health status.

4. It was hypothesised that some high-risk medications might further increase the risk of mortality in older adults with polypharmacy.

Four studies were carried out to address these objectives. The findings of each study, overall strengths and limitations, and clinical and research implications of this PhD work are discussed in this chapter, together with future plans and a final conclusion.

7.1 Summary of main findings

The aim of the first study was to investigate the change in the prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes between 2004 and 2012 and to analyse the risk factors for undiagnosed diabetes. The overall prevalence of diagnosed (7.7% versus 11.5%) and undiagnosed (2.4% versus 3.4%) diabetes increased in this period, with a slight improvement in the awareness of people with diabetes (unawareness proportions 17.3% versus 29.2%). The growing prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes contradicted the hypothesis, whereas the improved awareness of diabetes confirmed it. Diagnosed diabetes showed an increasing trend over time for men and women in different age groups; however, this was not the case with undiagnosed diabetes. Men aged 50–74 had a stable prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes (3.2% versus 2.3%), but there was a significant decline in the proportion of men with diabetes who were unaware of their condition (29.2% versus 17.3%). Women in all age groups and men aged 75+ showed an increasing prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes and a growing proportion of people who were unaware of their condition.

The second study aimed to understand whether having diabetes (in both diagnosed and undiagnosed cases) was related to the prevalence of and risk factors

for polypharmacy among older people. The results showed that people with diabetes had a substantially higher prevalence of polypharmacy (41.1% versus 14.8%) and heightened polypharmacy (5.8% versus 1.7%) than those without diabetes, even when medications specifically for diabetes were excluded. The results confirmed the hypothesis that diabetes was a great contributor to polypharmacy among older adults. The risk factors for polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy in the two groups also differed. People with diabetes who were men and obese were more likely to show polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy, while those without diabetes who had more depressive symptoms and worse cognitive function were at high risk. However, the results of this study showed for the first time that long-term conditions had a similar effect on polypharmacy in people with and without diabetes. More importantly, older age, which is regarded as a key factor for polypharmacy in the literature, was no longer associated with polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy among older adults with diabetes after adjustments for long-term conditions and health factors.

The aim of the third study was to examine the association between different levels of polypharmacy and all-cause and cause-specific mortality. Polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy showed a dose-response relationship with all-cause (HR = 1.51 and 2.29) and CVD (SHR = 2.45 and 3.67) mortality among older adults in England over a six-year period. The results were in line with the hypothesis of a gradient relationship between different levels of polypharmacy and mortality in older adults, independently of underlying health conditions. Heightened polypharmacy was additionally associated with cancer mortality (SHR = 3.03), even when people who had cancer at baseline were excluded. The presence of long-term conditions played the most important role in the association between polypharmacy and all-cause mortality, and diabetes was a confounder in this relationship. Diabetes, CHD, and lung

disease were also independently related to a higher risk of all-cause mortality, conditional on the same polypharmacy status.

The fourth study further explored whether high-risk medications posed a greater risk of all-cause and cause-specific mortality for older adults with polypharmacy, where polypharmacy was regarded as entailing higher mortality. Five high-risk medication patterns – a RAAS inhibitors cluster, a mental health drugs cluster, a CNS drugs cluster, a RAAS inhibitors and antithrombotics cluster, and an antithrombotics cluster – were identified in people with polypharmacy. Among these patterns, the mental health drugs cluster showed higher risks of all-cause (HR = 1.55) and CVD (SHR = 2.11) mortality than the CNS drugs cluster, while others showed no differences in mortality. The mental health drugs cluster also showed the highest prevalence of opioids and muscle relaxants among the five clusters. The findings suggested that older adults with polypharmacy who took mental health drugs (primarily antidepressants), opioids, and muscle relaxants were at higher risk of all-cause and CVD mortality, compared with those who did not take these types of medications. The results supported the hypothesis that particular high-risk medications further increased the mortality risk among older adults with polypharmacy.

To summarise, approximately one fifth of all participants were classified as having polypharmacy or heightened polypharmacy, indicating that polypharmacy was a prevalent phenomenon in this representative sample of community-dwelling older adults in England. Half of the older adults with diabetes showed polypharmacy – a considerably higher prevalence than among those without diabetes – while diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes kept rising over time. This was the first study to evaluate polypharmacy issues according to diabetes status, and it emphasised the importance of diabetes in the development of polypharmacy. Age was no longer a risk factor for polypharmacy among older people with diabetes, but male sex and obesity remained key features. Furthermore, polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy showed a dose-response relationship not only with all-cause mortality but also with CVD mortality, which has never been investigated before. Diabetes acted as an independent risk factor for mortality, highlighting the importance of diabetes in the care of older people. Lastly, this was the first study to my knowledge to identify particular high-risk medications – mental health drugs, opioids, and muscle relaxants – that further increased the risk of all-cause and CVD mortality among older adults with polypharmacy. Taken together, these findings suggest that polypharmacy is prevalent among older adults in England and that it is prone to higher mortality, especially for those on mental health drugs, opioids, and muscle relaxants. Diabetes in older people makes a substantial contribution to polypharmacy and predicts mortality independently.

7.2 Strengths and limitations

The strengths and limitations of each study have already been presented at the end of each chapter. This section highlights the overall strengths of this PhD research, along with its limitations.

This PhD work has several strengths. First, polypharmacy is a legitimate response to multimorbidity, but it is also influenced by health service utilisation behaviours in some cases. Understanding the prevalence, risk factors, and health consequences of polypharmacy in a nationally representative sample of older adults (ELSA) is one of the novelties of this work. ELSA collects comprehensive information on social, economic, and health aspects from a nationally representative sample of

older adults, thus enabling the investigation of polypharmacy issues under wellconsidered circumstances. Second, this PhD work set up a rigorous definition of polypharmacy that included exclusively long-term medications and concurrent OTC drugs for long-term conditions or symptoms. The inclusion of OTC drugs contributed to a thorough assessment of medication use among older people. Third, medication profiles were collected by nurses and used to verify self-reported health conditions and to define specific long-term conditions (not self-reported). This verification and collection process helped to reduce misreporting bias. Fourth, the verified diagnosis of diabetes used in the second, third, and fourth studies included undiagnosed cases and further reduced misclassification bias. Lastly, this PhD work used linked observational data from ELSA with mortality data derived from national registers rather than reports from relatives or others. The NHS's Central Register provides information on not only all-cause death but broad categories of cause of death.

The limitations of this PhD work should also be acknowledged in terms of the data, study design, and methodology. The first limitation concerns data collection and the definition of polypharmacy. Information on drug duration, dose, and frequency was not collected during the nurse visits, so no definite cut-off for long-term medications could be used, nor could appropriate or problematic polypharmacy be assessed. Also, some combination medications were indistinguishable from a single medication, so the amount of polypharmacy may have been underestimated in these cases. With regard to the mortality studies, the medications were collected at a single time point and may have changed over the follow-up period; thus, unmeasured time bias could not be avoided. Repeated measurements of the medication data would have helped to exclude people with short-term polypharmacy and ensure the persistence of polypharmacy status. In that case, the positive association between polypharmacy

and death would have been more robust and not overestimated. Further, recall bias in personal interviews and self-completion questionnaires may have occurred, even though self-reported conditions were verified by medication use.

The second limitation of this work is related to the study design. The first two studies were cross-sectional studies, so causality could not be ascertained. Moreover, there may have been underlying unmeasured factors that were responsible for the associations observed in this PhD work, because observational studies are subject to the residual confounding issue. The third limitation of this PhD research relates to methodological issues. By protocol, some participants were not eligible for blood sample collection (e.g. people who had a clotting or bleeding disorder or were currently on anticoagulant drugs) (Institute for Fiscal Studies 2014). In the first study of undiagnosed diabetes, participants who had HbA1c data showed significant differences in socio-demographic characteristics and health-related features compared with those who did not have HbA1c information. It may be that the results of the first study underestimated the effects, since sicker people had been excluded during the data collection process. Furthermore, as ELSA is a longitudinal study, individuals who participated in ELSA in 2004 and had high blood sugar levels received feedback on their blood biomarkers, and they may have contacted their GPs and had diabetes diagnosed. In that case, the prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes in 2012 will have decreased accordingly. Additionally, undiagnosed diabetes was defined by a single HbA1c value, which may have led to imprecision, since a clinical diagnosis mostly needs at least two tests or symptoms.

7.3 Clinical implications

The results of this PhD research highlight the importance of greater awareness of polypharmacy among older adults living in England, and in particular of special care for older people with diabetes. As polypharmacy status and certain long-term conditions (i.e. diabetes, CHD, and lung disease) were found to increase the risk of mortality in older people, polypharmacy management may need to integrate key conditions such as diabetes. In addition, some high-risk medications were identified as posing additional mortality risk to older adults with polypharmacy, which may help to improve the strategy for dealing with polypharmacy.

Medication reviews have been recommended by NICE (NICE 2020), NHS Scotland (NHS Scotland 2020), and NHS England (NHS England and NHS Improvement 2019) as a clinical intervention in polypharmacy. NHS England's medication review service is in transition at the moment, moving away from the medicines use reviews (MURs) commissioned from community pharmacies and towards enhanced 'structured medication reviews' carried out by clinical pharmacists (Department of Health and Social Care 2020). Clinical pharmacists are recruited in primary care networks as part of the new GP contract framework. The MUR service was introduced in 2005 and ended in the 2020–21 financial year. The national target groups for MURs are patients who take a high-risk medicine, and patients who have been discharged from hospital in the previous eight weeks and had changes made to the drugs they take while in hospital. High-risk medicines in MURs refer to NSAIDs, anticoagulants, anti-platelets, and diuretics (NHS Business Services Authority 2019). The MUR service was implemented in the UK for 15 years, with an unclear impact on patients' outcomes, although both pharmacists and patients viewed MURs positively (Stewart et al. 2020). The results of this study somewhat confirm the effectiveness of MURs in a community sample of older adults, since none of the MUR drug lists showed an association with increased mortality.

The new structured medication reviews started in April 2020 (NHS England and NHS Improvement 2019). The current proposed service model for structured medication reviews identifies certain groups of people who may benefit the most, including care home residents, people with frailty, patients with multiple comorbidities (particularly respiratory disease and CVD), patients with complex and problematic polypharmacy (specifically those on 10 or more medications), patients prescribed medicines that are commonly related to medication errors, and patients prescribed high numbers of addictive pain management drugs (NHS England and NHS Improvement 2019). The findings of this study suggest that in addition to structured medication reviews among older adults with heightened polypharmacy, those with polypharmacy should also be monitored, as they were found to be prone to adverse outcomes (i.e. mortality). This PhD work provides robust evidence of the higher risk that polypharmacy status poses in terms of not only death, but also high-risk medications which in turn increase the risk of mortality among older people with polypharmacy. Some medication use has been flagged in the polypharmacy guidance issued by NHS England and NHS Scotland. The service model of structured medication reviews proposed by NHS England includes addictive pain management drugs (e.g. opioids) (NHS England and NHS Improvement 2019), while the Scottish government has set up a long list of high-risk medications, defined by 17 case-finding indicators that refer to combinations of particular medications and specific symptoms or conditions (Scottish Government Polypharmacy Model of Care Group 2018). In the list of high-risk medications, no mental health drugs or muscle relaxants are discussed except for lithium, but opioids at high doses and in long-term use are emphasised. This study supports the inclusion of opioids in the current guidance, but it also suggests that older adults with polypharmacy who take mental illness medications and muscle relaxants are prone to suffer from adverse outcomes and therefore may need more attention. These results are expected to improve the service model of structured medication reviews, contributing to early intervention for older adults with polypharmacy and on specific medications. Early intervention in medication use, such as the close monitoring of specific medications and regular medication reviews, would ensure treatment appropriateness and medication optimisation. reduce polypharmacy-related problems such as adverse effects, drug-drug interactions, and redundant medications, and potentially bring clinical benefits to older people with polypharmacy.

In addition to polypharmacy status and high-risk medications, this PhD work highlights the importance of diabetes, CHD, and lung disease due to the high probability of adverse outcomes. This work accordingly highlights the need to integrate key conditions into both polypharmacy management and multimorbidity management, since no specific conditions are incorporated in the multimorbidity management or medicines optimisation proposed by NICE (Figure 7.1 to Figure 7.4) (NICE 2016). More importantly, this work not only supports the current guidelines on polypharmacy management, but also contributes to the improvement and updating of the guidelines. The findings of this PhD suggest that older adults with diabetes need to receive structured medication reviews, not only because of their considerable prevalence of polypharmacy, but also due to their increased mortality risk, apart from people with respiratory disease or CVD, who have been advised to do structured medication reviews according to NHS England (NHS England and NHS Improvement 2019).

204

Figure 7.1 NICE interactive flow chart for multimorbidity



Figure 7.2 NICE interactive flow chart for delivering an approach to care that takes account of multimorbidity



Figure 7.3 NICE pathway on medicines optimisation





Figure 7.4 NICE interactive flow chart for medication review

The importance of diabetes in the thorough management of multimorbidity and polypharmacy is recognised in this work; nevertheless, an increasing prevalence of both diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes was found among older adults. Notwithstanding the introduction of public information campaigns (e.g. the UK's annual Diabetes Week) and screening tests in primary care (e.g. NHS Health Checks) to improve diabetes awareness in the population, undiagnosed diabetes has not declined in clinical practice. Only men aged 50–74 showed a stable prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes; other participants showed a rising prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes. This suggests that men are being identified as at risk more readily than women through the NHS Health Check system, which targets people aged 40–74 years. The findings also suggest that adults aged 75 and over may need regular monitoring of their blood sugar levels to help early diagnosis, as well as the younger targeted population.

In summary, the results of this PhD work suggest that in addition to those with heightened polypharmacy, older adults with polypharmacy should be included in medication reviews. Among this population, those on mental health medications and muscle relaxants are prone to adverse outcomes and therefore may need more attention. This PhD work also highlights the importance of diabetes either in the development of polypharmacy or in adverse outcomes, indicating that older adults with diabetes should be given patient-centred healthcare that takes account of multimorbidity and polypharmacy concurrently. The increasing prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes observed over time further suggests that adults aged 75 and older may need regular monitoring of blood sugar levels to help early diagnosis, in addition to those aged 40–74, who are already targeted. Although polypharmacy is often not negative or inappropriate, early detection could contribute to prompt interventions (i.e. mediation reviews) that would ensure the rationalisation of polypharmacy, decrease medication-related problems, and potentially improve clinical outcomes among community-dwelling older people.

7.4 Research implications

As a longitudinal study of community-dwelling adults aged 50 and over, ELSA has provided an opportunity for researchers to study trends in polypharmacy and its associations with health outcomes since its first collection of medication profiles in 2012. This PhD research established a rigorous definition of polypharmacy in a population-based observational study: two comparable cut-offs (five and 10), medications in long-term use (including OTC drugs), detailed drug inclusion criteria, and counting each distinct pharmacological component as one drug. Although some combination drugs were not distinguishable from the single drug, and this was acknowledged as a limitation, the proportion was small. This rigorous definition of polypharmacy is a good reference for future studies. Studies where detailed information on medication use is available (i.e. the duration or start/end dates of prescriptions) can employ a clear cut-off of 90 days (three months) in the definition of polypharmacy, instead of using a broad concept of long-term use. In that case, polypharmacy would be defined more rigorously and robustly. This PhD work set up a comprehensive adjustment of comorbidities in observational studies of polypharmacy using specific long-term conditions and an illness count, as a guide for future research. It is recommended that self-reported diagnoses should be verified by medication profiles where possible, and that some conditions should be identified by recognisably specific treatments. The extensive consideration of multimorbidity allows researchers to properly assess the effect of polypharmacy, although observational studies are subject to the residual confounding issue. As ELSA will continue to collect information on medications, researchers will have the opportunity to explore issues related to polypharmacy in more detail over a longer period, using this study as a benchmark.

7.5 Future plans

Several research interests in polypharmacy arise from the research conducted during this PhD. It would be compelling and clinically important to investigate changes in persistent polypharmacy, new polypharmacy, and discontinued polypharmacy between 2012–13 and 2016–18 in this cohort. The change in high-risk medications in the three subgroups could be studied accordingly. Moreover, the role of diabetes in these changes could be investigated. Furthermore, a subgroup analysis of older adults

with limited life expectancy could be explored in terms of the deprescribing situation and alterations in high-risk medications. On the other hand, the association between polypharmacy measured on more than one occasion and mortality could be investigated to see whether sustained polypharmacy better predicts mortality. Lastly, the third collection of medications will be completed in 2022 (Wave 10), and it would be worthwhile to assess the changes in polypharmacy before and after the start of the new structured medication review service in 2020.

In addition to mortality outcomes in this study, depressive symptoms and cognitive impairment showed associations with polypharmacy and interacted with diabetes status; these therefore deserve further investigation. The trajectories of depressive symptoms and cognitive function according to polypharmacy status are well worth studying, especially in relation to diabetes status. Given the importance of quality of life in the literature, studies on the association between polypharmacy and quality of life or life satisfaction could be explored. Furthermore, the linkage between ELSA and hospital episode statistics or electronic health records could provide more information regarding medications and hospital admissions, enabling further studies on inappropriate prescriptions and cause-specific hospitalisations.

7.6 Final conclusion

This PhD consisted of four studies that aimed to examine the prevalence of and risk factors for polypharmacy and its associations with mortality, and the role of diabetes in those relationships. The data came from a nationally representative longitudinal study: ELSA. Taken together, the findings of this work contribute to a better understanding of the role of polypharmacy and diabetes in older adults' health, and they further highlight the importance of special care for older people with polypharmacy or diabetes. Due to the limitations of this PhD work, more studies are warranted to seek to replicate and expand the present findings, so as to provide more evidence to improve the strategy for polypharmacy management and diabetes care among older adults.

References

- Abolhassani, N., Castioni, J., Marques-Vidal, P., Vollenweider, P., and Waeber, G. 2017. 'Determinants of change in polypharmacy status in Switzerland: the population-based CoLaus study', *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 73(9): 1187-1194. doi: 10.1007/s00228-017-2288-1.
- Abreu, H. C., Reiners, A. A., Azevedo, R. C., Silva, A. M., Abreu, D., and Oliveira, A.
 2015. 'Incidence and predicting factors of falls of older inpatients', *Revista de Saude Publica*, 49: 37. doi: 10.1590/s0034-8910.2015049005549.
- Achterhof, A. B., Rozsnyai, Z., Reeve, E., Jungo, K. T., Floriani, C., Poortvliet, R. K.
 E., Rodondi, N., Gussekloo, J., and Streit, S. 2020. 'Potentially inappropriate medication and attitudes of older adults towards deprescribing', *PLoS ONE*, 15(10): e0240463. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0240463.
- Agardh, E., Allebeck, P., Hallqvist, J., Moradi, T., and Sidorchuk, A. 2011. 'Type 2 diabetes incidence and socio-economic position: a systematic review and meta-analysis', *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 40(3): 804-818. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyr029.
- Ahmed, B., Nanji, K., Mujeeb, R., and Patel, M. J. 2014. 'Effects of polypharmacy on adverse drug reactions among geriatric outpatients at a tertiary care hospital in Karachi: a prospective cohort study', *PLoS ONE*, 9(11): e112133. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0112133.
- Al-Dahshan, A., Al-Kubiasi, N., Al-Zaidan, M., Saeed, W., Kehyayan, V., and Bougmiza, I. 2020. 'Prevalence of polypharmacy and the association with noncommunicable diseases in Qatari elderly patients attending primary healthcare

centers: A cross-sectional study', *PLoS ONE*, 15(6): e0234386. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0234386.

- Alarcon, T., Barcena, A., Gonzalez-Montalvo, J. I., Penalosa, C., and Salgado, A.
 1999. 'Factors predictive of outcome on admission to an acute geriatric ward', *Age & Ageing*, 28(5): 429-432. doi: 10.1093/ageing/28.5.429.
- Alhawassi, T. M., Alatawi, W., and Alwhaibi, M. 2019. 'Prevalence of potentially inappropriate medications use among older adults and risk factors using the 2015 American Geriatrics Society Beers criteria', *BMC Geriatrics*, 19(1): 154. doi: 10.1186/s12877-019-1168-1.
- Aly El-Gabry, D. M., Abdel Aziz, K., Okasha, T., Azzam, H., and Okasha, A. 2018.
 'Antipsychotic Polypharmacy and Its Relation to Metabolic Syndrome in Patients With Schizophrenia: An Egyptian Study', *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 38(1): 27-33. doi: 10.1097/JCP.00000000000815.
- American Diabetes Association. 2018. 'Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2018 Abridged for Primary Care Providers', *Clinical Diabetes*, 36(1): 14-37. doi: 10.2337/cd17-0119.
- Anoopkumar-Dukie, S., Mey, A., Hall, S., Bernaitis, N., Davey, A. K., and Plummer, D. 2020. 'Non-prescription medicines may contribute to non-adherence to prescription medicines in people living with chronic health conditions', *International Journal of Clinical Practice*, 74(6): e13489. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.13489.
- Aronson, J. K. 2007. 'Communicating information about drug interactions', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 63(6): 637-639. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2007.02948.x.

- Badawy, N. A., Labeeb, S. A., Alsamdan, M. F., and Alazemi, B. F. 2020. 'Prevalence and Risk of Polypharmacy among Community-Dwelling, Elderly Kuwaiti Patients', *Medical Principles and Practice*, 29(2): 166-173. doi: 10.1159/000503298.
- Bailey, C. J., and Kodack, M. 2011. 'Patient adherence to medication requirements for therapy of type 2 diabetes', *International Journal of Clinical Practice*, 65(3): 314-322. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-1241.2010.02544.x.
- Baranzini, F., Diurni, M., Ceccon, F., Poloni, N., Cazzamalli, S., Costantini, C., Colli,
 C., Greco, L., and Callegari, C. 2009. 'Fall-related injuries in a nursing home setting: is polypharmacy a risk factor?', *BMC Health Services Research*, 9: 228. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-9-228.
- Barnett, N., Minshull, J., Algebory, M., Dave, K., Jhingan, M., Kalsi, D., Lawal, F., Said,
 Q. A., and Saran, G. 2020. 'The Scottish Polypharmacy Guidance app in practice', *Prescriber*, 31(6): 10-13. doi: 10.1002/psb.1847.
- Barrett, K., Lucas, E., and Alexander, G. C. 2016. 'How polypharmacy has become a medical burden worldwide', *Clinical Pharmacist*, 8(6). doi: 10.1211/PJ.2016.20201251.
- Basnet, S., Zhang, M., Lesser, M., Wolf-Klein, G., Qiu, G., Williams, M., Pekmezaris, R., and DiMarzio, P. 2018. 'Thirty-day hospital readmission rate amongst older adults correlates with an increased number of medications, but not with Beers medications', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 18(10): 1513-1518. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13518.
- Beagley, J., Guariguata, L., Weil, C., and Motala, A. A. 2014. 'Global estimates of undiagnosed diabetes in adults', *Diabetes research and clinical practice*, 103(2): 150-160. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2013.11.001.

- Best, O., Gnjidic, D., Hilmer, S. N., Naganathan, V., and McLachlan, A. J. 2013. 'Investigating polypharmacy and drug burden index in hospitalised older people', *Internal Medicine Journal*, 43(8): 912-918. doi: 10.1111/imj.12203.
- Beuscart, J. B., Pont, L. G., Thevelin, S., Boland, B., Dalleur, O., Rutjes, A. W. S., Westbrook, J. I., and Spinewine, A. 2017. 'A systematic review of the outcomes reported in trials of medication review in older patients: the need for a core outcome set', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 83(5): 942-952. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13197.
- Bleakley, S. 2016. 'Antidepressant drug interactions: evidence and clinical significance', *Progress in Neurology and Psychiatry*, 20(3): 21-27. doi: 10.1002/pnp.429.
- Bo, M., Gibello, M., Brunetti, E., Boietti, E., Sappa, M., Falcone, Y., Aurucci, M. L., lacovino, M., Fonte, G., and Cappa, G. 2019. 'Prevalence and predictors of inappropriate prescribing according to the Screening Tool of Older People's Prescriptions and Screening Tool to Alert to Right Treatment version 2 criteria in older patients discharged from geriatric and internal medicine wards: A prospective observational multicenter study', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 19(1): 5-11. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13542.
- Bowling, C. B., Booth, J. N., 3rd, Safford, M. M., Whitson, H. E., Ritchie, C. S., Wadley,
 V. G., Cushman, M., Howard, V. J., Allman, R. M., and Muntner, P. 2013.
 'Nondisease-specific problems and all-cause mortality in the REasons for
 Geographic and Racial Differences in Stroke study', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 61(5): 739-746. doi: 10.1111/jgs.12214.
- Bravo-Jose, P., Saez-Lleo, C. I., and Peris-Marti, J. F. 2019. 'Deprescribing antipsychotics in long term care patients with dementia', *Farmacia Hospitalaria*, 43(4): 140-145. doi: 10.7399/fh.11217.
- Brekke, M., Hunskaar, S., and Straand, J. 2006. 'Self-reported drug utilization, health, and lifestyle factors among 70-74 year old community dwelling individuals in Western Norway. The Hordaland Health Study (HUSK)', *BMC Public Health*, 6: 121. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-6-121.
- Brett, M., and Graham, K. L. 2018. 'When less is more: Teaching the art and science of deprescribing to address polypharmacy in primary care', *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 33: S750. doi: 10.1007/s11606-018-4413-y.
- Bridges, S., Hussey, D., and Blake, M. 2015. 'The dynamics of ageing: The 2012 English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (Wave 6), Technical Report'.
- Brugts, J. J., Yetgin, T., Hoeks, S. E., Gotto, A. M., Shepherd, J., Westendorp, R. G. J., de Craen, A. J. M., Knopp, R. H., Nakamura, H., Ridker, P., van Domburg, R., and Deckers, J. W. 2009. 'The benefits of statins in people without established cardiovascular disease but with cardiovascular risk factors: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials', *BMJ*, 338: b2376. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2376.
- Burnakis, T. G., and Mioduch, H. J. 1984. 'Combined Therapy With Captopril and Potassium Supplementation: A Potential for Hyperkalemia', *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 144(12): 2371-2372. doi: 10.1001/archinte.1984.00350220091020.
- By the 2019 American Geriatrics Society Beers Criteria® Update Expert Panel. 2019. 'American Geriatrics Society 2019 Updated AGS Beers Criteria® for Potentially Inappropriate Medication Use in Older Adults', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 67(4): 674-694. doi: 10.1111/jgs.15767.

- Cahir, C., Fahey, T., Teeling, M., Teljeur, C., Feely, J., and Bennett, K. 2010. 'Potentially inappropriate prescribing and cost outcomes for older people: a national population study', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 69(5): 543-552. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2010.03628.x.
- Campbell, N., Maidment, I., Fox, C., Khan, B., and Boustani, M. 2013. 'The 2012 update to the anticholinergic cognitive burden scale', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 61(S1): S142-S143. doi: 10.1111/jgs.2013.61.issue-s1.
- Campins, L., Serra-Prat, M., Palomera, E., Bolibar, I., Martinez, M. A., and Gallo, P. 2019. 'Reduction of pharmaceutical expenditure by a drug appropriateness intervention in polymedicated elderly subjects in Catalonia (Spain)', *Gaceta Sanitaria*, 33(2): 106-111. doi: 10.1016/j.gaceta.2017.09.002.
- Carmona-Torres, J. M., Cobo-Cuenca, A. I., Recio-Andrade, B., Laredo-Aguilera, J.
 A., Martins, M. M., and Rodriguez-Borrego, M. A. 2018. 'Prevalence and factors associated with polypharmacy in the older people: 2006-2014', *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27(15-16): 2942-2952. doi: 10.1111/jocn.14371.
- Carvalho, M. F. C., Romano-Lieber, N. S., Bergsten-Mendes, G., Secoli, S. R., Ribeiro, E., Lebrao, M. L., and Duarte, Y. A. O. 2012. 'Polypharmacy among the elderly in the city of Sao Paulo, Brazil SABE Study', *Revista Brasileira de Epidemiologia*, 15(4): 817-827. doi: 10.1590/s1415-790x2012000400013.
- Castilho, E. C. D., Reis, A. M. M., Borges, T. L., Siqueira, L. D. C., and Miasso, A. I. 2018. 'Potential drug-drug interactions and polypharmacy in institutionalized elderly patients in a public hospital in Brazil', *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 25(1): 3-13. doi: 10.1111/jpm.12431.
- Castioni, J., Marques-Vidal, P., Abolhassani, N., Vollenweider, P., and Waeber, G. 2017. 'Prevalence and determinants of polypharmacy in Switzerland: data from

the CoLaus study', *BMC Health Services Research*, 17(1): 840. doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2793-z.

- Caughey, G. E., Roughead, E. E., Shakib, S., McDermott, R. A., Vitry, A. I., and Gilbert, A. L. 2010. 'Comorbidity of chronic disease and potential treatment conflicts in older people dispensed antidepressants', *Age and Ageing*, 39(4): 488-494. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afq055.
- Chang, A. M., and Halter, J. B. 2003. 'Aging and insulin secretion', *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 284(1): E7-12. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00366.2002.
- Chao, C. T., Tsai, H. B., Wu, C. Y., Lin, Y. F., Hsu, N. C., Chen, J. S., and Hung, K. Y. 2015. 'Cumulative Cardiovascular Polypharmacy Is Associated With the Risk of Acute Kidney Injury in Elderly Patients', *Medicine*, 94(31): e1251. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000001251.
- Chapin, B. L., Medina, S., Le, D., Bussell, N., and Bussell, K. 1999. 'Prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes and abnormalities of carbohydrate metabolism in a U.S.
 Army population', *Diabetes Care*, 22(3): 426-429. doi: 10.2337/diacare.22.3.426.
- Chaput, J.-P., Dutil, C., and Sampasa-Kanyinga, H. 2018. 'Sleeping hours: what is the ideal number and how does age impact this?', *Nature and Science of Sleep*, 10: 421-430. doi: 10.2147/NSS.S163071.
- Chen, E. Y. H., Wang, K. N., Sluggett, J. K., Ilomaki, J., Hilmer, S. N., Corlis, M., and Bell, J. S. 2019. 'Process, impact and outcomes of medication review in Australian residential aged care facilities: A systematic review', *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, 38 Suppl 2: 9-25. doi: 10.1111/ajag.12676.

- Chen, L. L., Tangiisuran, B., Shafie, A. A., and Hassali, M. A. A. 2012. 'Evaluation of potentially inappropriate medications among older residents of Malaysian nursing homes', *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 34(4): 596-603. doi: 10.1007/s11096-012-9651-1.
- Chiu, M. H., Lee, H. D., Hwang, H. F., Wang, S. C., and Lin, M. R. 2015. 'Medication use and fall-risk assessment for falls in an acute care hospital', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 15(7): 856-863. doi: 10.1111/ggi.12359.
- Chun, J. C., Appel, S. J., and Simmons, S. 2018. '2015 Beers criteria medication review in assisted living facilities', *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, 30(11): 648-654. doi: 10.1097/JXX.00000000000082.
- Clague, F., Mercer, S. W., McLean, G., Reynish, E., and Guthrie, B. 2017. 'Comorbidity and polypharmacy in people with dementia: insights from a large, population-based cross-sectional analysis of primary care data', *Age and Ageing*, 46(1): 33-39. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afw176.
- Collett, D. 2015. *Modelling survival data in medical research* (3rd ed.) (Chapman & Hall/CRC: Philadelphia, PA).

Corriere, M., Rooparinesingh, N., and Kalyani, R. R. 2013. 'Epidemiology of diabetes and diabetes complications in the elderly: an emerging public health burden', *Current Diabetes Reports*, 13(6): 805-813. doi: 10.1007/s11892-013-0425-5.

Crawford, R. 2012. 'ELSA Pension Wealth Derived Variables (Waves 2 to 5): Methodology'. http://doc.ukdataservice.ac.uk/doc/5050/mrdoc/pdf/5050_ELSA_PW_methodo logy.pdf.

- Cross, R. K., Wilson, K. T., and Binion, D. G. 2005. 'Polypharmacy and Crohn's disease', *Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 21(10): 1211-1216. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2005.02429.x.
- Dagli, R. J., and Sharma, A. 2014. 'Polypharmacy: a global risk factor for elderly people', *Journal of International Oral Health*, 6(6): i-ii. doi: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4295469/
- Dall, T. M., Yang, W., Halder, P., Pang, B., Massoudi, M., Wintfeld, N., Semilla, A. P., Franz, J., and Hogan, P. F. 2014. 'The economic burden of elevated blood glucose levels in 2012: diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes, gestational diabetes mellitus, and prediabetes', *Diabetes Care*, 37(12): 3172-3179. doi: 10.2337/dc14-1036.
- Dankner, R., Geulayov, G., Olmer, L., and Kaplan, G. 2009. 'Undetected type 2 diabetes in older adults', *Age and Ageing*, 38(1): 56-62. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afn218.
- Davies, E. A., and O'Mahony, M. S. 2015. 'Adverse drug reactions in special populations - the elderly', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 80(4): 796-807. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12596.
- de Araujo, N. C., Silveira, E. A., Mota, B. G., Neves Mota, J. P., de Camargo Silva, A.
 E. B., Alves Guimaraes, R., and Pagotto, V. 2020. 'Potentially inappropriate medications for the elderly: Incidence and impact on mortality in a cohort ten-year follow-up', *PLoS One*, 15(10): e0240104. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0240104.
- Delafuente, J. C. 2008. 'Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic alterations in the geriatric patient', *Consultant Pharmacist*, 23(4): 324-334. doi: 10.4140/tcp.n.2008.324.

- Demakakos, P., Hamer, M., Stamatakis, E., and Steptoe, A. 2010. 'Low-intensity physical activity is associated with reduced risk of incident type 2 diabetes in older adults: evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing', *Diabetologia*, 53(9): 1877-1885. doi: 10.1007/s00125-010-1785-x.
- Demakakos, P., Marmot, M., and Steptoe, A. 2012. 'Socioeconomic position and the incidence of type 2 diabetes: the ELSA study', *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 27(5): 367-378. doi: 10.1007/s10654-012-9688-4.
- Department of Health and Social Care. 2020. 'Community Pharmacy Contractual Framework five-year deal: year 2 (2020 to 2021)', Accessed 18 November 2020. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-pharmacycontractual-framework-2019-to-2024/year-2-detail.
- Desai, R., Camacho, F., Tan, X., LeBaron, V., Blackhall, L., and Balkrishnan, R. 2019.
 'Mental Health Comorbidities and Elevated Risk of Opioid Use in Elderly Breast
 Cancer Survivors Using Adjuvant Endocrine Treatments', *Journal of Oncology Practice*, 15(9): e777-e786. doi: 10.1200/JOP.18.00781.
- Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee, Meneilly, G. S., Knip, A., Miller, D. B., Sherifali, D., Tessier, D., and Zahedi, A. 2018. 'Diabetes in Older People', *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*, 42 Suppl 1: S283-S295. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2017.10.021.
- Diabetes UK. 2010. 'Diabetes in the UK 2010: Key statistics on diabetes'. https://www.diabetes.org.uk/resources-s3/2017-

11/diabetes_in_the_uk_2010.pdf.

Diabetes UK. 2020. 'Campaigning', Accessed 13 May 2020. https://www.diabetes.org.uk/get_involved/campaigning.

- Dias, B. M., Santos, F. S. D., and Reis, A. M. M. 2019. 'Potential drug interactions in drug therapy prescribed for older adults at hospital discharge: cross-sectional study', *Sao Paulo Medical Journal*, 137(4): 369-378. doi: 10.1590/1516-3180.2019.013405072019.
- Diggins, K. 2019. 'Deprescribing: Polypharmacy management in older adults with comorbidities', *Nurse Practitioner*, 44(7): 50-55. doi: 10.1097/01.NPR.0000554677.33988.af.
- Dong, J. J., Lou, N. J., Zhao, J. J., Zhang, Z. W., Qiu, L. L., Zhou, Y., and Liao, L. 2011. 'Evaluation of a risk factor scoring model in screening for undiagnosed diabetes in China population', *Journal of Zhejiang University. Science. B*, 12(10): 846-852. doi: 10.1631/jzus.B1000390.
- Donoghue, O. A., Briggs, R., Moriarty, F., and Kenny, R. A. 2020. 'Association of Antidepressants With Recurrent, Injurious and Unexplained Falls is Not Explained by Reduced Gait Speed', *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 28(3): 274-284. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2019.10.004.
- Donoghue, O. A., Leahy, S., and Kenny, R. A. 2021. 'Longitudinal Associations Between Gait, Falls, and Disability in Community-Dwelling Older Adults With Type II Diabetes Mellitus: Findings From The Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA)', *Journals of Gerontology, Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 76(5): 906-913. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa263.
- Du, Y., Wolf, I. K., and Knopf, H. 2017. 'Association of psychotropic drug use with falls among older adults in Germany. Results of the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Adults 2008-2011 (DEGS1)', *PLoS One*, 12(8): e0182432. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0182432.

- Dwyer, M., Peklar, J., McCallion, P., McCarron, M., and Henman, M. C. 2016. 'Factors associated with polypharmacy and excessive polypharmacy in older people with intellectual disability differ from the general population: a cross-sectional observational nationwide study', *BMJ Open*, 6(4): e010505. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010505.
- Espino, D. V., Bazaldua, O. V., Palmer, R. F., Mouton, C. P., Parchman, M. L., Miles,
 T. P., and Markides, K. 2006. 'Suboptimal Medication Use and Mortality in an
 Older Adult Community-Based Cohort: Results From the Hispanic EPESE
 Study', *Journals of Gerontology, Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 61(2): 170-175. doi: 10.1093/gerona/61.2.170.
- Evans, D. C., Cook, C. H., Christy, J. M., Murphy, C. V., Gerlach, A. T., Eiferman, D., Lindsey, D. E., Whitmill, M. L., Papadimos, T. J., Beery, P. R., 2nd, Steinberg, S. M., and Stawicki, S. P. 2012. 'Comorbidity-polypharmacy scoring facilitates outcome prediction in older trauma patients', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 60(8): 1465-1470. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04075.x.
- Everitt, B. S., Landau, S., Leese, M., and Stahl, D. 2011. *Cluster analysis* (5th ed.) (Chichester : Wiley: Chichester).
- Faller, N., Limacher, A., Mean, M., Righini, M., Aschwanden, M., Beer, J. H., Frauchiger, B., Osterwalder, J., Kucher, N., Lammle, B., Cornuz, J., Angelillo-Scherrer, A., Matter, C. M., Husmann, M., Banyai, M., Staub, D., Mazzolai, L., Hugli, O., Rodondi, N., and Aujesky, D. 2017. 'Predictors and Causes of Long-Term Mortality in Elderly Patients with Acute Venous Thromboembolism: A Prospective Cohort Study', *American Journal of Medicine*, 130(2): 198-206. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2016.09.008.

- Feakins, B. G., McFadden, E. C., Farmer, A. J., and Stevens, R. J. 2018. 'Standard and competing risk analysis of the effect of albuminuria on cardiovascular and cancer mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus', *Diagnostic and Prognostic Research*, 2(1): 13. doi: 10.1186/s41512-018-0035-4.
- Fine, J. P., and Gray, R. J. 1999. 'A Proportional Hazards Model for the Subdistribution of a Competing Risk', *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 94(446): 496-509. doi: 10.1080/01621459.1999.10474144.
- Fisher-Hoch, S. P., Vatcheva, K. P., Rahbar, M. H., and McCormick, J. B. 2015. 'Undiagnosed Diabetes and Pre-Diabetes in Health Disparities', *PLoS One*, 10(7): e0133135. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0133135.
- Fonad, E., Robins Wahlin, T. B., and Rydholm Hedman, A. M. 2015. 'Associations between falls and general health, nutrition, dental health and medication use in Swedish home-dwelling people aged 75 years and over', *Health and Social Care in the Community*, 23(6): 594-604. doi: 10.1111/hsc.12182.
- Formiga, F., Vidal, X., Agusti, A., Chivite, D., Roson, B., Barbe, J., Lopez-Soto, A., Torres, O. H., Fernandez-Moyano, A., Garcia, J., Ramirez-Duque, N., San Jose, A., and Potentially Inappropriate Prescription in Older Patients in Spain Investigators, P. 2016. 'Inappropriate prescribing in elderly people with diabetes admitted to hospital', *Diabetic Medicine*, 33(5): 655-662. doi: 10.1111/dme.12894.
- Fowler, M. J. 2008. 'Microvascular and Macrovascular Complications of Diabetes', *Clinical Diabetes*, 26(2): 77-82. doi: 10.2337/diaclin.26.2.77.
- Franchi, C., Sequi, M., Tettamanti, M., Bonometti, F., Nobili, A., Fortino, I., Bortolotti,A., Merlino, L., Pasina, L., Djade, C. D., and Marengoni, A. 2013.'Antipsychotics prescription and cerebrovascular events in Italian older

persons', Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology, 33(4): 542-545. doi: 10.1097/JCP.0b013e3182968fda.

- Fried, T. R., O'Leary, J., Towle, V., Goldstein, M. K., Trentalange, M., and Martin, D. K. 2014. 'Health outcomes associated with polypharmacy in communitydwelling older adults: a systematic review', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 62(12): 2261-2272. doi: 10.1111/jgs.13153.
- Gadsby, R., Galloway, M., Barker, P., and Sinclair, A. 2012. 'Prescribed medicines for elderly frail people with diabetes resident in nursing homes-issues of polypharmacy and medication costs', *Diabetic Medicine*, 29(1): 136-139. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.03494.x.
- Galvin, R., Moriarty, F., Cousins, G., Cahir, C., Motterlini, N., Bradley, M., Hughes, C.
 M., Bennett, K., Smith, S. M., Fahey, T., and Kenny, R. A. 2014. 'Prevalence of potentially inappropriate prescribing and prescribing omissions in older Irish adults: findings from The Irish LongituDinal Study on Ageing study (TILDA)', *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 70(5): 599-606. doi: 10.1007/s00228-014-1651-8.
- Gaudiano, B. A., Guzman Holst, C., Morena, A., Reeves, L. E., Sydnor, V. J., Epstein-Lubow, G., and Weinstock, L. M. 2018. 'Complex Polypharmacy in Patients With Schizophrenia-Spectrum Disorders Before a Psychiatric Hospitalization: Prescribing Patterns and Associated Clinical Features', *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 38(3): 180-187. doi: 10.1097/JCP.00000000000876.
- Gellad, W. F., Grenard, J. L., and Marcum, Z. A. 2011. 'A systematic review of barriers to medication adherence in the elderly: Looking beyond cost and regimen complexity', *American Journal Geriatric Pharmacotherapy*, 9(1): 11-23. doi: 10.1016/j.amjopharm.2011.02.004.

- Geneva: WHO. 2019. 'Medication Safety in Polypharmacy'. https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/1235792/retrieve.
- Geneva: WHO. 2016. 'Multimorbidity: Technical Series on Safer Primary Care'. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/252275.
- Gerlach, L. B., Olfson, M., Kales, H. C., and Maust, D. T. 2017. 'Opioids and Other Central Nervous System-Active Polypharmacy in Older Adults in the United States', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 65(9): 2052-2056. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14930.
- Gill, S. S., Bronskill, S. E., Normand, S. L., Anderson, G. M., Sykora, K., Lam, K., Bell,
 C. M., Lee, P. E., Fischer, H. D., Herrmann, N., Gurwitz, J. H., and Rochon, P.
 A. 2007. 'Antipsychotic drug use and mortality in older adults with dementia', *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 146(11): 775-786. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-146-11-200706050-00006.
- Gillespie, R., Mullan, J., and Harrison, L. 2019. 'Attitudes towards deprescribing and the influence of health literacy among older Australians', *Primary Health Care Research & Development*, 20: e78. doi: 10.1017/S1463423618000919.
- Gleich, J., Pfeufer, D., Zeckey, C., Bocker, W., Gosch, M., Kammerlander, C., and Neuerburg, C. 2019. 'Orthogeriatric treatment reduces potential inappropriate medication in older trauma patients: a retrospective, dual-center study comparing conventional trauma care and co-managed treatment', *European Journal of Medical Research*, 24(1): 4. doi: 10.1186/s40001-019-0362-0.
- Glynn, R. J., Knight, E. L., Levin, R., and Avorn, J. 2001. 'Paradoxical relations of drug treatment with mortality in older persons', *Epidemiology*, 12(6): 682-689. doi: 10.1097/00001648-200111000-00017.

- Gómez, C., Vega-Quiroga, S., Bermejo-Pareja, F., Medrano, M. J., Louis, E. D., and Benito-León, J. 2015. 'Polypharmacy in the Elderly: A Marker of Increased Risk of Mortality in a Population-Based Prospective Study (NEDICES)', *Gerontology*, 61(4): 301-309. doi: 10.1159/000365328.
- Gregg, E. W., Cheng, Y. L. J., Srinivasan, M., Lin, J., Geiss, L. S., Albright, A. L., and Imperatore, G. 2018. 'Trends in cause-specific mortality among adults with and without diagnosed diabetes in the USA: an epidemiological analysis of linked national survey and vital statistics data', *Lancet*, 391(10138): 2430-2440. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30314-3.
- Guaraldi, G., Malagoli, A., Calcagno, A., Mussi, C., Celesia, B. M., Carli, F., Piconi, S., De Socio, G. V., Cattelan, A. M., Orofino, G., Riva, A., Foca, E., Nozza, S., and Di Perri, G. 2018. 'The increasing burden and complexity of multi-morbidity and polypharmacy in geriatric HIV patients: a cross sectional study of people aged 65 74 years and more than 75 years', *BMC Geriatrics*, 18(1): 99. doi: 10.1186/s12877-018-0789-0.
- Guisado-Clavero, M., Violan, C., Lopez-Jimenez, T., Roso-Llorach, A., Pons-Vigues,
 M., Munoz, M. A., and Foguet-Boreu, Q. 2019. 'Medication patterns in older adults with multimorbidity: a cluster analysis of primary care patients', *BMC Family Practice*, 20(1): 82. doi: 10.1186/s12875-019-0969-9.
- Gutierrez-Valencia, M., Izquierdo, M., Beobide-Telleria, I., Ferro-Uriguen, A., Alonso-Renedo, J., Casas-Herrero, A., and Martinez-Velilla, N. 2019. 'Medicine optimization strategy in an acute geriatric unit: The pharmacist in the geriatric team', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 19(6): 530-536. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13659.

- Gutierrez-Valencia, M., Izquierdo, M., Cesari, M., Casas-Herrero, A., Inzitari, M., and Martinez-Velilla, N. 2018. 'The relationship between frailty and polypharmacy in older people: A systematic review', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 84(7): 1432-1444. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13590.
- Gutierrez-Valencia, M., Izquierdo, M., Malafarina, V., Alonso-Renedo, J., Gonzalez-Glaria, B., Larrayoz-Sola, B., Monforte-Gasque, M. P., Latasa-Zamalloa, P., and Martinez-Velilla, N. 2017. 'Impact of hospitalization in an acute geriatric unit on polypharmacy and potentially inappropriate prescriptions: A retrospective study', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 17(12): 2354-2360. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13073.
- Hajjar, E. R., Cafiero, A. C., and Hanlon, J. T. 2007. 'Polypharmacy in elderly patients', *American Journal of Geriatric Pharmacotherapy*, 5(4): 345-351. doi: 10.1016/j.amjopharm.2007.12.002.
- Hallgren, J., Ernsth Bravell, M., Molstad, S., Ostgren, C. J., Midlov, P., and Dahl Aslan,
 A. K. 2016. 'Factors associated with increased hospitalisation risk among nursing home residents in Sweden: a prospective study with a three-year follow-up', *International Journal of Older People Nursing*, 11(2): 130-139. doi: 10.1111/opn.12107.
- Hamada, S., Ohno, Y., Kojima, T., Ishii, S., Okochi, J., and Akishita, M. 2019.
 'Prevalence of cytochrome P450-mediated potential drug-drug interactions in residents of intermediate care facilities for older adults in Japan', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 19(6): 513-517. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13652.
- Hanlon, P., Quinn, T. J., Gallacher, K. I., Myint, P. K., Jani, B. D., Nicholl, B. I., Lowrie, R., Soiza, R. L., Neal, S. R., Lee, D., and Mair, F. S. 2020. 'Assessing Risks of

Polypharmacy Involving Medications With Anticholinergic Properties', *Annals of Family Medicine*, 18(2): 148. doi: 10.1370/afm.2501.

- Hariri, S., Yoon, P. W., Moonesinghe, R., Valdez, R., and Khoury, M. J. 2006.
 'Evaluation of family history as a risk factor and screening tool for detecting undiagnosed diabetes in a nationally representative survey population', *Genetics in Medicine*, 8(12): 752-759. doi: 10.1097/01.gim.0000250205.73963.f3.
- Harris, M. I., and Eastman, R. C. 2000. 'Early detection of undiagnosed diabetes mellitus: a US perspective', *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, 16(4): 230-236. doi: 10.1002/1520-7560(2000)9999:9999<::aid-dmrr122>3.0.co;2-w.
- Hartikainen, S., Mantyselka, P., Louhivuori-Laako, K., Enlund, H., and Sulkava, R.
 2005. 'Concomitant use of analgesics and psychotropics in home-dwelling elderly people-Kuopio 75 + study', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 60(3): 306-310. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2005.02417.x.
- Hasan, S. S., Chang, S. H., Thiruchelvam, K., Chong, D. W. K., and Babar, Z. U. 2020.
 'Drug burden index, polypharmacy and patient health outcomes in cognitively intact older residents of aged care facilities in Malaysia', *Journal of Pharmacy Practice and Research*, 50(1): 13-21. doi: 10.1002/jppr.1556.
- Hashimoto, R., Fujii, K., Shimoji, S., Utsumi, A., Hosokawa, K., Tochino, H., Sanehisa, S., Akishita, M., and Onda, M. 2020. 'Study of pharmacist intervention in polypharmacy among older patients: Non-randomized, controlled trial', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 20(3): 229-237. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13850.

- Health in Aging Foundation. 2017. 'A Guide to Geriatric Syndromes'. http://www.healthinaging.org/files/documents/tipsheets/geri_syndromes1.pdf.
- Heider, D., Matschinger, H., Meid, A. D., Quinzler, R., Adler, J. B., Gunster, C., Haefeli,
 W. E., and Konig, H. H. 2018. 'The impact of potentially inappropriate medication on the development of health care costs and its moderation by the number of prescribed substances. Results of a retrospective matched cohort study', *PLoS One*, 13(7): e0198004. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0198004.
- Hernández, B., Reilly, R. B., and Kenny, R. A. 2019. 'Investigation of multimorbidity and prevalent disease combinations in older Irish adults using network analysis and association rules', *Scientific Reports*, 9(1): 14567. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-51135-7.
- Hess, K. R. 1995. 'Graphical methods for assessing violations of the proportional hazards assumption in Cox regression', *Statistics in Medicine*, 14(15): 1707-1723. doi: 10.1002/sim.4780141510.
- Hippisley-Cox, J., Coupland, C., Robson, J., Sheikh, A., and Brindle, P. 2009.
 'Predicting risk of type 2 diabetes in England and Wales: prospective derivation and validation of QDScore', *BMJ*, 338: b880. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b880.
- Holmqvist, M., Thor, J., Ros, A., and Johansson, L. 2019. 'Older persons' experiences regarding evaluation of their medication treatment-An interview study in Sweden', *Health Expectations*, 22(6): 1294-1303. doi: 10.1111/hex.12967.
- Hou, C. L., Wang, S. B., Wang, F., Xu, M. Z., Chen, M. Y., Cai, M. Y., Xiao, Y. N., and Jia, F. J. 2019. 'Psychotropic medication treatment patterns in community-dwelling schizophrenia in China: comparisons between rural and urban areas', *BMC Psychiatry*, 19(1): 242. doi: 10.1186/s12888-019-2217-1.

- Huang, C. H., Umegaki, H., Watanabe, Y., Kamitani, H., Asai, A., Kanda, S., Nomura,
 H., and Kuzuya, M. 2019. 'Potentially inappropriate medications according to
 STOPP-J criteria and risks of hospitalization and mortality in elderly patients
 receiving home-based medical services', *PLoS One*, 14(2): e0211947. doi:
 10.1371/journal.pone.0211947.
- Huang, C. Y., Yang, S. Y., Mojtabai, R., Lin, S. K., He, Y. L., Chong, M. Y., Ungvari, G., Tan, C. H., Xiang, Y. T., Sartorius, N., Shinfuku, N., and Chen, L. Y. 2018.
 'Trends of Polypharmacy and Prescription Patterns of Antidepressants in Asia', *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 38(6): 598-603. doi: 10.1097/JCP.00000000000954.
- Huang, E. S., Karter, A. J., Danielson, K. K., Warton, E. M., and Ahmed, A. T. 2010.
 'The association between the number of prescription medications and incident falls in a multi-ethnic population of adult type-2 diabetes patients: the diabetes and aging study', *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 25(2): 141-146. doi: 10.1007/s11606-009-1179-2.
- Huang, Y. T., Steptoe, A., Wei, L., and Zaninotto, P. 2021a. 'Dose-response relationships between polypharmacy and all-cause and cause-specific mortality among older people', *Journals of Gerontology, Series A: Biological Sciences* and Medical Sciences. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glab155.
- Huang, Y. T., Steptoe, A., Wei, L., and Zaninotto, P. 2021b. 'Polypharmacy difference between older people with and without diabetes: Evidence from the English longitudinal study of ageing', *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 176: 108842. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2021.108842.
- Huang, Y. T., Steptoe, A., and Zaninotto, P. 2021. 'Prevalence of Undiagnosed Diabetes in 2004 and 2012: Evidence From the English Longitudinal Study of

Aging', Journals of Gerontology, Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 76(5): 922-928. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa179.

- Huang, Y. T., Steptoe, A., Wei, L. and Zaninotto, P. 2021. 'The impact of high-risk medications on mortality risk among older adults with polypharmacy: evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing', *BMC Medicine*, 19:321. doi: 10.1186/s12916-021-02192-1.
- Hucteau, E., Noize, P., Pariente, A., Helmer, C., and Peres, K. 2019. 'Potentially inappropriate medications and risk of autonomy loss for activities of daily living in the elderly', *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 28(Suppl 2): 283-284. doi: 10.1002/pds.4864.
- Ie, K., Felton, M., Springer, S., Wilson, S. A., and Albert, S. M. 2017. 'Physician Factors Associated with Polypharmacy and Potentially Inappropriate Medication Use', *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, 30(4): 528-536. doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2017.04.170121.
- Ijaz, S., Bolea, B., Davies, S., Savovic, J., Richards, A., Sullivan, S., and Moran, P.
 2018. 'Antipsychotic polypharmacy and metabolic syndrome in schizophrenia: a review of systematic reviews', *BMC Psychiatry*, 18(1): 275. doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1848-y.
- Iniesta-Navalon, C., Gascon-Canovas, J. J., Gama, Z. A. D. S., Sanchez-Ruiz, J. F., Gutierrez-Estrada, E. A., De-la-Cruz-Sanchez, E., and Harrington-Fernandez,
 O. 2019. 'Potential and clinical relevant drug-drug interactions among elderly from nursing homes: a multicentre study in Murcia, Spain', *Ciencia e Saude Coletiva*, 24(5): 1895-1902. doi: 10.1590/1413-81232018245.16032017.
- Institute for Fiscal Studies. 2014. 'The Dynamics of Ageing: Evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing 2002–2012'.

Institute for Fiscal Studies. 2016. 'English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA): Data

- & documentation', Accessed 04 June 2020. https://www.elsaproject.ac.uk/data-and-documentation.
- Ishizaki, T., Mitsutake, S., Hamada, S., Teramoto, C., Shimizu, S., Akishita, M., and Ito, H. 2020. 'Drug prescription patterns and factors associated with polypharmacy in >1 million older adults in Tokyo', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 20(4): 304-311. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13880.
- Islam, F. M., Chakrabarti, R., Islam, M. T., Wahab, M., Lamoureux, E., Finger, R. P., and Shaw, J. E. 2016. 'Prediabetes, diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes, their risk factors and association with knowledge of diabetes in rural Bangladesh:
 The Bangladesh Population-based Diabetes and Eye Study', *Journal of Diabetes*, 8(2): 260-268. doi: 10.1111/1753-0407.12294.
- Ivanova, I., Elseviers, M., Vander Stichele, R., Dilles, T., and Christiaens, T. 2018. 'The impact of potentially inappropriate medication use on mortality and hospitalization in nursing home residents', *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 27(Suppl 2): 439. doi: 10.1002/pds.4629.
- Jaspers Focks, J., Brouwer, M. A., Wojdyla, D. M., Thomas, L., Lopes, R. D., Washam,
 J. B., Lanas, F., Xavier, D., Husted, S., Wallentin, L., Alexander, J. H., Granger,
 C. B., and Verheugt, F. W. A. 2016. 'Polypharmacy and effects of apixaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation: post hoc analysis of the ARISTOTLE trial', *BMJ*, 353: i2868. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i2868.
- Johansson, T., Abuzahra, M. E., Keller, S., Mann, E., Faller, B., Sommerauer, C., Hock, J., Loffler, C., Kochling, A., Schuler, J., Flamm, M., and Sonnichsen, A. 2016. 'Impact of strategies to reduce polypharmacy on clinically relevant

endpoints: a systematic review and meta-analysis', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 82(2): 532-548. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12959.

- John, W. G. 2012. 'Use of HbA1c in the diagnosis of diabetes mellitus in the UK. The implementation of World Health Organization guidance 2011', *Diabetic Medicine*, 29(11): 1350-1357. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2012.03762.x.
- Joint Formulary Committee. 2018. 'British National Formulary', Accessed 14 January 2019. http://www.medicinescomplete.com
- Jones, M., Tett, S., Peeters, G. M., Mishra, G. D., and Dobson, A. 2017. 'New-Onset Diabetes After Statin Exposure in Elderly Women: The Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health', *Drugs & Aging*, 34(3): 203-209. doi: 10.1007/s40266-017-0435-0.
- Justiniano, C. F., Coffey, R. A., Evans, D. C., Jones, L. M., Jones, C. D., Bailey, J. K., Miller, S. F., and Stawicki, S. P. 2015. 'Comorbidity-polypharmacy score predicts in-hospital complications and the need for discharge to extended care facility in older burn patients', *Journal of Burn Care & Research*, 36(1): 193-196. doi: 10.1097/BCR.0000000000000094.
- Jyrkka, J., Mursu, J., Enlund, H., and Lonnroos, E. 2012. 'Polypharmacy and nutritional status in elderly people', *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, 15(1): 1-6. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e32834d155a.
- Kadra, G., Stewart, R., Shetty, H., MacCabe, J. H., Chang, C. K., Taylor, D., and Hayes, R. D. 2018. 'Long-term antipsychotic polypharmacy prescribing in secondary mental health care and the risk of mortality', *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 138(2): 123-132. doi: 10.1111/acps.12906.
- Kase, Y., Hattori, Y., Umeda-Kameyama, Y., Kojima, T., Ogawa, S., and Akishita, M. 2019. 'Improvement in polypharmacy and medication regimen complexity

among older inpatients with dementia in a geriatric ward', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 19(5): 461-462. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13653.

- Katsimpris, A., Linseisen, J., Meisinger, C., and Volaklis, K. 2019. 'The Association Between Polypharmacy and Physical Function in Older Adults: a Systematic Review', *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 34(9): 1865-1873. doi: 10.1007/s11606-019-05106-3.
- Kennel, P. J., Kneifati-Hayek, J., Bryan, J., Banerjee, S., Sobol, I., Lachs, M. S., Safford, M. M., and Goyal, P. 2019. 'Prevalence and determinants of Hyperpolypharmacy in adults with heart failure: an observational study from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES)', *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders*, 19(1): 76. doi: 10.1186/s12872-019-1058-7.
- Kim, H. A., Shin, J. Y., Kim, M. H., and Park, B. J. 2014. 'Prevalence and predictors of polypharmacy among Korean elderly', *PLoS One*, 9(6): e98043. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098043.
- Kirkman, M. S., Briscoe, V. J., Clark, N., Florez, H., Haas, L. B., Halter, J. B., Huang,
 E. S., Korytkowski, M. T., Munshi, M. N., Odegard, P. S., Pratley, R. E., and
 Swift, C. S. 2012. 'Diabetes in Older Adults', *Diabetes Care*, 35(12): 2650. doi: 10.2337/dc12-1801.
- Kojima, T., Akishita, M., Kameyama, Y., Yamaguchi, K., Yamamoto, H., Eto, M., and Ouchi, Y. 2012. 'High risk of adverse drug reactions in elderly patients taking six or more drugs: analysis of inpatient database', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 12(4): 761-762. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0594.2012.00868.x.
- Kojima, T., Akishita, M., Nakamura, T., Nomura, K., Ogawa, S., Iijima, K., Eto, M., and Ouchi, Y. 2011. 'Association of polypharmacy with fall risk among geriatric

outpatients', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 11(4): 438-444. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0594.2011.00703.x.

- Kojima, T., Akishita, M., Nakamura, T., Nomura, K., Ogawa, S., Iijima, K., Eto, M., and Ouchi, Y. 2012. 'Polypharmacy as a risk for fall occurrence in geriatric outpatients', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 12(3): 425-430. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0594.2011.00783.x.
- Kojima, T., Matsui, T., Suzuki, Y., Takeya, Y., Tomita, N., Kozaki, K., Kuzuya, M., Rakugi, H., Arai, H., and Akishita, M. 2020. 'Risk factors for adverse drug reactions in older inpatients of geriatric wards at admission: Multicenter study', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 20(2): 144-149. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13844.
- Kojima, T., Shimada, K., Terada, A., Nishizawa, K., Matsumoto, K., Yoshimatsu, Y., and Akishita, M. 2016. 'Association between polypharmacy and multiple uses of medical facilities in nursing home residents', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 16(6): 770-771. doi: 10.1111/ggi.12591.
- Komiya, H., Umegaki, H., Asai, A., Kanda, S., Maeda, K., Shimojima, T., Nomura, H., and Kuzuya, M. 2018. 'Factors associated with polypharmacy in elderly homecare patients', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 18(1): 33-41. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13132.
- Kral, L., and Ustic, S. 2012. 'Managing Adverse Drug Effects in Pain: Focus on Muscle Relaxants', Practical Pain Management, Accessed 21 January 2021. https://www.practicalpainmanagement.com/treatments/pharmacological/nonopioids/managing-adverse-drug-effects-pain-focus-muscle-relaxants.
- Laflamme, L., Monarrez-Espino, J., Johnell, K., Elling, B., and Moller, J. 2015. 'Type, number or both? A population-based matched case-control study on the risk of

fall injuries among older people and number of medications beyond fallinducing drugs', *PLoS One*, 10(3): e0123390. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123390.

- Lagerin, A., Lundh, L., Tornkvist, L., and Fastbom, J. 2020. 'District nurses' use of a decision support and assessment tool to improve the quality and safety of medication use in older adults: a feasibility study', *Primary Health Care Research and Development*, 21: e15. doi: 10.1017/S1463423620000092.
- Lai, S. W., Liao, K. F., Liao, C. C., Muo, C. H., Liu, C. S., and Sung, F. C. 2010.
 'Polypharmacy correlates with increased risk for hip fracture in the elderly: a population-based study', *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 89(5): 295-299. doi: 10.1097/MD.0b013e3181f15efc.
- Lai, S. W., Lin, C. H., Liao, K. F., Su, L. T., Sung, F. C., and Lin, C. C. 2012. 'Association between polypharmacy and dementia in older people: a population-based case-control study in Taiwan', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 12(3): 491-498. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0594.2011.00800.x.
- Leahy, S., AM, O. H., N, O. L., Healy, M., McCormack, M., Kenny, R. A., and J, O. C. 2015. 'Prevalence and correlates of diagnosed and undiagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus and pre-diabetes in older adults: Findings from the Irish Longitudinal Study on Ageing (TILDA)', *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 110(3): 241-249. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2015.10.015.
- Lee, P. G., and Halter, J. B. 2017. 'The Pathophysiology of Hyperglycemia in Older Adults: Clinical Considerations', *Diabetes Care*, 40(4): 444-452. doi: 10.2337/dc16-1732.

- Lee, S. W. H., Mak, V. S. L., and Tang, Y. W. 2019. 'Pharmacist services in nursing homes: A systematic review and meta-analysis', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 85(12): 2668-2688. doi: 10.1111/bcp.14101.
- Leelakanok, N., Holcombe, A. L., Lund, B. C., Gu, X., and Schweizer, M. L. 2017. 'Association between polypharmacy and death: A systematic review and metaanalysis', *Journal of the American Pharmacists Association*, 57(6): 729-738.e710. doi: 10.1016/j.japh.2017.06.002.
- LeRoith, D., Biessels, G. J., Braithwaite, S. S., Casanueva, F. F., Draznin, B., Halter, J. B., Hirsch, I. B., McDonnell, M. E., Molitch, M. E., Murad, M. H., and Sinclair, A. J. 2019. 'Treatment of Diabetes in Older Adults: An Endocrine Society* Clinical Practice Guideline', *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 104(5): 1520-1574. doi: 10.1210/jc.2019-00198.
- Leszek, S., Jadwiga, J. O., and Agnieszka, B. S. 2016. 'Polypharmacy as a risk factor for depressive symptoms in geriatric patients: An observational, cross-sectional study', Ars Pharmaceutica, 57(3): 127-135. doi: 10.4321/S2340-98942016000300004.
- Li, S., Williams, P. L., and Douglass, C. W. 2011. 'Development of a clinical guideline to predict undiagnosed diabetes in dental patients', *Journal of the American Dental Association*, 142(1): 28-37. doi: 10.14219/jada.archive.2011.0025.
- Li, Z., Guo, X., Jiang, H., Sun, G., Sun, Y., and Abraham, M. R. 2016. 'Diagnosed but Not Undiagnosed Diabetes Is Associated with Depression in Rural Areas', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13(11): 1136 doi: 10.3390/ijerph13111136.
- Lim, L. M., McStea, M., Chung, W. W., Nor Azmi, N., Abdul Aziz, S. A., Alwi, S., Kamarulzaman, A., Kamaruzzaman, S. B., Chua, S. S., and Rajasuriar, R.

2017. 'Prevalence, risk factors and health outcomes associated with polypharmacy among urban community-dwelling older adults in multi-ethnic Malaysia', *PLoS One*, 12(3): e0173466. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0173466.

- Lin, H. W., Lin, C. H., Chang, C. K., Chou, C. Y., Yu, I. W., Lin, C. C., Li, T. C., Li, C. I., and Hsieh, Y. W. 2018. 'Economic outcomes of pharmacist-physician medication therapy management for polypharmacy elderly: A prospective, randomized, controlled trial', *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association*, 117(3): 235-243. doi: 10.1016/j.jfma.2017.04.017.
- Lindblad, C. I., Hanlon, J. T., Gross, C. R., Sloane, R. J., Pieper, C. F., Hajjar, E. R., Ruby, C. M., Schmader, K. E., and Multidisciplinary Consensus, P. 2006.
 'Clinically important drug-disease interactions and their prevalence in older adults', *Clinical Therapeutics*, 28(8): 1133-1143. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2006.08.006.
- Lipska, K. J., De Rekeneire, N., Van Ness, P. H., Johnson, K. C., Kanaya, A., Koster,
 A., Strotmeyer, E. S., Goodpaster, B. H., Harris, T., Gill, T. M., and Inzucchi, S.
 E. 2010. 'Identifying dysglycemic states in older adults: implications of the emerging use of hemoglobin A1c', *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 95(12): 5289-5295. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-1171.
- Little, M. O. 2018. 'Updates in nutrition and polypharmacy', *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, 21(1): 4-9. doi: 10.1097/MCO.000000000000425.
- Liu, C. L., Peng, L. N., Chen, Y. T., Lin, M. H., Liu, L. K., and Chen, L. K. 2012.
 'Potentially inappropriate prescribing (IP) for elderly medical inpatients in Taiwan: a hospital-based study', *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 55(1): 148-151. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2011.07.001.

- Lopez-Rodriguez, J. A., Rogero-Blanco, E., Aza-Pascual-Salcedo, M., Lopez-Verde,
 F., Pico-Soler, V., Leiva-Fernandez, F., Prados-Torres, J. D., Prados-Torres,
 A., Cura-Gonzalez, I., and group, M. 2020. 'Potentially inappropriate prescriptions according to explicit and implicit criteria in patients with multimorbidity and polypharmacy. MULTIPAP: A cross-sectional study', *PLoS One*, 15(8): e0237186. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237186.
- Lu, J., Yang, M., Luo, L., Hao, Q., and Dong, B. 2014. 'Polypharmacy among nonagenarians/centenarians in rural China', *Internal Medicine Journal*, 44(12a): 1193-1199. doi: 10.1111/imj.12534.
- Lu, W. H., Wen, Y. W., Chen, L. K., and Hsiao, F. Y. 2015. 'Effect of polypharmacy, potentially inappropriate medications and anticholinergic burden on clinical outcomes: a retrospective cohort study', *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, 187(4): E130-E137. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.141219.
- Lundby, C., Graabaek, T., Ryg, J., Sondergaard, J., Pottegard, A., and Nielsen, D. S. 2019. 'Health care professionals' attitudes towards deprescribing in older patients with limited life expectancy: A systematic review', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 85(5): 868-892. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13861.
- Maddison, A. R., Fisher, J., and Johnston, G. 2011. 'Preventive medication use among persons with limited life expectancy', *Progress in Palliative Care*, 19(1): 15-21. doi: 10.1179/174329111x576698.
- Makris, U. E., Pugh, M. J., Alvarez, C. A., Berlowitz, D. R., Turner, B. J., Aung, K., and Mortensen, E. M. 2015. 'Exposure to High-Risk Medications is Associated With Worse Outcomes in Older Veterans With Chronic Pain', *American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, 350(4): 279-285. doi: 10.1097/MAJ.00000000000552.

- Mannucci, P. M., Nobili, A., Marchesini, E., Oliovecchio, E., Cortesi, L., Coppola, A., Santagostino, E., Radossi, P., Castaman, G., Valdre, L., Santoro, C., Tagliaferri, A., Ettorre, C., Zanon, E., Barillari, G., Cantori, I., Caimi, T. M., Sottilotta, G., Peyvandi, F., and Iorio, A. 2018. 'Rate and appropriateness of polypharmacy in older patients with hemophilia compared with age-matched controls', *Haemophilia*, 24(5): 726-732. doi: 10.1111/hae.13595.
- Mantelli, S., Jungo, K. T., Rozsnyai, Z., Reeve, E., Luymes, C. H., Poortvliet, R. K. E., Chiolero, A., Rodondi, N., Gussekloo, J., and Streit, S. 2018. 'How general practitioners would deprescribe in frail oldest-old with polypharmacy - the LESS study', *BMC Family Practice*, 19(1): 169. doi: 10.1186/s12875-018-0856-9.
- Marques, G. F. M., Rezende, D., Silva, I. P. D., Souza, P. C., Barbosa, S. R. M., Penha, R. M., and Polisel, C. G. 2018. 'Polypharmacy and potentially inappropriate medications for elder people in gerontological nursing', *Revista Brasileira de Enfermagem*, 71(5): 2440-2446. doi: 10.1590/0034-7167-2017-0211.
- Marron, L., Segurado, R., Kenny, R. A., and McNicholas, T. 2019. 'The association between benzodiazepine use and falls, and the impact of sleep quality on this association: data from the TILDA study', *Monthly Journal of the Association of Physicians*, 113(1): 31-36. doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcz217.
- Martial, L., Mantel-Teeuwisse, A. K., and Jansen, P. A. F. 2013. 'Priority Medicines for Elderly'.

https://www.who.int/medicines/areas/priority_medicines/BP7_3Elderly.pdf.

Martinez-Gomez, D., Guallar-Castillon, P., Higueras-Fresnillo, S., Banegas, J. R., Sadarangani, K. P., and Rodriguez-Artalejo, F. 2018. 'A healthy lifestyle attenuates the effect of polypharmacy on total and cardiovascular mortality: a national prospective cohort study', *Scientific Reports*, 8(1): 12615. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-30840-9.

- Martinez, A. I., Abner, E. A., and Moga, D. C. 2019. 'Meaningful measurement matters: How to best define potentially inappropriate medication use to target cognitive outcomes', *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 28(Suppl 2): 62. doi: 10.1002/pds.4864.
- Masnoon, N., Shakib, S., Kalisch-Ellett, L., and Caughey, G. 2019. 'Identifying patients' at risk of adverse outcomes from inappropriate polypharmacy', Safety, Pharmacoepidemiology and Drua 28(Suppl 2): 184. doi: 10.1002/pds.4864.
- Masnoon, N., Shakib, S., Kalisch-Ellett, L., and Caughey, G. E. 2017. 'What is polypharmacy? A systematic review of definitions', *BMC Geriatrics*, 17(1): 230. doi: 10.1186/s12877-017-0621-2.
- Masnoon, N., Shakib, S., Kalisch Ellett, L., and Caughey, G. E. 2020. 'Rationalisation of polypharmacy in practice: a survey of physicians and pharmacists', *Journal* of Pharmacy Practice and Research, 50(3): 233-241. doi: 10.1002/jppr.1597.
- Masumoto, S., Sato, M., Maeno, T., Ichinohe, Y., and Maeno, T. 2018. 'Potentially inappropriate medications with polypharmacy increase the risk of falls in older Japanese patients: 1-year prospective cohort study', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 18(7): 1064-1070. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13307.
- Maust, D. T., Strominger, J., Kim, H. M., Langa, K. M., Bynum, J. P. W., Chang, C.H., Kales, H. C., Zivin, K., Solway, E., and Marcus, S. C. 2021. 'Prevalence of
 Central Nervous System–Active Polypharmacy Among Older Adults With
 Dementia in the US', *JAMA*, 325(10): 952-961. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.1195.

- McAvay, G., Allore, H. G., Cohen, A. B., Gnjidic, D., Murphy, T. E., and Tinetti, M. E. 2017. 'Guideline-Recommended Medications and Physical Function in Older Adults with Multiple Chronic Conditions', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 65(12): 2619-2626. doi: 10.1111/jgs.15065.
- McMahon, C. G., Cahir, C. A., Kenny, R. A., and Bennett, K. 2014. 'Inappropriate prescribing in older fallers presenting to an Irish emergency department', *Age and Ageing*, 43(1): 44-50. doi: 10.1093/ageing/aft114.
- Mecca, M. C., Thomas, J. M., Niehoff, K. M., Hyson, A., Jeffery, S. M., Sellinger, J., Mecca, A. P., Van Ness, P. H., Fried, T. R., and Brienza, R. 2019. 'Assessing an Interprofessional Polypharmacy and Deprescribing Educational Intervention for Primary Care Post-graduate Trainees: a Quantitative and Qualitative Evaluation', *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 34(7): 1220-1227. doi: 10.1007/s11606-019-04932-9.
- Meurs, M., Roest, A. M., Wolffenbuttel, B. H., Stolk, R. P., de Jonge, P., and Rosmalen, J. G. 2016. 'Association of Depressive and Anxiety Disorders With Diagnosed Versus Undiagnosed Diabetes: An Epidemiological Study of 90,686 Participants', *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 78(2): 233-241. doi: 10.1097/PSY.00000000000255.
- Mizokami, F., Mizuno, T., Kanamori, K., Oyama, S., Nagamatsu, T., Lee, J. K., and Kobayashi, T. 2019. 'Clinical medication review type III of polypharmacy reduced unplanned hospitalizations in older adults: A meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 19(12): 1275-1281. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13796.
- Momo, K., Yasu, T., Hayashi, D., Saitoh, M., Ito, Y., Yashiro, Y., Nagumo, J., Seki, R., Furuya, J., Okuno, Y., Horii, T., Abe, K., and Shirota, M. 2019. 'Polypharmacy

in >75-year-Old Patients on Admission to Tokyo-Area Hospitals', *American Journal of Therapeutics*, 26(6): e736-e738. doi: 10.1097/MJT.0000000000889.

- Monteiro, L., Maricoto, T., Solha, I., Ribeiro-Vaz, I., Martins, C., and Monteiro-Soares,
 M. 2019. 'Reducing Potentially Inappropriate Prescriptions for Older Patients
 Using Computerized Decision Support Tools: Systematic Review', *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(11): e15385. doi: 10.2196/15385.
- Montiel-Luque, A., Nunez-Montenegro, A. J., Martin-Aurioles, E., Canca-Sanchez, J.
 C., Toro-Toro, M. C., Gonzalez-Correa, J. A., and Polipresact Research, G.
 2017. 'Medication-related factors associated with health-related quality of life in patients older than 65 years with polypharmacy', *PLoS One*, 12(2): e0171320.
 doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0171320.
- Moody, A., Cowley, G., Ng Fat, L., and Mindell, J. S. 2016. 'Social inequalities in prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes and impaired glucose regulation in participants in the Health Surveys for England series', *BMJ Open*, 6(2): e010155. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010155.
- Mooi, E., Sarstedt, M., and Mooi-Reci, I. 2018. *Market Research : The Process, Data, and Methods Using Stata* (1st ed.) (Springer Singapore).
- Moore, E. M., Mander, A. G., Ames, D., Kotowicz, M. A., Carne, R. P., Brodaty, H., Woodward, M., Boundy, K., Ellis, K. A., Bush, A. I., Faux, N. G., Martins, R., Szoeke, C., Rowe, C., and Watters, D. A. 2013. 'Increased risk of cognitive impairment in patients with diabetes is associated with metformin', *Diabetes Care*, 36(10): 2981-2987. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0229.
- Moriarty, F., Bennett, K., Cahir, C., Kenny, R. A., and Fahey, T. 2016. 'Potentially inappropriate prescribing according to STOPP and START and adverse

outcomes in community-dwelling older people: a prospective cohort study', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 82(3): 849-857. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12995.

- Moriarty, F., Bennett, K., Fahey, T., Kenny, R. A., and Cahir, C. 2015. 'Longitudinal prevalence of potentially inappropriate medicines and potential prescribing omissions in a cohort of community-dwelling older people', *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 71(4): 473-482. doi: 10.1007/s00228-015-1815-1.
- Moriarty, F., Bennett, K., Kenny, R. A., Fahey, T., and Cahir, C. 2020. 'Comparing Potentially Inappropriate Prescribing Tools and Their Association With Patient Outcomes', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 68(3): 526-534. doi: 10.1111/jgs.16239.
- Moriarty, F., Cahir, C., Bennett, K., Hughes, C. M., Kenny, R. A., and Fahey, T. 2017.
 'Potentially inappropriate prescribing and its association with health outcomes in middle-aged people: a prospective cohort study in Ireland', *BMJ Open*, 7(10): e016562. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016562.
- Moriarty, F., Hardy, C., Bennett, K., Smith, S. M., and Fahey, T. 2015. 'Trends and interaction of polypharmacy and potentially inappropriate prescribing in primary care over 15 years in Ireland: A repeated cross-sectional study', *BMJ Open*, 5(9): e008656. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008656.
- Morin, L., Hawley, S., Wastesson, J. W., Johnell, K., and Prieto-Alhambra, D. 2019.
 'Multidose drug dispensing and longitudinal changes in psychotropic prescribing patterns among older adults: National matched cohort study', *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 28(Suppl 2): 60-61. doi: 10.1002/pds.4864.

- Mostaedi, R., Lackey, D. E., Adams, S. H., Dada, S. A., Hoda, Z. A., and Ali, M. R. 2014. 'Prevalence of undiagnosed and inadequately treated type 2 diabetes mellitus, hypertension, and dyslipidemia in morbidly obese patients who present for bariatric surgery', *Obesity Surgery*, 24(6): 927-935. doi: 10.1007/s11695-014-1196-z.
- Murman, D. L. 2015. 'The Impact of Age on Cognition', *Seminars in Hearing*, 36(3): 111-121. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1555115.
- Muth, C., Blom, J. W., Smith, S. M., Johnell, K., Gonzalez-Gonzalez, A. I., Nguyen, T. S., Brueckle, M. S., Cesari, M., Tinetti, M. E., and Valderas, J. M. 2019.
 'Evidence supporting the best clinical management of patients with multimorbidity and polypharmacy: a systematic guideline review and expert consensus', *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 285(3): 272-288. doi: 10.1111/joim.12842.
- Najafipour, H., Sanjari, M., Shokoohi, M., Haghdoost, A. A., Afshari, M., Shadkam, M., Etemad, K., and Mirzazade, A. 2015. 'Epidemiology of diabetes mellitus, prediabetes, undiagnosed and uncontrolled diabetes and its predictors in general population aged 15 to 75 years: A community-based study (KERCADRS) in southeastern Iran', *Journal of Diabetes*, 7(5): 613-621. doi: 10.1111/1753-0407.12195.
- Narayan, S. W., Pearson, S. A., Litchfield, M., Le Couteur, D. G., Buckley, N., McLachlan, A. J., and Zoega, H. 2019. 'Anticholinergic medicines use among older adults before and after initiating dementia medicines', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 85(9): 1957-1963. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13976.
- Nascimento, M. M. G., Ribeiro, A. Q., Pereira, M. L., Soares, A. C., de Loyola Filho, A. I., and Dias-Junior, C. A. C. 2014. 'Identification of inappropriate prescribing

in a Brazilian nursing home using STOPP/START screening tools and the beers' criteria', *Brazilian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 50(4): 911-918. doi: 10.1590/S1984-82502014000400027.

- NatCen Social Research. 2018. 'User Guide to the Nurse Visit Datasets: Waves 2, 4, 6, 8'.
- National Health Service. 2019. 'NHS Health Check', Accessed 15 July 2019. https://www.healthcheck.nhs.uk/.
- National Health Service Business Services Authority. 2019. 'Medicines use review (MUR) / new medicine services (NMS) drug lists', Accessed 18 November 2020. https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/dispensing-contractors-information/medicines-0.
- National Health Service Digital. 2018. 'Health Survey for England: Diabetes', Accessed 07 November 2019. http://healthsurvey.hscic.gov.uk/datavisualisation/data-visualisation/explore-the-trends/diabetes.aspx.
- National Health Service England and National Health Service Improvement. 2019. 'Network Contract Direct Enhanced Service: Draft Outline Service Specifications'. https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/survey/primary-carenetworks-service-

specifications/supporting_documents/Draft%20PCN%20Service%20Specifications%20December%202019.pdf.

National Health Service Scotland. 2020. 'Polypharmacy Guidance - Medicines Review', Accessed 24 July 2020. http://www.polypharmacy.scot.nhs.uk/polypharmacy-guidance-medicinesreview/for-healthcare-professionals/7-steps/.

248

- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2015. 'Type 2 diabetes in adults: management', Accessed 28 January 2021. https://www.nice.org.uk/Guidance/NG28.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2016. 'Multimorbidity: clinical assessment and management', Accessed 30 October 2020. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng56.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2017. 'Multimorbidity and polypharmacy', Accessed 30 October 2020. https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/ktt18/chapter/Evidence-context.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2019. 'Lipid-modifying drugs',Accessed31December2020.

https://www.nice.org.uk/advice/ktt3/chapter/evidence-context.

- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. 2020. 'Performing a structured medication review', Accessed 24 July 2020. https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/medicines-optimisation/medication-review#content=view-node:nodes-performing-structured-medication-review.
- Neves, S. J., Marques, A. P., Leal, M. C., Diniz Ada, S., Medeiros, T. S., and Arruda,
 I. K. 2013. 'Epidemiology of medication use among the elderly in an urban area of Northeastern Brazil', *Revista de Saude Publica*, 47(4): 759-767; discussion 768. doi: 10.1590/S0034-8910.2013047003768.
- Nguyen, T. X., Nguyen, A. T., Nguyen, H. T. T., Nguyen, T. T. H., Nguyen, T. N., Pham, T., and Vu, H. T. T. 2020. 'Polypharmacy at discharge in older hospitalised patients in Vietnam and its association with frailty', *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, 39(3): 230-236. doi: 10.1111/ajag.12722.

- Nigam, P. K. 2011. 'Serum Lipid Profile: Fasting or Non-fasting?', *Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry*, 26(1): 96-97. doi: 10.1007/s12291-010-0095-x.
- Nightingale, G., Skonecki, E., and Boparai, M. K. 2017. 'The Impact of Polypharmacy on Patient Outcomes in Older Adults With Cancer', *Cancer Journal*, 23(4): 211-218. doi: 10.1097/PPO.00000000000277.
- Niikawa, H., Okamura, T., Ito, K., Ura, C., Miyamae, F., Sakuma, N., Ijuin, M., Inagaki, H., Sugiyama, M., and Awata, S. 2017. 'Association between polypharmacy and cognitive impairment in an elderly Japanese population residing in an urban community', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 17(9): 1286-1293. doi: 10.1111/ggi.12862.
- Noale, M., Veronese, N., Cavallo Perin, P., Pilotto, A., Tiengo, A., Crepaldi, G., and Maggi, S. 2016. 'Polypharmacy in elderly patients with type 2 diabetes receiving oral antidiabetic treatment', *Acta Diabetologica*, 53(2): 323-330. doi: 10.1007/s00592-015-0790-4.
- Nobili, A., Marengoni, A., Tettamanti, M., Salerno, F., Pasina, L., Franchi, C., Iorio, A., Marcucci, M., Corrao, S., Licata, G., and Mannucci, P. M. 2011. 'Association between clusters of diseases and polypharmacy in hospitalized elderly patients: results from the REPOSI study', *European Journal of Internal Medicine*, 22(6): 597-602. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2011.08.029.
- Nomura, K., Mendelsohn, A. B., Kusama, M., Igarashi, A., and Akazawa, M. 2011. 'Drug use patterns and predictors of polypharmacy among elderly, Communityresiding persons in hiroshima, Japan', *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 20: S301-S302. doi: 10.1002/pds.2206.
- Noteboom, B., Jenkins, S., Maiorana, A., Cecins, N., Ng, C., and Hill, K. 2014. 'Comorbidities and medication burden in patients with chronic obstructive

pulmonary disease attending pulmonary rehabilitation', *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, 34(1): 75-79. doi: 10.1097/HCR.000000000000036.

- O'Mahony, D., O'Sullivan, D., Byrne, S., O'Connor, M. N., Ryan, C., and Gallagher, P.
 2015. 'STOPP/START criteria for potentially inappropriate prescribing in older people: version 2', *Age and Ageing*, 44(2): 213-218. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afu145.
- Ognibene, S., Vazzana, N., Giumelli, C., Savoldi, L., Braglia, L., and Chesi, G. 2018. 'Hospitalisation and morbidity due to adverse drug reactions in elderly patients: a single-centre study', *Internal Medicine Journal*, 48(10): 1192-1197. doi: 10.1111/imj.13961.
- Olvera, R. L., Fisher-Hoch, S. P., Williamson, D. E., Vatcheva, K. P., and McCormick,
 J. B. 2016. 'Depression in Mexican Americans with diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes', *Psychological Medicine*, 46(3): 637-646. doi: 10.1017/S0033291715002160.
- Ong, S. M., Lim, Y. M. F., Sivasampu, S., and Khoo, E. M. 2018. 'Variation of polypharmacy in older primary care attenders occurs at prescriber level', *BMC Geriatrics*, 18(1): 59. doi: 10.1186/s12877-018-0750-2.
- Papazafiropoulou, A., Koutsovasilis, A., Melidonis, A., Pappas, S., and Bousboulas,
 S. 2014. 'Rates of polypharmacy among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Greece', *Archives of Hellenic Medicine*, 31(6): 750-752. doi: http://www.mednet.gr/archives/2014-6/pdf/750.pdf
- Paque, K., De Schreye, R., Elseviers, M., Vander Stichele, R., Pardon, K., Dilles, T.,Christiaens, T., Deliens, L., and Cohen, J. 2019. 'Discontinuation of medications at the end of life: A population study in Belgium, based on linked

administrative databases', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 85(4): 827-837. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13874.

- Parekh, N., Ali, K., Stevenson, J. M., Davies, J. G., Schiff, R., Van der Cammen, T., Harchowal, J., Raftery, J., Rajkumar, C., and group, P. s. 2018. 'Incidence and cost of medication harm in older adults following hospital discharge: a multicentre prospective study in the UK', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 84(8): 1789-1797. doi: 10.1111/bcp.13613.
- Park, H. Y., Park, J. W., Song, H. J., Sohn, H. S., and Kwon, J. W. 2017. 'The Association between Polypharmacy and Dementia: A Nested Case-Control Study Based on a 12-Year Longitudinal Cohort Database in South Korea', *PLoS One*, 12(1): e0169463. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169463.
- Patton, D. E., Cadogan, C. A., Ryan, C., Francis, J. J., Gormley, G. J., Passmore, P., Kerse, N., and Hughes, C. M. 2018. 'Improving adherence to multiple medications in older people in primary care: Selecting intervention components to address patient-reported barriers and facilitators', *Health Expectations*, 21(1): 138-148. doi: 10.1111/hex.12595.
- Peklar, J., Kos, M., O'Dwyer, M., McCarron, M., McCallion, P., Kenny, R. A., and Henman, M. C. 2017. 'Medication and supplement use in older people with and without intellectual disability: An observational, cross-sectional study', *PLoS One*, 12(9): e0184390. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0184390.
- Pelavski, A. D., De Miguel, M., Alcaraz Garcia-Tejedor, G., Villarino, L., Lacasta, A., Senas, L., and Rochera, M. I. 2017. 'Mortality, Geriatric, and Nongeriatric Surgical Risk Factors Among the Eldest Old: A Prospective Observational Study', *Anesthesia and Analgesia*, 125(4): 1329-1336. doi: 10.1213/ANE.0000000002389.
- Pereira, K. G., Peres, M. A., Iop, D., Boing, A. C., Boing, A. F., Aziz, M., and d'Orsi, E.
 2017. 'Polypharmacy among the elderly: a population-based study', *Revista Brasileira de Epidemiologia (Brazilian Journal of Epidemiology)*, 20(2): 335-344. doi: 10.1590/1980-5497201700020013.
- Pergolizzi, J. V., Jr., Ma, L., Foster, D. R., Overholser, B. R., Sowinski, K. M., Taylor, R., Jr., and Summers, K. H. 2014. 'The prevalence of opioid-related major potential drug-drug interactions and their impact on health care costs in chronic pain patients', *Journal of Managed Care and Specialty Pharmacy*, 20(5): 467-476. doi: 10.18553/jmcp.2014.20.5.467.
- Peron, E. P., Ogbonna, K. C., and Donohoe, K. L. 2015. 'Antidiabetic medications and polypharmacy', *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine* 31(1): 17-27, vii. doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2014.08.017.
- Pierce, M. B., Zaninotto, P., Steel, N., and Mindell, J. 2009. 'Undiagnosed diabetesdata from the English longitudinal study of ageing', *Diabetic Medicine*, 26(7): 679-685. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2009.02755.x.
- Potter, E. L., Lew, T. E., Sooriyakumaran, M., Edwards, A. M., Tong, E., and Aung, A.
 K. 2019. 'Evaluation of pharmacist-led physician-supported inpatient deprescribing model in older patients admitted to an acute general medical unit', *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, 38(3): 206-210. doi: 10.1111/ajag.12643.
- Pourhadi, H., Pearson, K., and Tacey, M. 2020. 'Does a De-prescribing checklist reduce unnecessary medications in elderly hospital patients?', *Internal Medicine Journal*, 50(Suppl 1): 20-21. doi: 10.1111/imj.14849.
- Prados-Torres, A., Calderón-Larrañaga, A., Hancco-Saavedra, J., Poblador-Plou, B., and van den Akker, M. 2014. 'Multimorbidity patterns: a systematic review',

Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 67(3): 254-266. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.09.021.

- Prentice, A. M., and Jebb, S. A. 2001. 'Beyond body mass index', *Obesity Reviews*, 2(3): 141-147. doi: 10.1046/j.1467-789x.2001.00031.x.
- Press, Y., Punchik, B., and Freud, T. 2016. 'Orthostatic hypotension and drug therapy in patients at an outpatient comprehensive geriatric assessment unit', *Journal of Hypertension*, 34(2): 351-358. doi: 10.1097/HJH.00000000000781.
- Ramos, L. R., Tavares, N. U., Bertoldi, A. D., Farias, M. R., Oliveira, M. A., Luiza, V.
 L., Pizzol, T. D., Arrais, P. S., and Mengue, S. S. 2016. 'Polypharmacy and Polymorbidity in Older Adults in Brazil: a public health challenge', *Revista de Saude Publica*, 50(Suppl 2): 9s. doi: 10.1590/S1518-8787.2016050006145.
- Randall, M. 2017. 'Overview of the UK population: July 2017', Office for National Statistics Accessed 26 December 2018. https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigrati on/populationestimates/articles/overviewoftheukpopulation/july2017.
- Raschi, E., Piccinni, C., Signoretta, V., Lionello, L., Bonezzi, S., Delfino, M., Di Candia,
 L., Di Castri, L., Pieraccini, F., Carati, D., Poluzzi, E., De Ponti, F., and EmiliaRomagna elderly poly-treated patients research, g. 2015. 'Clinically important
 drug-drug interactions in poly-treated elderly outpatients: a campaign to
 improve appropriateness in general practice', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 80(6): 1411-1420. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12754.
- Rawle, M. J., Richards, M., Davis, D., and Kuh, D. 2018. 'The prevalence and determinants of polypharmacy at age 69: a British birth cohort study', *BMC Geriatrics*, 18(1): 118. doi: 10.1186/s12877-018-0795-2.

- Ray, W. A., Chung, C. P., Murray, K. T., Hall, K., and Stein, C. M. 2016. 'Prescription of Long-Acting Opioids and Mortality in Patients With Chronic Noncancer Pain', *JAMA*, 315(22): 2415-2423. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.7789.
- Reed College. n.d. 'Cluster Analysis in Stata', Accessed 03 November 2020. https://www.reed.edu/psychology/stata/analyses/advanced/cluster.html.
- Ribeiro Da Silva, M. R., Diniz, L. M., Ribeiro Dos Santos, J. B., Reis, E. A., Rodrigues
 Da Mata, A., Eloisa De Araujo, V., Alvares, J., and De Assis Acurcio, F. 2016.
 'Polypharmacy: Prevalence and associated factors in elderly with diabetes
 mellitus in Minas Gerais, Brazil', *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 25(Suppl 3): 359-360. doi: 10.1002/pds.4070.
- Richardson, K., Ananou, A., Lafortune, L., Brayne, C., and Matthews, F. E. 2011.
 'Variation over time in the association between polypharmacy and mortality in the older population', *Drugs and Aging*, 28(7): 547-560. doi: 10.2165/11592000-00000000-000000.
- Richardson, K., Bennett, K., and Kenny, R. A. 2014. 'Polypharmacy including falls riskincreasing medications and subsequent falls in community-dwelling middleaged and older adults', *Age and Ageing*, 44(1): 90-96. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afu141.
- Richardson, K., Bennett, K., Maidment, I. D., Fox, C., Smithard, D., and Kenny, R. A. 2015. 'Use of Medications with Anticholinergic Activity and Self-Reported Injurious Falls in Older Community-Dwelling Adults', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 63(8): 1561-1569. doi: 10.1111/jgs.13543.
- Richardson, K., Kenny, R. A., and Bennett, K. 2014. 'The effect of free health care on polypharmacy: a comparison of propensity score methods and multivariable

regression to account for confounding', *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 23(6): 656-665. doi: 10.1002/pds.3590.

- Rieckert, A., Trampisch, U. S., Klaasen-Mielke, R., Drewelow, E., Esmail, A., Johansson, T., Keller, S., Kunnamo, I., Loffler, C., Makinen, J., Piccoliori, G., Vogele, A., and Sonnichsen, A. 2018. 'Polypharmacy in older patients with chronic diseases: a cross-sectional analysis of factors associated with excessive polypharmacy', *BMC Family Practice*, 19(1): 113. doi: 10.1186/s12875-018-0795-5.
- Rifkin, D. E., and Winkelmayer, W. C. 2010. 'Medication Issues in Older Individuals With CKD', Advances in Chronic Kidney Disease, 17(4): 320-328. doi: 10.1053/j.ackd.2010.03.005.
- Robson, J., Dostal, I., Madurasinghe, V., Sheikh, A., Hull, S., Boomla, K., Griffiths, C., and Eldridge, S. 2017. 'NHS Health Check comorbidity and management: an observational matched study in primary care', *British Journal of General Practice*, 67(655): e86-e93. doi: 10.3399/bjgp16X688837.
- Rogero-Blanco, E., Lopez-Rodriguez, J. A., Sanz-Cuesta, T., Aza-Pascual-Salcedo,
 M., Bujalance-Zafra, M. J., Cura-Gonzalez, I., and MultiPAP Group. 2020. 'Use of an electronic clinical decision support system in primary care to assess inappropriate polypharmacy in young seniors with multimorbidity:
 Observational, descriptive, cross-sectional study', *JMIR Medical Informatics*, 8(3): e14130. doi: 10.2196/14130.
- Romano-Lieber, N. S., Corona, L. P., Marques, L. F. G., and Secoli, S. R. 2019. 'Survival of the elderly and exposition to polypharmacy in the city of Sao Paulo, Brazil: SABE Study', *Revista Brasileira de Epidemiologia (Brazilian Journal of*

Epidemiology), 21(Suppl 2): e180006. doi: 10.1590/1980-549720180006.supl.2.

- Ruxton, K., Woodman, R. J., and Mangoni, A. A. 2015. 'Drugs with anticholinergic effects and cognitive impairment, falls and all-cause mortality in older adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 80(2): 209-220. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12617.
- Saedi, E., Gheini, M. R., Faiz, F., and Arami, M. A. 2016. 'Diabetes mellitus and cognitive impairments', *World Journal of Diabetes*, 7(17): 412-422. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v7.i17.412.
- Samsa, G. P., Hanlon, J. T., Schmader, K. E., Weinberger, M., Clipp, E. C., Uttech, K.
 M., Lewis, I. K., Landsman, P. B., and Cohen, H. J. 1994. 'A summated score for the medication appropriateness index: development and assessment of clinimetric properties including content validity', *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 47(8): 891-896. doi: 10.1016/0895-4356(94)90192-9.
- Santos, T. R., Lima, D. M., Nakatani, A. Y., Pereira, L. V., Leal, G. S., and Amaral, R.
 G. 2013. 'Medicine use by the elderly in Goiania, Midwestern Brazil', *Revista de Saude Publica*, 47(1): 94-103. doi: 10.1590/s0034-89102013000100013.
- Sarbacker, G. B., Espino, D. V., Wood, R. C., Oakes, S. L., Anand, D., and Markides,
 K. A. 2017. 'Total anticholinergic burden and survival within a cohort of elderly
 Mexican Americans', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 17(10): 1515-1521. doi: 10.1111/ggi.12907.
- Sarkar, U., Lyles, C., Steinman, M., Huang, E. S., Moffet, H. H., Whitmer, R. A., Warton, E. M., and Karter, A. J. 2017. 'Changes in Medication Use After Dementia Diagnosis in an Observational Cohort of Individuals with Diabetes

Mellitus', Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 65(1): 77-82. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14429.

- Sarwar, M. R., Iftikhar, S., and Sarfraz, M. 2018. 'Influence of Education Level of Older Patients on Polypharmacy, Potentially Inappropriate Medications Listed in Beer's Criteria, and Unplanned Hospitalization: A Cross-Sectional Study in Lahore, Pakistan', *Medicina*, 54(4): 24. doi: 10.3390/medicina54040057.
- Schear, S., Patel, K., Deng, L. X., Miaskowski, C., Maravilla, I., Garrigues, S. K., Thompson, N., Auerbach, A. D., and Ritchie, C. S. 2019. 'Multimorbidity and Opioid Prescribing in Hospitalized Older Adults', *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 23(4): 475-482. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2019.0260.
- Schlesinger, A., Weiss, A., Nenaydenko, O., Adunsky, A., and Beloosesky, Y. 2016. 'Does Polypharmacy in Nursing Homes Affect Long-Term Mortality?', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 64(7): 1432-1438. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14213.
- Schneider, R., Reinau, D., Schur, N., Blozik, E., Fruh, M., Signorell, A., Meier, C. R., and Schwenkglenks, M. 2019. 'Drug prescription patterns, polypharmacy and potentially inappropriate medication in Swiss nursing homes: a descriptive analysis based on claims data', *Swiss Medical Weekly*, 149: w20126. doi: 10.4414/smw.2019.20126.
- Schopf, A. C., von Hirschhausen, M., Farin, E., and Maun, A. 2018. 'Elderly patients' and GPs' perspectives of patient-GP communication concerning polypharmacy: a qualitative interview study', *Primary Health Care Research & Development*, 19(4): 355-364. doi: 10.1017/S1463423617000883.
- Schottker, B., Saum, K. U., Muhlack, D. C., Hoppe, L. K., Holleczek, B., and Brenner,H. 2017. 'Polypharmacy and mortality: new insights from a large cohort of older adults by detection of effect modification by multi-morbidity and comprehensive

correction of confounding by indication', *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 73(8): 1041-1048. doi: 10.1007/s00228-017-2266-7.

- Scottish Government Polypharmacy Model of Care Group. 2018. 'Polypharmacy Guidance, Realistic Prescribing 3rd Edition', Scottish Government.
- Semenkovich, K., Brown, M. E., Svrakic, D. M., and Lustman, P. J. 2015. 'Depression in type 2 diabetes mellitus: prevalence, impact, and treatment', *Drugs*, 75(6): 577-587. doi: 10.1007/s40265-015-0347-4.
- Sevilla-Sanchez, D., Molist-Brunet, N., Gonzalez-Bueno, J., Sola-Bonada, N., Espaulella-Panicot, J., and Codina-Jane, C. 2018. 'Prevalence, risk factors and adverse outcomes of anticholinergic burden in patients with advanced chronic conditions at hospital admission', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 18(8): 1159-1165. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13330.
- Sganga, F., Landi, F., Ruggiero, C., Corsonello, A., Vetrano, D. L., Lattanzio, F., Cherubini, A., Bernabei, R., and Onder, G. 2015. 'Polypharmacy and health outcomes among older adults discharged from hospital: results from the CRIME study', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 15(2): 141-146. doi: 10.1111/ggi.12241.
- Shah, S. M., Carey, I. M., Harris, T., DeWilde, S., and Cook, D. G. 2013. 'Mortality in older care home residents in England and Wales', *Age and Ageing*, 42(2): 209-215. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afs174.
- Shmuel, S., Lund, J. L., Alvarez, C., Hsu, C. D., Palta, P., Kucharska-Newton, A., Jordan, J. M., Nelson, A. E., and Golightly, Y. M. 2019. 'Polypharmacy and Incident Frailty in a Longitudinal Community-Based Cohort Study', *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 67(12): 2482-2489. doi: 10.1111/jgs.16212.

- Silveira, E. A., Dalastra, L., and Pagotto, V. 2014. 'Polypharmacy, chronic diseases and nutritional markers in community-dwelling older', *Revista Brasileira de Epidemiologia (Brazilian Journal of Epidemiology)*, 17(4): 818-829. doi: 10.1590/1809-4503201400040002.
- Singh, S., Loke, Y. K., and Furberg, C. D. 2007. 'Thiazolidinediones and heart failure: a teleo-analysis', *Diabetes Care*, 30(8): 2148-2153. doi: 10.2337/dc07-0141.
- Sinnott, C., and Bradley, C. P. 2015. 'Multimorbidity or polypharmacy: two sides of the same coin?', *Journal of Comorbidity*, 5: 29-31. doi: 10.15256/joc.2015.5.51.
- Sinnott, M., Kinsley, B. T., Jackson, A. D., Walsh, C., O'Grady, T., Nolan, J. J., Gaffney, P., Boran, G., Kelleher, C., and Carr, B. 2015. 'Fasting plasma glucose as initial screening for diabetes and prediabetes in irish adults: The Diabetes Mellitus and Vascular health initiative (DMVhi)', *PLoS One*, 10(4): e0122704. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0122704.
- Slater, N., White, S., Venables, R., and Frisher, M. 2018. 'Factors associated with polypharmacy in primary care: a cross-sectional analysis of data from The English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA)', *BMJ Open*, 8(3): e020270. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020270.
- Song, E. K., Moser, D. K., Rayens, M. K., and Lennie, T. A. 2010. 'Symptom clusters predict event-free survival in patients with heart failure', *Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 25(4): 284-291. doi: 10.1097/JCN.0b013e3181cfbcbb.
- Souty, C., Launay, T., Steichen, O., Conte, C., Lapeyre-Mestre, M., and Hanslik, T.
 2020. 'Estimated prevalence of exposure to potential drug-drug interactions in
 France: A retrospective study from 2006 to 2016', *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 177(11): 2654. doi: 10.1111/bph.15035.

- Steptoe, A., Breeze, E., Banks, J., and Nazroo, J. 2013. 'Cohort profile: the English longitudinal study of ageing', *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 42(6): 1640-1648. doi: 10.1093/ije/dys168.
- Stewart, D., Whittlesea, C., Dhital, R., Newbould, L., and McCambridge, J. 2020. 'Community pharmacist led medication reviews in the UK: A scoping review of the medicines use review and the new medicine service literatures', *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 16(2): 111-122. doi: 10.1016/j.sapharm.2019.04.010.
- Storms, H., Marquet, K., Aertgeerts, B., and Claes, N. 2017. 'Prevalence of inappropriate medication use in residential long-term care facilities for the elderly: A systematic review', *European Journal of General Practice*, 23(1): 69-77. doi: 10.1080/13814788.2017.1288211.
- Strehblow, C., Smeikal, M., and Fasching, P. 2014. 'Polypharmacy and excessive polypharmacy in octogenarians and older acutely hospitalized patients', *Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift*, 126(7-8): 195-200. doi: 10.1007/s00508-013-0485-1.
- Stuhec, M., Gorenc, K., and Zelko, E. 2019. 'Evaluation of a collaborative care approach between general practitioners and clinical pharmacists in primary care community settings in elderly patients on polypharmacy in Slovenia: a cohort retrospective study reveals positive evidence for implementation', *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1): 118. doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-3942-3.
- Suissa, S. 2008. 'Immeasurable time bias in observational studies of drug effects on mortality', *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 168(3): 329-335. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwn135.
- Sundararajan, V., Henderson, T., Perry, C., Muggivan, A., Quan, H., and Ghali, W. A. 2004. 'New ICD-10 version of the Charlson comorbidity index predicted in-

hospital mortality', *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 57(12): 1288-1294. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2004.03.012.

- Suzuki, T., Iwagami, M., Hamada, S., Matsuda, T., and Tamiya, N. 2020. 'Number of consulting medical institutions and risk of polypharmacy in community-dwelling older people under a healthcare system with free access: a cross-sectional study in Japan', *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1): 359. doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05205-6.
- Tamayo, T., Schipf, S., Meisinger, C., Schunk, M., Maier, W., Herder, C., Roden, M., Nauck, M., Peters, A., Volzke, H., and Rathmann, W. 2014. 'Regional differences of undiagnosed type 2 diabetes and prediabetes prevalence are not explained by known risk factors', *PLoS One*, 9(11): e113154. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113154.
- Tan, J. P., Cheng, K. K. F., and Siah, R. C. 2019. 'A systematic review and metaanalysis on the effectiveness of education on medication adherence for patients with hypertension, hyperlipidaemia and diabetes', *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 75(11): 2478-2494. doi: 10.1111/jan.14025.
- Taubert, G., Winkelmann, B. R., Schleiffer, T., Marz, W., Winkler, R., Gok, R., Klein,
 B., Schneider, S., and Boehm, B. O. 2003. 'Prevalence, predictors, and consequences of unrecognized diabetes mellitus in 3266 patients scheduled for coronary angiography', *American Heart Journal*, 145(2): 285-291. doi: 10.1067/mhj.2003.134.
- Taylor, R., Conway, L., Calderwood, L., Lessof, C., Cheshire, H., Cox, K., and Scholes, S. 2007. 'Health, wealth and lifestyles of the older population in England: The 2002 English Longitudinal Study of Ageing'. https://www.ifs.org.uk/elsa/report03/w1_tech.pdf.

- Tefera, Y. G., Alemayehu, M., and Mekonnen, G. B. 2020. 'Prevalence and determinants of polypharmacy in cardiovascular patients attending outpatient clinic in Ethiopia University Hospital', *PLoS One*, 15(6): e0234000. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0234000.
- Tegegn, H. G., Erku, D. A., Sebsibe, G., Gizaw, B., Seifu, D., Tigabe, M., Belachew,
 S. A., and Ayele, A. A. 2019. 'Medication-related quality of life among Ethiopian elderly patients with polypharmacy: A cross-sectional study in an Ethiopia university hospital', *PLoS One*, 14(3): e0214191. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0214191.
- Teh, R. O., Menzies, O. H., Connolly, M. J., Doughty, R. N., Wilkinson, T. J., Pillai, A., Lumley, T., Ryan, C., Rolleston, A., Broad, J. B., and Kerse, N. 2018. 'Patterns of multi-morbidity and prediction of hospitalisation and all-cause mortality in advanced age', *Age and Ageing*, 47(2): 261-268. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afx184.
- Temelkova-Kurktschiev, T., and Stefanov, T. 2012. 'Lifestyle and genetics in obesity and type 2 diabetes', *Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology and Diabetes*, 120(1): 1-6. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1285832.
- Tomita, N., Mizokami, F., Kisara, S., and Arai, H. 2019. 'Transdisciplinary approach for potentially harmful drug-drug interaction detection as a part of a comprehensive medication review and geriatric assessment', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 19(5): 462-463. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13638.
- Torres, J. L., Lima-Costa, M. F., Marmot, M., and de Oliveira, C. 2016. 'Wealth and Disability in Later Life: The English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA)', *PLoS One*, 11(11): e0166825. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0166825.
- Uhl, M. C., Muth, C., Gerlach, F. M., Schoch, G. G., and Muller, B. S. 2018. 'Patientperceived barriers and facilitators to the implementation of a medication review

in primary care: a qualitative thematic analysis', *BMC Family Practice*, 19(1): 3. doi: 10.1186/s12875-017-0707-0.

- Undela, K., Joshi, D., and Ramesh, M. 2017. 'Incidence of adverse drug reactions among elderly patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis', *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, 26(Suppl 2): 164-165. doi: 10.1002/pds.4275.
- Ursini, F., Russo, E., D'Angelo, S., Arturi, F., Hribal, M. L., D'Antona, L., Bruno, C.,
 Tripepi, G., Naty, S., De Sarro, G., Olivieri, I., and Grembiale, R. D. 2016.
 'Prevalence of Undiagnosed Diabetes in Rheumatoid Arthritis: an OGTT Study', *Medicine*, 95(7): e2552. doi: 10.1097/MD.0000000002552.
- van den Akker, M., Vaes, B., Goderis, G., Van Pottelbergh, G., De Burghgraeve, T., and Henrard, S. 2019. 'Trends in multimorbidity and polypharmacy in the Flemish-Belgian population between 2000 and 2015', *PLoS One*, 14(2): e0212046. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0212046.
- Vatcharavongvan, P., and Puttawanchai, V. 2017. 'Polypharmacy, medication adherence and medication management at home in elderly patients with multiple non-communicable diseases in Thai primary care', *Family Medicine and Primary Care Review*, 19(4): 412-416. doi: 10.5114/fmpcr.2017.70818.
- Veehof, L. J. G., Stewart, R. E., Haaijer-Ruskamp, F. M., and Jong, B. M.-d. 2000. 'The development of polypharmacy. A longitudinal study', *Family Practice*, 17(3): 261-267. doi: 10.1093/fampra/17.3.261.
- Vicente-Sanchez, S., Olmos-Jimenez, R., Ramirez-Roig, C., Garcia-Sanchez, M. J., Valderrey-Pulido, M., and De la Rubia-Nieto, A. 2018. 'Treatment adherence in patients older than 65 years who suffer early readmissions', *Farmacia Hospitalaria*, 42(4): 147-151. doi: 10.7399/fh.10907.

- Vicinanza, R., Troisi, G., Cangemi, R., Ulderico de Martino, M., Pastori, D., Bernardini,
 S., Crisciotti, F., di Violante, F., Frizza, A., Cacciafesta, M., Pignatelli, P., and
 Marigliano, V. 2018. 'Aging and Adherence to the Mediterranean Diet:
 Relationship with Cardiometabolic Disorders and Polypharmacy', *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging*, 22(1): 73-81. doi: 10.1007/s12603-017-0922-3.
- Wang, R., Chen, L., Fan, L., Gao, D., Liang, Z., He, J., Gong, W., and Gao, L. 2015.
 'Incidence and Effects of Polypharmacy on Clinical Outcome among Patients Aged 80+: A Five-Year Follow-Up Study', *PLoS One*, 10(11): e0142123. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0142123.
- Wastesson, J. W., Cedazo Minguez, A., Fastbom, J., Maioli, S., and Johnell, K. 2018.
 'The composition of polypharmacy: A register-based study of Swedes aged 75 years and older', *PLoS One*, 13(3): e0194892. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194892.
- Wedick, N. M., Barrett-Connor, E., Knoke, J. D., and Wingard, D. L. 2002. 'The relationship between weight loss and all-cause mortality in older men and women with and without diabetes mellitus: the Rancho Bernardo study', *Journal* of the American Geriatrics Society, 50(11): 1810-1815. doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2002.50509.x.
- Weinmann, S., Read, J., and Aderhold, V. 2009. 'Influence of antipsychotics on mortality in schizophrenia: Systematic review', *Schizophrenia Research*, 113(1): 1-11. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2009.05.018.
- Wild, S. H., Smith, F. B., Lee, A. J., and Fowkes, F. G. 2005. 'Criteria for previously undiagnosed diabetes and risk of mortality: 15-year follow-up of the Edinburgh Artery Study cohort', *Diabetic Medicine*, 22(4): 490-496. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2004.01433.x.

- Willey, C. J., Andrade, S. E., Cohen, J., Fuller, J. C., and Gurwitz, J. H. 2006. 'Polypharmacy with oral antidiabetic agents: an indicator of poor glycemic control', *American Journal of Managed Care*, 12(8): 435-440. doi: https://www.ajmc.com/view/aug06-2339p435-440
- Wise, J. 2013. 'Polypharmacy: a necessary evil', *BMJ*, 347: f7033. doi: 10.1136/bmj.f7033.
- Wojtczak, D., Kasznicki, J., and Drzewoski, J. 2017. 'Pros and cons of polypharmacy in elderly patients with diabetes', *Clinical Diabetology*, 6(1): 34-38. doi: 10.5603/DK.2017.0006.
- Wooten, J. M. 2012. 'Pharmacotherapy considerations in elderly adults', *Southern Medical Journal*, 105(8): 437-445. doi: 10.1097/SMJ.0b013e31825fed90.
- World Health Organisation. 2011. 'Use of glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) in diagnosis of diabetes mellitus: abbreviated report of a WHO consultation', World Health Organisation. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/70523.
- World Health Organisation. 2016. 'Global Report on Diabetes', World Health Organisation. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241565257.
- World Health Organisation. 2018. 'Ageing and health', Accessed 17 December 2018. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ageing-and-health.
- World Health Organisation. 2021. 'Global Health Estimates: Life expectancy and leading causes of death and disability', Accessed 30 July 2021. https://www.who.int/gho/mortality_burden_disease/life_tables/situation_trends /en/.
- Wu, Y. H., Wang, C. J., Hung, C. H., Chen, L. Y., Lin, M. H., Wang, P. N., and Chen,L. K. 2017. 'Association between using medications with anticholinergic properties and short-term cognitive decline among older men: A retrospective

cohort study in Taiwan', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 17(Suppl 1): 57-64. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13032.

- Xu, X., Mishra, G. D., and Jones, M. 2017. 'Evidence on multimorbidity from definition to intervention: An overview of systematic reviews', *Ageing Research Reviews*, 37: 53-68. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2017.05.003.
- Yang, S. Y., Chen, L. Y., Najoan, E., Kallivayalil, R. A., Viboonma, K., Jamaluddin, R., Javed, A., Hoa, D. T. Q., Iida, H., Sim, K., Swe, T., He, Y. L., Park, Y., Ahmed, H. U., De Alwis, A., Chiu, H. F., Sartorius, N., Tan, C. H., Chong, M. Y., Shinfuku, N., and Lin, S. K. 2018. 'Polypharmacy and psychotropic drug loading in patients with schizophrenia in Asian countries: Fourth survey of Research on Asian Prescription Patterns on antipsychotics', *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 72(8): 572-579. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12676.
- Yashkin, A. P., Kravchenko, J., Yashin, A. I., and Sloan, F. 2018. 'Mortality and Macrovascular Risk in Elderly With Hypertension and Diabetes: Effect of Intensive Drug Therapy', *American Journal of Hypertension*, 31(2): 220-227. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpx151.
- Yong, T. Y., Lau, S. Y., Li, J. Y., Hakendorf, P., and Thompson, C. H. 2012. 'Medication prescription among elderly patients admitted through an acute assessment unit', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 12(1): 93-101. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0594.2011.00737.x.
- Yoon, S. J., Kim, J. S., Jung, J. G., Ahn, S. K., Song, Y. S., Bae, N. K., Seon, J. Y., and Kim, J. H. 2018. 'Factors associated with potentially harmful drug-drug interactions in older Korean people: A population-based study', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 18(9): 1378-1382. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13495.

- Yuki, A., Otsuka, R., Tange, C., Nishita, Y., Tomida, M., Ando, F., and Shimokata, H.
 2018. 'Polypharmacy is associated with frailty in Japanese community-dwelling older adults', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 18(10): 1497-1500. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13507.
- Zadak, Z., Hyspler, R., Ticha, A., and Vlcek, J. 2013. 'Polypharmacy and malnutrition', *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care*, 16(1): 50-55. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e32835b612e.
- Zaninotto, P., Huang, Y. T., Di Gessa, G., Abell, J., Lassale, C., and Steptoe, A. 2020.
 'Polypharmacy is a risk factor for hospital admission due to a fall: evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing', *BMC Public Health*, 20(1): 1804. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09920-x.
- Zechmann, S., Trueb, C., Valeri, F., Streit, S., Senn, O., and Neuner-Jehle, S. 2019.
 'Barriers and enablers for deprescribing among older, multimorbid patients with polypharmacy: an explorative study from Switzerland', *BMC Family Practice*, 20(1): 64. doi: 10.1186/s12875-019-0953-4.
- Zghebi, S. S., Steinke, D. T., Rutter, M. K., and Ashcroft, D. M. 2020. 'Eleven-year multimorbidity burden among 637 255 people with and without type 2 diabetes: a population-based study using primary care and linked hospitalisation data', *BMJ Open*, 10(7): e033866. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-033866.
- Zhang, L., Zhang, Z., Zhang, Y., Hu, G., and Chen, L. 2014. 'Evaluation of Finnish Diabetes Risk Score in screening undiagnosed diabetes and prediabetes among U.S. adults by gender and race: NHANES 1999-2010', *PLoS One*, 9(5): e97865. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0097865.
- Zhang, N., Yang, X., Zhu, X., Zhao, B., Huang, T., and Ji, Q. 2017. 'Type 2 diabetes mellitus unawareness, prevalence, trends and risk factors: National Health and

Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 1999-2010', *Journal of International Medical Research*, 45(2): 594-609. doi: 10.1177/0300060517693178.

- Zhang, Z. 2017. 'Survival analysis in the presence of competing risks', *Annals of Translational Medicine*, 5(3): 47. doi: 10.21037/atm.2016.08.62.
- Zia, A., Kamaruzzaman, S. B., and Tan, M. P. 2017. 'The consumption of two or more fall risk-increasing drugs rather than polypharmacy is associated with falls', *Geriatrics and Gerontology International*, 17(3): 463-470. doi: 10.1111/ggi.12741.
- Ziere, G., Dieleman, J. P., Hofman, A., Pols, H. A., van der Cammen, T. J., and Stricker, B. H. 2006. 'Polypharmacy and falls in the middle age and elderly population', *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 61(2): 218-223. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.2005.02543.x.
- Zilliox, L. A., Chadrasekaran, K., Kwan, J. Y., and Russell, J. W. 2016. 'Diabetes and Cognitive Impairment', *Current Diabetes Reports*, 16(9): 87. doi: 10.1007/s11892-016-0775-x.
- Zivin, K., Llewellyn, D. J., Lang, I. A., Vijan, S., Kabeto, M. U., Miller, E. M., and Langa,
 K. M. 2010. 'Depression among older adults in the United States and England', *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 18(11): 1036-1044. doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e3181dba6d2.

Appendices

Appendix A Chapter 1 Supplementary tables

Appendix A-1 Diabetes medications and relevant clinical effects^{*}

					Cardiovascular [‡]		Ponal Effocts	
	Machanism	Efficacy	Hypogly Weight Effects		Renar	lieuts		
	Mechanishi	Lincacy	caemia	Change	ASCVD [‡]	CHF*	DKD progression [‡]	Avoid use [#]
Oral								
Biguanide: Metformin	Decrease gluconeogenesis Increase peripheral glucose utilisation Decrease insulin resistance (require presence of insulin)	High	No	Neutral/ loss	Potential benefit	Neutral	Neutral	eGFR [‡] < 30
SUs†	Increase insulin secretion (require presence of a functional β-cell mass) Long-term administration: an extrapancreatic action	High	Yes	Gain	Neutral	Neutral	Neutral	Mostly eGFR < 30
Meglitinides	Increase insulin secretion Usually administered premeals: rapid onset, short duration of action	Intermedi ate	Yes	Gain/ neutral	_	-	-	Dose adjustment required

Appendix A-1 (continued)

			Hypogly	Weight	Cardiovascular [*] Effects		Renal Effects	
Drug class Mechanism E		Efficacy	caemia Change		ASCVD ⁺	CHF [‡]	DKD progression [‡]	Avoid use [#]
Oral								
α-glucosidase	Delay the digestion and	Intermed	No	Neutral	_	_	_	eGFR < 25
inhibitors:	absorption of carbohydrate	iate						
Acarbose**								
TZDs	Reduce peripheral insulin	High	No	Gain	Potential	Increased	Neutral	No dose
	resistance to increase				benefit:	risk		adjustment
	insulin action				pioglitazone			required
	Stimulate PPARγ [‡]							
	Increase adipogenesis							
	Alter glucose-fatty and							
	cycle							
DPP-4	Increase insulin secretion	Intermed	No	Neutral	Neutral	Potential risk:	Neutral	Dose
inhibitors	Lower glucagon secretion	iate				saxagliptin,		adjustment
	Inhibit DPP-4, allowing					alogliptin		required
	increased t1/2 for incretins,							
	which potentiate nutrient-							
	induced insulin secretion							

Appendix A-1 (continued)

			Hypogly		Cardiovascular [*] Effects		Renal Effects	
Drug class	Mechanism	Efficacy	caemia	Change	ASCVD [‡]	CHF⁺	DKD	Avoid use [#]
			o do mila	g-			progression [‡]	
SGLT-2	Reversibly inhibits SGLT-2	Intermed	No	Loss	Benefit:	Benefit:	Benefit:	eGFR < 45;
inhibitors	in the renal proximal	iate			canagliflozin,	canagliflozin,	canagliflozin,	eGFR < 60 in
	convoluted tubule to				empagliflozin	empagliflozin	empagliflozin	dapagliflozin
	reduce glucose							
	reabsorption and increase							
	urinary glucose excretion							
Subcutaneous								
Insulin and its	Decrease hepatic glucose	Highest	Yes	Gain	Neutral	Neutral	Neutral	Dose
analogues	production							adjustment
	Increase peripheral							required
	glucose uptake, storage,							
	and utilisation							
	Decrease lipolysis							

Appendix A-1 (continued)

	Mechanism		Hypodly	Weiaht _	Cardiovascular ⁺ Effects		Renal Effects	
Drug class		Efficacy	caemia	Change	ASCVD [*]	CHF [‡]	DKD progression [‡]	Avoid use [#]
GLP-1	Increase insulin secretion	High	No	Loss	Benefit:	Neutral	Benefit:	eGFR < 30
agonists	Suppress glucagon				liraglutide;		liraglutide	
	secretion				neutral:			
	Slow gastric emptying				others			
	Resistant to degradation							
	by DPP-4, which							
	potentiate nutrient-induced							
	insulin secretion							

^{*}Three diabetic medications in other classes, Pramlintide (Symlin[®]), Colesevelam (Cholestagel[®]) and Bromocriptine, are not included in this table. Pramlintide has been approved to treat diabetes in the USA but it is currently not available in the UK. Colesevelam prescribed in ELSA Wave 6

is all coded as lipid-lowering drugs. Bromocriptine is not approved for diabetic treatment according to the BNF.

[†]The information here is mainly for second generation of SUs.

^{**} Another α-glucosidase inhibitor, Miglitol, is not included due to unavailability in the UK.

^{*} Abbreviations: ASCVD= atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease, CHF= congestive heart failure, DKD= diabetic kidney disease, eGFR= estimated glomerular filtration rate (unit is mL/min/1.73 m²), PPARγ= peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma.

[#] The information is based on NICE (BNF) and ADA simultaneously.

Appendix B Chapter 3 Supplementary tables

Category	Medications
Insulin	Insulins
Sulfonylureas	Glimepiride, Glibenclamide, Gliclazide, Glipizide, Tolbutamide
Biguanides	Metformin
Meglitinides	Nateglinide, Repaglinide
α-glucosidase inhibitor	Acarbose
TZDs	Pioglitazone, Pioglitazone/metformin
DPP-4 inhibitors	Alogliptin, Alogliptin/metformin, Vildagliptin, Sitagliptin,
	Sitagliptin/metformin, Saxagliptin, Saxagliptin/metformin,
	Linagliptin, Linagliptin/metformin
GLP-1 agonists	Exenatide, Liraglutide, Liraglutide/insulin degludec,
	Lixisenatide
SGLT2 inhibitors	Canagliflozin, Canagliflozin/metformin, Dapagliflozin,
	Dapagliflozin/metformin, Empagliflozin

Appendix B-1 Diabete	s medications	recorded in ELSA
----------------------	---------------	------------------

Appendix B-2 Undiagnosed diabetes before and after the medication verification in ELSA 2012

	Self-reported	Diagnosed	Undiagnosed
Before verification (N)	890	890	189
After verification (N)	890	930	169

	2004		2012		Diff.
-	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	Р
Diagnosed diabetes [#]	7.7	7.1, 8.4	11.5	10.7, 12.3	< 0.001
Undiagnosed diabetes	1.6	1.2, 2.2	2.0	1.5, 2.8	0.208
Unawareness among diabetic people	18.4	17.5, 19.2	15.7	14.9, 16.5	< 0.001

Appendix B-3 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes with fasting glucose in England in 2004 and 2012

	Age	50-74	Diff.	iff. Age 75+		Diff.
	2004	2012	Р	2004	2012	Р
Men						
Diagnosed diabetes [#] %	8.3	11.1	0.001	11.7	17.3	0.002
95% CI	7.3, 9.4	9.9, 12.4		9.5, 14.3	14.7, 20.3	
Case (N)	234	340		84	141	
Undiagnosed diabetes %	2.0	1.8	0.764	5.2	3.4	0.445
95% CI	1.3, 2.9	1.1, 2.9		2.6, 10.1	1.2, 9.3	
Case (N)	26	22		8	4	
Unawareness						
among diabetic	20.2%	14.7%	< 0.001	40.0%	19.2%	< 0.001
people %						
95% CI	18.7, 21.7	13.3, 16.1		36.4, 43.6	16.5, 21.9	
Women						
Diagnosed diabetes [#] %	5.5	9.2	< 0.001	9.7	16.0	< 0.001
95% CI	4.7, 6.4	8.1, 10.6		8.0, 11.8	13.7, 18.5	
Case (N)	176	285		98	164	
Undiagnosed diabetes %	1.0	2.2	0.003	1.4	0.8	0.55
95% CI	0.5, 1.6	1.4, 3.7		0.3, 5.6	0.2, 3.2	
Case (N)	14	24		2	2	
Unawareness						
among diabetic	14.9%	20.7%	< 0.001	14.2%	4.7%	< 0.001
people %						
95% CI	13.7, 16.1	19.3, 22.1		12.1, 16.3	3.4, 6.0	

Appendix B-4 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes with fasting glucose by age and gender in England in 2004 and 2012

	2004		2012		Diff.
-	%	95% CI	%	95% CI	Р
Diagnosed diabetes [#]	7.7	7.1, 8.4	11.5	10.7, 12.3	< 0.001
Undiagnosed diabetes	1.0	0.7, 1.3	1.3	1.0, 1.8	0.076
Unawareness among diabetic people	11.3	10.6, 12.0	10.2	9.6, 10.9	0.039

Appendix B-5 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes with HbA1c of 7% in England in 2004 and 2012

	Age	Age 50-74		Age	e 75+	Diff.
	2004	2012	Р	2004	2012	Р
Men						
Diagnosed	8.3	11.1	0.001	11.7	17.3	0.002
	70.04	0.0.40.4			447.000	
95% CI	7.3, 9.4	9.9, 12.4		9.5, 14.3	14.7, 20.3	
Case (N)	234	340		84	141	
Undiagnosed diabetes %	1.7	0.9	0.031	1.4	3.0	0.084
95% CI	1.2, 2.4	0.5, 1.6		0.6, 3.3	1.6, 5.6	
Case (N)	29	15		6	11	
Unawareness						
among diabetic	16.7%	7.4%	< 0.001	11.3%	15.6%	0.014
people %						
95% CI	15.3, 18.1	6.4, 8.4		9.0, 13.6	13.1, 18.1	
Women						
Diagnosed	5.5	9.2	< 0.001	9.7	16.0	< 0.001
diabetes# %						
95% CI	4.7, 6.4	8.1, 10.6		8.0, 11.8	13.7, 18.5	
Case (N)	176	285		98	164	
Undiagnosed	0.4	1.0	. 0. 004	0.0	0.0	0 700
diabetes %	0.4	1.0	< 0.001	0.0	0.8	0.739
95% CI	0.2, 0.9	1.0, 2.5		0.2, 1.6	0.3, 1.9	
Case (N)	8	27		4	5	
Unawareness						
among diabetic	6.8%	14.4%	< 0.001	6.1%	4.4%	0.080
people %						
95% CI	5.9, 7.7	13.2, 15.6		4.6, 7.6	3.2, 5.6	
		a la t				

Appendix B-6 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes with HbA1c of 7% by age and gender in England in 2004 and 2012

	2004			2012
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
Diagnosed diabetes#	6.2	5.5, 7.0	13.8	12.7, 14.9
Undiagnosed diabetes	1.9	1.4, 2.5	4.0	3.2, 5.0
Unawareness among diabetic people	23.8 22.9, 24.8		23.2	22.3, 24.1

Appendix B-7 Prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes in the same individuals in England in 2004 and 2012

	Age 50-74		Age	75+	
	2004	2012	2004	2012	
Men (N)	1675	1233	220	662	
Diagnosed diabetes# %	7.3	15.6	8.6	16.7	
95% CI	6.2, 8.7	13.5, 17.9	5.5, 13.3	13.9, 20.0	
Case (N)	126	186	19	108	
Undiagnosed diabetes %	2.7	2.3	1.7	6.5	
95% CI	1.9, 3.8	1.4, 3.8	0.5, 5.2	4.1, 10.2	
Case (N)	30	16	3	20	
Unawareness among diabetic	27.5	10.6	16.2	21 7	
people %	21.5	12.0	10.5	51.7	
95% CI	25.4, 29.6	10.7, 14.5	11.4, 21.2	28.2, 35.2	
Women (N)	2113	1533	322	902	
Diagnosed diabetes# %	4.8	9.1	7.7	16.1	
95% CI	3.9, 5.8	7.7, 10.8	5.2, 11.1	13.7, 18.9	
Case (N)	103	133	26	137	
Undiagnosed diabetes %	1.5	4.0	0.7	4.4	
95% CI	0.9, 2.4	2.7, 5.8	0.2, 2.7	2.7, 7.2	
Case (N)	20	37	2	20	
Unawareness among diabetic	24.3	30 /	7.0	22.6	
people %	24.0	52.4	1.3	22.0	
95% CI	22.5, 26.1	30.1, 34.7	5.0, 10.8	19.9, 25.3	

Appendix B-8 Longitudinal prevalence of diagnosed and undiagnosed diabetes in the same individuals by age and gender in England in 2004 and 2012

	No missing	Missing	
	(N = 5206)	(N = 1593)	Р
	% (N)	% (N)	
Age (years) mean ± SD	66.6 ± 9.1	69.6 ± 10.3	< 0.001
Gender			
Men	44.1 (2298)	41.9 (668)	0.120
Women	55.9 (2908)	58.1 (925)	
Education			
No qualifications	22.0 (1141)	28.5 (452)	< 0.001
Some qualifications	78.0 (4041)	71.6 (1137)	
Ethnicity			
White	97.6 (5083)	96.5 (1537)	0.012
Non-white	2.4 (123)	3.5 (56)	
Living with a partner	70.2 (3654)	64.1 (1021)	< 0.001
Total wealth			
1 (lowest)	18.1 (884)	22.9 (342)	< 0.001
2	19.2 (940)	20.1 (301)	
3	20.3 (993)	19.9 (298)	
4	21.1 (1031)	18.9 (282)	
5 (highest)	21.4 (1050)	18.2 (272)	
Social class based on occupation			
Professional-managerial or intermediate	63.8 (3287)	58.7 (922)	< 0.001
Manual	36.2 (1864)	41.3 (649)	
Obesity			
High BMI and waist circumference	25.9 (1297)	31.3 (451)	< 0.001
Either high BMI or high waist	22.2 (1166)	24 3 (350)	
circumference	23.3 (1100)	24.3 (330)	
SBP (mmHg) mean ± SD	132.2 ± 17.4	131.4 ± 18.4	0.147
DBP (mmHg) mean ± SD	74.5 ± 10.5	72.3 ± 10.9	< 0.001
Triglyceride (mmol/L) mean \pm SD	1.5 ± 0.8	1.4 ± 0.6	0.304
Cholesterol (mmol/L) mean \pm SD	5.7 ± 1.1	5.7 ± 1.2	0.777

Appendix B-9 Cohort characteristics in people without diabetes based on HbA1c availability in ELSA 2012

Appendix B-9 (continued)

	No missing	Missing	
	(N = 5206)	(N = 1593)	Р
	% (N)	% (N)	
Current smoker	11.4 (594)	11.6 (184)	0.877
Cognitive function mean \pm SD	11.1 ± 3.5	10.2 ± 3.8	< 0.001
Hypertension	34.9 (1815)	41.7 (664)	< 0.001
CVD	18.8 (976)	33.3 (530)	< 0.001
Hyperlipidaemia	35.3 (1840)	37.0 (589)	0.235
CES-D scores			
Less than 4	88.8 (4588)	84.2 (1325)	< 0.001
4 and above	11.2 (577)	15.8 (249)	

Year	2003	2006	2009	2010	2011 [#]	2012
Overall (%)	3.9	4.9	5.5	5.8	5.9	5.8
Age groups (years	s)					
16-24	0.6	0.9	0.4	0.4	0.7	0.5
25-44	1.4	1.5	1.8	2.0	1.9	1.3
45-64	4.6	6.0	7.0	7.4	7.5	7.8
65+	9.7	12.3	13.8	13.9	14.4	14.4

Appendix B-10 Prevalence of diagnosed diabetes between 2003 and 2012 from the Health Survey for England^{*}

* Data are from the website of the Health Survey for England, and the years not given are unavailable.

[#] HbA1c-based diagnosis was applied in the UK.

Appendix C Chapter 4 Supplementary tables

	No diabetes	Diabetes	Total
Medication category	(N = 6629)	(N = 1100)	(N = 7729)
	N (%)	N (%)	N (%)
Pain relief - paracetamol-based	872 (13.2)	257 (23.4)*	1129 (14.6)
Gastrointestinal symptoms (except for	177 (2 7)	50 (4 6)*	227 (2.0)
peptic ulcers)	177 (2.7)	50 (4.0)	227 (2.9)
Constipation	225 (3.4)	56 (5.1) [*]	281 (3.6)
Allergy and vertigo (antihistamine)	206 (3.1)	53 (4.8) [*]	259 (3.4)
Cough	12 (0.2)	2 (0.2)	14 (0.2)
Nausea and vertigo	110 (1.7)	35 (3.2)*	145 (1.9)
Infection	215 (3.2)	52 (4.7) [*]	267 (3.5)
Supplements (except for those for bone disease)	405 (6.1)	130 (11.8)*	535 (6.9)

Appendix C-1 Prevalence of medications presumably not in long-term use in ELSA 2012, stratified by diabetes

* Significantly higher proportions in people with diabetes.

		Number of drugs				
		0	1-4	5-9*	10+ [*]	
All long-term drugs	Ν	2093	3752	1656	228	
	%	31.1	46.5	19.6	2.8	
	95% CI	29.8, 32.4	45.2, 47.8	18.7, 20.7	2.5, 3.3	
Long-term drugs excluding	Ν	2109	3882	1563	175	
antihyperglycemic drugs	%	31.2	48.1	18.4	2.2	
	95% CI	29.9, 32.6	46.8, 49.5	17.5, 19.4	1.9, 2.6	

Appendix C-2 Prevalence of polypharmacy in ELSA 2012

* Five to nine drugs was defined as polypharmacy; 10+ was defined as heightened polypharmacy.

	Polypharmacy			Heightened polypharmacy			
	(N = 806)				(N = 72)		
-	RR R [*]	95% CI	Р	RRR*	95% CI	Р	
Age	1.04	1.02, 1.05	< 0.001	1.01	0.97, 1.04	0.648	
Female sex	0.81	0.66, 0.98	0.035	0.70	0.40, 1.22	0.210	
Non-white ethnicity	0.72	0.34, 1.55	0.404	2.43	0.60, 9.85	0.215	
Total wealth							
2 nd	0.88	0.66, 1.17	0.393	1.32	0.64, 2.76	0.453	
3 rd	0.77	0.58, 1.04	0.091	0.90	0.41, 2.01	0.803	
4 th	0.99	0.73, 1.36	0.971	1.21	0.50, 2.96	0.669	
5 th quintile (richest)	0.65	0.46, 0.92	0.015	0.90	0.34, 2.41	0.836	
No educational qualifications	1.13	0.90, 1.41	0.309	1.03	0.57, 1.89	0.916	
Manual social class	1.01	0.82, 1.24	0.943	0.91	0.51, 1.61	0.734	
Living with a partner	1.41	1.13, 1.76	0.003	1.07	0.60, 1.93	0.812	
Number of CVD	3.52	3.02, 4.10	< 0.001	5.96	4.31, 8.24	< 0.001	
Hypertension	3.13	2.58, 3.80	< 0.001	2.80	1.61, 4.85	< 0.001	
Hyperlipidaemia	1.80	1.49, 2.17	< 0.001	2.31	1.35, 3.97	0.002	
Psychiatric conditions	2.07	1.63, 2.63	< 0.001	3.27	1.86, 5.77	< 0.001	
Number of conditions#	2.21	2.00, 2.43	< 0.001	3.90	3.06, 4.98	< 0.001	
Current smoker	1.81	1.31, 2.50	< 0.001	1.90	0.82, 4.41	0.136	
Alcohol consumption: daily (5-7 days per week)	1.14	0.91, 1.43	0.249	0.87	0.44, 1.75	0.705	
Obesity [§]							
High BMI and waist circumference	1.67	1.33, 2.08	< 0.001	1.18	0.63, 2.22	0.598	
Either high BMI or high waist circumference	1.17	0.93, 1.48	0.179	1.09	0.58, 2.05	0.790	
Cognitive function	0.96	0.93, 0.98	0.003	0.89	0.82, 0.97	0.006	
Number of depressive symptoms	1.09	1.03, 1.15	0.002	1.15	1.02, 1.30	0.024	

Appendix C-3 Risk factors for polypharmacy in people without diabetes (N = 5372) with an adjustment for specific conditions, ELSA 2012

* Unweighted RRR.

[#] The rest of other conditions, not including diabetes.

§ Normal BMI and waist circumference as the reference group.

	Polypharmacy			Heightened polypharmacy			
	(N = 397)			(N = 66)			
-	RR R [*]	95% CI	Р	RR R [*]	95% CI	Р	
Age	1.01	0.99, 1.04	0.313	0.98	0.93, 1.02	0.315	
Female sex	0.50	0.34, 0.73	< 0.001	0.50	0.24, 1.01	0.053 [†]	
Non-white ethnicity	1.05	0.48, 2.27	0.910	0.97	0.21, 4.51	0.968	
Total wealth							
2 nd	0.97	0.58, 1.63	0.918	1.41	0.54, 3.68	0.480	
3 rd	0.79	0.47, 1.33	0.374	1.88	0.70, 5.03	0.207	
4 th	1.29	0.72, 2.33	0.396	1.19	0.32, 4.37	0.795	
5 th quintile (richest)	0.60	0.32, 1.12	0.107	1.40	0.39, 4.98	0.605	
No educational	1.06	0.69, 1.63	0.776	0.99	0.45, 2.15	0.976	
Manual social class	1 43	0.98 2.10	0.066	1 75	0.85,3.61	0 130	
Living with a partner	0.96	0.65 1.43	0.850	1.01	0.49, 2.10	0.969	
Number of CVD	2 19	1 62 2 96	< 0.001	3 54	2 20 5 70	< 0.001	
	2.39	1.67, 3.43	< 0.001	3 79	1 64 8 78	0.002	
Hyperlipidaemia	1.52	1.07, 2.14	0.019	1 59	0.78.3.27	0.205	
Psychiatric conditions	4.35	2 54 7 46	< 0.001	6.35	2 81 14 33	< 0.001	
Number of conditions [#]	1.56	1 28 1 91	< 0.001	3.88	2 76 5 45	< 0.001	
Current smoker	1.00	0.72.2.27	0 402	1 28	0.45,366	0 641	
Alcohol consumption: daily (5-7 days per week)	0.89	0.55, 1.46	0.648	0.55	0.18, 1.66	0.291	
Obesity§							
High BMI and waist circumference	1.70	1.11, 2.62	0.015	3.58	1.26, 10.15	0.016	
Either high BMI or high waist circumference	1.13	0.70, 1.82	0.621	2.00	0.63, 6.38	0.239	
Cognitive function	1.00	0.95, 1.06	0.988	0.96	0.86, 1.06	0.421	
Number of depressive symptoms	1.06	0.95, 1.18	0.316	1.24	1.05, 1.47	0.012	

Appendix C-4 Risk factors for polypharmacy in people with diabetes (N = 783) with an adjustment for specific conditions, ELSA 2012

* Unweighted RRR.

[#] The rest of other conditions, not including diabetes.

[†]Borderline significant.

§ Normal BMI and waist circumference as the reference group.
	No diabetes	(N = 6629)	Diabetes (N = $110\overline{0}$)			
	No polypharmacy	Polypharmacy*	No polypharmacy	Polypharmacy*		
	(N = 5424)	(N = 1205)	(N = 421)	(N = 679)		
	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)		
Number of						
conditions#	1.8 ±1.4	4.2 ±1.6	2.3 ± 1.4	4.2 ± 1.8		
mean ± SD						
CVD	14.6% (789)	55.2% (665)	19.2% (81)	49.3% (335)		
Hypertension	29.3% (1591)	65.6% (791)	51.5% (217)	74.5% (506)		
Hyperlipidaemia	30.8% (1668)	56.9% (685)	46.8% (197)	65.5% (445)		
Psychiatric	44.00/ (774)	20.00/ (202)	0.00/ (27)	20.0% (202)		
conditions	14.2% (771)	30.0% (362)	0.0% (37)	29.9% (203)		
Lung diseases	40.00/ (005)	20.00/ (42.4)	44 40/ (40)	20, 20/ (172)		
(including asthma)	12.3% (665)	30.0% (434)	11.4% (48)	20.2% (178)		
# N1 / 1 1 1 1 1						

Appendix C-5 Prevalence of long-term conditions, according to polypharmacy and diabetes status

[#] Not including diabetes.

* Including polypharmacy and heightened polypharmacy.

Appendix D Chapter 5 Supplementary tables and figures

Assessment	Question
	Difficulty dressing, including putting on shoes and socks
	Difficulty walking across a room
	Difficulty bathing or showering
ADL	Difficulty eating, such as cutting up food
	Difficulty getting in and out of bed
	Difficulty using the toilet, including getting up or down
	Difficulty using map to figure out how to get around strange place
	Difficulty recognising when in physical danger
	Difficulty preparing a hot meal
	Difficulty shopping for groceries
IADL	Difficulty making telephone calls
	Difficulty with communication (speech, hearing or eyesight)
	Difficulty taking medications
	Difficulty doing work around house and garden
	Difficulty managing money, eg paying bills, keeping track expenses
	Difficulty walking 100 yards
	Difficulty sitting 2 hours
	Difficulty getting up from chair after sitting long periods
	Difficulty climbing several flights stairs without resting
Mobility	Difficulty climbing one flight stairs without resting
WODIIty	Difficulty stooping, kneeling or crouching
	Difficulty reaching or extending arms above shoulder level
	Difficulty pulling or pushing large objects
	Difficulty lifting or carrying weights over 10 pounds
	Difficulty picking up 5p coin from table
All questions	are recorded as binary variables: Not mentioned vs Mentioned

Appendix D-1 Questions in assessments of ADLs, IADLs and mobility

	HR (95% Cls)	Р
Number of concurrent drugs (Ref=none)		
Polypharmacy (5–9 drugs)	1.51 (1.05, 2.16)	0.026
Heightened polypharmacy (10+ drugs)	2.29 (1.40, 3.75)	0.001
Age (years) [#]	1.11 (1.10, 1.12)	< 0.001
Gender (Ref=men)	0.60 (0.49, 0.72)	< 0.001
Living with a partner (Ref=no)	0.75 (0.61, 0.92)	0.006
Diabetes mellitus (Ref=no)	1.28 (1.02, 1.60)	0.035
CHD (Ref=no)	1.28 (1.02, 1.60)	0.030
Lung disease (including asthma) (Ref=no)	1.28 (1.03, 1.60)	0.028
Obesity (Ref=normal BMI and waist circumference)		
High BMI and waist circumference	0.70 (0.55, 0.88)	0.003
Either high BMI or high waist circumference	0.76 (0.61, 0.95)	0.015
Current smoker (Ref=no)	1.89 (1.44, 2.49)	< 0.001
Low physical activity (Ref=moderate/high)	1.54 (1.25, 1.89)	< 0.001
Cognitive function [#]	0.95 (0.92, 0.97)	< 0.001

Appendix D-2 Significant factors associated with all-cause mortality from the fully adjusted model in England 2012–18

[#] Per one-unit increase.

Appendix D-3 Sensitivity analyses of the associations between number of concurrent drugs and all-cause mortality in England 2012–18

	None	1-4 drugs		5−9 drugs [*]		10+ drugs [*]	
N = 6295 (499 deaths)	HR	HR (95% CIs)	Р	HR (95% CIs)	Р	HR (95% CIs)	Р
SA1. Main model + drug-disease	1.00 (Ref)	1 00 (0 70 1 48)	0.603	1 50 (1 04 2 15)	0 028	2 25 (1 37 3 70)	0.001
interactions	1.00 (IVel)	1.09 (0.79, 1.40)	0.005	1.50 (1.04, 2.15)	0.020	2.23 (1.37, 3.70)	0.001
SA2. Main model + alcohol consumption [#]	1.00 (Ref)	1.15 (0.82, 1.61)	0.414	1.57 (1.06, 2.33)	0.025	2.08 (1.19, 3.65)	0.011
SA3. Main model + taking medications	1.00 (Dof)	1 12 (0 92 1 55)	0 459	1 60 (1 10 2 24)	0.015	0 47 (1 40 4 40)	0.001
but without diagnoses§	1.00 (Rei)	1.13 (0.62, 1.55)	0.436	1.00 (1.10, 2.34)	0.015	2.47 (1.40, 4.13)	0.001
SA4. Main model with multimorbidity ^{\dagger}	1.00 (Ref)	1.19 (0.86, 1.65)	0.299	1.86 (1.30, 2.67)	0.001	3.19 (2.02, 5.06)	< 0.001
SA5. Main model with all long-term	4 00 (Def)		0.405	4 52 (4 00 0 00)	0.000	0.40 (4.04.0.50)	0.000
conditions ⁺⁺	1.00 (Ref)	1.14 (0.83, 1.56)	0.425	1.53 (1.06, 2.20)	0.023	2.10 (1.31, 3.50)	0.003

* Polypharmacy refers to taking five to nine drugs; heightened polypharmacy refers to taking 10 or more drugs.

 * Reduced N = 5805 (429 deaths).

[§] A small proportion of people who took medications but did not report relevant diagnoses.

[†] Replace particular long-term conditions and the illness count with multimorbidity, defined as the coexistence of two or more long-term conditions.

^{††} Replace the number of conditions with separate diagnoses, including hypertension, other heart problems, hyperlipidaemia, arthritis, bone disease, psychiatric conditions, eye disease, gout or hyperuricemia, epilepsy, and inflammatory bowel disease.

Appendix D-4 The sixth sensitivity analysis: associations[#] between number of concurrent drugs and all-cause and cause-specific mortality with 1-4 drugs as the reference in England in 2012-18



[#] Adjusted for age, gender, cohabitation, wealth, six long-term conditions (diabetes, CHD, stroke, lung disease, Parkinson's disease, and dementia), an illness count of the remaining conditions, functional impairment, mobility difficulty, obesity, smoking status, sleep duration, low physical activity, cognitive function, and depressive symptoms.

Appendix E Chapter 6 Supplementary tables

	Cluster 1	Cluster 2	Cluster 3	Cluster 4	Cluster 5
	RAAS inhibitors	Mental health	CNS drugs	RAAS inhibitors +	Antithrombotics
		drugs		antithrombotics	
	(N = 194)	(N = 298)	(N = 387)	(N = 352)	(N = 125)
	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)	% (N)
Total wealth					
1 (lowest)	26.3 (51)	34.6 (103)	29.7 (115)	24.2 (85)	30.4 (38)
2	22.2 (43)	24.8 (74)	23.5 (91)	21.0 (74)	23.2 (29)
3	22.2 (43)	19.5 (58)	17.3 (67)	21.6 (76)	18.4 (23)
4	16.0 (31)	13.1 (39)	19.4 (75)	19.3 (68)	20.0 (25)
5 (highest)	13.4 (26)	8.1 (24)	10.1 (39)	13.9 (49)	8.0 (10)
Parkinson's disease	0	0.7 (2)	5.2 (20)	0	0.8 (1)
Dementia (including	1 0 (2)	2 4 (10)	2 / (12)	0.2 (1)	0.8 (1)
Alzheimer's disease)	1.0 (2)	3.4 (10)	3.4 (13)	0.3 (1)	0.8 (1)
Cognitive function mean (SD)	10.0 (3.2)	9.4 (3.6)	9.7 (3.7)	9.8 (3.2)	9.3 (3.7)

Appendix E-1 Additional baseline characteristics[†] of people with polypharmacy (N = 1356) by cluster, ELSA 2012

[†] Including two variables (total wealth and cognitive function) with similar distributions across the five clusters and two conditions (Parkinson's disease and dementia (including Alzheimer's disease)) with low prevalence rates.

Appendix E-2 Sensitivity analyses of the associations between medication patterns^{*} and mortality in people with polypharmacy in England in 2012–18

	Cluster 1 RAAS inhibitors		Cluster 2	Cluster 2			Cluster 5	
			Mental health drugs		RAAS inhibitors +		Antithrombotics	
					antithrombot	ics		
All-cause mortality,		р	HR (95% CIs)	D	HR (95% Cls)	Ρ	HR (95% Cls)	Р
N = 1356 (235 deaths)	HR (95% CIS)	Р		Г				
Main model	1.56 (0.97, 2.50)	0.064	1.55 (1.05, 2.28)	0.028	1.17 (0.78, 1.76)	0.454	1.43 (0.89, 2.30)	0.140
SA1. Main model with separate	1 56 (0 07 2 51)	0.068	1.53 (1.03, 2.26)	0.033	1.12 (0.74, 1.70)	0.597	1.41 (0.88, 2.27)	0.156
CVD conditions	1.50 (0.97, 2.51)							
SA2. Main model with separate	1 57 (0 07 2 52)	0.065	1.54 (1.02, 2.32)	0.041	1.17 (0.78, 1.77)	0.450	1.43 (0.89, 2.31)	0.140
psychiatric conditions	1.57 (0.97, 2.52)							
SA3. Main model + alcohol	1 56 (0.02, 2.64)	0.004	1 70 (1 10 2 62)	0.047		0 5 0 0	4.07 (0.04.0.00)	0.007
consumption#	1.56 (0.93, 2.64)	0.094	1.70 (1.10, 2.63)	0.017	1.13 (0.72, 1.76)	0.002	1.37 (0.81, 2.33)	0.237
SA4. Main model + taking								
medications but without	1.56 (0.97, 2.50)	0.064	1.54 (1.04, 2.29)	0.030	1.17 (0.78, 1.75)	0.455	1.43 (0.89, 2.30)	0.142
diagnoses§								

Appendix E-2 (continued)

	Cluster 1		Cluster 2		Cluster 4		Cluster 5	
	RAAS inhibit	itors Mental health drugs		RAAS inhibitors +		Antithrombotics		
					antithrombo	tics		
CVD mortality, N = 1356 (96 deaths)	SHR (95% Cls)	Ρ	SHR (95% Cls)	Ρ	SHR (95% Cls)	Ρ	SHR (95% CIs)	Ρ
Main model	1.26 (0.55, 2.91)	0.583	2.11 (1.10, 4.05)	0.024	1.49 (0.76, 2.89)	0.243	1.17 (0.50, 2.76)	0.721
SA1. Main model with separate CVD conditions [∥]	1.27 (0.55, 2.97)	0.578	2.10 (1.09, 4.04)	0.027	1.43 (0.72, 2.84)	0.301	1.16 (0.49, 2.73)	0.739
SA2. Main model with separate psychiatric conditions	1.25 (0.54, 2.91)	0.598	2.13 (1.07, 4.27)	0.032	1.48 (0.75, 2.92)	0.262	1.16 (0.49, 2.75)	0.730
SA3. Main model + alcohol consumption [#]	1.95 (0.76, 5.04)	0.166	3.04 (1.42, 6.52)	0.004	1.83 (0.82, 4.08)	0.139	1.36 (0.49, 3.72)	0.554
SA4. Main model + taking medications but without diagnoses [§]	1.27 (0.55, 2.92)	0.571	2.03 (1.04, 3.95)	0.038	1.49 (0.77, 2.87)	0.239	1.14 (0.48, 2.70)	0.762
SA5. Main model using Cox regression [†]	1.40 (0.60, 3.25)	0.437	2.16 (1.14, 4.09)	0.018	1.44 (0.75, 2.76)	0.278	1.41 (0.62, 3.18)	0.413

Appendix E-2 (continued)

	Cluster 1		Cluster 2	Cluster 2			Cluster 5	
	RAAS inhibitors		Mental health drugs		RAAS inhibitors +		Antithrombotics	
					antithrombo	tics		
Non-CVD mortality,	SHR (95% Cle)	P	SHR (95% Cle)	P	SHR (95% Cls)	P	SHR (95% Cle)	P
N = 1356 (139 deaths)	0111 (00 % 013)	F	SHIX (95 % CIS)	Г	SI IIX (95 % CIS)		SHK (95 % CIS)	I
Main model	1.48 (0.80, 2.73)	0.214	1.18 (0.72, 1.94)	0.518	0.93 (0.55, 1.57)	0.774	1.49 (0.82, 2.70)	0.189
SA1. Main model with separate	1 47 (0 80 2 71)	0 218	18 1.17 (0.71, 1.92)	0.541	541 0.90 (0.52, 1.53)	0.691	1.47 (0.82, 2.66)	0.196
CVD conditions	1.47 (0.80, 2.71)	0.210						
SA2. Main model with separate	1 50 (0 80 - 2 70)	0.206	1.15 (0.68, 1.96)	0.598	0.94 (0.55, 1.59)	0.812	1.51 (0.83, 2.74)	0.179
psychiatric conditions	1.00 (0.00, 2.70)							
SA3. Main model + alcohol	1 36 (0 72 2 58)	0.344	4 1.03 (0.59, 1.82)	0.914	914 0.77 (0.43, 1.38)	0.383	1.28 (0.65, 2.53)	0.474
consumption [#]	1.00 (0.72, 2.00)							
SA4. Main model + taking								
medications but without	1.47 (0.80, 2.72)	0.218	1.19 (0.72, 1.98)	0.493	0.93 (0.55, 1.57)	0.775	1.50 (0.82, 2.73)	0.186
diagnoses [§]								
SA5. Main model using Cox	1 76 (1 00 3 11)	0 052	1 35 (0 82 2 23)	0.240	1.01 (0.59, 1.72)	0 970	1 62 (0 00 2 01)	0 106
regression ⁺⁺	1.10 (1.00, 0.11)	0.002	1.00 (0.02, 2.20)	0.270		0.070	1.02 (0.00, 2.01)	0.100

 * Cluster 3 CNS drugs (N = 387) as the reference group.

Four cardiovascular-related diagnoses – CHD, stroke, hypertension, and other heart problems – were adjusted separately instead of combining some diagnoses into an illness count.

[#] Reduced N = 1221 (195 all-cause deaths; 82 CVD deaths; 113 non-CVD deaths).

Appendix E-2 (continued)

[§] A small proportion of people who took medications but did not report relevant diagnoses.

[†] Cox regression was used rather than competing-risks regression, and non-CVD deaths were recoded as missing values. N = 1217 (96 deaths).

^{††} Cox regression was used rather than competing-risks regression, and CVD deaths were recoded as missing values. N = 1260 (139 deaths).